
December 18, 2018 Dublin City Council Agenda Page 1 of 4 

REGULAR MEETING 
Tuesday, December 18, 2018 
Council Chamber, 100 Civic Plaza  

DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 
A G E N D A  

• Agendas and Staff Reports are posted on the City’s Internet Website (www.dublin.ca.gov) 

• Agendas may be picked up at the City Clerk’s Office for no charge, or to request information on being placed on 
the annual subscription list, please call 833-6650. 

• A complete packet of information containing Staff Reports and exhibits relate to each item is available of public 
review at least 72 hours prior to a City Council Meeting or, in the event that it is delivered to City Council 
members less than 72 hours prior to a City Council Meeting, as soon as it is so delivered.  The packet is 
available in the City Clerk’s Office and also at the Dublin Library. 

REGULAR MEETING 6:00 PM 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

3.1. Recognition of Dublin High School Cross Country Team 

Students of the Dublin High School Cross Country Team will be recognized for winning the 

North Coast Section Championship. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Present Certificate of Recognition. 
3.2. Bi-Annual Report by the Senior Advisory Committee 

The City Council will receive the bi-annual report on the Senior Advisory Committee’s 

accomplishments during 2017 and 2018. 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the Report and provide feedback as desired.  
3.3. Employee Introduction: Laura Borjon 

New City Staff member, Laura Borjon, Administrative Aide in the Public Works 

Department, will be introduced. 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Welcome City of Dublin Staff member. 
3.4. Public Comment 

At this time, the public is permitted to address the City Council on non-agendized items.  Please step to the podium and 
clearly state your name for the record.  COMMENTS SHOULD NOT EXCEED THREE (3) MINUTES.  In accordance with 
State Law, no action or discussion may take place on any item not appearing on the posted agenda.  The Council may 
respond to statements made or questions asked, or may request Staff to report back at a future meeting concerning the 
matter.  Any member of the public may contact the City Clerk’s Office related to the proper procedure to place an item on a 
future City Council agenda.  The exceptions under which the City Council MAY discuss and/or take action on items not 
appearing on the agenda are contained in Government Code Section 54954.2(b)(1)(2)(3). 

 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

Consent Calendar items are typically non-controversial in nature and are considered for approval by the City Council with 
one single action.  Members of the audience, Staff or the City Council who would like an item removed from the Consent 
Calendar for purposes of public input may request the Mayor to remove the item. 

4.1. Approval of the December 4, 2018 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 

The City Council will consider approval of the minutes of the December 4, 2018 Regular 

meeting. 



December 18, 2018 Dublin City Council Agenda Page 2 of 4 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve the minutes of the December 4, 2018 Regular City Council meeting. 
4.2. City of Dublin Fiscal Year 2018-2019 Youth Advisory Committee Mini Grant Program 

Funding Recommendation 

The City Council will consider the Youth Advisory Committee funding recommendations for 

the Fiscal Year 2018-2019 Youth Advisory Committee Mini Grant Program.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt the Resolution Approving Funding Recommendation for Fiscal Year 2018-2019 

Youth Advisory Committee Mini Grant Program.  

4.3. Consideration of Recreation Management Software Services 

The City Council will consider approval of a new recreation management software for the 

City's parks and community services programs.  
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt the Resolution Approving the Agreement with Active Network LLC for Recreation 

Management Software Services, and approve the budget change.   

4.4. Annual Report of Developer Impact Fee Funds Deposits: Pursuant to Government 

Code Sections 66002, 66006 and 66008 (AB 1600) 

State law requires the City to review and report on an annual basis the status of Development 

fees collected to finance public improvements.  The report covers activity which occurred in 

these funds during Fiscal Year 2017-18.  The analysis has determined that all funds held for 

more than five years are necessary to complete identified projects. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Accept the Annual Report, adopt the Resolution Making Findings Regarding Unexpended 

Traffic Impact Fees for Fiscal Year 2017-18, and approve the budget change. 

4.5. Solid Waste Ordinance Update 

On December 4, 2018 the City Council waived the reading and introduced an amended and 

restated Ordinance for Dublin Municipal Code Section 7.98, Solid Waste and Recycling 

Enclosure Standards, to establish design criteria and size requirements for enclosures at new 

developments and specifying locations that trigger a planning entitlement such as a site 

development review or conditional use permit.  The City Council is now being asked to 

waive the second reading and adopt the Ordinance amending the Dublin Municipal Code 

Section 7.98.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Waive the reading and adopt an Amended and Restated Ordinance of the City Council of 

the City of Dublin Amending Chapter 7.98, Solid Waste and Recycling Enclosure Standards.   

4.6. Payment Issuance Report and Electronic Funds Transfers 

The City Council will receive a listing of payments issued from November 1, 2018 - 

November 30, 2018 totaling $10,564,820.15. 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the report. 
4.7. Authorization to Purchase Mobile Data Terminal (MDT) Computers from NWN 

Corporation 

The City Council will consider the purchase of four mobile data terminal computers for 

Dublin Polices Services.  Staff conducted research to determine which available MDT would 

best meet the needs of Dublin Police Services and is recommending the purchase of four 

Getac V110 G3 GUSA - Intel Core i5-6200U Processors and associated equipment from 

NWN Corporation.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt the Resolution Authorizing Staff to Purchase Four Mobile Data Terminal (MDT) 

Computers from NWN Corporation, and approve the budget change.  



December 18, 2018 Dublin City Council Agenda Page 3 of 4 

4.8. Zoning Ordinance Amendments—Chapters 8.08 (Definitions), 8.12 (Zoning Districts 

and Permitted Uses of Land), 8.40 (Accessory Structures and Uses Regulations), 8.70 

(Recreational Facilities (Indoor)), 8.72 (Landscaping and Fencing Regulations, 8.76 

(Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations), 8.80 (Second Units Regulations), 8.96 

(Permit Procedures), and 8.104 (Site Development Review), (PLPA-2018-00030) 

The City Council will consider amendments to the Zoning Ordinance to bring greater clarity 

and consistency to existing regulations. Amendments are proposed to Chapters 8.08 

(Definitions), 8.12 (Zoning Districts and Permitted Uses of Land), 8.40 (Accessory 

Structures and Uses Regulations), 8.70 (Recreational Facilities (Indoor)), 8.72 (Landscaping 

and Fencing Regulations), 8.76 (Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations), 8.80 (Second 

Units Regulations), 8.96 (Permit Procedures), and 8.104 (Site Development Review).   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Conduct the public hearing, deliberate, waive the reading, and INTRODUCE an Ordinance 

Amending Chapters 8.08 (Definitions), 8.12 (Zoning Districts and Permitted Uses of Land), 

8.40 (Accessory Structures and Uses Regulations), 8.70 (Recreational Facilities (Indoor)), 

8.76 (Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations), 8.80 (Second Units Regulations), 8.96 

(Permit Procedures), and 8.104 (Site Development Review) of the Dublin Zoning Ordinance. 

4.9. Consolidation of City Facility Rental Packets 

The City Council will consider two policy changes related to the priority use of facilities and 

refunds to ensure consistency for all facilities.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve the recommended changes to priority use and refunds.   
4.10. Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) and Annual Audit for Fiscal Year 

Ending June 30, 2018 and Supplemental Reports Completed by the Auditors 

The City of Dublin has prepared its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), 

for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2018. This report includes financial statements 

prepared by City staff along with the audit prepared by Badawi and Associates, the 

independent auditors selected by the City Council. The CAFR is a report which 

encompasses information beyond minimum financial reporting requirements. The 

Auditors have provided a "clean opinion" based on their review. The report has also 

been reviewed by the City Council Ad-Hoc Audit Subcommittee. The Auditors have 

also completed the following supplemental reports: 1) a compliance audit of Alameda 

County Transportation Measure B Funds; 2) a compliance audit of the Alameda 

County Transportation Commission Fund (ACTC-VRF) Program; 3) a compliance audit 

of Alameda County Transportation Measure BB Funds; and 4) a review of the City's 

Annual Appropriations Limit Calculation. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the report. 
4.11. Date/Time of Assembly Bill (AB) 1234 Ethics Training for City Officials 

Under Assembly Bill (AB) 1234, “local agency officials” must receive ethics training at least 

once every two years if the City provides compensation, salary, stipend or reimbursement for 

actual and necessary expenses to a member of a legislative body.  The City will offer a 

mandatory Ethics Training session to all required City officials.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve January 31, 2019 as the date for AB 1234 Ethics Training session for City officials 

or provide Staff with alternate direction. 

 

5. WRITTEN COMMUNICATION – NONE. 

 
6. PUBLIC HEARING NONE. 

 



December 18, 2018 Dublin City Council Agenda Page 4 of 4 

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – NONE. 

 
8. NEW BUSINESS 

8.1. Certification of November 6, 2018 Election Results 

The City has received and will certify the November 6, 2018 election results for the Office of 

Mayor and two City Councilmembers from the Alameda County Registrar of Voters. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt the Resolution Reciting the Facts of the General Municipal Election held on 

November 6, 2018, Declaring the Results Thereof, and Such Other Matters as are provided 

by Law. 
8.2. Presentation of Plaques to Outgoing Councilmember Janine Thalblum and Former 

Councilmember Abe Gupta 

The City will present plaques to outgoing Councilmember Janine Thalblum and former 

Councilmember Abe Gupta, in appreciation of their dedicated service to the City. 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Present the plaques and receive comments from outgoing Councilmember Thalblum and 

former Councilmember Gupta. 
8.3. Administration of Oath of Office to Newly Elected Mayor and City Councilmembers 

The Oath of Office will be administered to the re-elected Mayor and newly elected City 

Councilmembers. 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Administer the Oath of Office to the re-elected Mayor and newly elected City 

Councilmembers. 
8.4. Selection of Vice Mayor 

The City Council’s policy is to select, in December of each year, a member of the City 

Council to serve as Vice Mayor for a period of one year.  In the absence of the Mayor, the 

Vice Mayor would become Mayor Pro Tempore and would assume the temporary 

responsibilities of the Mayor. 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Determine who shall serve as Vice Mayor for a one-year period. 
8.5. Designate Two Councilmembers to Dublin Pride Week Committee 

The City Council will consider appointing two of its members to the 2019 Dublin Pride 

Week Committee. The Dublin Pride Week Committee plans and prepares the annual spring 

event, which seeks to engage individuals and groups in action based activities to help 

improve the community. 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Appoint two City Councilmembers to the Dublin Pride Week Committee for 2019.  

 
9. OTHER BUSINESS 

Brief information only reports from City Council and/or Staff, including committee reports 

and reports by City Council related to meetings attended at City expense (AB1234). 
 

10. ADJOURNMENT 

 
This AGENDA is posted in accordance with Government Code Section 54954.2(a) 

 
If requested, pursuant to Government Code Section 54953.2, this agenda shall be made available in appropriate 

alternative formats to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 

1990 (42 U.S.C. Section 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof.  To make 

a request for disability-related modification or accommodation, please contact the City Clerk’s Office (925) 833-

6650 at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting. 



 

Page 1 of 1 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Recognition of Dublin High School Cross Country Team 
Prepared by:  Darla Murtaugh, Administrative Aide 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
Students of the Dublin High School Cross Country Team will be recognized for winning 

the North Coast Section Championship. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Present Certificate of Recognition. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None. 
 
DESCRIPTION: 
 
The City Council will recognize the Dublin High School Cross Country Team for winning 
the NCS Championship. 
 
NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 
 
None. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. DHS Cross Country Team Recognition 

 

3.1

Packet Pg. 5



CERTIFICATE OF RECOGNITION 
 

Given to 
  

DUBLIN HIGH SCHOOL  
CROSS COUNTRY TEAM 

 

In recognition of winning the North Coast Section Championship. 
 

Presented by the 
 

City Council of the City of Dublin 

Dated: December 18, 2018 

 

. 
 

   
     
 Mayor David G. Haubert Vice Mayor Melissa Hernandez 

 
 

                                                                                    
 Councilmember Arun Goel                                                                  Councilmember Janine Thalblum 
 

3.1.a

Packet Pg. 6

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. D
H

S
 C

ro
ss

 C
o

u
n

tr
y 

T
ea

m
 R

ec
o

g
n

it
io

n
  (

D
u

b
lin

 H
ig

h
 S

ch
o

o
l C

ro
ss

 C
o

u
n

tr
y 

T
ea

m



 

Page 1 of 2 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Bi-Annual Report by the Senior Advisory Committee 
Prepared by:  Lisa McPherson, Recreation Manaager 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City Council will receive the bi-annual report on the Senior Advisory Committee’s 

accomplishments during 2017 and 2018. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Receive the Report and provide feedback as desired.  

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

 

N/A 

 

DESCRIPTION: 

 

Bi-annually, the Senior Center Advisory Committee presents a report to the City Council 

on accomplishments completed during a two-year period.  Accomplishments during 

2017 and 2018 includes: assisting Staff with Dublin Senior Center events (Senior Info 

Fair, Dublin Benefit Concert, Halloween Costume Contest and Dance Escape) and 

developing the Dublin Senior Center Informational Pamphlet.  

 

The Senior Center Advisory Committee is comprised of five (5) community members 

that are appointed for a four-year term by the Mayor with the approval of the City 

Council.   

 

The general responsibilities of the Senior Center Advisory Committee are advisory only 

as outlined in the Bylaws and Rules of Procedure, are: 

 

 Recommendations for the development, improvement and/or modification of 

senior services and facilities; 

 Future senior needs; 

 Conduct of persons using the Senor Center; and 

3.2

Packet Pg. 7



 

Page 2 of 2 

 Rules for use of the Senior Center by the public. 

 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

 

A copy of the Staff Report was distributed to the Senior Center Advisory Committee. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

None. 

 

3.2

Packet Pg. 8



 

Page 1 of 1 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Employee Introduction: Laura Borjon 
Prepared by:  Nancy Nelson, Management Analyst II 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
New City Staff member, Laura Borjon, Administrative Aide in the Public Works 

Department, will be introduced. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Welcome City of Dublin Staff member. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

 

None. 

 

DESCRIPTION: 

 

New City of Dublin Staff member, Laura Borjon, Administrative Aide in the Public Works 

Department, will be introduced to the City Council. 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE: 

 

None. 

 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

 

None. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

None. 

 

3.3

Packet Pg. 9



 

Page 1 of 1 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Approval of the December 4, 2018 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 
Prepared by:  Caroline P. Soto, City Clerk/Records Manager 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City Council will consider approval of the minutes of the December 4, 2018 Regular 

meeting. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approve the minutes of the December 4, 2018 Regular City Council meeting. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

 

N/A 

 

DESCRIPTION: 

 

The City Council will consider approval of the minutes of the December 4, 2018 Regular 

City Council meeting. 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE: 

 

N/A 

 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

 

N/A 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Draft Minutes of the December 4, 2018 Regular City Council Meeting 

 

4.1

Packet Pg. 10



   MINUTES OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
 OF THE CITY OF DUBLIN 

 
REGULAR MEETING – DECEMBER 4, 2018  

 
 

 DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 1 

REGULAR MEETING 
DECEMBER 4, 2018 

 

 

 Closed Session 6:30 P.M. 
 
CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (d) of 
Section 54956.9: 1 case 
Facts and circumstances:  Letter from Stuart Flashman to Mayor and City Council, 
dated October 18, 2018 
 
Barbara Fisher, Dublin resident, provided public comment. 
 

1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance – The meeting was called to order at 7:04 
p.m. by Mayor Haubert. The pledge of allegiance was recited by the City Council, Staff, 
and those present at the meeting. 
 

Attendee Name  Title    Status 

David Haubert Mayor Present 

Melissa Hernandez Vice Mayor Present 

Arun Goel Councilmember Present 

Abe Gupta Councilmember Absent 

Janine Thalblum Councilmember Present 

 

2. Report on Closed Session – The Mayor stated that there was no reportable action to 
come out of Closed Session. 

 
3. Oral Communications  

 
3.1. Public Comment 
 

Barbara Lee, Dublin resident, provided public comment. 

 

4. Consent Calendar 
 
The City Council pulled Item 4.8 for further discussion. 
 
4.1. Approved the minutes of the November 20, 2018 Regular City Council meeting. 
 
4.2. Waived the reading and INTRODUCED an Ordinance Amending Chapter 7.98, 

Solid Waste and Recycling Enclosure Standards.  
 

4.1.a

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

o
f 

th
e 

D
ec

em
b

er
 4

, 2
01

8 
R

eg
u

la
r 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
ee

ti
n

g
  (

D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

o
f 

th
e 

D
ec

em
b

er
 4

, 2
01

8 
R

eg
u

la
r 

M
ee

ti
n

g
)



 

 DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 2 

REGULAR MEETING 
DECEMBER 4, 2018 

 

 

4.3. Authorized the City Manager to approve computer related software and supplies 
purchases annually through CDW-G. 

 
4.4. Received the notification of the City Engineer’s pending approval of the Final 

Map for Tracts 8365 and 8367, Boulevard Neighborhoods 14, 15, and 18. 
 
4.5. Approved the following words to be included in the Veterans Art: Honor, 

Service, Courage and Integrity. 
 
4.6. Adopted 

RESOLUTION NO. 127 – 18  
 

ADOPTING THE CEMETERY POLICY 
 
4.7. Receive the financial report through the first quarter for Fiscal Year 2018-19 and 

approved the budget change. 
 
4.9. Adopted 

RESOLUTION NO. 128 – 18 
 

APPROVING A PUBLIC ART AGREEMENT WITH 
GORDON HUETHER + PARTNERS, INC. FOR A 

PUBLIC ART PROJECT AT DUBLIN PUBLIC SAFETY COMPLEX 
 
4.10. Adopted 

RESOLUTION NO. 129 – 18 
 

APPROVING THE CITY OF DUBLIN LEGISLATIVE PLATFORM 2019 
 
4.11. Adopted 

RESOLUTION NO. 130 – 18 
 

APPROVING ON-CALL CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT 
WITH DKS ASSOCIATES  

 
Approved Budget Change to CIP No. ST0317. 
 
Adopted 

RESOLUTION NO. 131 – 18 
 

APPROVING AMENDMENT #2 TO THE CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT 
WITH GEOSYNTEC CONSULTANTS, INC. FOR GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 

PLANNING AND STORMWATER RESOURCE PLAN EVALUATION 
 
 

4.1.a

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

o
f 

th
e 

D
ec

em
b

er
 4

, 2
01

8 
R

eg
u

la
r 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
ee

ti
n

g
  (

D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

o
f 

th
e 

D
ec

em
b

er
 4

, 2
01

8 
R

eg
u

la
r 

M
ee

ti
n

g
)



 

 DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 3 

REGULAR MEETING 
DECEMBER 4, 2018 

 

 

Adopted 
RESOLUTION NO. 132 – 18 

 
APPROVING AMENDMENT #2 TO THE CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT 

WITH BKF ENGINEERS FOR ADDITIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL WORK ON 
EXTENSION OF DUBLIN BOULEVARD TO NORTH CANYONS PARKWAY PROJECT 

 
and, approved Budget Change to CIP No. ST0216. 

 
4.12. Adopted 

RESOLUTION NO. 133 – 18 
 

APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A FIRST AMENDMENT 
TO THE ACQUISITION AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF DUBLIN AND DUBLIN CROSSING, LLC 
 
4.13. Adopted 

RESOLUTION NO. 134 – 18 
 

APPROVING THE FORMATION OF A CLIMATE ACTION PLAN TASK FORCE  
 
4.14. Adopted 

RESOLUTION NO. 135 – 18 
 

AMENDING THE CLASSIFICATION PLAN  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 136 – 18 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING THE SALARY PLAN FOR FULL-TIME PERSONNEL AND 
MANAGEMENT POSITIONS EXEMPT FROM COMPETITIVE SERVICE 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 137 – 18 

 
AMENDING THE MANAGEMENT POSITIONS EXEMPT FROM COMPETITIVE 

SERVICE RESOLUTION AND PRESCRIBING LEAVE BENEFITS FOR THE 
DESIGNATED POSITIONS 

 
4.15. Adopted 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 138 – 18 
 

AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO AGREEMENTS 
NECESSARY FOR THE TEMPORARY RELOCATION FOR THE ALAMEDA COUNTY 

FIRE DEPARTMENT ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES 
 

4.1.a

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

o
f 

th
e 

D
ec

em
b

er
 4

, 2
01

8 
R

eg
u

la
r 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
ee

ti
n

g
  (

D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

o
f 

th
e 

D
ec

em
b

er
 4

, 2
01

8 
R

eg
u

la
r 

M
ee

ti
n

g
)



 

 DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 4 

REGULAR MEETING 
DECEMBER 4, 2018 

 

 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 
MOVED BY: Abe Gupta, Councilmember 
SECOND: Melissa Hernandez, Vice Mayor 
AYES: Abe Gupta, David Haubert, Melissa Hernandez, Janine Thalblum 
ABSENT: Arun Goel 

 
4.8. Adopt the Resolution Amending the Dublin Traffic Code Approving a No Parking 

Zone along Antone Way, west of South Bridgepoint Lane. 
 
  Dan Cherrier, Dublin resident, provided public comment. 
 
  Adopted 

RESOLUTION NO. 139 – 18 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF DUBLIN 

* * * * * * * * * 
AMENDING THE DUBLIN TRAFFIC CODE APPROVING A NO PARKING ZONE 

ALONG ANTONE WAY, WEST OF SOUTH BRIDGEPOINT LANE 
 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 
MOVED BY: Janine Thalblum, Councilmember 
SECOND: Melissa Hernandez, Vice Mayor 
AYES: Abe Gupta, David Haubert, Melissa Hernandez, Janine Thalblum 
ABSENT: Arun Goel 

 

5. Written Communication – None. 

 

6. Public Hearing – None. 

 

7. Unfinished Business – None. 

 

8. New Business 
 
8.1. Update on The Wave Operations 
 

By consensus, the City Council received the report; requested to see the cost-
benefit on installing solar panels; directed Staff to open aquatic facility seven 
days a week during the summer; and look at the adjustment of off-season hours 
and family pricing. 

4.1.a

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

o
f 

th
e 

D
ec

em
b

er
 4

, 2
01

8 
R

eg
u

la
r 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
ee

ti
n

g
  (

D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

o
f 

th
e 

D
ec

em
b

er
 4

, 2
01

8 
R

eg
u

la
r 

M
ee

ti
n

g
)



 

 DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 5 

REGULAR MEETING 
DECEMBER 4, 2018 

 

 

 

9. Other Business – Brief information only reports from City Council and/or Staff, 
including committee reports and reports by City Council related to meetings attended at 
City expense (AB1234). 
 

10. Adjournment 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:22 p.m. in honor of Staff Sgt. Sean Diamond, and all of 
our fallen troops. 
 
        
                    Mayor 
ATTEST:  
 
___________________________ 

      City Clerk 

4.1.a

Packet Pg. 15

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

o
f 

th
e 

D
ec

em
b

er
 4

, 2
01

8 
R

eg
u

la
r 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
ee

ti
n

g
  (

D
ra

ft
 M

in
u

te
s 

o
f 

th
e 

D
ec

em
b

er
 4

, 2
01

8 
R

eg
u

la
r 

M
ee

ti
n

g
)



 

Page 1 of 2 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
City of Dublin Fiscal Year 2018-2019 Youth Advisory Committee Mini 
Grant Program Funding Recommendation 
Prepared by:  Lisa McPherson, Recreation Manager 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City Council will consider the Youth Advisory Committee funding recommendations 
for the Fiscal Year 2018-2019 Youth Advisory Committee Mini Grant Program.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt the Resolution Approving Funding Recommendation for Fiscal Year 2018-2019 
Youth Advisory Committee Mini Grant Program.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Funding for the Youth Advisory Committee Mini Grant program is supported by the 
General Fund.  This year's amount of $1,600 was included in the Fiscal Year 2018-2019 
Budget.  
 
DESCRIPTION: 
 
Each year, the Youth Advisory Committee offers the Mini Grant program for Dublin-
based youth organizations/clubs to apply for grant funding.  
 
On Monday, October 1, 2018, Staff distributed the Youth Advisory Committee Mini 
Grant applications to Dublin High School, Wells Middle School, Fallon Middle School, 
and Cottonwood School, as well as St. Raymond’s, Valley Christian, and Quarry Lane 
schools. Staff also emailed the Advisory Committee Members the Mini Grant 
applications for them to distribute. Dublin-based youth organizations/clubs interested in 
applying for the Mini Grant had to submit their online completed application before the 
deadline of 5:00 PM on Friday, October 26, 2018. 
 
On November 14, 2018, the Committee reviewed and rated fourteen (14) Mini Grants 
submitted applications. Seven (7) out of the fourteen (14) organizations/clubs that 
qualified were invited to attend the December 5, 2018 Special Youth Advisory 
Committee meeting to provide a five-minute presentation in support of their funding 

4.2

Packet Pg. 16



 

Page 2 of 2 

requests. The Advisory Committee reviewed the seven (7) presentations, deliberated 
and recommended grant funding for City Council approval.  
 
The Youth Advisory Committee recommends the following organizations/clubs for grant 
funding:  

ORGANIZATION/ 

CLUB NAME 

YOUTH MINI 

GRANT 

FUNDING 

REQUEST 

AMOUNT 

YOUTH MINI GRANT FUNDING 

REQUEST REASON  

YOUTH ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE              

GRANT FUNDING 

RECOMMENDATION 

Boy Scouts of 

America Troop 905 

$400 Landscaping and seating near a 

portable building on Dublin High 

School Campus 

$250 

Dublin High School 

(HOSA) Future 

Health Professionals 

$600 Transportation to the State 

Leadership Conference in 

Sacramento 

$200 

Dublin High School             

Gaels Connect 

$800 Startup marketing materials $200 

Dublin High School 

Girls Who Code 

$400 Coding workshops and event 

materials  

$150 

Dublin High School 

Teens Unite for 

Education 

$300 Nutritional materials to educate 

preschoolers 

$300 

Quarry Lane’s 

Environmental Club 

$600 Expanding school’s Rain Garden, 

Earth Day event and beach 

cleanup materials  

$300 

Valley Children’s 

Museum Teen 

Council 

$400 Super Saturday events materials $200 

 
STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE:  
 
None. 
 
NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 
 
A copy of this Staff Report was sent to the applicants. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution Approving Funding Recommendations for Fiscal Year 2018-2019 Youth 

Mini Grant Program 

2. Youth Advisory Committee Mini Grant Criteria Rating Sheet 

 

4.2

Packet Pg. 17



ATTACHMENT 1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. XX - 18 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF DUBLIN 

* * * * * * * * * * * 
APPROVING FUNDING RECOMMENDATIONS FOR 

FISCAL YEAR 2018-19 YOUTH ADVISORY COMMITTEE MINI GRANT PROGRAM 
 

WHEREAS, the City received 14 applications for the Fiscal Year 2018-19 Youth Advisory 
Committee Mini Grant Program; and 

 
WHEREAS, funding sources for the Youth Advisory Committee Mini Grant Program is the 

City of Dublin General Fund; and 
 

WHEREAS, the total amount of funding requested exceeds funding availability; and 
 

WHEREAS, on December 5, 2018, the Youth Advisory Committee recommended seven 
youth organizations/clubs to receive grant funding through the Youth Advisory Committee Mini Grant 
Program; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Youth Advisory Committee has provided the City Council with funding 
recommendations for the Fiscal Year 2018-19 Youth Advisory Committee Mini Grant Program; and 
 

WHEREAS, the action taken by this Resolution shall approve the funding recommendations.    
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Dublin does 
hereby approve the Youth Advisory Committee Mini Grant Program fund allocations for Fiscal 
Year 2018-19: 
 

ORGANIZATION/ CLUB 

NAME 

YOUTH MINI GRANT FUNDING REQUEST REASON  CITY COUNCIL 

RECOMMENDED 

FUNDING 

Boy Scouts of America 

Troop 905 

Landscaping and seating near a portable building on 

Dublin High School Campus 

$250 

Dublin High School 

(HOSA) Future Health 

Professionals 

Transportation to the State Leadership Conference 

in Sacramento 

$200 

Dublin High School             

Gaels Connect 

Startup marketing materials $200 

Dublin High School Girls 

Who Code 

Coding workshops and event materials  $150 

Dublin High School 

Teens Unite for 

Education 

Nutritional materials to educate preschoolers $300 

Quarry Lane’s 

Environmental Club 

Expanding school’s Rain Garden, Earth Day event 

and beach cleanup materials  

$300 

Valley Children’s 

Museum Teen Council 

Super Saturday events materials $200 

4.2.a

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 A

p
p

ro
vi

n
g

 F
u

n
d

in
g

 R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

s 
fo

r 
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
20

18
-2

01
9 

Y
o

u
th

 M
in

i G
ra

n
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
  (

Y
A

C
 M

in
i G

ra
n

ts
 2

01
8)



   

 
 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of December 2018, by the 
following vote: 
 
 AYES:   
 
 NOES:   
 
 ABSENT:   
  
 ABSTAIN:  
 
       ______________________________ 
               Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
 City Clerk 

4.2.a

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 A

p
p

ro
vi

n
g

 F
u

n
d

in
g

 R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

s 
fo

r 
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
20

18
-2

01
9 

Y
o

u
th

 M
in

i G
ra

n
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
  (

Y
A

C
 M

in
i G

ra
n

ts
 2

01
8)



 
 

City of Dublin 

Youth Advisory Committee 

Mini Grant Rating Form 

 

 
 
 
 

Organization: ______________________________ Program: _______________________________ 

 

 

 PROPOSAL SCORE 

Maximum of 15 points 
 

RECOMMEND FUNDING Yes   No 
 
 

Total Requested Total Recommended 

 

 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDING FUNDING FOR THE FOLLOWING YOUTH ACTIVITIES: (CHECK ONE). 
 

SCHOOL CLUB   SPORT ORGANIZATION   PREFORMING ARTS   CULTURAL AWARENESS 

HEALTH AWARENESS   OTHER YOUTH ACTIVITY/ORGANIZATION___________________ 
 
THE WORD “PROGRAM” IS USED BELOW ON THIS FORM TO INCLUDE SERVICES, ACTIVITIES OR IMPROVEMENTS. 

 
 

1. Organization/Management 
 

 

 Youth benefitting from or involved with the project must include 75% Dublin residents who are of middle 
school or high school age. 

 The youth organization/group, as presented in the application, is able to achieve the stated goals and outcomes. 
 The youth organization/group has completed all required aspects of the application process. 
 The youth organization/group has an adult sponsor that assists in the management or oversight of the 

organization/group. 

(Maximum of 5)  ______ 
 

2. Needs/Benefit 
 

 The recipients is the appropriate target group ( 75% Dublin youth) 
 The youth organization/group provides an activity to Dublin residents that other organizations do not provide. 
 Applicant’s proposed activity supports projects and programs serving or benefitting Dublin youth. 
 The youth organization/group collaborates with other youth oriented organizations. 

(Maximum of 5)  ______ 

 
3. Funding/ Budget 

 

 

 The youth organization/group described in detail what the funds will be used for 

 The youth organization/group described how they will provide verification to the YAC that the funds were 
used as proposed 

(Maximum of 5)  ______ 
 
 

 

4.2.b

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. Y
o

u
th

 A
d

vi
so

ry
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e 

M
in

i G
ra

n
t 

C
ri

te
ri

a 
R

at
in

g
 S

h
ee

t 
 (

Y
A

C
 M

in
i G

ra
n

ts
 2

01
8)



 

Page 1 of 2 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Consideration of Recreation Management Software Services 
Prepared by:  Rhonda Franklin, Management Analyst II 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City Council will consider approval of a new recreation management software for 

the City's parks and community services programs.  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt the Resolution Approving the Agreement with Active Network LLC for 
Recreation Management Software Services, and approve the budget change.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The Agreement is for three years, with a first-year estimated cost of $79,150, including 
testing and training.  The following two years includes the ongoing annual subscription 
cost of $51,000.  The first-year expense was not included in the FY 2018-19 budget; 
therefore, Staff is also requesting a budget change. Ongoing annual subscription cost 
will be factored into subsequent budgets.  
 
DESCRIPTION: 
 
The City uses recreation management software to manage registrations for program, 
activities, events, memberships, leagues; and for facility rental reservations.   
 
In 2016, after going through the Request for Proposal (RFP) process, the City 
purchased cloud-based hosted recreation management software from Vermont 
Systems Incorporated (VSI) after receiving notice that the previous software being used 
(CLASS) was being phased out in 2017.  Staff recommended the selection of VSI to the 
City Council with the understanding that the software would improve the customer 
experience, increase efficiencies and the low flat annual fee. However, after using the 
software for approximately two years, it has become apparent that this software 
requires a significant amount of resource investment, in terms of time spent by staff in 
Parks and Community Services, Finance, and Information Technology.  Staff 
recommends that we discontinue its use and move to the Active Network platform.  

4.3

Packet Pg. 21



 

Page 2 of 2 

Active Network was also a responsive submitter to the 2016 RFP.  
 
Active Network is also a cloud-based hosted system.  The City used Active Network 
software in the past (CLASS) and was satisfied with the dependability, reliability, and 
easy-to-use interface.  Active Network responded to the original RFP and provided a 
demonstration and proposal during the RFP process.  At the time, Active Network’s 
proposed cost structure was greater than expected.  Since that time Active Network has 
remained in contact with and responsive to Staff and has made efforts to lower the 
original proposed costs.  Active Network’s current proposal is now comparable with the 
City’s current annual software costs for recreation software.  In addition, greater cost-
savings are anticipated with realizing greater efficiencies and system ease of use. 
 
The software has an increased user-friendly interface, provides reports with relative 
ease, and offers the latest features, functionalities, and customization options for 
registrations, facility rentals, and report generation.   
 
The implementation of Active network would span approximately six months and 
includes data collection and input, user testing, and training.  The implementation would 
be a multi-departmental approach including representatives from IT and Finance.   
 
STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE: 
 
None. 
 
NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 
 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution Approving Agreement with Active Network, LLC 

2.  Exhibit A to the Resolution - Agreement with Active Network 

3.  Budget Change Form 

 

4.3

Packet Pg. 22



ATTACHMENT 1 

RESOLUTION NO.  xx–18 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF DUBLIN 

* * * * * * * * * 
APPROVING AN AGREEMENT WITH ACTIVE NETWORK, LLC FOR RECREATION 

MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE SERVICES 

WHEREAS, the City utilizes a recreation management software system for enrolling 
participants in activities, classes, events, memberships, leagues, point of sale items, and to 
book facility rental reservations; and  

 
WHEREAS, in 2016, Staff previously distributed a Request for Proposals (RFP) for 

recreation management software systems to recreation software vendors; and  
 
WHEREAS, Active Network, LLC was one of three software vendors that provided a 

complete response to the RFP by the deadline; and  
 
WHEREAS, Active Network, LLC has remained responsive and communicative to Staff in 

providing further system demonstrations and being flexible in pricing options; and  
 
WHEREAS, Active Network, LLC successfully demonstrated the ability to provide the 

desired level of recreation management software features, functionalities, services, and ease of 
use; and  

 
WHEREAS, Active Network, LLC is available to perform the work as specified.  
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Dublin 
hereby approve the Agreement between the City of Dublin and Active Network, LLC attached 
hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Manager is hereby authorized to execute the 
Agreement and take such further actions as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the 
intent of this Resolution. 

  
 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of December 2018. 

 
 AYES:   
 
 NOES:   
 
 ABSENT:  
 
 ABSTAIN:  
 

          
        ________________________________________ 

          Mayor 
 

4.3.a

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 A

p
p

ro
vi

n
g

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

w
it

h
 A

ct
iv

e 
N

et
w

o
rk

, L
L

C
  (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
S

er
vi

ce
s)



ATTACHMENT 1 

ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________________ 
       City Clerk 

4.3.a

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 A

p
p

ro
vi

n
g

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

w
it

h
 A

ct
iv

e 
N

et
w

o
rk

, L
L

C
  (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e 
S

er
vi

ce
s)



Contract # 00106757 

Version: 08/02/18 

 
PRODUCT AND SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

CLIENT INFORMATION 

ORGANIZATION FULL 

LEGAL NAME: 
City of Dublin ADDRESS: 100 Civic Plaza 

Dublin, CA 94568 

CONTACT NAME: La Shawn Butler TELEPHONE: (925) 833-6645 

EMAIL: lashawn.butler@dublin.ca.gov   

 

OVERVIEW OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement consists of this cover page, the Schedule, the General Terms, and the following Attachments: 

Recreation Management Product Attachment 

Exhibit A: Information Security Program Overview 

 
NOTE:           If Client is tax exempt, certificate must be provided along with signed contract. 

 
In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained in this Agreement, Client and Active hereby agree to be bound by 
this Agreement. By signing below, Client acknowledges and confirms that it has read this Agreement. 

CLIENT ACTIVE NETWORK, LLC 

  

Signature:        Signature:        

  

Name:        Name:        

  

Title:        Title:        

 

Date: 

 

      

  

Date: 

 

      

 

      

 
Active Network, LLC 

717 N Harwood Street, Suite 2500, Dallas, TX 75201 
Telephone: (469) 291-0300 

 
  

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



Contract # 00106757 

Version: 06/06/18 Page 1 of 6 General Terms 

Products and Services General Terms 
 
Your relationship with Active and your use of Active’s products and services (including your licensing of Active’s SaaS and/or Desktop Software, your use of Services, 
and/or your purchase or leasing of Hardware) are subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and are between you and Active.  Capitalized terms are defined 
in Section 7 below, unless otherwise defined within the body of this Agreement, the applicable Product Attachment, or Schedule.  In order to use the Products, you 
(referred to herein as “Client”) must first agree to this Agreement. You represent and warrant that you have the necessary and full right, power, authority, and capability to 
accept this Agreement, to bind your organization, and to perform your obligations hereunder.  You can accept this Agreement by: (a) clicking to accept or agree to this 
Agreement, where this option is made available to you by Active in the user interface for any Product; (b) where a link to this Agreement appears in an order form, 
Schedule, or other document provided to you by Active, by signing such document; (c) by signing this Agreement, if there is a designated area to sign; or (d) by actually 
using the Products. In the case of (d), you understand and agree that Active will treat your use of the Products as acceptance of this Agreement from that point onwards.  
You may not use the Products and may not accept this Agreement if (i) you are not of legal age to form a binding contract with Active, or (ii) you are a person barred 
from receiving the Products under the laws of the United States or other countries, including the country in which you are a resident or from which you use the Products.  
You may not use the Products if you do not accept this Agreement.  By accepting this Agreement, you agree as follows: 
 
1. AGREEMENT STRUCTURE AND SCOPE. 
 
1.1. General Terms and Incorporation of Product Terms.  This Agreement establishes the general terms and conditions to which the parties have agreed to in 
order to facilitate the licensing of Software and the provision of Products.  Additional Product-specific terms and conditions are set forth in one or more documents 
referenced in the applicable Schedule, each of which is incorporated herein (each, a “Product Attachment”).  All references to the “General Terms” mean this 
document, exclusive of Product Attachments and Schedules. 
 
1.2. Incorporation of Schedules.  The parties may enter into new Schedules from time to time.  Each Schedule incorporates the terms of these General Terms and 
the applicable Product Attachment. 
 
1.3. Intentionally left blank.  
 
1.4. Affiliates.  Client’s Affiliates may order Products from Active (or one of Active’s Affiliates) by entering into a Schedule.  In the event that a Client Affiliate enters 
into a Schedule with Active (or an Affiliate of Active), reference in this Agreement to “Client” and “Active” will mean the respective entity that accepts (as described in 
the Preamble) the applicable Schedule.  Each such Schedule will be deemed to be a separate agreement. 
 
2. FINANCIAL TERMS. 
 
2.1. Fees; Payment Terms; Currency.  Fees, currency, and payment terms are specified in the applicable Schedule.  Unless otherwise specified in the Schedule, 
all amounts owed by Client that are not directly collected by Active are due from Client within 30 days from either (a) the end of the remittance cycle during which the 
fees accrued (if related to registrations or transaction processing), or (b) the date of the applicable invoice.  Past due fees will accrue interest at the lesser of the annual 
rate of 10% per annum or the maximum amount permitted by applicable law.  In the event of any non-payment or delay in paying a fee, Client agrees to reimburse 
Active for any fees and expenses incurred in its collection efforts.  Payment of fees is under no circumstances subject to or conditioned upon the delivery of future 
Products or functionality.  Except as otherwise provided in a Schedule, Active may modify the fees once per calendar year upon 30 days’ notice, provided that any 
such increase will not exceed 12.5% over the then-current transaction fees or 5% over the then-current subscription fees. 
 
2.2. Taxes.  The prices in this Agreement do not include Taxes.  Client is responsible for and agrees to pay any and all Taxes.  If Client is tax-exempt, Client will send 
Active a copy of its valid tax-exempt certificate (or, as applicable, its reseller’s certificate) prior to execution of any Schedule.  Client is solely responsible for determining 
which, if any, Taxes apply to Client’s use of the Products and for collecting, remitting, and reporting the correct amounts of all such Taxes to the applicable governmental 
authorities, even if Active provides Client with tools that assist Client in doing so.  In the event that a governmental authority requires Active to pay any Taxes attributable 
to Client’s use of the Products, Client agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold Active harmless from all such Taxes and all costs and expenses related thereto. 
 
3. LIMITED RIGHTS AND OWNERSHIP; INDEMNIFICATION. 
 
3.1. Reservation of Rights.  All rights not expressly granted in this Agreement are reserved by Active and its licensors.  Client acknowledges that: (a) all Protected 
Materials are licensed and not sold; (b) Client acquires only the right to use the Products in accordance with this Agreement, and Active and/or its licensors will retain 
sole and exclusive ownership of and all rights, title, and interests in the Products, including the following: (i) all Intellectual Property embodied or associated with the 
Products, (ii) all deliverables and work product associated with the Products, and (iii) all copies and derivative works thereof; and (c) the Products, including the source 
and object codes, logic, and structure, contain and constitute valuable trade secrets of Active and its licensors.  Active shall make available to Client all non-confidential 
information pertinent to the Services. All original records generated as a result of the project shall be maintained by Active for a period of three (3) years after expiration 
of the Agreement. Upon reasonable request, copies of those records shall be provided to the Client in an agreed upon format that is readable and usable to the Client 
at no cost. Client may retain such copies of records in compliance with applicable public record retention laws. 
 
3.2. Restrictions.  Unless otherwise set forth in a Product Attachment, or Schedule, Client will not itself, or through any Affiliate, employee, consultant, contractor, 
agent, or other third party: (a) sell, resell, distribute, host, lease, rent, license, or sublicense, in whole or in part, the Protected Materials; (b) decipher, decompile, 
disassemble, reverse assemble, modify, translate, reverse engineer, or otherwise attempt to derive source code, algorithms, tags, specifications, architecture, structure, 
or other elements of the Products in whole or in part, for competitive purposes or otherwise; (c) allow access to, provide, divulge, or make available the Protected 
Materials to any user other than those who are licensed to have such access; (d) write or develop any derivative works based upon the Products; (e) modify, adapt, 
translate, or otherwise make any changes to the Products or any part thereof; (f) use the Protected Materials to provide processing services to third parties, or otherwise 
use the same on a service bureau basis; (g) disclose or publish, without Active’s prior written consent, (i) performance or capacity statistics, or the results of any 
benchmark test performed on the Products, or (ii) the terms (but not the existence) of this Agreement or other valuable trade secrets of Active or its licensors; (h) without 
Active’s prior written consent, perform or disclose or cause to be performed or disclosed any information related to any security penetration or similar tests; (i) disclose 
or otherwise use or copy the Protected Materials except as expressly permitted herein; (j) remove from any Products identification, patent, copyright, trademark, or 
other notices or circumvent or disable any security devices’ functionality or features; (k) contest or do or aid others in contesting or doing anything which impairs the 
validity of any proprietary or Intellectual Property rights, title, or interests of Active in and to any Products; (l) use the Products for other than authorized and legal 

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



Contract # 00106757 

Version: 06/06/18 Page 2 of 6 General Terms 

purposes, consistent with all applicable laws, regulations, and the rights of others; (m) take any steps to avoid or defeat the purpose of security measures associated 
with the Products, such as sharing of login and password information, or attempt to circumvent any use restrictions; or (n) except as expressly permitted by this 
Agreement, use the Protected Materials for hosting purposes. 
 
3.3. Enforcement.  Client will (a) ensure that all users of Products comply with the terms and conditions of this Agreement; (b) promptly notify Active of any actual or 
suspected violation thereof; and (c) cooperate with Active with respect to any investigation and enforcement of this Agreement. 
 
3.4. Intellectual Property Indemnification.  Active agrees to defend, settle, and pay damages (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) relating to any third party claim, 
demand, cause of action, or proceedings (whether threatened, asserted, or filed) (“Claims”) against Client to the extent that such Claim is based upon Active’s 
proprietary Products (excluding Third Party Products) directly infringing a United States patent, registered United States copyright, or registered United States 
trademark, provided that the Products are used in compliance with this Agreement. 
 
4. DISCLAIMERS AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. 
 
4.1 EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE SET FORTH HEREIN AND TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, YOU ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT THE 
PRODUCTS ARE PROVIDED ON AN “AS IS” AND “AS AVAILABLE” BASIS.  THE WARRANTIES, IF ANY, SET FORTH HEREIN AND IN THE PRODUCT 
ATTACHMENTS ARE LIMITED TO THEIR EXPRESS TERMS AND ARE IN LIEU OF, AND ACTIVE, ITS LICENSORS, AND SUPPLIERS EXPRESSLY DISCLAIM 
TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, ORAL OR WRITTEN, INCLUDING ANY (a) WARRANTY 
THAT THE PRODUCTS ARE ERROR-FREE OR “BUG”-FREE, ACCURATE, SECURE, OR RELIABLE; (b) WARRANTY THAT THE PRODUCTS WILL OPERATE 
WITHOUT INTERRUPTION; (c) WARRANTY THAT ALL ERRORS WILL BE CORRECTED OR THAT THE PRODUCTS WILL COMPLY WITH ANY LAW, RULE, OR 
REGULATION; (d) IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE, OR NON-INFRINGEMENT; (e) IMPLIED 
WARRANTIES ARISING FROM STATUTE, COURSE OF DEALING, COURSE OF PERFORMANCE, OR USAGE OF TRADE; AND (f) WARRANTY THAT THE 
PRODUCTS WILL MEET CLIENT’S REQUIREMENTS.  ACTIVE WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR INDIRECT DAMAGES OR LOSSES (IN CONTRACT, STATUTE, TORT, 
OR OTHERWISE), INCLUDING DAMAGES FOR LOST PROFITS, LOST SAVINGS, COST OF REPLACEMENT SERVICES, LOST DATA, LOSS OF USE OF 
INFORMATION OR SERVICES, OR ANY INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, EXEMPLARY, PUNITIVE, OR SPECIAL DAMAGES, WHETHER OR NOT ACTIVE HAS 
PREVIOUSLY BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. HOWEVER, SOME JURISDICTIONS DO NOT ALLOW THE EXCLUSION OR 
LIMITATION OF LIABILITY FOR CONSEQUENTIAL OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, SO THE ABOVE LIMITATION ONLY APPLIES WHERE ALLOWED. TO THE 
EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ACTIVE’S TOTAL AGGREGATE LIABILITY FOR ALL MATTERS ARISING FROM OR RELATED TO THIS 
AGREEMENT IS LIMITED TO (I)THE AMOUNT OF FEES ACTUALLY PAID BY CLIENT AS CONSIDERATION FOR THE SPECIFIC PRODUCT UNDER THE 
APPLICABLE SCHEDULE GIVING RISE TO SUCH CLAIMS DURING THE 12 MONTH PERIOD PRECEDING THE DATE ON WHICH THE FIRST CAUSE OF 
ACTION AROSE, OR (II) IF NO SUCH PAYMENTS HAVE BEEN MADE OR SUCH AMOUNTS CANNOT BE CALCULATED, 10,000 U.S. DOLLARS (OR THE 
EQUIVALENT THERETO AS DETERMINED BY THE APPLICABLE COUNTRY’S CURRENCY), AS APPLICABLE. NOTWITHSTANDING THE ABOVE, IF YOU 
RESIDE OUTSIDE OF THE U.S., THIS DOES NOT AFFECT ACTIVE’S LIABILITY FOR DEATH OR PERSONAL INJURY ARISING FROM ITS NEGLIGENCE, NOR 
FOR FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION, MISREPRESENTATION AS TO A FUNDAMENTAL MATTER, OR ANY OTHER LIABILITY WHICH CANNOT BE 
EXCLUDED OR LIMITED UNDER APPLICABLE LAW.   
 
4.2 TO THE EXTENT THIS AGREEMENT IS GOVERNED BY ENGLISH LAW, THE FOLLOWING APPLIES: ACTIVE IS LIABLE UNDER APPLICABLE STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS FOR INTENT AND GROSS NEGLIGENCE. THE SAME APPLIES TO ASSUMPTIONS OF GUARANTEES, STRICT LIABILITY, OR INJURY TO LIFE, 
LIMB, OR HEALTH.  ACTIVE IS LIABLE FOR ANY NEGLIGENT BREACHES OF ESSENTIAL CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS BY ACTIVE BUT THE AMOUNT 
SHALL BE LIMITED TO THE TYPICALLY OCCURRING FORESEEABLE DAMAGE. ANY ADDITIONAL LIABILITY OF ACTIVE IS EXCLUDED.  
 
4.3 TO THE EXTENT THIS AGREEMENT IS GOVERNED BY AUSTRALIAN LAW, THE FOLLOWING APPLIES: EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS 
AGREEMENT AND EXCEPT FOR ANY CONDITION OR WARRANTY THE EXCLUSION OF WHICH COULD BE VOID OR OTHERWISE CONTRAVENE THE 
TRADE PRACTICES ACT 1974 (CTH) OR ANY OTHER APPLICABLE LAW (“NON EXCLUDABLE CONDITION”), ALL SOFTWARE AND SERVICES OF ACTIVE 
ARE PROVIDED TO YOU ON AN “AS-IS” BASIS WITHOUT WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, 
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE.  EXCEPT FOR ANY NON-EXCLUDABLE CONDITION OR OTHERWISE 
AS CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT, ACTIVE EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTY THAT THE USE OF ITS SOFTWARE OR SERVICES WILL BE 
UNINTERRUPTED OR ERROR FREE OR THAT THE SPECIFICATIONS WILL MEET YOUR REQUIREMENTS. WHERE LEGISLATION IMPLIES INTO THIS 
AGREEMENT ANY NON-EXCLUDABLE CONDITION, ACTIVE’S LIABILITY FOR ANY BREACH OF SUCH NON-EXCLUDABLE CONDITION WILL BE LIMITED AT 
ACTIVE’S SOLE DISCRETION TO ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING: (1) IN THE CASE OF GOODS, ANY ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING: (I) THE 
REPLACEMENT OF THE GOODS OR THE SUPPLY OF EQUIVALENT GOODS; (II) THE REPAIR OF THE GOODS; (III) THE PAYMENT OF THE COST OF 
REPLACING THE GOODS OR OF ACQUIRING EQUIVALENT GOODS; OR (IV) THE PAYMENT OF THE COST OF HAVING THE GOODS REPAIRED; (2) IN THE 
CASE OF SERVICES: (I) THE SUPPLYING OF THE SERVICES AGAIN; OR (II) THE PAYMENT OF THE COST OF HAVING THE SERVICES SUPPLIED AGAIN. 
(B) ACTIVE SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR SPECIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES INCLUDING WITHOUT 
LIMITATION DAMAGES FOR LOST PROFIT, LOSS OF GOODWILL, WORK STOPPAGE, DATA LOSS, ANTICIPATED SAVINGS OR COMPUTER FAILURE 
WHETHER IN AN ACTION IN CONTRACT OR TORT, EVEN IF ACTIVE OR ANY OTHER PERSON HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH 
DAMAGES OR IF SUCH LOSS OUGHT REASONABLY TO HAVE BEEN IN THE CONTEMPLATION OF THE PARTIES AT THE AGREEMENT DATE. DESPITE 
ANY OTHER PROVISION CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT, ACTIVE’S TOTAL AGGREGATE LIABILITY FOR ALL MATTERS ARISING FROM OR RELATED TO 
THIS AGREEMENT IS LIMITED TO THE AMOUNT OF FEES ACTUALLY PAID BY YOU AS CONSIDERATION FOR THE SOFTWARE AND SERVICES GIVING 
RISE TO SUCH CLAIM DURING THE TWELVE (12) MONTH PERIOD PRECEDING THE DATE ON WHICH THE CAUSE OF ACTION AROSE. 
 
4.4 FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS SECTION 4 AND ANY INDEMNIFICATION PROTECTING ACTIVE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, REFERENCE TO ACTIVE 
WILL ALSO INCLUDE ITS SUPPLIERS AND LICENSORS. 
 
5. TERM AND TERMINATION. 
 
5.1. Term.  The term of this Agreement will be set forth in the applicable Product Attachment. 
 

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



Contract # 00106757 

Version: 06/06/18 Page 3 of 6 General Terms 

5.2. Termination.  Either party may terminate this Agreement, including any or all Product Attachments and Schedules executed hereunder, immediately upon written 
notice: (a) in the event that the other party commits a non-remediable material breach of this Agreement and/or the applicable Product Attachment or Schedule, or if 
the other party fails to cure any remediable material breach or provide a written plan of cure acceptable to the non-breaching party within 30 days of being notified in 
writing of such breach, except for breach of Section 2 of these General Terms which will have a 10 day cure period; or (b) in the event of institution of bankruptcy, 
receivership, insolvency, reorganization, or other similar proceedings by or against either party under any section or chapter of the United States Bankruptcy Code, as 
amended, or under any similar laws or statutes of the United States or any state thereof, if such proceedings have not been dismissed or discharged within 30 days 
after they are instituted; or the insolvency or making of an assignment for the benefit of creditors or the admittance by either party of any involuntary debts as they 
mature or the institution of any reorganization arrangement or other readjustment of debt plan of either party not involving the United States Bankruptcy Code.  Where 
a party has the right to terminate this Agreement, such party may at its discretion either terminate the entire Agreement or the applicable Product Attachment or 
Schedule; provided however, that termination of a Product Attachment will automatically terminate all Schedules entered into pursuant to such Product Attachment.  
Product Attachments and Schedules that are not terminated will continue in full force and effect under the terms of these General Terms.  Following termination of this 
Agreement or a Product Attachment (for whatever reason), if requested by Active, Client will certify that it has returned or destroyed all copies of the applicable Protected 
Materials and acknowledges that its rights to use the same are relinquished.  Termination for any reason will not excuse Client’s obligation to pay in full any and all 
amounts due, nor will termination by Active result in a refund of fees paid. 
 
6. GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 
6.1. Insurance.   
a. If Active employs any person to perform work in connection with this Agreement, Active shall procure and maintain at all times during the performance of the work 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance in conformance with the laws of the State of California and Federal laws, where applicable.  Employers’ Liability Insurance shall not 
be less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per accident or disease.  Active shall also procure and maintain at all times during the term of this Agreement General 
Liability Insurance (including automobile operation) covering Active and the Client for liability arising out of the operations of Active and any subcontractors.  Each policy 
shall include coverage for all vehicles, licensed or unlicensed, on or off the Client’s premises, used by or on behalf of Active for the performance of work under this 
Agreement.  Each policy except Professional Liability shall provide coverage of not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) per claim, naming as an additional 
insured, in connection with Active’s activities, the Client, its elected and appointed officials, and its employees, agents, and representatives.   
b. Each insurer shall agree that its policy is primary insurance and that it shall be liable for the full amount of any loss up to and including the total limit of liability 
without right of contribution from any other insurance covering the Client.   
c. Prior to commencement of work hereunder, Active shall deliver to the Client a certificate of insurance which shall indicate compliance with the insurance 
requirements of this paragraph.  The Client reserves the right to obtain a full certified copy of any insurance policy and endorsements during this time.  Failure to 
exercise this right shall not constitute a waiver of right to exercise later. 
d. It shall be a requirement under this Agreement that any available insurance proceeds broader than or in excess of the specified minimum insurance coverage 
requirements and/or limits shall be available to the Client as an additional insured.  Furthermore, the requirements for coverage and limits shall be (1) the minimum 
coverage and limits specified in this Agreement; or (2) the broader coverage and maximum limits of coverage of any insurance policy or proceeds available to the 
named insured; whichever is greater.  The additional insured coverage under Active’s policy shall be “primary and non-contributory” and will not seek contribution from 
the Client’s insurance or self-insurance and shall be at least as broad as CG 20 01 04 12.  In the event Active fails to obtain or maintain coverage as required by this 
Agreement, the Client at its sole discretion may purchase the coverage required and the cost will be paid by Active.  Each policy shall include an endorsement providing 
that it shall not be cancelled, changed, or allowed to lapse without at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Client of such cancellation, change, or lapse. 
e. All self-insured retentions (SIR) and/or deductibles must be disclosed to the Client for approval and shall not reduce the limits of liability.  Policies containing any 
self-insured retention (SIR) provision or deductibles shall provide or be endorsed to provide that the SIR and/or deductibles may be satisfied by either the named 
insured or the Client. Active shall also procure and maintain at all times during the performance of the work Professional Liability Insurance covering Active’s 
performance under this Agreement.  The policy shall provide coverage of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per claim. 
f. Inclusion of the Client as additional insured shall not in any way affect its rights with respect to any claim, demand, suit, or judgment made, brought or recovered 
against Active.  Such policy shall protect Active and the Client in the same manner as though a separate policy had been issued to each, but nothing in the policy shall 
operate to increase the insurer's liability as set forth in the policy beyond the amount or amounts shown or to which the insurer would have been liable if only one 
interest had been named as an insured.  
g. If the policies of insurance obtained and maintained by Active under this Paragraph provide coverage on a claims-made rather than occurrence-based basis, 
Active shall maintain such coverage, or obtain comparable tail coverage, for the period following termination of this Agreement until the expiration of all applicable 
statutes of limitations. 
h. The Client and its officers, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be covered as additional insureds with respect to liability arising out of activities performed by 
or on behalf of Active, including the insured’s general supervision of Active, as well as products and completed operations of Active. 
 
6.2. U.S. Government Restricted Rights.  The Products are provided with restricted rights.  Use, duplication, or disclosure by the U.S. Government is subject to 
restrictions as set forth in subparagraph (c) of The Rights in Technical Data and Computer Software clause at DFARS 252.227-7013, or subparagraphs (b)(1) and (2) 
of the Commercial Computer Software - Restricted Rights at 48 CFR 52.227-19, as applicable.  The Manufacturer is Active Network, LLC or one of its Affiliates or 
subsidiaries. 
 
6.3. Suspension.  Active will be entitled to suspend any or all Services or deactivate Client’s account, including suspending its performance and obligation to remit 
payments hereunder, upon 10 days’ written notice to Client in the event Active reasonably believes that Client is in breach of this Agreement. 
 
6.4. Force Majeure.  Neither party will incur any liability to the other party on account of any loss, claim, damage, or liability to the extent resulting from any delay or 
failure to perform all or any part of this Agreement, if and to the extent such delay or failure is caused, in whole or in part, by events, occurrences, or causes beyond 
the reasonable control and without any negligence on the part of the party seeking protection under this subsection, including internet service provider or third party 
payment delays or failures, acts of God, strikes, lockouts, riots, acts of war, terrorism, earthquake, fire, or explosions.  Dates by which performance obligations are 
scheduled to be met will be extended for a time equal to the time lost due to the delay so caused. 
 
6.5. Assignment.  Active may assign this Agreement and any or all of its rights and obligations herein without Client’s approval.  Except as provided in an applicable 
Product Attachment, Client may not assign or transfer this Agreement without the prior written consent of Active. 
 

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



Contract # 00106757 

Version: 06/06/18 Page 4 of 6 General Terms 

6.6. Export; Anti-Bribery.  The Products may include encryption software or other encryption technologies that may be controlled for import, transfer, export, or other 
purposes under Export Laws.  Client may not export, re-export, transfer, or re-transfer or assist or facilitate in any manner the export, re-export, transfer, or re-transfer 
of or provide access to any portion of the Products in violation of Export Laws, as determined by the laws under which Client operates, including: (a) to any country on 
Canada’s Area Control List; (b) to any country subject to U.N. Security Council embargo or action; (c) contrary to Canada’s Export Control List Item 5505; (d) to countries 
subject to U.S. economic sanctions and embargoes; and (e) to persons or entities prohibited from receiving U.S. exports or U.S.-origin items, including, to any person 
or entity appearing on the Office of Foreign Assets Control's Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List; the Bureau of Industry and Security's Denied 
Persons List, Entity List, or Unverified List; or the Department of State Debarred List.  Client hereby represents and covenants that: (i) Client is eligible to access the 
Products under Export laws and all other applicable laws; and (ii) Client will import, export, re-export, transfer, or re-transfer the Products to, or use or access the 
Products in, any country or territory only in accordance with Export Laws and all other applicable laws.  Furthermore, Client hereby represents and covenants that, in 
connection with its respective activities conducted under this Agreement, it will comply with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, the U.K. 
Bribery Act of 2010, as amended, and the Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials and has not and will not make or receive, directly or indirectly, 
any payments or gifts, or offers or promises of payments or gifts or things of value in exchange for anything that may arise out of this Agreement in a manner that would 
violate these laws and rules or any other applicable anti-corruption or anti-bribery laws or regulations. 
 
6.7. Notices.  Any notices required to be given under this Agreement will be in writing sent to the address on file with Active for Client or, in the case of Active, to the 
address set forth in Section 7 of these General Terms to the attention of Legal Department.  Notices will be deemed received the next day if sent via overnight mail or 
courier with confirmation of receipt, or 3 days after deposited in the mail sent certified or registered. 
 
6.8. Relationship.  This Agreement is not intended to create a partnership, franchise, joint venture, agency, or a fiduciary or employment relationship.  Neither party 
may bind the other party or act in a manner which expresses or implies a relationship other than that of independent contractor. 
 
6.9. Severability.  If any part or provision of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable, illegal, or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction for any reason whatsoever, 
(a) the validity, legality, and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement (including all portions of any provisions containing any such unenforceable 
provision that are not themselves unenforceable) will not in any way be affected or impaired thereby, and (b) to the fullest extent possible, the unenforceable, illegal, or 
invalid provision will be deemed modified and replaced by a provision that approximates the intent and economic effect of the unenforceable, illegal, or invalid provision 
and this Agreement will be deemed amended accordingly. 
 
6.10. Survival.  The following provisions will survive any termination, cancellation, or expiration of this Agreement: Sections 1, 2, 3.2, 4, 5.2, 6, and 7 of these General 
Terms, and such other provisions that should reasonably survive termination, cancellation, or expiration hereof. 
 
6.11. Amendments; No Waiver.  No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be effective unless it is in writing and signed by the party against 
which it is sought to be enforced. 
 
6.12. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the parties’ entire agreement relating to its subject matter.  It cancels and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous 
oral or written communications, agreements, requests for proposals, proposals, conditions, representations, and warranties, or other communication between the 
parties relating to its subject matter as well as any prior contractual agreements between the parties.  No modification to this Agreement will be binding unless it is in 
writing and includes a signature by an authorized representative of each party.  All pre-printed terms of any Client purchase order, business processing document, or 
on-line terms will have no effect.  There have been no material representations or statements by any person or party to this Agreement as an inducement for a party 
hereto to accept this Agreement other than what is expressly set forth in writing herein. 
 
6.13. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is for the benefit of the parties and their successors and permitted assigns, and does not confer any rights or 
benefits on any third party, including any employee of a party, any client of a party, or any employee of a client of a party.  Notwithstanding the above, the parties 
acknowledge that all rights and benefits afforded to Active under this Agreement will apply equally to its licensors and suppliers, and the owner of the Third Party 
Products with respect to the Third Party Products, and such third parties are intended third party beneficiaries of this Agreement, with respect to the Third Party Products 
as applicable. 
 
6.14. Governing Law and Venue.  Except as set forth below, this Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to the conflict 
of law provisions thereof.    Neither the United Nations Convention of Contracts for the International Sale of Goods nor the Uniform Computer Information Transactions 
Act will apply to this Agreement.  THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING 
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT.  
 
6.14 Order of Precedence.  To the extent any terms and conditions of these General Terms conflict with the terms and conditions of any Product Attachment, the 
provisions of the Product Attachment will control.    In the event of a conflict between a Schedule and these General Terms or the applicable Product Attachment, the 
General Terms or the applicable Product Attachment (as applicable) will control, provided, however, that such standard variable terms such as price, quantity, license 
scope, payment terms, shipping instructions, and the like will be specified on each Schedule. 
 
6.15 Interpretation.  Any reference to a statutory provision includes a reference to any modification or re-enactment of it from time to time.  The headings and pronouns 
contained herein are for convenience and ease of reference only and will not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.  The word “including” in this 
Agreement means “including, without limitation.”  All references to days means calendar days.  This Agreement will not be construed in favor of or against a party 
based on the author of the document. 
 
6.16 Counterparts.  These General Terms and each Product Attachment, Schedule, and any exhibits thereto may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 
which will constitute an enforceable original of this Agreement, and the parties agree that electronic or digital signatures, as well as pdf scanned copies of signatures, 
will be as effective and binding as original signatures. 
 
6.17 Remedies Cumulative; Injunctive Relief.  All rights and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any other rights or remedies 
that may be available to the parties, whether provided by law, equity, statute, in any other agreement between the parties or otherwise.  Furthermore, in the event of a 
breach or threatened breach of the intellectual property obligations in this Agreement, Active, in addition to any and all other rights (at law or in equity) which may be 

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



Contract # 00106757 

Version: 06/06/18 Page 5 of 6 General Terms 

available, will have the right of injunctive relief and other appropriate equitable remedies to restrain any such breach or threatened breach, without the requirement of 
posting a bond. 
 
7. DEFINITIONS. 
 
“Active” means Active Network, LLC, with a principal place of business at 717 N. Harwood St., Suite 2500, Dallas, TX, 75201, together with its Affiliates, or, if your 
principal place of business is in Canada, Active Network Ltd., with a principal place of business at 2925 Virtual Way, Unit 310, Vancouver BC V5M 4X5. 
 
“Affiliates” of a designated corporation, company, partnership, or other entity means all entities which control, are controlled by, or are under common control with the 
named entity, whether directly or through one or more intermediaries.  For purposes of this definition “controlled” and “control” mean ownership of more than 50% of 
the voting capital stock or other interest having voting rights with respect to the election of the board of directors or similar governing authority. 
 
“Agreement” means these General Terms, together with all Product Attachments and Schedules accepted by the parties (as described in the Preamble). 
 
“Client” means the individual who accepts this Agreement (as described in the Preamble) and any business entity on behalf of which such individual accepts this 
Agreement. 
 
“Desktop Software” means each Active-developed and/or Active-owned software product in machine readable object code (not source code) that is installed on 
desktop(s) or server(s) controlled by Client, the Documentation for such product, and any Updates and Upgrades thereto. 
 
“Documentation” means the user instructions, release notes, manuals, or on-line help files in the form generally made available by Active, regarding the use of the 
applicable Software or Services, as updated by Active from time to time. 
 
“Effective Date” means the date that Client accepts this Agreement (as described in the Preamble). 
 
“Export Laws” means export control laws and regulations of the countries and/or territories in which Active operates or in which the Products are used, accessed, or 
from which the Products are provided. 
 
“Hardware” means computer hardware, equipment, and/or utilities supplied by Active pursuant to a Schedule. 
 
“Intellectual Property” means any and all intellectual property and proprietary rights (in whole or in part) recognized in any country or jurisdiction in the world, now or 
hereafter existing, and whether or not perfected, filed, or recorded, including inventions, technology, patent rights (including patent applications, divisions, and 
disclosures), copyrights and all works of authorship (whether or not copyrightable), moral rights, trade secrets, trademarks and other indicators of source (and the 
goodwill associated therewith), service marks, trade dress, logos, methodologies, procedures, processes, know-how, tools, utilities, techniques, protocols, various 
concepts, ideas, methods, models, templates, software, source code, algorithms, tools, utilities, the generalized features of the structure, sequence and organization 
of software, user interfaces and screen designs, layouts, general purpose consulting and software tools, utilities and routines, and logic, coherence and methods of 
operation of systems, training methodology and materials, which Active has created, acquired, or otherwise has rights in, and may, in connection with the Products or 
the performance of Services hereunder, create, employ, provide, modify, create, acquire, or otherwise obtain rights in, and in each case includes any derivative works, 
alterations, and other modifications using, incorporating, based on, or derived from the foregoing. 
 
“Maintenance Services” means the provision of Updates and Upgrades related to the Software all as more particularly set out in the applicable Product Attachment 
and/or Schedule. 
 
“Preamble” means the first paragraph of these General Terms. 
 
“Products” means, collectively, SaaS, Desktop Software, Services, Hardware, and all other services, products, or materials provided by Active to Client under the 
terms of this Agreement. 
 
“Professional Services” means the implementation, site planning, configuration, integration, and deployment of the Software or SaaS, training, project management, 
and other consulting services. 
 
“Protected Materials” means Products, except for Hardware. 
 
“SaaS” means (a) the software as a service which is hosted by Active or its hosting providers and which is accessed by Client and its users via the internet; (b) Active’s 
web sites; and (c) associated services, as more fully described in the applicable Product Attachment. SaaS functionality is subject to change from time to time at 
Active’s sole discretion.  
 
“Services” means, collectively, (a) Professional Services; (b) Maintenance Services; (c) Support Services; and (d) any other services set forth in a Schedule. 
 
“Schedule” means the document, schedule, quote, pricing form, web page, order form, or similar document and the terms and conditions contained therein “accepted” 
(as described in the Preamble) by the parties that describes order-specific information, such as a description of Products ordered, features, options, license details, 
and fees. 
 
“Software” means the SaaS and the Desktop Software, collectively. 
 
“Support Services” means the provision of technical assistance for Software or Hardware as further described in an applicable Product Attachment and/or Schedule. 
 

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



Contract # 00106757 

Version: 06/06/18 Page 6 of 6 General Terms 

“Taxes” means any and all applicable taxes, including sales, use, excise, withholding, assessments, stamp, transfer, value-added, duties, tariffs, export charges, import 
charges, and other taxes or assessments (however designated) imposed by any foreign, federal, provincial, state, or local governmental authority upon or applicable 
to Products arising out of this Agreement, other than those based on Active’s net income. 
 
“Third Party EULA” means the end user license agreement, if any, that accompanies the Third Party Products, which governs the use of or access by Client to the 
applicable Third Party Products. 
 
“Third Party Products” means those hardware, firmware and/or software products, including updates and enhancements thereto, if any, owned by third parties, 
together with all user manuals and other documents accompanying the delivery of the Third Party Products. 
 
“Updates” means bug fixes, patches, error corrections, minor releases, or modifications or revisions that enhance existing performance of the Software that are provided 
as part of Maintenance Services. Updates exclude Upgrades. 
 
“Upgrades” means a new Software release that contains major functionality enhancements or improvements; and which is designated by an incremental increase in 
the release number to the left of the decimal point (by way of example only, release 5.0 designates an Upgrade from release 4.x). Upgrades exclude new products, 
modules or functionality for which Active generally charges a separate fee.  

 
  

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



Contract # 00106757 

Version: 06/08/18 Page 1 of 3 Recreation and Membership Management Product Attachment 

Recreation and Membership Management Product Attachment 
 

This document is a “Product Attachment” as defined in the General Terms entered into by Client and Active and is subject to and incorporates by reference the 
provisions of the General Terms. This Product Attachment is effective as of the date it is “accepted” (in accordance with the Preamble to the General Terms). Any 
capitalized terms not defined herein have the meaning ascribed to them in the General Terms. 
 
1. SERVICES.  Active will provide Services related to events, camps, licenses, classes, tickets, contests, permits, facility/equipment use, transactions, sales, 
memberships, reservations, donations, and/or activities relating solely to the Parks and Recreation Department (together, “Events”), including without limitation access 
to its SaaS. Client agrees to cooperate with Active and to provide Active with certain information relating to Client’s organization as necessary for Active to provide the 
Services and SaaS. SaaS provided hereunder are deemed delivered when access is made available to Client. 
 
2. LICENSE TO INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY/PROMOTION. 
 
2.1. Active hereby grants to Client a limited, non-exclusive, non-transferable, non-sublicensable license during the term of this Product Attachment (a) to use the SaaS 
for the purposes of offering, promoting, managing, tracking, and collecting fees in connection with Client’s Event(s) solely in accordance with the Agreement and the 
Schedule, which for purposes hereof will include the support and maintenance handbook applicable to the Products, as may be updated from time to time, such 
handbook being available for review in the Client portal, and (b) to display, reproduce, distribute, and transmit in digital form Active’s name and logo solely for the 
purposes set forth in this Section 2. Client hereby grants to Active a limited license to use information provided by Client relating to Client’s organization and Event, 
which may include content regarding the Event, Client’s organization’s name, trademarks, service marks, and logo, in connection with the promotion of Client’s 
organization or Events and the Services that Active provides. 
 
2.2. Client will make reasonable efforts to promote and encourage the use and availability of the SaaS in connection with the promotion of Events. During the term of 
this Product Attachment, Active will be the sole and exclusive provider of registration software and other services similar to the Software and Services provided to Client 
hereunder for all of Client’s Events for which registration begins during the term of this Product Attachment until the Event occurs. Client expressly understands and 
agrees that the exclusivity set forth in this Section 2.2 is consideration in exchange for the pricing and other benefits being provided to Client hereunder.   
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exclusivity requirements set forth in this Section 2.2 do not apply to Ticket Socket and Square. Further, the exclusivity requirement 
do not apply to VSI until the transition to Active SaaS is complete.  
  
Without limiting the foregoing, Client will not enter into any agreement, arrangement, or relationship with any other party that offers online registration or transaction 
processing services similar to the SaaS provided to the Client hereunder. In addition, if Client host events that Active’s current SaaS does not sufficiently support, Client 
may use alternate SaaS to support such events, provided however, if Active updates its current SaaS and the updates allow for support and functionality of such events, 
then Client shall use Active’s SaaS after the update is successfully implemented and such events will be subject to this Product Attachment. 
 
2.3. Active may present commerce offers to users who register for, sign up, or otherwise use the SaaS in connection with the Events (“End Users”). Any such End 
Users may opt in to receive information, items, or promotions/deals from Active or third parties, in which case, Active or such third party will be responsible for fulfillment 
and providing customer service for any such offers. Client will not present any competing offers to End Users.  
 
2.4. Client will: (a) not use the SaaS to transmit, publish, or distribute any material or information: (i) for which Client does not have all necessary rights and licenses, 
including any material or information that infringes, violates, or misappropriates the intellectual property rights of any third party; (ii) that contains a computer virus or 
other code, files, or programs designed to disrupt or interfere with the functioning of the SaaS; (iii) that is inaccurate or misleading; (iv) that is or that may reasonably 
be perceived as being harmful, threatening, offensive, obscene, or otherwise objectionable; (v) that contains a virus or malicious code; or (vi) that includes the private 
information of another without express permission, including but not limited to contact information, social security numbers, credit card numbers or other information 
which a reasonable person would consider private in nature; (b) not attempt to gain access to any systems or networks that connect to the Services and SaaS except 
for the express purpose of using the SaaS for their intended use; (c) not engage in any activity that interferes with or disrupts the SaaS; (d) not use the SaaS in violation 
of the CAN-SPAM Act, Canadian Anti-Spam Legislation, or any other applicable laws pertaining to unsolicited email, SMS, text messaging or other electronic 
communications. 
 
3. INFORMATION COLLECTION. 
 
3.1. Active collects certain information from End Users (collectively, “Participant Information”). Client may login to Active’s data management system to access the 
Participant Information. Client is responsible for the security of its login information and for the use or misuse of such information. Client will immediately disable a 
user’s access who is using the SaaS on its behalf or notify Active in writing if any such user is no longer authorized or is using such information without Client’s consent. 
Active may rely, without independent verification, on such notice, and Client, inclusive of Client’s parent, subsidiaries, and affiliated entities, as applicable, and each of 
their respective officers, directors, managers, shareholders, owners, agents, employees, contractors, and representatives covenant not to sue and agree to defend, 
indemnify, and hold harmless Active from any claims arising from Active providing, denying, suspending, or modifying access to or use of the SaaS and Services of 
any individual as directed by Client or by someone who Active reasonably, under the circumstances, believes is authorized to act on behalf of Client. In the event of 
any dispute between two or more parties as to account ownership, Client agrees that Active will be the sole arbiter of such dispute in its sole discretion and that Active’s 
decision (which may include termination or suspension of any account subject to dispute) will be final and binding on all parties. Client agrees not to use the Software 
or Services to collect or elicit (a) any special categories of data (as defined in the European Union Data Protection Directive, as may be amended from time to time), 
including, but not limited to, data revealing racial or ethnic origin, political opinions, religious or other beliefs, trade-union membership, as well as personal data 
concerning health or sexual life or criminal convictions other than as expressly directed by Active, and in such event, only in pre-defined fields within the Software that 
are intended for that purpose; or (b) credit card information other than in pre-defined fields within the Software that are intended for that purpose. 
 
3.2. Both parties agree to use the collected information in compliance with (a) all applicable laws, rules and regulations, including, without limitation, those governing 
privacy and personal information and the use of credit card data (e.g., using credit card information only for purposes authorized by the cardholder); (b) applicable 
credit card network rules and Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards; and (c) Active’s privacy policy, as published on its website or otherwise provided by 
Active from time to time. 
 

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



Contract # 00106757 

Version: 06/08/18 Page 2 of 3 Recreation and Membership Management Product Attachment 

4. FEES. 
 
4.1. Client will pay the fees as more fully described in the applicable Schedule. Unless otherwise set forth in the applicable Schedule, Active will charge registration 
fees to individuals who register for the Events or purchase goods or services online, and will process and collect such fees as a merchant of record according to the 
card networks. On a bi-weekly basis, unless otherwise set forth in the applicable Schedule, Active will pay Client sums due to Client based on the total fees collected, 
net of Active’s service fees as set forth in the applicable Schedule and any other deductions provided herein. The applicable currency will be set forth in the Schedule. 
 
4.2. Active may suspend its performance hereunder, including remitting payments, or terminate the Agreement or this Product Attachment in the event it reasonably 
believes that Client’s use of the Services or SaaS is not in compliance with applicable law or the Agreement, is fraudulent, or is otherwise suspect, or if there is a 
dispute as to the legal authority of a Client-associated party to perform hereunder. If Active reasonably believes that a transaction may be fraudulent or otherwise 
contrary to law, Active may issue an invoice or offset an equivalent amount from Client’s account or any payment Active owes to Client and return the value to the End 
User (as set forth below) and if sufficient funds are not available, Client must reimburse Active on demand. Active will notify Client of the reason for such offset provided 
that it is lawful to do so. 
 
4.3. If the Schedule indicates that Client is paying on a subscription basis, Client will be invoiced for the first year of subscription fees upon the date of the first live 
operational use of the SaaS for the Event(s) (“Go-Live Date”), with subsequent annual subscription fees being invoiced upon each anniversary of the Go-Live Date.   
 
4.4. If (a) there are any overdue amounts owed by Client; or (b) there are returned charges or items, including those resulting from any error or complaint related to 
an Event, Active has the right to charge fees owed to Active by Client by issuing an invoice, or by offsetting the deficiency from any account balance Client maintains 
with Active or any payment Active owes Client. 
 
4.5. All fees described in the applicable Schedule are in consideration of the SaaS and Services that Active provides. Active and Client acknowledge that certain credit 
card network rules and laws prohibit imposing a surcharge that is based on the type of payment method used (e.g., having a different fee for the use of a credit card 
vs. debit card), and therefore, each agrees not to impose such a surcharge on any end user. 
 
4.6. In the event Client is entering into this Product Attachment and using the Services and/or SaaS for the benefit of a third-party Event or organization (“Third Party 
Recipient”), Client agrees that Active can remit amounts directly to the Third Party Recipient identified by Client. In addition, Client will cause each Third Party Recipient 
to agree to and comply with provisions that are at least as protective of Active as Section 4 of the General Terms and Section 5 of this Product Attachment in Client’s 
agreement with such Third Party Recipient.  Should Client fail to obtain such agreement to such provisions and the failure results in costs or damages to Active, Client 
agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold Active harmless from any such costs and damages, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees. In addition, Client 
is responsible and liable for each Third Party Recipient’s compliance with the terms and conditions of the Agreement. 
 
4.7. It is Client’s responsibility to notify End Users of Client’s refund policy. Client must ensure that Client’s refund policies are consistent with the Agreement. Client 
agrees that all fees for a given Event are earned by Client only following either the conclusion or delivery of the applicable Event (as applicable) and all amounts 
ultimately due to Client will be net of all service fees, reversals, refunds, disputed charges, chargebacks and other deductions whether due to customer complaints, 
allegations of fraud, discrepancies related to the applicable Event or otherwise. No payments will be made to Client with respect to any Event that is cancelled. If 
payments have already been made by Active to Client for a cancelled Event or if Active reasonably determines that it is prudent or otherwise necessary to pay a refund 
to or honor a chargeback request from an End User, Active may issue an invoice or offset an equivalent amount from Client’s account or payment owed by Active to 
Client and return the value to the End User, and if sufficient funds are not available, Client must reimburse Active on demand. Active will notify Client of the reason for 
such offset provided that it is lawful to do so. 
 
4.8. When Active is acting as the merchant of record and Client elects to include an additional fee in the End Users’ cart that is identified as a “sales tax” or similar 
designation, then, no more frequently than once per calendar year during the term of the Agreement, Active may, upon at least 5 business days’ prior written notice, (i) 
require Client to send to Active Client’s books and records related to its sales tax payments, and/or (ii) visit Client’s premises during Client’s normal business hours 
to review Client’s sales tax payments. 
 
5. INDEMNIFICATION. Client will defend, indemnify, and hold Active harmless from and against any third party claim, demand, cause of action or proceedings 
(whether threatened, asserted, or filed) (“Claims”) against Active to the extent that such Claim is (a) based upon (i) injury or death to a person or damage to property 
resulting from the participation in an Event operated by Client in connection with the Services and/or SaaS; (ii) Client’s provision to Active of materials, products, or 
services as part of Client’s obligations hereunder that infringe the intellectual property rights of any third party provided that such materials, products, or services are 
used by Active in accordance with the Agreement; (iii) use or unauthorized disclosure of Participant Information by Client or other third parties to whom access is given 
to Participant Information as provided hereunder; (iv) Client’s use of the Services and/or SaaS in violation of Section 2.4 of this Product Attachment; (v) any claims for 
refunds, reversals or chargeback requests from End Users; or (b) brought by a Third Party Recipient or brought in connection with Active’s payment to a Third Party 
Recipient of any fees due hereunder in accordance with the Agreement.  This Section shall not apply, and Client shall further have no obligation to comply with this 
Section, to the extent that such Claim solely results from the negligence or willful misconduct of Active. 
 
 
6. TERM AND TERMINATION. 
 
6.1. Unless otherwise set forth in the applicable Schedule, the initial term of this Product Attachment will be for 3 years from the Effective Date with automatic renewals 
for 3 year terms thereafter (each, a “Renewal Term”), unless either party gives written notice to the other party to terminate this Product Attachment no less than 12 
months prior to the expiration of the then-current term. Unless otherwise set forth in the applicable Schedule, to the extent that Client enters into a Schedule for 
additional Services and/or SaaS that are related to or interoperable with Services or SaaS set forth in a previously entered into Schedule, the term of such subsequent 
Schedule will be concurrent and coterminous with the term of the previously entered into Schedule.  
 
6.2. If Client has entered into a sub-merchant agreement for payment processing services, and such agreement is terminated by the applicable acquiring bank, Active 
may terminate this Product Attachment and the effected Schedule. 
 

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



Contract # 00106757 

Version: 06/08/18 Page 3 of 3 Recreation and Membership Management Product Attachment 

6.3. Notwithstanding the termination or expiration of this Product Attachment or the Agreement under any circumstance other than in the event of Active’s material, 
uncured breach of the Agreement, the parties agree that Active will continue to be the exclusive provider of registration software and other services similar to the 
Services and SaaS for all of Client’s Events for which registration begins during the term of this Product Attachment until the Event occurs. 
 
7. ASSIGNMENT. 
 
7.1. Client may not resell, assign, or transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder except as expressly provided herein, and any attempt to resell, assign, or 
transfer such rights or obligations without Active’s prior written approval will be null and void. 
 
7.2. Client will cause each Schedule hereunder to be assigned to (a) the purchaser of all or substantially all of Client’s assets or equity securities or (b) to any successor 
by way of merger, consolidation, or other corporate reorganization of Client ((a) and (b) together, a “Change of Control”). 
 
7.3. Client will provide written notice to Active of any proposed or completed Change of Control as soon as permissible and in any event within 5 days of the public 
announcement or close of the transaction, whichever occurs first.  Within the 30 day period following such notice, Active will have the right to immediately terminate 
each applicable Schedule if Active determines, in its reasonable good faith discretion that the purchaser or assignee is a competitor of Active or a party with whom 
Active does not want to do business.  Client agrees to require that the purchaser or assignee (as outlined in this Section 7) agree, in writing, to be bound by the terms 
and conditions of the Agreement and each applicable Schedule. 
 
8. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
8.1. Sections 5, 6, and 8 of this Product Attachment and any fees owed by Client will survive any termination or expiration of the Agreement. 
 
8.2. The “Liquidated Damage Amount” equals the “Annual Projected Contract Value” (to the extent such amount is specified in the applicable Schedule(s)) times 
the number of years in the then-current term, minus the amount of revenue already paid to Active during the then-current term, net of all refunds, credit card chargebacks, 
and all other deducted amounts. Client agrees that (a) it will pay Liquidated Damages to Active if (i) Client breaches its exclusivity obligations under Section 2.2 of this 
Product Attachment; (ii) Active terminates a Schedule and/or the Agreement in accordance with Section 5.2 of the General Terms; (iii) Client fails to cause an assignment 
as specified in Section 7 of this Product Attachment; and/or (iv) Active terminates a Schedule and/or the Agreement pursuant to Section 7.3 of this Product Attachment; 
(b) all Liquidated Damage Amounts set forth in the Agreement will automatically reset during each Renewal Term; (c) Active may offset any Liquidated Damages 
Amount set forth in the Agreement from any account balance Client maintains with Active or any payment Active owes Client; (d) because of the difficulty in making a 
precise determination of actual damages incurred by Active, the Liquidated Damage Amount will be assessed, not as a penalty, but as a reasonable approximation of 
costs incurred by Active and Active’s loss of revenue; and (e) that in any suit or other action or proceeding involving the assessment or recovery of liquidated damages, 
the reasonableness of the Liquidated Damage Amount will be presumed and the liquidated damages assessed will be in addition to every other remedy now or 
hereinafter enforceable at law, in equity, by statute, or under the Agreement. 
 

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



Contract # 00106757 

Version: 06/08/18 Page 1 of 2 Information Security Overview 

EXHIBIT A 
Information Security Program Overview 

 
1. Information Security Program 

 
1.1. Supplier shall have implemented and documented an information security program (the “Security Program”) consistent with 

applicable industry standards, applicable to all facilities, networks, infrastructure, devices, and cloud resources used by Global to 
provide the Services under this Agreement, including any applicable Subcontractor facilities, networks, infrastructure, devices, and 
cloud resources.  For purposes of this Agreement, “Security Program” shall include, but shall not be limited to, Company policies, 
procedures, standards, and strategy, whether in hard copy, electronic, recorded form, or otherwise. Such Security Program is 
expected to contain reasonable and appropriate administrative, technical, and physical safeguards to monitor Supplier’s systems 
and protect cardholder data against anticipated threats or hazards regarding: security, confidentiality, availability, or integrity; loss 
and accidental, unlawful and unauthorized destruction, alteration, use, disclosure, acquisition, or access. 

 
2. Data Protection 
 
2.1. Supplier agrees to protect and maintain the security of Confidential Information in accordance with those laws, regulations, and 

industry requirements applicable to Supplier. These security measures include but are not limited to maintaining secure 
environments that are patched and up to date with all appropriate security updates. 

2.2. Supplier shall provide logical separation of Customer data to prevent access to Customer data by another Supplier customer. 
2.3. Supplier shall implement formal procedures and measures (including, without limitation, keeping access logs) to control, and review 

on no less frequent than an annual basis, physical access to prevent unauthorized accesses to Customer data. 
2.4. Supplier shall ensure the secure transmission of information between Customer and Supplier and/or between Supplier and a third 

party, so that such information remains confidential. 
 
3. Network Security 
 

3.1. Supplier agrees to maintain network security that, at a minimum, includes:  firewalls, intrusion detection, and regular 
penetration testing. Supplier also agrees to maintain network security that conforms to a generally recognized information 
security standard applicable to Supplier’s business; such as PCI DSS. 

 
4. Data Encryption 
 

4.1. Supplier agrees to store all cardholder data provided to Supplier in encrypted form using industry recognized strong encryption. 
 
5. Data Re-Use 
 

5.1. Supplier agrees that any and all data exchanged shall be used expressly and solely for the purpose enumerated in this Contract.  
 
6. Data Destruction 
 

6.1. Supplier agrees to retain data in accordance with Supplier policies and procedures and records retention schedules.  Per 
Supplier retention schedules, Supplier shall erase, destroy, and render unreadable all Customer data from computer systems 
and backups in accordance with such policies and procedures. 

 
7. Change Management 
 

7.1. Supplier agrees to comply with industry accepted secure application development practices and Supplier’s Software 
Development Life Cycle Methodology. 

7.2. Supplier agrees to comply with industry accepted information security practices relating to change management and to comply 
with Supplier’s Change Management policies/standards/processes/procedures.  

 
8. Vulnerability Management 
 

8.1. Supplier shall protect systems, including equipment and software, against known vulnerabilities and updating protective 
measures, including antivirus software and other forms of malicious code protection. 

 
9. Access Control 
 

9.1. Supplier shall maintain access controls to processing facilities and Customer data, which shall be built around the principles 
of “need to know basis” and “least privilege”, implement and document formal procedures and measures to control and review, 
the allocation of access rights by Supplier’s employees (and /or subcontractors) to the Customer’s data.  

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



Contract # 00106757 

Version: 06/08/18 Page 2 of 2 Information Security Overview 

 
10. Monitoring  
 

10.1. Supplier shall monitor the physical and technological environment of the Informational Resources so as to identify security 
breaches, circumstances or any other factors that might alter the risk level incurred by Customer, and/or detect any problems 
in the availability and efficiency of the systems used to provide the Services to Customer. 

 
11. Security Training 
 

11.1. Supplier shall regularly raise awareness among employees concerning information security and confidentiality.  
 

12. Pre-employment Screening 
 

12.1.1. Supplier shall maintain pre-employment inquiries consistent with industry standards where feasible and in compliance 
with local law. 

 
13. Breach Notification 
 

13.1. In the event of a security breach involving Supplier’s systems and data associated with Customer, Supplier  shall notify 
Customer in a timely manner following its internal confirmation that Customer transactional information has been involved 
in a Security Breach, provided that such notification will not conflict with or compromise Supplier’s efforts to (i) cooperate 
with law enforcement, (ii) protect confidential information belonging to Customer, itself, or any third party, or (iii) remediate 
and/or mitigate the Security Breach and further provided that Supplier will notify Customer at the same time Supplier notifies 
other similarly situated and similarly impacted customers. 

13.2. Supplier shall respond to requests for information from Customer related to any actual Security Breaches involving Customer’s 
transactional information in a commercially reasonable timeframe and will cooperate fully with Customer and its agents in 
resolving the problem, take all necessary actions at its own costs to assist Customer in managing the impacts of the security 
breach, provided that such information and actions will not conflict with or compromise Supplier’s efforts to (i) cooperate 
with law enforcement, (ii) protect confidential information belonging to Customer, itself, or a third party, or (iii) remediate 
and/or mitigate the Security Breach.   

 
14. Right to Audit 
 

14.1. Upon written request from Customer and the execution of a non-disclosure agreement relating thereto, and no more frequently 
than once every twelve (12) months, Supplier shall provide Customer with a copy of Supplier’s SSAE 18 report at no additional 
charge to Customer. 

14.2. Supplier shall cooperate with any reasonable self-assessment requests received from Customer, which may include 
questionnaires, in accordance with Supplier’s standard practices. 

Supplier undertakes to remain compliant with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) during the Term of this 
Agreement.  Upon written request from Customer and the execution of a non-disclosure agreement relating thereto, and no more 
frequently than once every twelve (12) months, Supplier shall provide Customer with confirmation of Supplier’s PCI DSS compliance 
status.   

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



 

                                                                                            

40,000First Year
Registrations

 

100 Civic Plaza 
DUBLIN, CA 94568 United States

Ship To Address

Rhonda FranklinShip To Contact

100 Civic Plaza 
DUBLIN, CA 94568 United States

Bill To Address

Rhonda FranklinBill To Contact

CITY OF DUBLINBill To Name

lashawn.butler@dublin.ca.govEmail

(925) 833-6645Phone

La Shawn ButlerContact Name

jordan.whittington@activenetwork.comEmail

214.295.1873Phone

Jordan WhittingtonPrepared By

USDCurrency

00106757Quote Number

12/10/2018Created Date717 North Harwood Drive, Suite 2500
Dallas, TX 75201
US

Company Address

Product
Product
Type

Description Quantity
Sales
Price

Fee
%

Total
Price

ACTIVE Net - (credit
card refunds - flat fee)

SaaS   1 0.10    

ACTIVE Net - ACH
Remittance- Every 2
weeks

Service   1      

ACTIVE Net - Annual
Subscription Fee

SaaS   1 51,000.00   51,000.00

ACTIVE Net - Credit
Card Processing Fee
(%)

SaaS   1   2.75  

ACTIVE Net -
Functionality: Activity
Registration

SaaS   1      

ACTIVE Net -
Functionality:
Equipment Lending &
POS

SaaS   1      

ACTIVE Net -
Functionality: Facility
Reservation

SaaS   1      

ACTIVE Net -
Functionality: League
Scheduling

SaaS   1      

ACTIVE Net -
Functionality:
Memberships

SaaS   1      

ACTIVE Net -
Functionality: Private
Lessons

SaaS   1      

Quoted prices for onsite services do not include the costs of

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



 

                                                                                            

 

All fees described herein are in consideration of the Software and Services that Active provides. Active and Client acknowledge that certain
credit card network rules and laws prohibit imposing a surcharge that is based on the type of payment method used (e.g., having a different fee
for the use of a credit card vs. debit card), and therefore, each agree not to impose such a surcharge on any End User. The payment options
we offer may include MasterCard, Visa, American Express and Discover.

*Sales tax and shipping not included in total price. Sales tax and shipping, where applicable, will be added to your invoice.

USD 163,518.26Annual Projected
Contract Value

51,000.00Saas Total28,150.00Service Total

USD 79,150.00Total Price 

ACTIVE Net - Primary
Transportation (to be
reimbursed based on
actual cost incurred)

Service
transporting Active Network resources onsite. If onsite services
are required, economy primary transportation costs (eg.
Airfare, train fare, or mileage) will be assessed and invoiced
separately. Onsite services are billed in minimum, 8 hour daily
increments.

1      

ACTIVE Net - Public
Interface Fee Set up -
absorbed by client

SaaS   1      

ACTIVE Net - SaaS        

ACTIVE Net - Service
Package Advanced 6

Service

ACTIVE Net Service Package Advanced 6 consists of the
following Services: 
• onsite business process review 
• remote functionality review & data collection preparation 
• remote data collection review 
• remote data entry (inventory and policy controls) 
• onsite & remote user testings 
• onsite & remote train the trainer training 
• remote Go Live preparation 
• remote hardware configuration 

The scope of Services is contained to the 6 functionalities listed
below. 

50% of total Service costs will be billed at Service initiation,
payable within 30 days of the date of invoice. 
50% of total Service costs will be billed at Service completion,
payable within 30 days of the date of invoice.

1 26,750.00   26,750.00

ACTIVE Net - Staff
Interface - Payment
Processing Fee -
Electronic
Cheque/Check
Processing

SaaS   1   0.50  

ACTIVE Net - Support
Advanced Package

Maintenance
Support package for organizations between $1,500,000 to
$8,000,000 in annual revenue through ACTIVE Net.

1   0.01  

ACTIVE Net -
Technical Services:
ACH Remittance

Service
ACTIVE Net Technical Services: ACH Remittance consists of
the following Services:
• remote configuration, testing & training

1      

ACTIVE Net -
Technical Services:
Financial Export

Service
ACTIVE Net Technical Services: Financial Export consists of
the following Services:
• remote configuration, testing & training

1 1,400.00   1,400.00

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



 

                                                                                            

 

Signature: ______________________________________________________

Printed Name: ___________________________________________________

Title: __________________________________________________________

Date: __________________________________________________________

PO# (if applicable): _______________________________________________

Quote Acceptance Information

4.3.b

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
E

xh
ib

it
 A

 t
o

 t
h

e 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 A
ct

iv
e 

N
et

w
o

rk
 [

R
ev

is
io

n
 1

] 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 o

f 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

o
ft

w
ar

e



Budget Change Reference #:

From Un-Appropriated Reserves X Budget Transfer Between Funds

From Designated Reserves Other

Account Amount Account Amount

770299.6000.6004 $56,888

12/18/2018

Posted By: Date:

As Presented at the City Council Meeting 

**********Finance Use Only**********

CITY OF DUBLIN

Procurement of a new recreation software

REASON FOR BUDGET CHANGE

FISCAL YEAR 2018-19

BUDGET CHANGE FORM

DECREASE BUDGET AMOUNT INCREASE BUDGET AMOUNT

EXP: General Fund - Parks & Community Svcs - ISF 

Equipment

City Council's Approval Required

\\cc-uem\users\carolines\appdata\roaming\iqm2\minutetraq\dublinca@dublinca.iqm2.com\work\attachments\4139 4139

4.3.c

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
B

u
d

g
et

 C
h

an
g

e 
F

o
rm

  (
C

o
n

si
d

er
at

io
n

 o
f 

R
ec

re
at

io
n

 M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

S
er

vi
ce

s)



 

Page 1 of 4 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Annual Report of Developer Impact Fee Funds Deposits: Pursuant to 
Government Code Sections 66002, 66006 and 66008 (AB 1600) 
Prepared by:  Lisa Hisatomi, Assistant Administrative Services Director/Budget 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
State law requires the City to review and report on an annual basis the status of 
Development fees collected to finance public improvements.  The report covers activity 
which occurred in these funds during Fiscal Year 2017-18.  The analysis has 
determined that all funds held for more than five years are necessary to complete 
identified projects. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Accept the Annual Report, adopt the Resolution Making Findings Regarding 
Unexpended Traffic Impact Fees for Fiscal Year 2017-18, and approve the budget 
change. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The financial impacts and accounting for the Development Fees are discussed as part 
of the Staff Report.   The recommended budget changes are funded from impact fee 
fund to reduce impact fee Rights to Reimbursement for Fiscal Year 2018-19.  There is 
no impact on the General Fund. 
 
DESCRIPTION: 
 
Cities are authorized under State Law to require development applicants to contribute 
fees toward off-site public improvements, which are needed as a result of new 
development.  The City is required to disclose annually the status of funds held for this 
purpose.  The report provides information covering the period from July 1, 2017 through 
June 30, 2018 (Attachment 1). 
 
Requirements of Law 
The law requires the City to review, on an annual basis, the status of development fees 
collected.  The law also provides for a report to be made available within 180 days from 
the end of the Fiscal Year.  In addition, Government Code Section 66006(b)(2) requires 

4.4

Packet Pg. 41



 

Page 2 of 4 

the report to be included on the City Council meeting agenda at a public meeting not 
less than 15 days after the information was made available.  In the event any fees 
remain unexpended for more than five years, the City Council must adopt a Resolution 
making certain findings related to the continued need for the funds to complete the 
improvements.  If findings are not made to support the retention of the funds, the 
unexpended fees must be returned to the current owners of the subject property.  
 
Major Components of Report 
The Fiscal Year 2017-18 Annual Report of Developer Funds is shown in Attachment 1.  
The law requires disclosure of numerous details with respect to activity in these 
accounts.  This includes: beginning and ending balances; collections for the year; 
expenditures for the year; interest earned; and any refunds.  For the purpose of this 
report the City is providing information on the following funds: 
 
FUNDS ACCOUNTED FOR IN REPORT (ATTACHMENT 1) 
 

 Eastern Dublin Traffic Impact Fees 
 Western Dublin Transportation Impact Fees (Downtown Traffic Impact Fees) 
 Specific Project Mitigation Fund 
 Public Facilities Impact Fees 
 Fire Impact Fees 
 Tri Valley Transportation Development Fees 
 Category 3 Regional Traffic Impact Fees 
 Pass Through Fees: (Freeway Interchange Fees / BART Garage) 
 Dublin - Contra Costa County Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees 
 Dublin Crossing Transportation Fee 

 
The following is a high-level summary of the activity for the year including the beginning 
and ending balances: 
 

ANNUAL REPORT OF DEVELOPER FEES BY CATEGORY (7/1/2017 - 6/30/2018) 
 

 
 

Impact Fee Category 

 
 

Beginning 
Balance 

(7/1/2017) 

Additions: 
Fees 

Collected; 
Interest 
Revenue 

Expenses: 
Project Costs; 
Interest; Loan 
Repayments; 
Pass-Through 

 
 

Ending 
Balance 

(6/30/2018) 

Public Facility Fees $16,054,704.76 $12,137,496.19 ($10,021,991.18) $18,170,209.77 

Fire Impact Fees $81,678.98 $150,780.15 ($88,291.00) $144,168.13 

Traffic Impact Fees $25,192,276.98 $5,916,234.68 ($2,222,602.15) $28,885,909.51 

TOTAL $41,328,660.72 $18,204,511.02 ($12,332,884.33) $47,200,287.41 

 
It is important to note that these fees are restricted and can only be used for the capital 
related purposes for which they have been collected.  Given the multi-year nature of the 
capital projects to be financed, it is expected that funds will be accumulated and used 
based on the construction timing.  During Fiscal Year 2017-18, the net balance of all 
funds reported increased by approximately $5.87 million which was largely attributable 
to Public Facility Fee and Traffic Impact Fee funds collected, utilization of Public Facility 
Fees to fund the construction of Emerald Glen Park Recreation and Aquatic Complex, 

4.4

Packet Pg. 42



 

Page 3 of 4 

Sean Diamond Park, and Fallon Sports Park Phase 2, and funding the Dublin Boulevard 
Improvements and Dougherty Road Improvements with Traffic Impact Fees.  The 
ending combined balance of $47.2 million is net of negative balances.  A detailed 
accounting for each of the major categories is shown in the schedules included in 
Attachment 1.   
 
Funds Remaining Unexpended More Than Five Years After Being Collected 
One of the provisions in the State law regulating development fees is to regularly review 
funds collected and held for more than five years without being expended.  The law 
requires the City Council to make certain findings in order to continue to hold fees 
collected and unexpended for more than five years.  The following Table summarizes 
the accounts with contributions which have remained unexpended for more than five 
years.  
 

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTS WITH FUNDS REMAINING UNEXPENDED 
FOR FIVE YEARS OR MORE AFTER THEY WERE COLLECTED 

 

Source of Fee 

Fees 
Unspent 
for More 

Than  
5 Years  

as of 
6/30/18 

Developer 
Fees Unspent 

for  
Less Than  

5 Years 
Accumulated 

Interest 

Total 
Designated 

As of 
6/30/2018 

Remaining 
Project Costs  

Mitigation Fund:   
Central Parkway & 
Park Place Traffic 
Signal 

$55,500 None $9,497 $64,997 $400,000 

Eastern Dublin TIF 2 $436,254 $4,735,892 $253,560 $5,425,706 $4,430,646 

Western Dublin TIF $72,804 $1,341,057 $113,999 $15,27,860 $860,498 

Tri-Valley Transport. 
Development Fee 

$560,751 $3,451,827 $213,200 $4,225,778 $4,912,258 

 

Proposed Resolution Making Necessary Findings 
To be able to retain fees longer than five years, certain findings must be made by the 
City Council.  Without this action, the fees would need to be refunded.  All fees 
summarized in the previous section of this report have identified projects that will 
require the funding in the future.  The funding needed includes the accumulated 
interest, which is expended only on the authorized projects.  The City continues to 
allocate interest on the balances retained.  Staff has identified the findings necessary as 
part of the attached Resolution (Attachment 2).  Adoption of the Resolution allows the 
City to continue to retain the fees to fund the projects for which they were collected. 

Right to Reimbursement 
As part of the Consolidated Impact Fee Administrative Guidelines, there are provisions 
for the City to annually evaluate impact fee balances held by the City.  Staff is to 
evaluate possible use of funds collected to reduce Impact Fee Credits that have 
converted to a Right to Reimbursement (RTR).   

4.4

Packet Pg. 43



 

Page 4 of 4 

 
When a developer is granted an Impact Fee Credit, the initial “credit period” is for ten 
years.  During that time the credit can be applied against fees owed.  At the end of the 
“credit period”, a developer has an option to extend the “credit period” in perpetuity or 
convert to a RTR.  The RTR continues for 10 years, any unpaid amount is forfeited at 
the end of the RTR period. 
 
The following is a summary of current impact fee RTR balances and proposed RTR 
disbursement amount for Fiscal Year 2018-19: 
 

Impact Fee  
Fund 

RTR  
Balance 

RTR 
Disbursement $ 

FY 2018-19 
Budget 

Budget  
Change 

Eastern Dublin 
TIF1 

$168,121.26 $168,121.26 $400,000.00 $0 

Eastern Dublin 
TIF2 

$33,178.08 $33,178.08 $20,000.00 $13,178.08 

Fire $1,650,378.11 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $0 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE: 

 

None. 

 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

 

Government Code Section 66006(b)(2) requires the report is to be included on the City 
Council meeting agenda at a public meeting not less than 15 days after the information 
was made available.  Staff previously made available to the public a draft copy of this 
report on Monday, December 3, 2018.  In addition, the Government Code Section 
requires that the notice of the meeting shall be mailed, at least 15 days prior to the 
meeting, to any interested party who files a written request with the local agency for 
mailed notice of the meeting.  The Administrative Services Department mailed notices 
to interested parties who have filed requests in the past.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Annual Report of Developer Impact Fee Funds for the Year Ended June 30, 2018 

2. Resolution Making Findings Regarding Unexpended Traffic Impact Fees for Fiscal 

Year 2017-18 

3. Budget Change Form 

 

4.4

Packet Pg. 44



  ATTACHMENT 1 

 
 

City of Dublin 
Annual Report of Developer Impact Fee Funds Deposits 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018 
CONTENTS 
SECTION  INFORMATION  PAGE(S) 

Section 1:  Table of Disclosure Requirements With Cross 
Reference To Government Code and Location In 
City of Dublin Report ……………………………………. 

  
1-2 

     
Section 2:  Description Impact Fees Included In Report ………...  3-4 
     
Section 3:  Status of Funds 

• Interfund Loans & Transfers 

• Specific Funds Held In Excess of 5 Years 

• Refunds…………………………………………. 

  
 

5-7 

     
Section 4:  2017-18 Accounting of Impact Fees by Major 

Category 

• Public Facility Impact Fees 

• Fire Impact Fees 

• Traffic Impact Fees…………………………….. 

  
 
 

8 
 
 

     
Section 5:  Detail by Fund - Traffic Impact Fees 

Contributions…………………………………………….  
 9 

     
     
Section 
5A: 

 Detail - Traffic Impact Fees (Project Specific 
Mitigation) Contributions……………………………...  

 10 

     
     
Section 6:  Schedule of Funding For Public Improvements And 

Percentage Funded By Developer Fees………  
  

11 
 
 
 
 

Data Available to Public December 3, 2018 
Presented City Council Meeting December 18, 2018 

4.4.a

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 o

f 
D

ev
el

o
p

er
 Im

p
ac

t 
F

ee
 F

u
n

d
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

, 2
01

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



SECTION 1 
TABLE OF IMPACT FEE DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 

WITH CROSS REFERENCES 

 1 

 

 
Government 
Code Section 

 
Requirement 

Information Found 
In City Report At 

   
 Provide the following:  
   

66006 (b) (A) 1.  A brief description of each of the City’s impact 
fees.   

Section 2, Part A 

   
66006 (b) (B) 2.  The amount charged for the City’s impact fees. Section 2, Part B 

   
66006 (b) (C) 3.  The beginning and ending balance for the City’s 

impact fee accounts. 
Section 4 and  
Section 5 

   
66006 (b) (D) 4.  The amount of fees collected and interest earned. Section 4, Section 5,  

And Section 5A 
   

66006 (b) (E) 5.  An identification of each public improvement on 
which fees were expended and the amount of the 
expenditures on each improvement, including the 
total percentage of the cost of the public 
improvement that was funded with fees. 

Section 6 

   
66006 (b) (F) 6.  An identification of an approximate date by which 

the construction of the public improvement will 
commence if the local agency determines that 
sufficient funds have been collected to complete 
financing on an incomplete public improvement, as 
identified in paragraph (2) of subdivision (a) of 
Section 66001, and the public improvement 
remains incomplete. 

Section 3, Part B 

   
66006 (b) (G) 7.  A description of each interfund transfer or loan 

made from the account or fund, including the 
public improvement on which the transferred or 
loaned fees will be expended, and, in the case of 
an interfund loan, the date on which the loan will 
be repaid, and the rate of interest that the account 
or fund will receive on the loan. 

Section 3, Part A 

   
66006 (b) (H) 8.  The amount of refunds made pursuant to 

subdivision (e) of Section 66001 and any 
allocations pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 
66001. 

Section 3, Part C 

   

4.4.a

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 o

f 
D

ev
el

o
p

er
 Im

p
ac

t 
F

ee
 F

u
n

d
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

, 2
01

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



SECTION 1 
TABLE OF IMPACT FEE DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 

WITH CROSS REFERENCES 

 2 

 

Government 
Code Section 

 
Requirement 

Information Found 
In City Report At 

66001 (d) 9. For the fifth year following the first deposit into the 
account or fund, and every five years thereafter, 
the City shall make all of the following findings 
with respect to those portions of the impact fee 
remaining unexpended, whether committed or 
uncommitted. 

Section 3, Part B and 
attached Resolution 
for items a-e below. 

   
66001 (d) (1)     a.  Identify the purpose to which the fee is to be 

used for. 
 

   
66001 (d) (2)     b.  Demonstrate a reasonable relationship 

between the fee and the purpose for which it is 
charged. 

 

   
66001 (d) (3)     c.  Identify all sources and amounts of funding 

anticipated to complete financing in incomplete 
improvements.  

 

   
66001 (d) (4)    d.   Designate the approximate dates on which the 

funding referred to in item c above is expected 
to be deposited into the appropriate account or 
fund. 

 

   
66006 (b) (1) (F)    e.  When sufficient funds have been collected, the 

agency shall identify, within 180 days of the 
determination that sufficient funds have been 
collected, an approximate date by which the 
construction of the public improvements will 
commence. 

 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.4.a

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 o

f 
D

ev
el

o
p

er
 Im

p
ac

t 
F

ee
 F

u
n

d
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

, 2
01

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



SECTION 2 
DESCRIPTION OF IMPACT FEES 

 

3 
 

A. DESCRIPTION OF THE CITY’S IMPACT FEES 
The City of Dublin has established the following Impact Fees and Traffic Mitigation 
Contributions:  

• Eastern Dublin Traffic Impact Fees 

• Western Dublin Transportation Impact Fee (Downtown Traffic Impact Fee) 

• Public Facilities Impact Fees 

•      Parkland  Dedications  

•      Fire Impact Fees 

• Tri Valley Transportation Development Fees 

• Freeway Interchange Fees 

• Dublin – Contra Costa Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees   
 
These impact fees were established to pay for the design, development and construction of 
public improvement projects for: streets; public facilities; parks; fire capital expansion projects 
and community amenities. 
 
B. AMOUNTS CHARGED BY THE CITY FOR IMPACT FEES AND PUBLIC 

IMPROVEMENTS FUNDED BY THESE FEES 
The amounts charged for the impact fees noted above are dependent upon the type and size of 
a particular development and were based upon related studies, conducted prior to the adoption 
of the fees.  The City Council has adopted and imposed the subject fees through the passage of 
the following resolutions.  These fees are updated on an annual basis based upon various cost 
indexes described in further detail as part of the resolutions for these fees:  
 

Impact Fee  Resolution / Ordinance 

   
Eastern Dublin Traffic Impact Fees 
(Includes BART Garage Pass-Through) 

 Resolution 225-99 
Amended by Resolution 40-10, 111-04 

Western Dublin Transportation Impact Fee 
(Downtown Traffic Impact Fee) 

 Resolution 210-04 
Amended by Resolutions 147-16, 47-09 

Public Facility Impact Fees  Resolution 32-96  
Amended by Resolutions 110-17, 134-15, 
45-09, 214-02, 60-99 

Park Land Dedications  Chapter 9.28 Dublin Municipal Code 
Amended by Ordinances 08-17, 08-15 

Fire Impact Fees  Resolution 37-97  
Amended by Resolutions 111-17, 77-05 
12-03, 208-00, 46-09 

Tri-Valley Transportation Development 
Fees 

 Resolution 89-98  
Amended by Resolutions 68-15, 87-03, 
85-99 

Pleasanton Interchange Fees  Resolution 11-96  
Amended by Resolution 155-98 

Dublin – Contra Costa Traffic Impact 
Mitigation Fees.   

 Resolution 74-00 and Contra Costa 
County Ordinance No. 2000-24 

 
The studies and supporting documentation presented or adopted as part of the resolutions 
noted above identify the public improvements that those fees will be used to finance.  These 
studies also show that there is a reasonable relationship: a.) between the fees’ use and the type 

4.4.a

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 o

f 
D

ev
el

o
p

er
 Im

p
ac

t 
F

ee
 F

u
n

d
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

, 2
01

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



SECTION 2 
DESCRIPTION OF IMPACT FEES 

 

4 
 

of development project on which the fee is imposed; and b.) between the need for the public 
facility and the type of development project on which the fee is imposed. 

4.4.a

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 o

f 
D

ev
el

o
p

er
 Im

p
ac

t 
F

ee
 F

u
n

d
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

, 2
01

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



SECTION 3 
STATUS OF FUNDS 

 

5 
 

A. INTERFUND LOANS AND TRANSFERS OF IMPACT FEES 
No inter-fund loans or transfers of impact fees were granted to other funds during Fiscal Year 
2017-18.  
 
B. ANALYSIS OF FEES LEVIED AGAINST DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH SEC. 66001 OF THE (CGC) AND UNSPENT AFTER 5 YEARS  
The purpose of the review was to identify monies that have been collected and held for a period 
of more than five years and to make appropriate disclosures.   
 
The City of Dublin has analyzed the balance of monies held, at the beginning of Fiscal Year 2017-
18 (July 1, 2017).  The balances were evaluated based on “developer fees collected’ separate 
from interest revenue.  As of July 1, 2017, there was one project involving the use of Traffic 
Mitigation Contributions, which has developer fees that continued to be held for more than five 
years.  The Projects are included in the adopted City of Dublin Five Year Capital Improvement 
Program 2018–2023.  In accordance with State Law, the City Council has previously adopted 
Resolution #155-17 on December 19, 2017 declaring the need to continue to maintain the funds.  
Based on expenditures during Fiscal Year 2017-18, as of June 30, 2018, there is one project that 
uses Traffic Mitigation Contributions which has developer fees that continued to be held for more 
than five years.  Eastern Dublin Traffic Impact Fee Category 2, Western Dublin Transportation 
Impact Fee, and Tri-Valley Transportation Development Fees also have developer funds collected 
and held for more than five years.  Details related to the projects which have funds held for more 
than five years are identified below: 
 
1. CENTRAL PARKWAY & PARK PLACE (FORMERLY SYBASE DRIVE) TRAFFIC 

SIGNAL 
 

Mitigation Source 
Unspent Developer Fees 
Held More Than 5 Years 

Remaining Project Costs 
(Estimate) 

Central Parkway & Park 
Place Traffic Signal 

$55,500 $400,000 

 
 

Description of Project:  This project will install a traffic signal at the existing intersection of Central 
Parkway and Park Place (formerly Sybase Drive).  Mitigation fees were paid to partially fund the 
intersection improvements as a condition of approval of the Sybase Corporate Headquarters 
Facility, Planning Commission Resolution No. 00-23.  The construction of the improvement is 
pending the development of the adjacent vacant parcel. 
 
Source of Funding:  Traffic Mitigation Contribution.      
 
Approximate Project Completion Date:  A precise completion date for the project has not been 
established.  It is currently expected that it will be a date outside the current 5 Year CIP planning 
horizon.      
 
  

4.4.a

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 o

f 
D

ev
el

o
p

er
 Im

p
ac

t 
F

ee
 F

u
n

d
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

, 2
01

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



SECTION 3 
STATUS OF FUNDS 

 

6 
 

2. EASTERN DUBLIN TRAFFIC IMPACT FEE CATEGORY 2 (EDTIF2) 
 

Funding Source 
Unspent Developer Fees 
Held More Than 5 Years 

Remaining Project Costs 
as Identified in CIP 

EDTIF2 $436,254 $4,430,646 

 
Description of Projects:  The fee is collected for all the Eastern Dublin Traffic Impact Fee Category 
2 (EDTIF2) projects contained within the Eastern Dublin Traffic Impact Fee program.  Of the 
EDTIF2 projects that are contained within the program, five projects are complete, and two 
projects are currently in construction.  The EDTIF2 projects in construction, as part of the adopted 
City of Dublin Five Year Capital Improvement Program 2018–2023, are:  Dougherty Road 
Improvements – Sierra Lane to North City Limit (CIP No. ST0911), Dublin Boulevard Widening – 
Sierra Court to Dublin Court (CIP No. ST1012).  One remaining EDTIF2 project is Scarlett Drive 
– Dougherty Road to Dublin Boulevard Extension, which is anticipated to be completed by the 
developer of the Dublin Crossing project in accordance with a Development Agreement between 
the City and the developer.  The final EDTIF2 project is Fallon Road and I-580 Interchange 
Improvements, which is currently expected to be completed outside the current 5-year CIP 
planning horizon. 
 
Approximate Project Completion Dates:    The Dougherty Road Improvements project (CIP No. 
ST0911) is currently under construction with an anticipated completion date of mid-2018.  The 
Dublin Boulevard Widening project (CIP No. ST1012) is currently under construction and is 
anticipated to be complete in mid-2019. 
 
3. WESTERN DUBLIN TRANSPORTATION IMPACT FEE (WDTIF) 
 

Funding Source 
Unspent Developer Fees 
Held More Than 5 Years 

Remaining Project Costs 
as Identified in CIP 

WDTIF $72,804 $860,498 

 
Description of Projects:  This fee is collected for all the projects contained within the Western 
Dublin Transportation Impact Fee (WDTIF) program, which was updated in September 2016.  The 
WDTIF program includes nine projects.  One WDTIF project is Amador Plaza Road Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Improvements (CIP No. ST0815).  The project will widen the roadway for a new right-
turn lane from southbound Amador Plaza Road to Dublin Boulevard. 
 
Approximate Project Completion Dates:    The Amador Plaza Road Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Improvements project (CIP No. ST0815) is in final design.  Pending the necessary right-of-way 
acquisition from one property owner, the project is anticipated to be complete in mid-2020. 
 
4. TRI-VALLEY TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT FEES (TVTD) 
 

Funding Source 
Unspent Developer Fees 
Held More Than 5 Years 

Remaining Project Costs 
as Identified in CIP 

TVTD $560,751 $4,912,258 

 

4.4.a

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 o

f 
D

ev
el

o
p

er
 Im

p
ac

t 
F

ee
 F

u
n

d
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

, 2
01

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



SECTION 3 
STATUS OF FUNDS 

 

7 
 

Description of Projects:  This fee is collected for all projects contained within the Tri-Valley 
Transportation Development Fee (TVTD) program, which was established through a Joint 
Exercise of Powers Agreement entered on April 22, 1998, between the City of Dublin, City of 
Livermore, City of Pleasanton, City of San Ramon, Town of Danville, County of Alameda, and 
County of Contra Costa.  One TVTD project is Tassajara Road Realignment and Widening – 
Fallon Road to North City Limit (CIP No. ST0116, TVTD Project B-8).  The project will complete 
street improvements to Tassajara Road, north of Fallon Road. 
 
Approximate Project Completion Dates:  The Tassajara Road Realignment and Widening – Fallon 
Road to North City Limit (CIP No. ST0116) is in preliminary design and environmental review.  
Pending certification of the environmental document, final design will commence.  It is anticipated 
that construction of the project will be complete in late 2021. 
 
 
C. REFUNDS 
 
No refunds were made during Fiscal Year 2017-18. 
 
D. RETIREMENT OF IMPACT FEE OBLIGATIONS 
 
During Fiscal Year 2017-18, payments were made to retire Impact Fee Credit Obligations as 
follows: 
 

 Fee Type Amount 

Payments to holders of Impact Fee Credits that 
had converted to Rights to Reimbursement 

Eastern Dublin Traffic 
Impact Fee – Category 1 

$400,000.00 

Reimbursement pursuant to the construction 
agreement for the Tassajara Interchange. 
(Alameda County Surplus Property Authority) 

Eastern Dublin Traffic 
Impact Fee – Category 1 $71,770.94 

Payments to holders of Impact Fee Credits that 
had converted to Rights to Reimbursement 

Eastern Dublin Traffic 
Impact Fee – Category 2 

$2,397.77 

Payments to holders of Impact Fee Credits that 
had converted to Rights to Reimbursement 

Fire Impact Fee 
$81,678.00 

TOTAL  $555,846.71 

 
 

4.4.a

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 o

f 
D

ev
el

o
p

er
 Im

p
ac

t 
F

ee
 F

u
n

d
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

, 2
01

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



PUBLIC 

FACILITY FEES

FIRE 

FACILITY 

IMPACT FEES

TRAFFIC IMPACT 

FEES                                                 

(ALL CATEGORIES) GRAND TOTAL

Funds 4101-4111 Fund 4201 Funds 4301-4311

Detail In Schedule 5

Ending Available 6/30/2017 $16,054,704.76 $81,678.98 $25,192,276.98 $41,328,660.72

Fees Collected: 7/1/2017-6/30/2018 11,698,211.28      148,750.68     5,493,267.52            17,340,229.48          

Interest 7/1/2017 - 6/30/2018 439,284.91           2,029.47         422,967.16               864,281.54               

Less 2017-18 Expenditures

Project Expenditures (10,021,991.18)    (88,291.00)      (1,018,545.01)           (11,128,827.19)         

Interest on Loan from General Fund   for 

Construction of Fire Stations
-                            

Retirement of Impact Fee Obligations (474,168.71)              (474,168.71)              

Refunds Per CGC 66001(e)/(f) -                            

Pass Through Funds (See Schedule 5) (729,888.43)              (729,888.43)              

Ending Balance 6/30/2018 $18,170,209.77 $144,168.13 $28,885,909.51 $47,200,287.41

SECTION 4  

CITY OF DUBLIN CAPITAL IMPACT FEE REPORT

FEES BY MAJOR CATEGORY (Activity July 1, 2017 - June 30, 2018)

 8

4.4.a

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 o

f 
D

ev
el

o
p

er
 Im

p
ac

t 
F

ee
 F

u
n

d
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

, 2
01

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



EASTERN DUBLIN 

CATEGORY 1

EASTERN DUBLIN 

CATEGORY 2

WESTERN DUBLIN 

TRANSPORTATION 

IMPACT FEE

DUBLIN CROSSING 

TRANSPORTATION 

FEE

SUB-TOTAL "A"  

TRAFFIC IMPACT 

FEES

Fund #4301 Fund # 4302 Fund # 4304 Fund #4311

Ending Available 6/30/2017 $9,395,424.15 $5,203,845.23 $1,646,662.72 $936,721.98 $17,182,654.08

Fees Collected: 7/1/2017-6/30/2018 970,629.63            459,396.16            69,009.00                 1,772,723.00            3,271,757.79           

Interest 7/1/2017 - 6/30/2018 154,979.22            84,384.51             24,083.62                 26,351.72                289,799.07              

(Less: 2017-18 Expenditures)

Traffic Improvements (301,387.97)          (319,522.59)          (211,895.14)              (832,805.70)             

Retirement of Impact Fee 

Obligations
(471,770.94)          (2,397.77)              (474,168.71)             

Refunds Per CGC 66001(e)/(f)

Ending Balance 6/30/2018 $9,747,874.09 $5,425,705.54 $1,527,860.20 $2,735,796.70 $19,437,236.53

CATEGORY 3 

LOCAL 

REGIONAL FEES

DUBLIN - 

CONTRA COSTA 

COUNTY 

MITIGATION

TRI-VALLEY 

TRANSPORTATION 

DEVELOPMENT FEE

SPECIFIC PROJECT 

MITIGATION FUND 

(See 5A for 

Breakdown)

SUB-TOTAL "B" 

OTHER FEES

Fund # 4303 Fund # 4305 Fund # 4306 Fund # 4309

Ending Available 6/30/2017 $409,262.50 $3,999,514.86 $3,413,018.00 $187,827.54 $8,009,622.90

Fees Collected: 7/1/2017-6/30/2018 -                        742,694.61 748,926.69 -                           1,491,621.30

Interest 7/1/2017 - 6/30/2018 6,227.17 63,005.35 63,833.35 102.22                     133,168.09

(Less: 2017-18 Expenditures)

Traffic Improvements -                        (62,805.20)            -                            (122,934.11)             (185,739.31)

Retirement of Impact Fee 

Obligations
-                        -                        -                            

Ending Balance 6/30/2018 $415,489.67 $4,742,409.62 $4,225,778.04 $64,995.65 $9,448,672.98

PASS-THROUGH

FREEWAY 

INTERCHANGE & 

BART GARAGE

GRAND TOTAL 

TRAFFIC FEES 

(Pass-Through+ 

"A" + "B")

Ending Available 6/30/2017 -                        $25,192,276.98

Fees Collected: 7/1/2017-6/30/2018 $729,888.43 5,493,267.52

Interest 7/1/2017 - 6/30/2018 422,967.16

(Less: 2017-18 Expenditures)

Traffic Improvements (1,018,545.01)

Retirement of Impact Fee 

Obligations
(474,168.71)

Refunds Per CGC 66001(e)/(f)

BART Garage 

Reimbursements to ACSPA
(553,908.28)          (553,908.28)

Freeway Interchange 

Reimbursements - City of 

Pleasanton

(175,980.15)          (175,980.15)

Ending Balance 6/30/2018 * $28,885,909.51

* Note "Pass-Through" Balance excludes Year-End Interest accrual recorded as a liability.

CITY OF DUBLIN CAPITAL IMPACT FEE REPORT 

SECTION 5

LOCAL TRAFFIC IMPACT FEES

REGIONAL/MITIGATION TRAFFIC IMPACT FEES

BREAKDOWN OF TRAFFIC IMPACT FEE FUNDS (Activity July 1, 2017 - June 30, 2018)

 9

4.4.a

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 o

f 
D

ev
el

o
p

er
 Im

p
ac

t 
F

ee
 F

u
n

d
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

, 2
01

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



4309.41003 4309.41009

Scarlett Extension Park Place 

Dougherty/Dublin Blvd Traffic Signal GRAND TOTAL

CIP PROJECT # 096840 (prior System) Not Yet Assigned

Ending Available 6/30/2017 $122,934.11 $64,893.44 $187,827.55

Fees Collected: 7/1/2017-6/30/2018 -                                    

Interest 7/1/2017 - 6/30/2018 102.21                             102.21                               

(Less: 2017-18 Expenditures) (122,934.11)                     (122,934.11)                      

Refunds Per CGC 66001(e)/(f) -                                    

Ending Balance 6/30/2018 $64,995.65 $64,995.65

SECTION 5A

CITY OF DUBLIN CAPITAL IMPACT FEE REPORT 2017-18

DETAIL OF TRAFFIC MITIGATION CONTRIBUTIONS (From July 1, 2017 - June 30, 2018)

10

4.4.a

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 o

f 
D

ev
el

o
p

er
 Im

p
ac

t 
F

ee
 F

u
n

d
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

, 2
01

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



CIP # Project Name

Fiscal Year                

2017-18                 

Expenditures 

(Developer Fee 

Funds)

Fiscal Year                

2017-18 

Expenditures               

(Other Funds)

Total Project 

Expenditures 

(Fiscal Year)

% From 

Developer 

Fees

PUBLIC FACILITY FEES

pk0105 Emerald Glen Park Rec. & Aquatic Complex $1,835,612.55 57,626.20 $1,893,238.75 97%

pk0115 Don Biddle Community Park 4,930.54 4,930.54 100%

pk0216 Sean Diamond Park 1,894,284.05 1,894,284.05 100%

pk0414 Fallon Sports Park - Phase 2 4,849,239.23 452,554.01 5,301,793.24 91%

pk0514 Jordan Ranch Neighborhood Park 68,523.81 68,523.81 100%

Payment of Transit Center Parkland Acquisition 1,368,186.00 1,368,186.00 N/A

Ops 

Program Public Facilities Fee Update 1,215.00 1,215.00 N/A

TOTAL PUBLIC FACILITY FEE PROJECTS $10,021,991.18 $510,180.21 $10,532,171.39 95%

FIRE FACILITY FEE
Ops 

Program Fire Facilities Fee Update $6,613.00 $6,613.00 N/A

Fire Impact Fee Right to Reimbursement 81,678.00 81,678.00

TOTAL FIRE FACILITY FEE EXPENDITURE $88,291.00 $88,291.00 100%

TRAFFIC IMPACT FEES (Excludes "Pass -Through" Payments - BART GARAGE & INTERCHANGE FEES)

Ops 

Program TIF Administration

EDTIF Update (EDTIF1 Fund 4301) $35,068.81 $35,068.81

Dept. Operating Budget Total $35,068.81 $35,068.81 N/A

Non-Departmental- Credit Pmts & Pass Through

EDTIF Cat1 (Fund 4301) Pmts reducing Credits Held $471,770.94 $471,770.94

EDTIF (Fund 4302 - Category 2) 17,422.41 17,422.41

Non-Dept. Budget Total $489,193.35 $489,193.35 N/A

st0815 Amador Plaza Road Bicycle & Pedestrian Improve

Western Dublin TIF (4304) $211,895.14 $211,895.14

st0815Total $211,895.14 $211,895.14 100%

st0911 Dougherty Rd Impvts Sierra Ln To N. City Limits

Dougherty Valley TIF (Fund 4305) $62,805.20

Mitigation Contributions (Fund 4309) 122,934.11

st0911 Total $185,739.31 $7,239,165.17 $7,424,904.48 3%

st1012 Dublin Boulevard - Sierra Court to Dougherty

EDTIF (Fund 4302 - Category 2)

st1012 Total $1,919,374.89

st0216 Dublin Blvd Extension

EDTIF-Cat 1 (Fund 4301) $266,319.16

st0216 Total $266,319.16 $186,604.58 $452,923.74 59%

TOTAL TRAFFIC IMPACT FEE PROJECTS $1,188,215.77 $7,425,769.75 $10,533,360.41 11%

SECTION 6

CITY OF DUBLIN IMPACT FEE REPORT

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS & PERCENTAGE DEVELOPER FEES

LISTING OF ACCOUNTS WITH ACTIVITY JULY 1, 2017 to JUNE 30, 2018

 11

4.4.a

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 o

f 
D

ev
el

o
p

er
 Im

p
ac

t 
F

ee
 F

u
n

d
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

, 2
01

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



                                                             ATTACHMENT 2 

RESOLUTION NO. XX - 18 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE  
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DUBLIN 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

MAKING FINDINGS REGARDING UNEXPENDED  
TRAFFIC IMPACT FEES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2017-18 

   
 

WHEREAS, the City has collected contributions for completion of off-site public traffic 
improvements needed as a result of new development, which will not be expended within five 
years after deposit.  The improvements are described in the Fiscal Year 2018-2023 Five Year 
Capital Improvement Program and include the improvements described below: 

 

 
Source of Fee 

Unexpended 
Developer Fees as 
of June 30, 2018 

1. Project Specific Mitigation:  
Central Parkway & Park Place Drive Traffic Signal 

$55,500.00 

2. Eastern Dublin Traffic Impact Fee Category 2: 
Eastern Dublin traffic improvements 

$436,254.36 

3. Western Dublin Transportation Impact Fee $72,803.82 

4. Tri-Valley Transport. Development Fee 560,751.05 
 

 
WHEREAS, the contributions and fees and their associated projects described in the 

recital above are referred to as the "Traffic Improvements." 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of City of Dublin hereby find 
and determine that the foregoing recitals and determinations are true and correct: 

 

A. The contributions and fees which have been collected for the Traffic Improvements will 
remain unexpended after Fiscal Year 2017-18. 

 

B. The contributions and fees which have been collected for the Traffic Improvements will 
remain committed for construction of the improvements identified in the adopted Capital 
Improvement Program. 

 

C. The purpose for which the contributions and fees will be used is construction of the 
Traffic Improvements, as described above and in the 2018-2023 Capital Improvement 
Program. 

 

D. The contributions and fees were collected to make the Traffic Improvements, which 
improvements will mitigate traffic impacts caused by the new development projects which paid 
the fees. 

 

E. The contributions and fees which have been collected for the Traffic Improvements are 
needed for construction of the Traffic Improvements. 
 
 
 
 

4.4.b

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 M

ak
in

g
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
R

eg
ar

d
in

g
 U

n
ex

p
en

d
ed

 T
ra

ff
ic

 Im
p

ac
t 

F
ee

s 
fo

r 
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
20

17
-1

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



 
 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this 18th day of December 2018, by the 
following vote: 
 

AYES: 
   

NOES:   
 

ABSENT:  
 

ABSTAIN:         

 
 
 
        ____________________________ 

           Mayor 
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
                 City Clerk       

4.4.b

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 M

ak
in

g
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
R

eg
ar

d
in

g
 U

n
ex

p
en

d
ed

 T
ra

ff
ic

 Im
p

ac
t 

F
ee

s 
fo

r 
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
20

17
-1

8 
 (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



Budget Change Reference #:

From Un-Appropriated Reserves X Budget Transfer Between Funds

From Designated Reserves Other

Account Amount Account Amount

4302.1901.86101 $13,178.08

12/18/2018

Posted By: Date:

As Presented at the City Council Meeting 

**********Finance Use Only**********

CITY OF DUBLIN

Right to Reimbursement for EDTIF2

REASON FOR BUDGET CHANGE

FISCAL YEAR 2018-19

BUDGET CHANGE FORM

EDTIF2 - Non-Dept - Impact Fee Obligation

City Council's Approval Required

ATTACHMENT 3

4.4.c

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. B
u

d
g

et
 C

h
an

g
e 

F
o

rm
  (

A
B

 1
60

0 
R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Page 1 of 3 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Solid Waste Ordinance Update 
Prepared by:  Rebecca Parnes, Environmental Technician 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
On December 4, 2018 the City Council waived the reading and introduced an amended 
and restated Ordinance for Dublin Municipal Code Section 7.98, Solid Waste and 
Recycling Enclosure Standards, to establish design criteria and size requirements for 
enclosures at new developments and specifying locations that trigger a planning 
entitlement such as a site development review or conditional use permit.  The City 
Council is now being asked to waive the second reading and adopt the Ordinance 
amending the Dublin Municipal Code Section 7.98.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Waive the reading and adopt an Amended and Restated Ordinance of the City Council 
of the City of Dublin Amending Chapter 7.98, Solid Waste and Recycling Enclosure 
Standards.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None. 
 
DESCRIPTION: 
 
Dublin Municipal Code, Section 7.98, Solid Waste and Recycling Enclosure Standards 
governs the standards for waste and recycling enclosures associated with new 
commercial development, new multifamily development with shared enclosures, and for 
commercial development projects that require Site Development Review or a 
Conditional Use Permit.  Section 7.98 was last updated on August 21, 2012, when City 
Council adopted Ordinance 13-12. Staff is recommending an amendment to Section 
7.98 in order to streamline the design, review, and permitting of projects that include 
waste and recycling enclosures.  Other recommended amendments will clarify the 
requirement for hose bibs and sanitary sewer connections; specify the maintenance 
requirements for enclosures; specify the placement and spacing of trash and recycling 
cans in new development; and specify where pet-waste disposal stations are installed in 
new development. 

4.5

Packet Pg. 60



 

Page 2 of 3 

 
The proposed Municipal Code amendments intend to make waste enclosures easier 
and safer to use and incorporate greater stormwater pollution prevention strategies.  
This includes minor adjustments to enclosure design requirements related to size and 
ensures ease of use and serviceability during regular operations.  The existing and new 
requirements for enclosure design are presented in a streamlined table as compared to 
the paragraph format of the current code. The proposed changes should result in the 
development, construction and operation of waste management infrastructure that is 
easy to use and is well maintained resulting in less litter on Dublin streets, parks, and in 
private developments.  Description of the changes to the Municipal Code are outlined 
below: 
 
1. Change current waste enclosure requirement mandating installation of a hose bib 

and sanitary sewer connection for all developments, excluding industrial uses, to 
only requiring installation of a hose bib and sanitary sewer connection for waste 
enclosures intended for use by food service establishments.  This aligns with 
requirements of the Alameda County Health Department and with the Dublin San 
Ramon Services District.  The proposed ordinance adjustment will reduce the 
cost of enclosure construction for locations that are non-food service 
establishments. 

 
2. New requirement for proper ongoing maintenance and use of enclosures.  This 

includes mandating all enclosures must be well maintained; used only to house 
trash, recycling, and organics containers; and that each business subscribes to 
the levels of service they need so to prevent overflowing of waste containers.  In 
addition to preventing stormwater pollution, well maintained enclosures help 
prevent safety issues for employees that are servicing solid waste and for the 
solid-waste service provider when emptying waste containers.  Good enclosure 
maintenance also reduces the instances of vector problems.   

 
3. New requirement for new commercial and multifamily development projects or 

existing developments with documented ongoing litter issues to install and 
maintain public litter collection containers.  This will help reduce litter inside and 
around shopping centers and multi-family properties. This proposed adjustment 
would require litter containers for trash and recycling at the entrance and exit of 
all properties, throughout the facility at every 300 to 350 feet, and within 10 feet 
of any food generating or selling store. Public litter containers installed will be 
required to match the design elements of the development.  The owner or 
property manager will be responsible for emptying the containers a minimum of 
once a week and keeping the containers clean and graffiti free. 

 
4. New requirement for property owners to install, maintain, and empty pet waste 

bag and disposal stations within new parks and trails, or at locations with an on-
going pet waste litter concerns.  This will help insure Dublin’s parks and trails 
stay clean and reduce storm water issues related to pet waste. 

 
In an effort to streamline solid waste and recycling enclosure development, review, and 
permitting, Staff recently created two documents that are provided to all development 
applicants.  The documents are titled “Waste Handling Standards for Commercial and 

4.5

Packet Pg. 61



 

Page 3 of 3 

Multi-Family Properties” (Attachment 2), and “Waste Enclosure Requirements Checklist” 
(Attachment 3). 

   
The Waste Handling Standards document includes all requirements outlined in the 
Municipal Code as well as photos, diagrams, and greater detail on all items required by 
the Municipal Code.  The Enclosure Requirements Checklist ensures that developers 
understand the requirements and that they provide the detail needed for Staff to fully 
review projects for compliance with the requirements.  The goal is to make plan 
submittal and review related to waste enclosures more efficient for applicants and staff. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE: 
 
None. 
 
NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 
 
The City held a public meeting on November 20, 2018 from 5:00-7:00pm.  Information 
about the meeting was sent to businesses, multifamily properties, developers, and 
property management companies.  Meeting information was also posted at several 
locations throughout the City.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1.  Ordinance 13-12 

2.  Waste Handling Standards for Commercial and Multi-Family Properties 

3.  Waste Enclosure Requirements Checklist 

4.  Ordinance of the City of Dublin Amending Chapter 7.98 of the Dublin Municipal Code 

Relating to the Solid Waste and Recycling Enclosure Standards 

 

4.5

Packet Pg. 62



ORDINANCE NO.   13- 12

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL

OF THE CITY OF DUBLIN

AMENDING CHAPTER 7. 98 RELATING TO SOLID WASTE AND

RECYCLING ENCLOSURE STANDARDS

The City Council of the City of Dublin does hereby ordain as follows:

Section 1:

Compliance with California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA"): This Ordinance is exempt

from CEQA per CEQA Guidelines Section 15061( b)( 3). Section 15061( b)( 3) states that CEQA

applies only to those projects that have the potential to cause a significant effect on the
environment. The adoption of this Ordinance is exempt from CEQA because the Ordinance

does not,  in itself,  allow the construction of any building or structure,  but it sets forth the
regulations that shall be followed if and when a building or structure is proposed to be
constructed or a site is proposed to be developed. This Ordinance of itself, therefore, has no

potential for resulting in significant physical change in the environment, directly or ultimately.

Section 2:    Section 7. 98. 010 of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as
follows:

7. 98. 010 Applicability.

A.       The requirements of this Chapter shall apply to all building or development permits for:

1.       New commercial development projects.

2.       New multi- family development projects with 5 units or more that will utilize shared
waste and recycling enclosures.

3.       Commercial development projects that trigger a Planning entitlement ( such as a
Site Development Review or Conditional Use Permit)  and consist of uses,

including but not limited to grocery stores, restaurants,  markets, auto repair/ use
and daycares,  that generate food waste,  grease and/ or vehicle fluids,  and

packaging material in addition to users that have the potential to pollute
stormwater as determined by the Director of Public Works.

4.       Any other project,  including but not limited to tenant improvements,  where the
Public Works Department concludes that the use has the potential to discharge

pollution into the City' s storm sewer system. When this Chapter applies to a tenant
improvement,  the property owner or Applicant shall be responsible for making
improvements only to the solid waste and recycling enclosure used by the tenant.

Page 1 of 8

4.5.a

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 1
3-

12
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



Section 3:   Section 7. 98. 030 of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as
follows:

7. 98. 030 General Construction and Design Standards.

The location, design and construction of enclosures for the set out and collection of garbage,

recyclables, food waste,  landscaping debris or other discarded materials shall conform to all
applicable regulations set out in these standards and to all other provisions of the Dublin
Municipal Code. A development may have multiple solid waste and recycling enclosures to meet
the required amount of capacity.  The Public Works Director shall review the design of all
enclosures. All enclosures are subject to a Site Development Review permit.

Standard enclosures shall have a minimum inside usable floor and wall dimension of 18 feet

wide by 10 feet deep, to allow tenant and Collector access to the bins/ carts and placement of
bins sideways in the enclosure if necessary. In some instances, the required enclosure size may
be greater than 18 feet by 10 feet.

All commercial uses within the City must at a minimum provide adequate space for separate
garbage bins,  cardboard only bins and mixed recycling bins.   In addition,  food service
establishments shall provide adequate space for food waste/ organics. If a food establishment
will generate grease, fat or tallow, adequate space for those containers is also required. The
types and size of bins shall be based on the volume of tonnage generated by the development

activity, as estimated by the Public Works Director, and with the aim of reducing, as much as
possible, the number of service trips per week by the Collector.

A.       Height Clearance of the Enclosure Approach.

The entire approach to and from the front of the enclosure shall have at least 18 feet of vertical
clearance to accommodate refuse truck height. The area immediately in front of the enclosure
itself,  or the location where the bin will be serviced,  shall have at least 32 feet of vertical
clearance to accommodate the servicing of the bin.

All projects shall provide clearance for front end loading vehicles, as defined below:

Vertical ( approach and exit)    18 feet high

Vertical ( when dumping bin)   32 feet high

Lateral 15 feet wide

B.       Driveways.

An asphalt or concrete driveway with 50 feet of straight, direct access that leads to and from the
enclosures to the bin is required and shall be built to withstand trucks weighting up to 62, 000
pounds Gross Vehicle Weight ( GVW). The driveway shall be built in accordance with the City
Standard Plans and Specifications.

C.       Concrete Apron at the Approach.

1.  The apron surface shall be the same elevation as the enclosure pad threshold and the

surrounding surfaces, with a minimum slope of 1/ 8 inch ( 1% grade) per foot away
from the enclosure pad so as to direct runoff away from the enclosure.

Page 2 of 8

4.5.a

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 1
3-

12
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



2.       The apron shall extend 10 feet from the enclosure pad and be the width of the

enclosure opening.  To prevent damage to the asphalt paving caused by
receptacle impact, the enclosure base shall be designed to withstand up to 20, 000
pounds of direct force from a single truck axle. A sufficient strength concrete shall

be used to prevent chipping.

D.       Concrete Enclosure Pad.

1.       The enclosure pad shall be engineered to withstand up to 20, 000 pounds of direct
force from a single truck axle for any portion of the pad that is subject to vehicle
traffic.

2.       The enclosure pad surface shall be the same elevation as the apron threshold.

3.       On the open side of the enclosure, a grade break line shall be constructed at the

inside edge of the wall with the slab sloping inwards on the inside of the structure
and away from the structure on the outside.

4.       The ground on all other sides of the structure shall be sloped away from the
structure.

E.   Enclosure Design.

Enclosures shall be designed to provide adequate space for collecting and storing solid waste and
recyclable materials,  including mixed recycling,  separated cardboard and food waste/ organics
when appropriate).  All solid waste and recycling enclosures shall be designed to provide for

adequate capacity, based on the volume and tonnage generated by the development activity, as
estimated by the Public Works Director, and with the aim of reducing, as much as possible, the
number of service trips per week by the Collector.

1.       Material:  The design of the enclosure shall incorporate the same materials used

for the primary buildings for a coordinated look and feel to the development.

2.       Landscaping:  In instances where the enclosure is visible from roadways or other
public spaces, an irrigated 5- foot wide landscape strip running the length of the
three non- gated enclosure walls shall be provided to allow for vines or large
shrubs to shield the walls and discourage graffiti.

3. Height of walls:  All enclosures shall have walls with a minimum height of 6 feet.

4.       Roof: All solid waste and recycling area enclosures that are not located inside a
building shall have roofs to prevent contaminants from washing into the storm
drain system. The lowest part of the ceiling cannot be lower than 9 feet high. The
roof shall extend past any open sides. Additionally, the roof shall not overhang the
front gate so that the garbage trucks can access the bins.

Page 3 of 8

4.5.a

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 1
3-

12
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



5. Inside Dimension

a.       All enclosures must have sufficient space for at least one bin for solid

waste, a second bin of at least equal size for storing and collecting
separated cardboard,  and either a mixed recycling bin or cart for
mixed paper,  bottles and cans of sufficient size to collect mixed

recycling items generated on- site.  Enclosures that will be used by
food establishments must also allow space for a separate food
waste/organics bin of sufficient size to collect food waste generated
on- site.

b.       The required interior dimensions shall not include space required for

protective curbs or bumpers and shall allow for pairing of trash and
recycling container( s)  in the same enclosure.  All bins must be
configured inside the enclosure so as to ensure full access to the

entire front area of the bin.

c. If the enclosure will service food service establishments, adequate

space must also be provided for waste cooking oil storage
containers, which must be placed so that they will not interfere with
the Collector' s ability to service the enclosure,  either by blocking
access or as a result of leaking oil that creates a hazard for drivers.

d.       The enclosure shall be large enough to provide a minimum of 24
inches on each side of the bins, 24 inches between bins placed side

by side and 36 inches from the front of the bin to the gate. If bins are
placed facing each other, a minimum of 36 inches between bins is
required. A protective buffer ( cement curb, bollards or wood/ rubber

bumper) is required around all interior walls, including partial walls on
the gated side, to prevent damage to the enclosure during servicing.
Enclosure dimensions will increase depending on the size and
number of required bins, which is dependent upon the use. Multiple

enclosures may also be required,  depending on the size of the
development and type(s)  of use.  If there are multiple enclosures

required, each enclosure shall have enough space to pair trash and

recycling containers in the same enclosure,  to ensure optimum
diversion and to minimize contamination of recycling loads.  All
enclosures shall conform to the standards listed above.

6.       Recycling Only Enclosures

Smaller " recycling only" enclosures may be allowed in certain cases where an
existing site has adequate enclosure space for trash, but it is not possible to locate
the required recycling containers within the trash enclosure, based on the Public
Works Director' s estimate of required volume.   Drainage requirements for

recycling only enclosures will depend on the types of materials stored for
recycling.  Recycling only enclosures designated for separated non putrescible
waste ( i. e. cardboard only or mixed recycling bins or carts) shall be subject to a
Site Development Review permit.

Page 4 of 8

4.5.a

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 1
3-

12
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



7.       Gates Pedestrian Doors

a. Double gates are required for enclosures that contain two or more

trash or recycling bins.

b.       Gates shall be free hanging with no center pole. The gates/ doors
shall be designed to ensure access and removal of each bin from the

enclosure without having to move another bin.

c. Gates shall be solid metal painted to incorporate the overall design

theme of the development with outside handles on each door and a

slide latch to secure the doors. The solid waste and recycling area
should not be visible through the gates.  In addition, gates must be

approximately the same size as the enclosure walls.

d.       The gated opening shall be a minimum of 16 feet wide. Gate posts
shall be placed outside this span.

e.       Bolts shall be used to secure the gate to the poles or walls.

f. The gate doors must be constructed with a mechanism that will

provide a means of securing the gate doors in both an opened and
closed position. All gates must be lockable using a standard padlock.

g.       A pedestrian entrance shall be provided for all enclosures.  All

pedestrian doors shall open outward to avoid interfering with
placement of, and access to, containers.

h.       An accessible path of travel shall be provided from the main building
to the pedestrian entrance door described above.

8. Lighting

The area around and inside the enclosure must be lit with a minimum of 1. 0 foot
candle. A motion sensor is required.

9.       Storage inside the Enclosure/ Maintenance

a.       The enclosure is for the storage of solid waste,  mixed recycling,

cardboard, organics and grease containers only.

b. Enclosures shall be kept clean, with all recyclables and garbage to

be placed in the proper receptacle. No trash or recyclables may be
stored on the enclosure floor on either a temporarily or permanent
basis.   Storage of hazardous materials is not allowed in the
enclosure.

Page 5 of 8

4.5.a

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 1
3-

12
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



c. All solid waste,  mixed recycling,  cardboard,  organics and grease
containers are required to have lids that must be closed when not in
use to contain litter and to prevent odor, pests and possible storm

water pollution. In addition, all waste cooking oil storage containers
must be leak proof and/ or have secondary containment that does not
interfere with access to cooking oil, trash or recycling containers. In
addition,  the waste oil hauler or property manager shall keep a
supply on hand of material designed to absorb oil near the container
in case there is a spill.

10.     Waste Water Pollution Prevention

a.       Solid waste and recycling enclosures, with the exception of industrial
uses, shall have a drain connected to the sanitary sewer. A hose bib
shall be available for periodic wash down.

b.       The Applicant must contact the Dublin San Ramon Services District

DSRSD)  for specific sanitary sewer connection and discharge
requirements. Sanitary sewer connections and inclusion of a grease
or sand/ oil interceptor shall be in accordance with DSRSD standard

specifications.

c. In accordance with DSRSD discharge regulations, solid waste and

recycling enclosures servicing industrial uses are prohibited from
draining into the sanitary sewer system. Waste generated from these
users shall be directly taken to the appropriate waste facility.

d.       Stormwater is prohibited from entering the sanitary sewer system;
therefore,   all solid waste and recycling enclosures that are
connected to the sanitary sewer system shall have a roof to prevent
stormwater from entering the sanitary system. Grading around the
solid waste and recycling enclosure shall be designed to drain
stormwater away from the enclosure.

F.       Enclosure Location & Accessibility.

1.       All solid waste,  recycling and organics receptacles shall be placed so as to be
readily accessible for removal and emptying by the collector, but they shall not be
placed within the vehicle traveled portion of any street, road, avenue, way or alley,
or at any location so as to constitute a nuisance, pursuant to Section 5. 32. 070.

2.       All bins/ enclosures are required to have direct access for collection trucks during

normal solid waste,  recycling and organics collection days and hours.  Direct
access means the collection truck can directly access the bin, and insert the forks
into the sides of the bin without the driver having to get out of the truck to move the
bin. A minimum straight approach of 50 feet is necessary to line up directly with
the bin.

Page 6 of 8

4.5.a

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 1
3-

12
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



3. Provide a turn around or separate exit that allows the truck to move forward rather
than backwards. Maximum back- up distance is 50 feet ( unless a greater distance
is approved by the Franchise Hauler) for any maneuver and shall be in a straight
line.

4. Solid waste and recycling enclosures shall not be placed in front of fire hydrants
and no enclosure shall be placed within 5 feet of a combustible building wall,

opening, or combustible roof eave line.

5.       Solid waste and recycling enclosures shall not be installed behind parking spaces
except for instances with unusual site constraints.

6. For safety reasons, the turning radius shall be adequate for a 3- axle truck and
shall have a minimum outside turning radius of 45 feet. A turnaround must be
provided for any street, driveway or travel aisle that would otherwise require the
collection truck to back up a distance greater than 150 feet.

7.       Truck Specifications:

a. Front End Loader vehicles need a minimum of 50 feet of unobstructed

clearance to access the solid waste and recycling enclosure. Commercial
collection vehicles access the solid waste and recycling enclosure at the
front of the vehicle.

b.       Vehicles servicing Roll- off containers need a minimum of 132 feet to
approach and load the container, and 30 feet of overhead clearance. Roll-
off containers are 20 feet in length and 8 feet wide. The weight of a Roll- off

container cannot exceed 10 tons when full.     •

G.       Existing Development. .

If an existing development does not have an existing trash enclosure, the development may be
required to install a trash enclosure that meets the requirements of this Section 7. 98. 030.

Section 4:   Section 7. 98. 090 of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as
follows:

7. 98. 090 Exceptions.

Applicants that believe they need a smaller enclosure than required in the City' s Enclosure
Design Standards, may request an exception from the Public Works Department.

The Public Works Director or his or her designee shall have the authority to grant exceptions to
the requirements of this Chapter including, but not limited to, the requirement to connect to the
sanitary sewer,  and the location,  design and construction requirements.  The Public Works
Director or his or her designee shall review the requests for exceptions on a case by case basis.
In instances where the Public Works Director or designee waives the requirement to connect to
the sanitary sewer,  alternative options may be required,  including but not limited to the
installation of filters in the storm drain inlets. The determination of the Public Works Director may

be appealed to the City Manager.
Page 7 of 8

4.5.a

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 1
3-

12
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



Section 5.    Severability.  The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and if any provision,
clause, sentence, word or part thereof is held illegal, invalid, unconstitutional, or inapplicable to

any person or. circumstances, such illegality, invalidity, unconstitutionality, or inapplicability shall
not affect or impair any of the remaining provisions, clauses, sentences, sections, words or parts
thereof of the ordinance or their applicability to other persons or circumstances.

Section 6.    Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be enforced thirty ( 30) days
following its adoption. .

Section 7.    Posting..  The City Clerk of the City of Dublin shall cause this Ordinance to be
posted in at least three ( 3) public places in the City of Dublin in accordance with Section 36933
of the Government Code of the State of California.

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 21st day of August, 2012, by the following
vote:

AYES:  Councilmembers Biddle, Hart, Hildenbrand, Swalwell, and Mayor Sbranti

NOES:  None

ABSENT:     None

ABSTAIN:    None

Acj
Mayor

ATTE T:

Deputy City Clerk

Ord No. 13- 12, Adopted 8- 21- 12, Item 4. 7 Page 8 of 8

4.5.a

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 1
3-

12
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



 

 
 
 

WASTE HANDLING STANDARDS 
For Commercial Properties and 

Multi-Family Properties with Shared Service 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Environmental Services Division 
925-833-6630 

 

Available electronically at www.ci.dublin.ca.us/DocumentCenter/View/17026 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)

http://www.ci.dublin.ca.us/DocumentCenter/View/17026


2 
 

Contents 
 
 

1.   Overview and Key Terms…..…………………………………………………………….....3 
 

2.   General Garbage, Recycling, and Composting Requirements................................................4 
 

3.   Multifamily Residential with Shared Waste Service Locations ....………………………....6 
 

4.   Commercial and Industrial Requirements...............................................................................9 
 

5.   Compactor Requirements......................................................................................................11 
 

6.   Roll off Box Requirements…….…......……………………………………………………13 
 

7.   Trash Enclosure Design Requirements ............................................................................... 14 
 

8.   Ongoing Enclosure Operations ………….………………………………………………...23 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



3 
 

1. Overview 
 

The Waste Handling Standards document includes: 
 

A.  Information on design, construction and operational phases of multifamily, commercial, 

industrial, or government projects 

B.  Waste generation guidelines to help assess the level of garbage, cardboard only, mixed 

recycling, and organics service required for each project 

C.  Details on garbage, cardboard only, mixed recycling, and organics container sizes 
 

D.  Instruction on the design, dimensions, placement, construction, and maintenance of 

waste enclosures 

 
 
Key Terms 

 

A.  Solid waste- items discarded from a business including garbage, recycling, and organic 

material. Hazardous waste and electronic waste are not included in this definition and 

must be handled separately. 

B.  Garbage- items such as plastic film, broken furniture, broken dishes, polystyrene, 

diapers, pet waste, tattered clothing, and other items that are not acceptable for 

recycling or organics collection. 

C.  Recycling – items such as cardboard, mixed paper (newspapers, magazines, office 

paper, junk mail, paperboard boxes, etc.), metal cans and foil, plastic and glass 

containers (bottles, jars and jugs only). 

D.  Organics – items such as food (meat, diary, grains, fruits and vegetables), food soiled 

paper (napkins, paper serve ware, paper towels), plant debris, and wood that is not 

painted or chemically treated. 

E.  Dumpster- a metal container used to collect solid waste that can hold at least one cubic 

yard of material. This container type is sometimes also referred to as a bin. They are 

most commonly used to collect discards from businesses and multifamily complexes. 

F.  Cart- a plastic wheeling container used to collect solid waste.  Cart capacity ranges 

from a 32 gallon container to a 96 gallon container.  Carts are most frequently used for 

residential collection service but are also appropriate for use at businesses that generate 

very little waste. 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



4 
 

2. General Garbage, Recycling, and Organics Requirements 

A.   Garbage, recycling and organics services are provided by Amador Valley Industries1
 

 

(AVI) on an exclusive franchise basis. 
 

B.   Weekly garbage removal is required for all commercial and multifamily properties. 
 

Businesses may self-haul material directly to a permitted disposal facility using their 

own vehicle at least once every seven days as an alternative to weekly collection 

service. 

C.   Recycling service is required2 for all commercial properties that generate 4 cubic yards 
 

or more of trash weekly and for all multifamily properties regardless of waste 

generation quantities. Commercial properties that generate less than 4 cubic yards of 

trash per week are strongly encouraged to establish a recycle program. 

D.   Organics service is required for restaurants, grocery stores or other facilities that 

generate 4 cubic yards or more of organic waste per week3. In coming years this 

requirement will expand to all businesses regardless of organics waste generation 

levels.  Adequate space in enclosures to collect all organic waste is required. All food 

related businesses are strongly encouraged to establish an organics collection 

program today.  AVI’s recycle coordinator can help businesses establish a program. 

E.   Disposal of plant debris in the landfill is prohibited by the Alameda County Waste 

Management Authority4 (ACWMA). The material must be composted or delivered to a 

transfer station and placed with other “clean green material” to be composted. 

Additional fees may be imposed by the ACWMA if plant debris is placed in the trash 

dumpster. 

F. Overfilling of trash, recycling and organics containers is prohibited. Solid waste may 

not protrude above the top rim of the container and must allow for the lid(s) to close 

fully. Establishments that consistently have issues with overflowing containers will be 

required to increase their service level(s) to meet their needs. 

G.   All new construction projects and tenant improvements are required to provide space to 
 
 
 
 

1  
http://www.amadorvalleyindustries.com/ 

2 State law AB 341 mandates this recycling. For complete text visit 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201120120AB341. 
3 State law AB 1826 mandates organics diversion. For complete text visit 

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201320140AB1826. 
4 Per Alameda County Waste Management Authority Ordinance 2008-01, to view the complete ordinance visit 

http://www.recyclingrulesac.org/docs/Landfill-Ban-WMA-Ordinance2008-01.pdf. 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)

http://www.amadorvalleyindustries.com/
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201120120AB341
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201320140AB1826
http://www.recyclingrulesac.org/docs/Landfill-Ban-WMA-Ordinance2008-01.pdf


5 
 

store garbage, recycling, and organics receptacles in an enclosure or inside a building5. 

This space must be commensurate with the number and size of containers needed and 

take into account the applicant’s short and long-term disposal and recycling needs. 

H.   The Public Works Director, or designee, shall review the design of all enclosures. All 

enclosures are subject to a site development review permit. 

I. Per City Municipal Code 7.306, all construction, demolition, and renovation projects 
 

within the city, the total costs of which are greater than or equal to $100,000 shall 

comply with the City’s diversion standards.  Code stipulates these projects must recycle 

at least 65% of the waste for remodels or tenant improvements and 75% of the waste for 

new construction generated on a job site, excluding asphalt and concrete debris of 

which one hundred percent (100%) must be recycled.  All projects less than $100,000 

are strongly encouraged to meet these standards. The City's municipal code 7.30 has 

specific procedures for complying with these requirements. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5 
2016 CALGreen Code 4.410.2 and 5.410.1  https://codes.iccsafe.org/public/document/details/toc/657 

6 Dublin Municipal Code 7.30 Waste Management Plan  http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Dublin/ 

Additional information and required forms can be found at  http://ca-dublin2.civicplus.com/147/Construction- 

Demolition 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)

https://codes.iccsafe.org/public/document/details/toc/657
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Dublin/
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Dublin/
http://ca-dublin2.civicplus.com/147/Construction-Demolition
http://ca-dublin2.civicplus.com/147/Construction-Demolition
http://ca-dublin2.civicplus.com/147/Construction-Demolition


 

3.   Multifamily Residential with Centralized Service Locations Apartments/Condos/Flats 

o Multifamily garbage, recycling, and organics 

collection is available in carts and bins.  Cart 

collection is available once per week.  Bin collection 

can be more frequent; garbage service is available up 

to six (6) days per week (Monday through Saturday), 

cardboard only and mixed recycling collection is 

available up to five (5) days per week (Monday through Friday) and organics collection 

is available four (4) days a week (Monday, Wednesday, Thursday, and Friday).  Twice 

a day pick up is not available. Enclosure design shall maximize container size to limit 

the number of service days needed.  Specific services days and schedules vary 

according to category of service and container type and are subject to change. 

A.  Internal Storage Requirements: 
 

i.   All residential units need equal amounts of internal storage space to store 

garbage, recycling, and organic materials (e.g. under kitchen sink or in pantry). 

 

B.  Chutes: 
 

i.   Chute systems must be pre-approved by the Environmental Services Division 

because of the unique space and access design challenges. 

ii.   Applicant must provide two chute systems side by side, one for garbage and one 

for recycling.  There must be a minimum of 6”5” between the center of the trash 

chute and the center of the recycling chute and a minimum of 6” between the 

chute opening and the trash room floor.  Chutes are not required or 

recommended for organics.  Extra space inside the chute room is required to 

accommodate collection of residents’ food scraps using a 32 gallon organics cart 

or a collection container of the property’s choosing.  Organic discards collected 

in alternate containers will 

need to be placed in an AVI 

organics container and 

moved to an agreed upon 

location for service. 

iii.  Chute vestibule rooms must 
 

6 
 

Figure 1: Trash and Recycle Chutes 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



7  

be distributed to prevent any resident from traveling more than 250 feet to 

dispose of discards. 

iv.   Chute vestibule rooms must observe requirements of the current California 

Building Code regarding accessibility to solid waste collection receptacles for 

persons with disabilities (CCR Title 24, Part 2). 

v.   Chute systems must comply with current building codes for 2014 fire sprinkler 

requirements. 

C.  External Storage Requirements: 
 

i. Multifamily residential garbage, mixed recycling, and organics receptacles must 

be stored in an enclosure. 

ii.  Bins are recommended for collecting mixed recycling so that the large quantities 

of cardboard typically generated at multifamily complexes can be easily 

recycled by residents. Cardboard only bins in addition to mixed recycle service 

are often appropriate in a multifamily setting.  AVI provides standard front end 

loader bins for collection service. Any modifications to AVI’s bins, including 

hitches for towing individual or multiple bins are the responsibility of the 

property owner or manager and must be approved by AVI beforehand. 

Complexes also have the option of purchasing and using their own customized 

or standard front end load bins at their own cost as long as they are compatible 

with AVI’s standard front end load trucks and fork configurations. 

iii. Unless other arrangements are made in advance, property management is 

responsible for transporting (by an agreed upon time) all AVI-serviced bins 

from indoor trash rooms to a mutually agreed upon staging area accessible to 

AVI trucks. 

iv. Trash enclosures must be distributed throughout larger complexes so that no 

resident will have to travel more than 250 feet to reach an enclosure. 

v.   Trash enclosures must observe requirements of the current California Building 

Code regarding accessibility to solid waste collection receptacles for persons 

with disabilities (CCR Title 24, Part 2). 

D.  Estimating Service Needs 
 

i.  To ensure adequate space for solid waste a safe rule is 50 gallons or ¼ cubic 

yard of solid waste for every three residents.  Of that 40% for trash, 40% for 

recycling, and 20% for organic material.  This does not include plant debris 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



8  

from landscaping, account for additional space if landscaping debris is disposed 

of on the property. 

i.   For example, a 60-unit multifamily complex with average occupancy of three 

people per unit would require 15 cubic yards of total capacity (1/4 CY x 60), 

which, following the 40-40-20 rule, equates to 6 cubic yards each for trash and 

recycling and 2 cubic yards for organics. 

ii.   Another approach is to estimate the number of occupants by multiplying the 

number of bedrooms by 2, and allowing 15 to 18 gallons per occupant, then 

applying the 40% - 40% - 20% proportions cited above. 

iii.  It is good practice to provide 20% to 35% excess capacity for seasonal variation 

and other surges in volume. 

iv. Use estimated container needs to calculate space needs for your enclosure(s). 
 

v.   See Trash Enclosure Design Requirements section (pg15) for cart and dumpster 

dimensions. 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



9  

4.  Commercial and Industrial Requirements 
Individual or centralized shared commercial service locations 

 
 

o Commercial garbage collection is available up 

to six (6) days per week (Monday through 

Saturday). Cardboard only and mixed 

recycling collection is available up to five (5) 

days per week (Monday through Friday). 

Organics collection in carts is available once a 

week and in bins four (4) days a week (Monday, Wednesday, Thursday, and Friday). 

Twice a day pick up is not available. Enclosure design should maximize container size 

to limit the number of service days needed.   Specific services days and schedules vary 

according to category of service and container type and are subject to change. 

 

 

A.  Internal Storage Requirements: 
 

i. Design space inside the building for the storage of all materials including racks, 

crates, boxes, pallets, and other items that require storage space. Storage of any 

materials outside the building is prohibited. 

ii.  CA Green Building Code Section 5.410.1 – Building Maintenance and Operation: 

Recycling by occupants: Provide readily accessible areas that serve the entire 

building and are identified for the depositing, storage, and collection of non- 

hazardous materials for recycling, including (at a minimum) paper, corrugated 

cardboard, glass, plastics, organic waste, and metals, or meet a lawfully enacted 

local recycling ordinance, if more restrictive. 

iii. Design space inside the building for in-store grease containers rather than external 

communal containers. External grease containers stored in enclosures will be 

considered only as a last resort when in-store storage is not feasible. In-store grease 

container design must comply with Alameda County Health Department7 

requirements for grease storage. 

 

 

B.  External Storage Requirements 

i. Roofed trash enclosures are required for storing external garbage, recycling, 

organics, and used oil/grease containers when there is not capacity to store them 
 

 
7 https://www.acgov.org/aceh/food/plancheck.htm 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)

https://www.acgov.org/aceh/food/plancheck.htm


10 
 

inside the business. 
 

ii.  Trash enclosures are to be used only for the storage of garbage, recycling, organics 

and used oil/grease receptacles. No ongoing storage or temporary staging of any 

materials outside of these designated receptacles is allowed inside the enclosure. 

Trash enclosures must be large enough to store all appropriately sized collection 

containers for trash, recycling and organics generated at the site, based on the size 

and use of the business(es). If a used oil or grease receptacle is located inside the 

enclosure, the receptacle must be sized and located to not interfere with user or 

driver access to the trash, recycling, or organics collection containers. All grease 

receptacles must have a mechanism for secondary containment of spilled oil/grease, 

per approval from Dublin San Ramon Services District8 and the City of Dublin. 

iii. Each parcel must have a minimum of one trash enclosure. A commercial and 

industrial development may require multiple trash enclosures to meet the required 

capacity needs. 

iv. Trash enclosures must comply with regulations from the City of Dublin, the 

Alameda County Health Department and Dublin San Ramon Services District when 

applicable. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8  
http://www.dsrsd.com/do-business-with-us/planning-and-permitting 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)

http://www.dsrsd.com/do-business-with-us/planning-and-permitting


11 
 

5. Compactor Requirements 
 

General Requirements: 
 

A.  Compactors must be pre-approved by the Public 

Works Director and are subject to site plan and 

architectural approval. 

B.  Compactors for garbage must be serviced by AVI at a 

minimum of once per week.  Applicant must provide 

written agreement from AVI to the Public Works 

Director that the compactor may be serviced. 

C.  Compactors are not recommended for garbage service, except in certain large 

commercial, industrial, institutional or other large scale applications. Compactors 

are not recommended for organic collection in any circumstances. 

D.  Use of a compactor or baler for one type of recyclable material such as 

cardboard only or paper only is encouraged. 

E.  Compactors may require additional space and electrical connections, as well as 

separate building permits. 

F.  Compactors are required to be covered with a roof and shall include plumbing to 

capture possible leaks and spills. 

G.  Requirements for possible compactor approval: 
 

i. A backup distance of three times the length of the 35 foot truck is required 

(minimum 105 feet) to allow adequate space to hook and unhook the compactor 

from the roll-off truck.  This distance must extend straight ahead from the end 

of the compactor. 
 

ii. Minimum of 30 feet in front of compactor must be a flat level surface. 
 

iii.   Width of access leading up to the compactor must be at least 14 feet to allow 

room to maneuver and to provide clearance from objects/structures/vehicles on 

either side of the backup length. 

iv. Adequate room for backing-up and turning shall be provided on-site and shall 

not require use of the public right-of-way. 

v. When a compactor is proposed, indicate waste stream for compactor (e.g. trash 

or cardboard), and provide specs and size of compactor (e.g. stationary, top-load, 

etc.). 

vi. A business or residential development using an approved trash compactor must 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



12 
 

still recycle as required by all applicable State and local mandatory recycling 

laws. 

vii.  Recyclable materials must be stored within a trash enclosure or on a shipping, 

receiving, or loading dock area that is readily accessible and convenient for 

building occupants, facility maintenance personnel, and the collection service 

provider. 

viii. Site plans must show the location of all compactors and indicate truck routes, 

including turning templates. 

ix.   Compactors shall comply with trash enclosure standards for location, access, 

screening, and design requirements. 

x. Late or unplanned addition of a compactor requires additional approval prior to 

installation. Additional space and electrical connections, as well as separate 

building permits may be required. 

H.  Dimension requirements: 
 

i.  Compactors require a minimum overhead clearance of 30 feet for truck 

servicing. 

Table 1: Typical Compactor Dimensions 
 

Commercial Compactors* Length (feet) Width (feet) Height (feet) 

20 cubic yards 14 – 18 8 6 -8 

30 cubic yards 20 – 25 8 7 – 8 

40 cubic yards 22 - 26 8 7.5 

*Compactor box lengths vary by manufacturer and size; dimensions listed are most 

common by size. Compactors are not provided by AVI, though they must be serviced 

by AVI. 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



13 
 

6. Roll-off Box Requirements 
 

A.  General Requirements: 
 

i. Roll-off boxes for on-going uses are 

generally not permitted and are more 

appropriate for construction and 

demolition debris or one-time large 

clean-ups. 

ii.  Roll-off containers shall be placed directly behind a building where space is 

available at a loading dock to allow loading from above. 

iii. Roll-off containers shall be placed on a level surface, unless roll-away 

protection is required.  Placement of roll-off boxes shall be subject to approval 

by the Public Works Director. 

iv. Loading docks shall be equipped with bumper pads of 8-inch-high curbs to 

avoid undue dock damage from heavy containers. 

v.   A minimum of 132 feet is needed to approach and service the container. 

vi. All projects shall provide clearance for roll-off vehicles as follows: 

a.   Vertical (approach and exit): 14 feet high 
 

b.   Vertical (rails raised with bins): 30 feet high 

c.   Lateral: 10 feet wide 

d.   Service Area Length Minimum: 75 feet long 
 

 
 

Table 2: Typical Roll-Off Box Dimensions 
 

Roll-Off Boxes* Length 

(feet) 

Width 

(feet) 

Height 

(feet) 

Footprint 

(Sq. ft.) 

Max 

Tonnage 

6 cubic yards 12 8 2 96 3 

15 cubic yards 12 8 5 96 3 

20 cubic yards 16 8 5 128 4 

30 cubic yards 22 8 5 176 6 

40 cubic yards 22 8 7.5 176 6 

*Dimensions above based on roll-off boxes provided by AVI 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 2: Roll-Off Servicing 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



14 
 

7. Trash Enclosure Design Requirements 
 

All solid waste enclosures must be enclosed on four sides and meet the requirements below. 
 

Roof Clearance Lighting Gates Materials and Design 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

               Pedestrian Access 
 

A.  Location 

Truck Access Apron Landscapi

i. Must be readily accessible to AVI. 
 

ii.  Trash enclosures shall not be located: 
 

a.   Along any frontage streets or roadways or in any location so as to cause a 

nuisance. 

b.   In front of fire hydrants or within 5 feet of a combustible building wall, 

opening, or combustible roof eave line. 

c.   Behind parking spaces. 
 

d.   Adjacent to a storm drain in which grading will result in drainage of 

stormwater into the storm drain. See Stormwater requirements below. 

e.   Trash enclosures must be located on the property so a residential tenant will 

not have to travel more than 250 feet to reach a trash enclosure 

B.  Access / Clearance 
 

iii. Trash enclosures for garbage, recyclables, and organics at multifamily and 

condominium housing shall observe the requirements of the California Building 

Code and the requirements of CCR Title 24, regarding accessibility to garbage, 

recycling, and organics collection receptacles for persons with disabilities (CCR 

Title 24, Part 2). 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



15 
 

iv. A pedestrian entrance shall be provided for all enclosures.  All pedestrian doors 

shall open outward to avoid interfering with placement of and access to containers. 

v.   An accessible path of travel shall be provided from the main building to the 

pedestrian entrance door described above. 

vi. Bins/enclosures are required to have reasonable access for collection trucks during 

normal collection days and hours, and shall provide direct access whenever 

possible.  Direct access means the collection truck can drive straight up to the front 

of the enclosure for servicing. If a good location cannot be identified that provides 

direct access, a well located enclosure that provides side access to the bins is 

acceptable. Provide a driveway that is a minimum straight approach of 50 feet from 

the enclosure on asphalt or concrete built to withstand up to 62,000 pounds Gross 

Vehicle Weight(GVW).  The driveway shall be built in accordance with City 

standard plans and specifications. 

vii. Provide a turnaround with a minimum radius of 45 feet or separate exit that allows 

the truck to move forward rather than backwards. Maximum back-up distance is 50 

feet and shall be in a straight line and not on to a major street or thoroughfare. 

Figure 3: Front End Load Truck Turning Dimensions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
C.  Dimensions 

i. Standard enclosures shall have a minimum inside usable floor and wall dimensions 

of 18 feet wide by 10 feet deep.  In some instances, enclosures will need to be larger 

to accommodate the appropriate makeup, number, and size of bins to match each 

property’s discards.  If multiple enclosures are needed, adequate space for each 

waste stream within each enclosure is required. 

ii.  Enclosures used by food-related facilities must provide adequate space for a used 

oil/grease bin if a grease collection receptacle cannot be stored in-store. If stored in 

the enclosure, used oil/grease receptacles must be placed in such a manner so as to 

not interfere with the collector’s ability to service the dumpsters, either by blocking 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



16 
 

access or as a result of leaking oil that creates a slip hazard. 
 

iii. A minimum of 12- inches between the wall and each container and 18- inches 

between two containers is needed to accommodate container removal for servicing. 

A minimum 36- inch wide pathway is required along the front (loading side) of all 

bins and from the pedestrian entrance to the bins to insure ease of use. 

iv. Adequate protective buffers (minimum 6 inches concrete curbs, bollards, or 

wood/rubber wall bumpers) are required around all interior walls, including partial 

walls on the gated side to prevent damage to the enclosure, electrical fixtures, and 

plumbing fixtures during servicing. Curb stops placed away from the wall shall not 

be installed without City approval.  Please note the side fork pockets of front end 

load bins extend 5 inches or more past the side body of the bin.  A 6 inch curb will 

protect the wall but not any fixtures extending out from the wall. 

v.   The required interior dimensions shall not include space required for protective 

curbs or bumpers and shall allow for pairing of trash, recycling, and organics 

containers in the same enclosure.  All bins must be configured inside the enclosure 

so as to ensure full access to the entire front area of the bins. 

vi. All enclosures walls shall be at least 6 feet tall. When the open space between the 

top of the wall and the base of the roof is 2 feet or greater, a screen or other 

appropriate barrier shall be affixed to prevent illegal dumping. 

vii.  All enclosures that are not located inside a building shall have roofs to prevent 

contaminants from washing out of enclosures.  The lowest part of the ceiling or any 

fixtures/rollup doors cannot be lower than 10.5 feet high so that they are high 

enough to allow for the full opening of bin lids.  The roof shall extend past any 

open sides but shall not overhang the front gate so as not to interfere with the 

provision of service. 

viii.  See Section 6, Compactor Requirements, for compactor dimensions. 
 

ix.   See Table 1 for wheeled cart dimensions and Table 4 below for front end load bin 

dimensions. 

Table 3: Wheeled Cart Dimensions 

Wheeled Carts Depth Width Height Height w/ Lid 

Open 
Footprint (Sq. ft.) 

32  gallons 24.25” 19.25” 38.50” 5’ 3 

64 gallons 30.00” 27.50” 41.75” 5.5’ 5 

96 gallons 34.50” 29.25” 43.50” 6.5’ 7.5 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



17 
 

Table 4: Front End Load/Bin Dimensions* 

Front End/Bin Loader Width Depth Height Height w/ Lid 

Open 

Footprint 

(Sq. ft.) 

1 cubic yard 

(200 gallons) 
81” 30” 36” 5.5’ 17 

2 cubic yards 81” 41” 52” 8’ 23 

3 cubic yards 81” 47.5” 60” 8.5’ 27 

4 cubic yards 81” 56” 66” 10.5’ 32 

6 cubic yards (no wheels) 81” 70” 72” 11’ 40 

7 cubic yards (no wheels) 81” 73” 77” 11.5’ 43 

*1-4 cubic yard bins have wheels and can be maneuvered for service. 6 and 7 yard bins 

require direct access by the truck for service as they have no wheels. 

 
Figure 4: 3 Yard Bin on Wheels Figure 5: 6 Yard Bin without Wheels Figure 6: Carts 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

D.  Stormwater 

Side Fork 

Pocket

 

i. Stormwater is prohibited from entering the enclosure. See Roof requirements. 
 

ii. Grading around the trash enclosure shall be designed to drain stormwater away from the 

enclosure. 

iii. The enclosure pad shall be designed to prevent run-on from outside the trash enclosure 

from entering the enclosure and liquids from inside the trash enclosure leaving the 

enclosure. 

iv. The enclosure shall be built to contain litter and garbage and prevent scattering by wind 

or stormwater runoff. 

v. Enclosures for food service establishments shall include a hose bib and a drain 

connected to the sanitary sewer.  The applicant must contact the Dublin San Ramon 

Services District (DSRSD) and the Alameda County Environmental Health 

Department for specifications and requirements.   Sanitary sewer connections and 

inclusion of a grease or sand/oil interceptor shall be in accordance with DSRSD 

standard specifications. 

vii. In accordance with DSRSD discharge regulations, solid waste and recycling enclosures 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



18  

servicing industrial businesses are prohibited from draining into the sanitary sewer 

system and shall be directly taken to the appropriate waste facility. 

Figure 7: Hot/Cold Hose Bib Figure 8: Sanitary connection with sump 
 
 

 
 
 

Water 
Heater 

Drain with sanitary 

connections and two 

compartment sump. 

 

 
 

 

Hose 
 
 
 

E.  Apron 

i. The apron surface shall be the same elevation as the enclosure pad threshold and the 

surrounding surfaces, with a minimum slope of 1/8 inch (1% grade) per foot away 

from the enclosure pad to drain run off or storm water away from the enclosure.  The 

maximum slope shall be 2%. 

ii. The apron shall extend 10 feet from the enclosure pad and be the width of the 

enclosure opening. 

iii. The apron shall be designed to withstand up to 20,000 pounds of direct force from a 

single truck axle. A sufficient strength of concrete shall be used to prevent chipping. 

iv. Do not place a lip/berm at the entrance that would impede container placement and 

removal. 

F.  Pad Interior 
 

i. The enclosure pad shall be engineered to withstand up to 20,000 pounds of direct 

force from a single truck axle for any portion of the pad that is subject to vehicle 

traffic. 

ii. The enclosure pad surface shall be the same elevation as the apron threshold. 

iii. On the open side of the enclosure, a grade break line shall be constructed at the 

inside edge of wall with the slab sloping inwards toward the center of the 

enclosure with a slope of 1-1.5%. 

iv. If there is a sanitary sewer drain inside the enclosure, the pad shall slope draining 

toward the interior drain in the enclosure with a slope of 1-1.5%. Drain shall be 

flush with enclosure pad to prevent catching of bin wheels on drain. 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



19  

Figure 9: Pad Interior Drainage to Sanitary Sewer Figure 10: Pad Interior Drainage to Sanitary Sewer 
 

(plan view) (section view) 
 
 
 

Sanitary Sewer 

 
Sanitary sewer 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Drainage Flow 
 
 
 

G.   Gates 

i. Double gates are required for all enclosures. The maximum length for each gate is 
 

12 feet. A single set of gates must be used for gate openings 24 feet and under, 

unless otherwise approved by the City. 

ii. Gates shall be free hanging with no center pole.  The gates/doors shall be designed 

to ensure access and removal of each bin from the enclosure without having to 

move another bin. 

iii. Gates shall be solid metal painted to incorporate the overall design theme of the 

development with outside handles on each door and a slide latch to secure the 

doors.  The containers should not be visible through the gates. 

iv. The gated opening for a standard 18-foot-wide enclosure shall be a minimum of 12 

feet wide, depending on enclosure layout and dimensions, with required opening 

width at the discretion of the City. Gate posts shall be placed outside this span. 

Center walls are not allowed, except for very wide enclosures where double sets of 

gates alone are insufficient.  Bolts shall be used to secure the gate to the poles or 

walls. 

v. The gate doors must be constructed with a mechanism that will provide a means of 

securing the gate doors in both an opened and closed position. 

vi. All gates must be lockable using a standard padlock. 
 

 
 

H.  Roof 

i. Roofs are required for all enclosures. 
 

ii. The roof shall extend past any open side of the enclosure, except the front gates to 

allow access to the bins by garbage trucks. 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



20  

iii. The lowest part of the ceiling/light fixtures/rollup doors cannot be lower than 10.5 

feet high to allow for complete opening of a 4-cubic yard container lid. 

iv. All metal roofs, including galvanized roofs, must be coated with rust-inhibitive 

paint. 

v. Roofs shall be sloped to drain to available landscaping. Landscaping shall be 

designed with adequate energy dissipation (e.g. splash blocks, cobbles, etc.) to 

prevent erosion from roof runoff. If landscaping is not available, the roof may be 

sloped to drain away, avoiding run-on into the enclosure. 
 

 
 

I. Materials 
 

i. The design of the enclosure shall incorporate the 

same materials and architectural interest used in 

the design of the primary building for a 

coordinated look and feel to the development. 

ii. Enclosures constructed from chain link fencing 

with wooden/plastic slats enclosures or wooden 

enclosures are prohibited. 

iii. A graffiti resistant coating is required on the 

exterior walls of the enclosure. 

iv. Roofs shall be painted with rust-inhibitive paint. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 11: Enclosure Designed with 

Unacceptable Material 

 

 
 

J. Fire Code 

i. Waste receptacles exceeding 1.5 cubic yard capacity shall not be stored in 

buildings or placed within 5 feet of combustible walls, openings, or combustible 

roof eave lines. 

ii. A trash enclosure is considered a building structure, and must follow these 
 

Automatic Fire Extinguishing System (AFES) requirements: 
 

a.   All enclosures are required to be made of CMU, Type I or Type II fire 

resistive construction. 

b.   Enclosure less than 500 square feet: 
 

1.   Do not require an AFES. 
 

2.   Shall be located at least 10 feet from other buildings or building 

openings. 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



21  

a.   Enclosure between 500 and 1,500 square feet shall: 
 

1.   Have a fire alarm system. 

2.   Be located at least 5 feet away from the property line and 10 feet 

from any building. 
 

K.  Landscaping 
 

i. When the enclosure is visible from roadways or other public spaces, an 

irrigated 5-foot wide landscape strip running the length of the three non-gated 

enclosure walls shall be provided to allow for vines or large shrubs to shield 

the walls and discourage graffiti. 

L.  Lighting 
 

i. The area around and inside the enclosure must be lit with a minimum of 1.0 

foot candle. 

ii. A motion sensor is required. 
 

 
 

Optional Design Considerations 
 

A.  Signage 
 

i. All new enclosures should be equipped with effective signage guiding users how to 

properly sort discards between the trash, cardboard only, recycling, and organics 

container. 

ii. Signage should be placed in locations easily viewable by patrons. 
 

iii. Signage can be obtained through AVI for free. 
 

Figure 12: Sample Enclosure Signage 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure Plans Submitted to the City Must Show the Following: 
 

A.  Site Plan 

i. Proposed enclosure location and orientation relative to access and egress streets, 

driveways and drive aisles. 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



22  

ii.  Proposed truck entry and exit points and proposed routes for servicing garbage and 

recycling to and from public streets and within the site. Site plan must show all public 

streets immediately surrounding the project site. 
 

a.   Widths of streets, entrances, drive aisles and driveways for service truck 

access. 
 

b.   Dimensions and slope(s) of reinforced concrete staging area outside 

enclosure gate. 
 

B.  Enclosure Drawings 

i. Description of materials used for enclosure construction. 

ii.  Provide detailed drawings of enclosure interior layout showing: 
 

i. Sanitary sewer drain location. 

ii.  Slope(s) of enclosure pad. 

iii. Interior layout and dimensions of enclosure including all curb stops, wall 

bumpers and bollards. 
 

iv. Interior enclosure pad dimensions, including length of each interior wall. 

v.   Location and width of pedestrian door entrance. 

vi. Location of all plumbing and electrical fixtures. 
 

A. Size and layout of all trash, recycling, organics and grease containers showing 

distances between containers and distances between the containers and walls/openings 

(e.g. pedestrian entrance, gateways, etc.). 
 

B.  Location of the enclosure gate and its operational dimensions when fully closed and 

fully opened. NOTE: If a roll up door is to be used instead of a gate, the distance 

between the enclosure floor and the lowest point of the door and tracks when in the 

fully rolled up position must be shown. 
 

C.  Estimated waste generation 
 

Provide anticipated weekly collection service needs in cubic yards for garbage, recycling, 

and organics. There are 200 gallons in one cubic yard. 
 

i. Yards of weekly garbage.  This includes items such as plastic film, broken furniture, 

broken dishes, polystyrene, diapers, pet waste, and clothing, along with other items 

that are not acceptable for recycling or organics collection. 

 
ii.  Yards of weekly recycling.  This includes items such as cardboard, paper, metal 

cans and foil, plastic and glass containers. 

 
iii. Yards of weekly organics.  This includes items such as food scraps, food soiled 

paper, and plant debris. 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



23  

9.   Ongoing Enclosure Operations 
 

 

A.  Garbage, recycling and organics services are provided exclusively by Amador Valley 
 

Industries. 
 

B.  CA Green Building Code Section 5.410.1 – Building Maintenance and Operation: 

Recycling by occupants: Provide readily accessible areas that serve the entire building 

and are identified for the depositing, storage, and collection of nonhazardous materials 

for recycling, including (at a minimum) paper, corrugated cardboard, glass, plastics and 

metals, or meet a lawfully enacted local recycling ordinance, if more restrictive. 

C.  Maintenance and cleaning of the trash enclosure is the day-to-day responsibility of the 

occupant or owner of the premises. 

D.  Trash enclosures are required to be maintained in good working condition and in the 

condition that they were approved. Gates must open and close properly. The enclosure 

floor must remain free of debris and any other substances (e.g. spilled food, used 

cooking oil or other liquids) that can attract rodents or other scavengers, create slipping 

hazards for those using or servicing the receptacles, and possibly become a source of 

illegal storm water pollution. When a spill or other mess occurs that interferes with use 

or servicing of the containers, the occupant or owner of the premises must clean up the 

mess in a timely manner (e.g. within 48hrs), including power washing the enclosure 

floor when necessary.  All wash water must be contained such that it does not enter the 

storm drain system. 

E.  The enclosure is only for storage of solid waste, recycling, cardboard, organics and used 

oil/grease receptacles. Storage of hazardous waste any other items inside the enclosure, 

either temporarily or permanently, is prohibited. 

F.  All receptacles are required to remain or be returned to and stored inside the trash 

enclosure. The storage of anything outside the trash enclosure is prohibited. 

G.  All solid waste and used cooking oil must always be contained within the appropriate 

water-tight, covered external container including secondary containment.  A supply of 

spill response materials designed to absorb oil and grease shall be kept near the 

container. 

H.  Overfilling trash, recycling and/or organics containers is prohibited. Solid waste may 

not protrude above the top rim of the container and must allow for the lid(s) to close 

fully. Establishments that consistently have issues with overflowing containers will be 

required to increase their service level(s) to meet their needs and local storm water 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



24  

pollution regulations. 
 

I. Landscaping and plant debris should be separated for composting, not thrown in the 

garbage (this is mandatory for sites that generate 4 cubic yards or more of trash per 

week). If no food waste/organics bin or cart is available on site, the landscaper must 

take the plant debris to a facility for composting. 

J. Washing out the trash enclosure to a storm drain system is prohibited. Wash water must 

be collected and discharged to the sanitary sewer only. 

K.  Compactors containing putrescible municipal solid waste must be serviced at least once 

per week. If compactors are found leaking, alternative service may be required to 

prevent ongoing storm water violations. 

L.  Use of equipment to compact or bale cardboard, office paper, plastic shrink wrap and 

other recyclable materials is encouraged. Sharing balers for recycling material among 

tenants within an office, commercial or retail center is also encouraged. 

M. Weight of a roll-off container cannot exceed 10 tons when full (legal street limit). 
 

Customers may incur overweight charges when the container exceeds 5 tons. 
 

N.  If gates with locks limit access to the enclosure or to the property gate codes must be 

provided to AVI. If a customer uses their own lock on an enclosure or gate it must be 

unlocked by 3 am for commercial customers and 6 am for residential customers. 

Alternatively, customers can request a lock from AVI for a monthly fee. All gates shall 

be maintained in good working order and should remain closed except when in use. 

O.  Push / Pull Services: AVI will only push out a commercial front -load bin under the 

following circumstances: 

i. max distance 100- feet, one way 

ii.  slope 0-3% 

iii. smooth path of travel required 

iv. additional fees apply 

4.5.b

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
W

as
te

 H
an

d
lin

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

fo
r 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

n
d

 M
u

lt
i-

F
am

ily
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
  (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



1 
 

WASTE ENCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS CHECKLIST 

This handout summarizes requirements for a waste enclosure submittal as part of overall plan 
review.  For design specifications, refer to Dublin’s Waste Handling Standards available electronically at 
http://dublin.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/17026/Waste-Handling-Standards?bidId and Dublin’s 
Municipal Code 7.98. 

Project Name: Project Address: 

Applicant E-mail:      Phone Number: 

 

Estimated waste generation: All projects must submit anticipated weekly discard generation levels in cubic 
yards for garbage, recycling, and organics. There are 200 gallons in one cubic yard.  

 _____ cubic yards of weekly garbage.  This includes items such as flimsy plastic, broken furniture, 
broken dishes, polystyrene, diapers, pet waste, and clothing, along with other items that are not 
acceptable for recycling or organics collection. 

 

 _____ cubic yards of weekly recycling.  This includes items such as cardboard, paper, metal cans 
and foil, plastic and glass containers. 

 

 _____ cubic yards of weekly organics.  This includes items such as food scraps, food soiled paper, 
and plant debris.  

Applicable Projects: Per Dublin Municipal Code 7.98, new or upgraded enclosures are required for the 
three project types listed below. The City reserves the right to require the same for any project not listed 
below that has the potential to discharge pollution to the storm sewer system.  For a tenant improvement, 
the property owner or applicant shall be responsible for making improvements only to the solid waste and 
recycling enclosure used by the tenant: 

 New commercial development project. 

 New multifamily development project with five (5) units or more that will utilize shared waste and 
recycling enclosures. 

 Commercial development projects that trigger a planning entitlement (such as a site development 
review or conditional use permit) and consist of uses including but not limited to grocery stores, 
restaurants, markets, auto repair/use and daycare facilities that generate food waste, grease, or 
packaging material in addition to other uses that have the potential to pollute stormwater. 

 None of the three scenarios above describe my project. I am exempt from this requirement. 

4.5.c

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
W

as
te

 E
n

cl
o

su
re

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

ts
 C

h
ec

kl
is

t 
 (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)

http://dublin.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/17026/Waste-Handling-Standards?bidId


2 
 

Submittal Requirements: All applicants required to construct a new or upgraded enclosure shall 

submit a site plan and scaled drawing (1:20) of the proposed enclosure(s) and include the information 

outlined in items 1-3. The site plan and scaled drawing shall also be emailed to es@dublin.ca.gov. 

1. Site Plan 

 Proposed enclosure location and orientation relative to access and egress streets, driveways and 
drive aisles.  

 Proposed truck entry and exit points and proposed routes for servicing garbage and recycling to and 
from public streets and within the site. Site plan must show all public streets immediately 
surrounding the project site.  

 Widths of streets, entrances, drive aisles and driveways for service truck access. 

 Dimensions and slope(s) of reinforced concrete staging area outside enclosure gate.  

2. Enclosure Drawings  

 Description of materials used for enclosure construction per City of Dublin’s Waste Handling 
Standards.  
 

Provide detailed drawings of enclosure interior layout showing: 

 Sanitary sewer drain location, as applicable per City of Dublin’s Waste Handling Standards. 

 Slope(s) of enclosure pad.  

 Interior layout and dimensions of enclosure including all curb stops, wall bumpers and bollards.  

 Interior enclosure pad dimensions, including length of each interior wall. 

 Location and width of pedestrian door entrance. 

 Location of all plumbing and electrical fixtures.  

 Size and layout of all trash, recycling, organics and grease containers showing distances between 
containers and distances between the containers and walls/openings (e.g. pedestrian entrance, 
gateways, etc.).  

 Location of the enclosure gate and its operational dimensions when fully closed and fully opened. 
NOTE: If a roll up door is to be used instead of a gate, the distance between the enclosure floor and 
the lowest point of the door and tracks when in the fully rolled up position must be shown. 

By signing below, I hereby certify that I have reviewed the waste enclosure submittal requirements and will 
follow all guidelines if applicable to my project.    
 
 
 
__________________________________                  _______________________________ 
Signature                                                                     Date 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Print Name  

4.5.c

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
W

as
te

 E
n

cl
o

su
re

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

ts
 C

h
ec

kl
is

t 
 (

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 U

p
d

at
e)



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. __ - 18 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF DUBLIN 

********* 

REPLACING SECTION 7.98 OF THE DUBLIN MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING TO THE SOLID 

WASTE AND RECYCLING ENCLOSURE STANDARDS 
 

The City Council of the City of Dublin does hereby ordain as follows: 

 

Section 1: Compliance with California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA"): This Ordinance is 
exempt from CEQA per CEQA Guidelines Section 15061( b)( 3). Section 15061( b)( 3) states 
that CEQA applies only to those projects that have the potential to cause a significant effect on 
the environment. The adoption of this Ordinance is exempt from CEQA because the Ordinance 
does not, in itself, allow the construction of any building or structure, but it sets forth the 
regulations that shall be followed if and when a building or structure is proposed to be 
constructed or a site is proposed to be developed. This Ordinance of itself, therefore, has no 
potential for resulting in significant physical change in the environment, directly or ultimately. 
 

Section 2: Section 7.98 of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby deleted in its entirety and 

replaced with the following: 

Chapter 7.98 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING ENCLOSURE STANDARDS 

7.98.010 Applicability. 

A. The requirements of this chapter shall apply to all buildings or 

development permits for: 

1. New commercial development projects. 

2. New multifamily development projects with five (5) units or more that will 

utilize shared waste and recycling enclosures. 

3. Commercial development projects that trigger a planning entitlement 

(such as a site development review or conditional use permit) and consist 

of uses including but not limited to grocery stores, restaurants, markets, 

auto repair/use and daycares that generate food waste, grease and/or 

vehicle fluids, and packaging material in addition to uses that have the 

potential to pollute stormwater as determined by the Director of Public 

Works. 

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

 

4. Any other project, including but not limited to tenant improvements, where 

the Public Works Department concludes that the use has the potential to 

discharge pollution into the city’s storm sewer system. When this chapter 

applies to a tenant improvement, the property owner or applicant shall be 

responsible for making improvements only to the waste enclosure used by 

the tenant. 

 

 

7.98.020 Definitions. 

The terms used in this chapter have the meanings set forth below: 

“Collection” means the removal and transportation of solid waste, recycling and organics 

by the collector from the place of delivery to a disposal facility approved under the 

collector’s agreement with the city or by a nonexclusive franchise agreement. 

“Collector” means that person or business having an exclusive franchise agreement with 

the city granting to him/her or it the exclusive privilege of collecting or causing to be 

collected or transported for a fee any solid waste within the city or any portion thereof. 

“Commercial development” means construction of buildings consisting of retail, 

professional, wholesale, or industrial facilities. 

“Compactor” means any roll-off container or bin which has a compaction mechanism, 

whether stationary or mobile. 

“Discharge” means (A) any addition of any pollutant that has potential to enter navigable 

waters from any point source or (B) any addition of any pollutant to the waters of the 

contiguous zone or the ocean from any point source other than a vessel or other floating 

craft. 

“Food service establishments” include restaurants, markets, bakeries, grocery stores and 

all other establishments that prepare and/or serve fresh food on the premises. 

“National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)” means a national program 

under Section 402 of the Clean Water Act for regulation of discharges of pollutants from 

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

 

point sources to waters of the United States. Discharges are illegal unless authorized by 

a NPDES permit. 

“Organics” means all types of plant debris including grass and weed clippings, shrub and 

tree pruning, branches (less than four (4) feet in length and four (4) inches in diameter), 

leaves, plants, flowers, food scraps and food-soiled paper products. 

“Owner” means the owner or owners of real property having fee title to the property as 

identified in the most recent equalized assessment roll of the Alameda County Assessor. 

“Park” means and includes all grounds, trails, buildings, improvements and areas 

dedicated for use by property residents and their guests for park, recreation or open 

space purposes, and any part, portion or area thereof, whether developed or 

undeveloped or over which the property owner has acquired right of use for such 

purposes. 

“Pollutant” means dredged soil, solid waste, incinerator residue, sewage, sewage sludge, 

munitions, chemical wastes, biological materials, radioactive materials, heat, wrecked or 

discarded equipment, rock, sand, dirt and industrial, municipal and agricultural waste 

discharge into water. 

“Public Works Director” means the City of Dublin Public Works Director or his or her 

designee. 

“Recycling” consists of any clean, dry paper, plastic and glass (bottles, jars and jugs 

only), and metal cans (tin and aluminum) placed in a single container. Cardboard is 

accepted in recycling bins and carts; however, cardboard only dumpsters are also 

available.  Cardboard only dumpsters can be a logistically preferable option to maximize 

space within containers as a cardboard box can often fill an entire recycling cart.  

“Roll-off container” means a metal container that is normally loaded onto a motor vehicle 

and transported to an appropriate facility. 

“Solid waste” means all putrescible and non-putrescible solid waste (garbage), including 

paper, ashes, industrial or commercial wastes, demolition and construction wastes, 

discarded home and industrial appliances, animal solid and semi-solid wastes other than 

fecal matter, vegetable wastes, and other discarded solid and semi-solid wastes, but 

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

 

does not include hazardous waste, as herein defined, sewage, or abandoned 

automobiles. 

“Stormwater” means rainwater runoff, snow melt runoff, surface runoff and drainage. 

“Tenant” means any person or persons other than the owner occupying or in possession 

of the residence or commercial space. 

“Waste Enclosure” means a structure intended to serve collection and storage needs for 

solid waste, recycling, and organics waste.   

“Waste Handling Standards for Commercial Properties and Multi-Family Properties with 

Shared Service” means the document maintained by the Public Works Director 

describing waste enclosure design, construction and operational standards. 

 

7.98.030 General construction and design standards. 

The location, design and construction of enclosures for the set out and collection of 

garbage, recycling, organics or other discarded materials shall conform to all applicable 

regulations set out in this Ordinance and to all other provisions of the Dublin Municipal 

Code. A development may be required to have multiple waste enclosures to meet the 

required amount of capacity. The Public Works Director shall review the design of all 

enclosures. All enclosures are subject to a site development review permit. 

 

All commercial uses within the city shall at a minimum provide adequate space for 

separate garbage bins, recycling bins, and organics bins. If a food establishment will 

generate grease, fat or tallow, adequate space for those containers is also required if the 

grease, fat or tallow containers are not designed and established inside the commercial 

building. The types and size of bins shall be based on the volume of tonnage generated 

by the planned commercial activity, as estimated by the Public Works Director and 

applicant as reported in the required Waste Enclosure Requirements Checklist, and with 

the aim of reducing, as much as possible, the number of service trips per week by the 

collector. 

 

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

 

Enclosure Element Requirements 

Location Shall not be located along frontage roadways, in front 

of fire hydrants, behind parking spaces, or within 5’ of 

combustible building wall, opening, or combustible roof 

eave line 

User Access • Multifamily properties shall observe California 

Building Code and CCR Title 24 part 2 requirements 

regarding accessibility for persons with disabilities 

• Shall provide pedestrian entrance with outward 

opening door 

• An accessible path of travel shall be provided from 

the main building to the pedestrian entrance door 

Service Provider Access • Enclosure shall be directly accessible to service 

provider during normal collection days and hours 

• Provide a turnaround or separate exit that allows 

the truck to move forward rather than backwards 

• Minimum turnaround radius must be 45’ 

Standard Enclosure Floor Minimum 18’x10’ plus 6” protective buffers 

Dumpster Spacing • Minimum 1’ between the wall and container 

• Minimum 1’6” between two containers 

• Minimum 3’ wide pathway along the front side of the 

enclosure  

Protective Buffer on Interior 

Enclosure Walls 

Minimum 6” concrete curbs, bollards, or wall bumpers.  

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

 

Enclosure Wall Height Minimum 6’ 

Opening Between Wall and 

Ceiling or Screen 

Maximum 2’ 

Ceiling Height Minimum 10’6” 

Height Clearance for 

Enclosure Approach 

Minimum 18’ 

Height Clearance at Service 

Location 

Minimum 32’ 

Driveway Access Minimum 50’ direct access 

Driveway Weight Handling 

Requirements 

62,000 lbs 

Apron Elevation • Apron surface shall be the same elevation as the 

enclosure pad threshold and the surrounding surfaces   

• Minimum slope of 1% grade per foot away from the 

enclosure pad and maximum of 2% 

Apron Length 10’  

Apron Weight Handling 

Requirements 

20,000 lbs. of direct force 

Pad Interior Elevation • Pad surface elevation shall equal that of the apron 

threshold 

• A slope of 1-1.5% toward the center of the 

enclosure. 

• Sanitary sewer drain shall be flush with the 

enclosure pad (when applicable) 

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

 

Enclosure Pad Weight 

Handling Requirements 

20,000 lbs. of direct force 

Enclosure Gates  • Double gates with a maximum length of 12’ each  

• Single set of gates required for openings of 24’ and 

under 

• Free hanging gates with no center poll 

• Shall have a mechanism to secure doors in both an 

open and closed position 

• Shall be lockable using a standard padlock 

Enclosure Opening Minimum of 12’ 

Roof • Roofs with a minimum height of 10’6” are required 

• Shall extend past any open side of enclosure except 

the front gates and be angled to drain into landscaping 

Material • Design of enclosure shall incorporate the same 

materials and style as the primary building 

• Graffiti resistant coating shall be used on exterior 

walls 

• Roofs shall be painted with rust-inhibitive paint 

Lighting Minimum 1’ candle with motion sensor in area around 

and inside the enclosure 

Landscaping 5’ landscape strip on the 3 non-gated walls if visible 

from roadways or other public spaces 

Service Level Minimum for 

Multifamily Properties with 

Minimum of 50 gallons of service shall be provided for 

every 3 residents. Of that provide space for 40% as 

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

 

Shared Service trash, 40% as recycling, and 20% as organics 

(excluding any plant debris from facility maintenance).  

Provide adequate enclosure space to store estimated 

solid waste generation.  Estimated occupancy shall be 

based on the number of bedrooms with an assumed 2 

people per bedroom 

Chutes for Multifamily 

Properties 

• If chutes are used, a garbage and recycling chute 

must be provided with space in the chute room to 

collect and store organic waste 

• Minimum of 6’ between chute opening and trash 

room floor 

• Minimum of 6’5” between the center of the trash 

chute and the center of the recycling chute 

 

7.98.040 Food Service Establishments Requirements  

Waste enclosures for Food Service Establishments shall include a hose bib and a drain 

connected to the sanitary sewer.  The applicant shall contact the Dublin San Ramon 

Services District and the Alameda County Environmental Health Department for 

specifications and requirements. 

 

7.98.050 Existing Development 

If an existing development does not have an existing trash enclosure, the development 

may, at the discretion of the Public Works Director, be required to install a trash 

enclosure that meets the requirements of this Chapter.  

 

7.98.060 Multifamily Requirements 

A. Multifamily complex enclosures in the City of Dublin are required to contain space 

for separate collection of garbage, recycling and organics.  

B. Waste enclosures for collection of garbage, recycling and organics at multifamily 

apartment and condominium housing shall observe the requirements of the California 

Building Code and the requirements of CCR Title 24, regarding accessibility to solid 

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

 

waste and recycling collection containers for persons with disabilities (CCR Title 24, 

Part 2). 

 

7.98.070 Compactors. 

A. Compactors are generally not permitted unless preapproved by the Public Works 

Director. Inclusion of a compactor shall not supplant the requirements as per the Section 

7.98.030 of this Chapter that a site provide adequate enclosure space for recycling and 

organics collection.  

B. Compactors may require additional space and electrical connections, as well as 

separate building permits. 

C. Compactors are required to be covered and shall include plumbing directed to the 

sanitary sewer system to capture possible leaks and spills.  The applicant shall contact 

the Dublin San Ramon Services District for connection and discharge requirements.  

D. Adequate room for servicing and backing up and turning shall be provided on site 

and shall not require use of the public right-of-way. 

 

7.98.080 Roll-off boxes 

A. Roll-off boxes are permitted only for temporary use, unless approved by the Public 

Works Director. 

B. Placement of roll-off boxes shall be subject to approval by the Public Works 

Director. 

 

7.98.090 Permits 

All necessary permits shall be obtained prior to the construction of any enclosures within 

the city of Dublin. 

  

7.98.100 Exceptions 

The Public Works Director or his or her designee shall have the authority to grant 

exceptions to the requirements of this chapter. The Public Works Director shall review 

the requests for exceptions on a case-by-case basis. The determination of the Public 

Works Director may be appealed to the City Manager as set forth in Section 1.04.050 of 

the Dublin Municipal Code. 

 

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

 

7.98.110 Stormwater Pollution Prevention 

A. All properties shall comply with the federal Clean Water Act and provisions of 

Chapter 7.74 

B. Waste enclosures within the city that are subject to the standards in this chapter 

shall have a roof to comply with the city of Dublin’s National Pollution Discharge 

Elimination System (NPDES) Stormwater Permit. 

C. Ongoing Waste Enclosure Use and Maintenance. At a minimum, the following 

best management practices shall be adhered to:  

1. The enclosure shall only be used for storage of garbage, recycling, 

cardboard, organics and used cooking oil/grease containers. Storage of 

hazardous waste or any other items inside the enclosure is strictly 

prohibited. 

2. Storage of garbage, recycling, cardboard only, or organics containers 

outside of the enclosure is strictly prohibited. All containers shall be stored 

inside of the enclosure.  Exceptions to this requirement may be approved 

by the Director of Public Works due to lack of enclosure or lack of 

enclosure space. 

3. All solid waste and used cooking oil/grease shall always be contained 

within appropriate water-tight, covered containers including secondary 

containment. A supply of spill response materials designed to absorb 

leaking fluids and/or cooking oil/grease spills shall be kept near the 

enclosure. 

4. Overfilling garbage, recycling and/or organics containers is prohibited. Solid 

waste shall not protrude above the top rim of the container and shall allow 

for the lid(s) to close fully. Establishments that have more than three 

instances of overflowing containers within 6 months will be required to 

increase their service level(s). 

5. Solid Waste enclosures shall be maintained in good working condition and 

in the condition that they were approved.  Maintenance and cleaning of the 

solid waste enclosure is the day-to-day responsibility of the occupant or 

owner of the premises.  

6. Washing out the solid waste enclosure to the storm drain system is 

prohibited. Wash water shall be collected and discharged to the sanitary 

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

 

sewer only and is subject to Dublin San Ramon Services District discharge 

requirements.  

 

7.98.120 Public Litter Containers for Commercial and Multi-Family Properties 

A. It shall be the responsibility of the property owner to install, maintain, and empty 

the public litter containers for all new developments.  

1. Location of Public Litter Containers: 

a. Install public litter containers within 10 feet of any food-generating or 

-selling store planned for the property. 

b. Include containers along internal, on-site walkways at intervals of 

300- 350 feet. 

c. Locate containers at entrance and exit of property.  

2. Properties That Involve Outdoor Eating Area 

a. Include 3-compartment discard waste cans that are central and 

visible to the eating area 

b. Label the 3-compartment discard waste cans with clear signage 

describing organics, recycling and garbage. 

3. Design of Public Litter Containers: 

a. When selecting public litter containers, they should be considered as 

a design element, and the design should reflect aesthetic as well as 

functional concerns. 

b. Public litter containers should be selected from the same or a similar 

design family as other site furnishings (such as benches, bollards, 

bike racks, etc.) and should be finished or painted to complement 

other site furnishings. 

c. Public litter container construction should use durable, high quality 

materials, such as galvanized or stainless steel. 

d. Materials should be painted to reflect colors similar to nearby 

elements. Material and paint selection should be graffiti resistant. 

e. Public litter containers should include recycling containers and 

should be able to open from the side to allow easy access for 

removal of waste. 

4. Maintenance of Public Litter Containers 

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

 

a. It is the responsibility of the property manager or owner to empty the 

contents of the public litter containers at least once a week or more 

frequently as use dictates to prevent overflow of any litter containers 

b. Public Litter Containers should be kept clean and free of graffiti. 

5. The Public Works Director, at his or her discretion, may also require 

installation of public litter containers that comply with this Section  7.98.120, 

for any multi-family or commercial property having repeated litter issues. 

Such issues may include but are limited to overflowing garbage 

and/organics containers, litter on the ground in common areas, or other 

litter-related incidences causing a disturbance to the health, comfort or 

welfare of the community. 

 

7.98.130 Pet Waste Containers 

A. It shall be the responsibility of the property owner to install, maintain, and empty 

pet waste bag and disposal stations within newly constructed or renovated parks 

that are privately owned or managed. Owners shall ensure that the frequency and 

location of the stations adequately address the unique needs of the property.  

B. The Public Works Director, at his or her discretion, may also require installation of 

pet waste bag and disposal stations on any property having repeated pet waste 

issues. Such issues may include but are limited to overflowing pet waste 

containers, pet waste on the ground in high foot traffic areas, or other pet waste-

related incidences causing a disturbance to the health, comfort or welfare of the 

community. 

 

Section 3. Severability.  The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and if any provision, 

clause, sentence, word or part thereof is held illegal, invalid, unconstitutional, or inapplicable to 

any person or circumstances, such illegality, invalidity, unconstitutionality, or inapplicability shall 

not affect or impair any of the remaining provisions, clauses, sentences, sections, words or 

parts thereof of the ordinance or their applicability to other persons or circumstances. 

 

Section 4.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be enforced thirty (30) days 

following its adoption. 

 

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

 

Section 5. Posting.  The City Clerk of the City of Dublin shall cause this Ordinance to be 

posted in at least three (3) public places in the City of Dublin in accordance with Section 36933 

of the Government Code of the State of California.  

 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of December, 2018. 

 

 AYES:   

 

 NOES:   

 

 ABSENT:  

 

 ABSTAIN:  

 

                       

      _____________________________ 

                         Mayor 

ATTEST: 

  

___________________________________ 

                           City Clerk 

 

3057529.1  

4.5.d

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
98

 o
f 

th
e 

D
u

b
lin

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 C
o

d
e 

R
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e 

S
o

lid
 W

as
te

 a
n

d
 R

ec
yc

lin
g



 

Page 1 of 2 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Payment Issuance Report and Electronic Funds Transfers 
Prepared by:  Veronica Briggs, Senior Finance Technician 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City Council will receive a listing of payments issued from November 1, 2018 - 

November 30, 2018 totaling $10,564,820.15. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Receive the report. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

 

SUMMARY OF PAYMENTS ISSUED 
November 1, 2018 through November 30, 2018 

 
  Total Number of Payments:  282 
  Total Amount of Payments:  $10,564,820.15 

 

DESCRIPTION: 

 

The Payment Issuance Report (Attachment 1) provides a listing of all payments for the 
period beginning November 1, 2018 through November 30, 2018.  This report is 
provided in accordance with the policy adopted November 15, 2011 in Resolution 
No.189-11.  The listing of payments has been reviewed in accordance with the policies 
for processing payments and expenditures. 
 
The City’s practice of reporting payments to the City Council after the payments have 

been made is in compliance with California Government Code Sections 37208 (b) and 

(c), which allow for an agency to make payments without first being audited by the 

legislative body, as long as such payments are: 1) conforming to a budget approved by 

ordinance or resolution of the legislative body; and 2) presented to the legislative body 

for ratification and approval in the form of an audited comprehensive annual financial 

report. 

 

4.6

Packet Pg. 110



 

Page 2 of 2 

STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE: 

 

None. 

 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

 

None. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Payment Issuance Report for November 2018 

 

4.6

Packet Pg. 111



 
 Print Date:  12/03/2018  City of Dublin 
 Page 1 of 10                 Payment Issuance Report 
                  Payments Dated 11/1/2018 through 11/30/2018 
 
 Date Issued Payee Amount Description 
 

 

 11/02/2018 CAL PERS  73,311.64 PERS RETIREMENT PLAN: PE 10/26/18 
 11/02/2018 EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT DEPT  16,426.85 CA STATE WITHHOLDING: PE 10/26/18 

 11/02/2018 I C M A 401 PLAN  945.00 DEFERRED COMP 401A: PE 10/26/18 

 11/02/2018 I C M A 457 PLAN  24,711.78 DEFERRED COMP 457: PE 10/26/18 

 11/02/2018 INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE  50,903.33 FEDERAL WITHHOLDING: PE 10/26/18 

 11/02/2018 US BANK - PARS  3,305.02 PARS: PE 10/26/18 

 11/02/2018 WAGEWORKS, INC.  3,685.63 WAGEWORKS 2018: PE 10/26/18 
 
 Payments Issued 11/2/2018 Total:  173,289.25 

 
 11/05/2018 4 PAWS GOOSE CONTROL, INC  1,000.00 GEESE CONTROL SERVICES - SEPT 2018 
 11/05/2018 AA SAFE & SECURITY CO.  299.00 WAVE CONCESSION BLDG RE-KEY MASTER SYSTEM 

 11/05/2018 ALAMEDA COUNTY FIRE DEPARTMENT  1,121,937.92 FIRE SERVICES OCT 2018 

 11/05/2018 ALEX, ROSEMARY  1,730.41 REIMB SOCIETY OF LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS CONF EXP 

 11/05/2018 ALL CITY MANAGEMENT SVCS INC  11,306.40 CROSSING GUARD SERVICES 9/23/18 - 10/6/18 

 11/05/2018 ALMETEK INDUSTRIES INC  2,945.00 STORM DRAIN MEDALLIONS 

 11/05/2018 ALPHA MEDIA LLC  3,260.00 RADIO ADS FOR THE WAVE 

 11/05/2018 AMADOR VALLEY INDUSTRIES LLC  530.63 COMMERCIAL RECYCLING PROGRAM REIMB OCT 2018 

 11/05/2018 AMY'S ENGRAVED SIGNS & AWARDS  43.70 CHAMBER NAMEPLATE-WASHINGTON 
   
  27.31 EMPLOYEE NAMEPLATE - LORE 
   
  133.83 MAINTENANCE NAMEPLATES 
 Check Total:  204.84 

 11/05/2018 ARORA, AKSHAY  38,063.60 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/05/2018 BAY AREA NEWS GROUP  273.52 PLANNING LEGAL NOTICES - SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 BEST LOCKERS, LLC  13,560.11 THE WAVE LOCKER SOFTWARE LICENSING & MAINT 

 11/05/2018 BLAISDELL'S BUSINESS PRODUCTS  3,236.60 OFFICE SUPPLIES 

 11/05/2018 CHANDLER ASSET MANAGEMENT  10,079.92 INVESTMENT CONSULTING SERVICES-SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 COIT SERVICES, INC.  646.00 CARPET CLEANING SERVICES- SHANNON CENTER 

 11/05/2018 CPS HR CONSULTING  122.40 EMPLOYMENT RECRUITMENT TESTING MATERIALS 

 11/05/2018 DEAM, VALERIE  2,712.60 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/05/2018 DOUGHERTY VALLEY KEY CLUB  443.10 SPLATTER CARNIVAL GAME TICKET REVENUE SHARE 

 11/05/2018 DUBLIN CAR TEK  367.62 SENIOR CENTER VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 
   
  1,578.38 SENIOR CENTER VEHICLE TIRE REPLACEMENT 
 Check Total:  1,946.00 

 11/05/2018 DUBLIN CHAMBER OF COMMERCE  360.00 BUSINESS RECOGNITION AWARD LUNCH-8 ATTENDEES 

 11/05/2018 DUTCHOVER & ASSOCIATES  892.50 ENGINEERING SERVICES SEPT 2018 
   
  5,898.75 PLAN CHECK & INSPECTION SERVICES - SEPT 2018 
 Check Total:  6,791.25 

 11/05/2018 EVERPRO KIDS  918.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/05/2018 FRANCHISE TAX BOARD  150.00 WAGE ASSIGNMENT: PE 10/26/18 

 11/05/2018 FRANCO, OLIVIA  500.00 SENIOR CENTER RENTAL DEPOSIT REFUND 

 11/05/2018 GEOSYNTEC CONSULTANTS, INC.  12,972.08 GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE/STORMWATER- SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 GHD, INC.  684.00 ENGINEERING SERVICES AUG 2018 
   
  1,286.00 ENGINEERING SERVICES SEPT 2018 
 Check Total:  1,970.00 

 11/05/2018 HAYES BACKFLOW TESTING&REPAIR  150.00 BACKFLOW TEST - DUBLIN BLVD WIDENING PROJECT 

 11/05/2018 IARLA, SUZANNE  27.80 EAST BAY EDA MEETING EXPENSE REIMB-IARLA 

 11/05/2018 ICMA  200.00 ICMA MEMBERSHIP DUES FY18-19 WETHERFORD 

 11/05/2018 I-GATE  25,000.00 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL BOARD PARTNERSHIP FEE 

 11/05/2018 IMPACT INFRASTRUCTURE, INC.  4,370.00 GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE LIFE CYCLE ASSESSMENT 

4.6.a

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8 
 (

P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8)



 
 Print Date:  12/03/2018  City of Dublin 
 Page 2 of 10                 Payment Issuance Report 
                  Payments Dated 11/1/2018 through 11/30/2018 
 
 Date Issued Payee Amount Description 
 

 

 11/05/2018 IRON MOUNTAIN  195.70 ACAP RECORDS STORAGE OCT 2018 

 11/05/2018 KEYSER MARSTON ASSOCIATES, INC  2,714.80 FISCAL ANALYSIS FOR AT DUBLIN PROJECT 

 11/05/2018 KIER & WRIGHT CIVIL ENGINEERS  6,631.00 ENGINEERING SERVICES - AUG 2018 
   
  4,418.00 ENGINEERING SERVICES - JUL 2018 
 Check Total:  11,049.00 

 11/05/2018 KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOC. INC.  8,512.50 AT DUBLIN PARKING ANALYSIS EVAL - SEPT 2018 
   
  1,105.00 ENGINEERING SERVICES SEPT 2018 
   
  7,324.07 PLANNING SERVICES FOR AT DUBLIN EIR – SEPT 2018 
 Check Total:  16,941.57 

 11/05/2018 KLUBER ASSOCIATES, INC  2,501.25 LANDSCAPE PLAN CHECK & INSPECTION SERVICES 

 11/05/2018 KOMPAN, INC.  1,494.54 SEAN DIAMOND PARK PLAYGROUND SIGNAGE 

 11/05/2018 LEHR AUTO  529.21 POLICE VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 

 11/05/2018 LIVERMORE HARLEY DAVIDSON  22,913.81 REPLACEMENT POLICE MOTORCYCLE 

 11/05/2018 LOEWKE PLANNING ASSOCIATES  9,705.00 PLAN CHECK & INSPECTION SERVICES - SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 MANAGEMENT PARTNERS INC.  2,500.00 CITY MANAGER EVALUATION 
   
  727.25 EXECUTIVE COACHING SERVICES FY18-19 
 Check Total:  3,227.25 

 11/05/2018 MARK THOMAS & COMPANY, INC.  54,695.19 IRON HORSE TRAIL CROSSING JUL-AUG 2018 

 11/05/2018 MCE CORPORATION  451,470.57 BUILDING MAINTENANCE - SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 MELTWATER NEWS US INC.  4,800.00 MEDIA & SOCIAL MEDIA MONITORING SERVICE FY18-19 

 11/05/2018 MEYERS NAVE  83,289.69 LEGAL SERVICES - SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 M-GROUP  6,887.50 PLANNING SERVICES - SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 MGT OF AMERICA, LLC  1,150.00 SB90 CLAIMS PROCESSING 

 11/05/2018 NATIONAL CIVIC LEAGUE  2,500.00 ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP DUES FY18-19 

 11/05/2018 NEOPOST USA INC  195.56 POSTAGE MACHINE SUPPLIES 

 11/05/2018 OPEN HEART KITCHEN  5,625.00 COMMUNITY SUPPORT GRANT JUL-SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 PAKPOUR CONSULTING GROUP, INC.  562.50 ENGINEERING SERVICES - SEPT 2018 
   
  15,772.50 ENGINEERING SERVICES SEPT 2018 
 Check Total:  16,335.00 

 11/05/2018 PARKWAY BODY SHOP  2,213.70 POLICE VEHICLE REPAIRS 

 11/05/2018 PG&E  6,964.29 SERVICE TO 10/03/18 
   
  51.84 SERVICE TO 10/04/18 
   
  18,744.62 SERVICE TO 10/05/18 
   
  5,123.37 SERVICE TO 10/07/18 
   
  2,195.55 SERVICE TO 10/11/18 
   
  242.45 SERVICE TO 10/12/18 
   
  8,134.06 SERVICE TO 10/15/18 
   
  78.64 SERVICE TO 10/16/18 
   
  197.29 SERVICE TO 10/18/18 
 Check Total:  41,732.11 

 11/05/2018 PHOENIX GROUP INFO SYS.  242.50 PARKING CITATION PROCESSING - SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 PLAN JPA  753.00 INSURANCE CLAIMS EXPENSE 

 11/05/2018 PLEASANTON, CITY OF  1,744.80 TRI-VALLEY CONSORTIUM - SUPERVISOR TRAINING 

 11/05/2018 PSOMAS  6,285.00 GIS PORTAL DEVELOPMENT SERVICES - SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 RCLCO  3,916.11 MARKET ABSORPTION SVCS - THE BLVD PROJECT 
   
  21,179.89 THE BLVD PROJECT CONSULTING SERVICES 
 Check Total:  25,096.00 

 11/05/2018 ROTH STAFFING COMPANIES, L.P.  652.80 TEMP ASSISTANCE- BUSINESS LICENSE RENEWALS 

4.6.a

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8 
 (

P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8)



 
 Print Date:  12/03/2018  City of Dublin 
 Page 3 of 10                 Payment Issuance Report 
                  Payments Dated 11/1/2018 through 11/30/2018 
 
 Date Issued Payee Amount Description 
 

 

 11/05/2018 RRM DESIGN GROUP, A CA CORP  798.75 ENGINEERING SERVICES AUG-SEPT 2018 
   
  10,635.00 PLANNING SERVICES AUG & SEPT 2018 
 Check Total:  11,433.75 

 11/05/2018 SCS ENGINEERS  11,750.00 SOIL CLASSIFICATION SVCS - PUBLIC SAFETY COMPLEX 

 11/05/2018 SHAMROCK OFFICE SOLUTIONS INC  40.74 PRINTER OVERAGES SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 SIMPLER SYSTEMS, INC  1,500.00 SIMPLER SOFTWARE LICENSING OCT 2018 

 11/05/2018 SOTO, CAROLINE  90.00 REIMBURSE NOTARY RENEWAL FEES 

 11/05/2018 SPECTRUM COMMUNITY SVCS INC.  1,153.13 COMMUNITY SUPPORT GRANT SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 STUDIO BLUE REPROGRAPHICS  78.66 PRINTING SERVICES-MOLLER RANCH PARK 
   
  220.77 PRINTING SERVICES-SEAN DIAMOND PARK 
   
  78.88 PRINTING SERVICES-SUNRISE PARK 
 Check Total:  378.31 

 11/05/2018 SURF TO SNOW ENVIRONMENTAL  3,742.50 INSPECTIONS & SPILL RESPONSE SVCS JUL-SEPT 20180 

 11/05/2018 SWINERTON MANAGEMENT  165.00 CIVIC CENTER HVAC EVALUATION - SEPT 2018 
   
  36,503.00 PROJECT MGMT DUBLIN BLVD WIDE PROJ - SEPT 2018 
   
  1,155.00 PROJECT MGMT DUBLIN BLVD WIDENING - MAR 2018 
   
  3,156.00 PROJECT MGMT THE WAVE PROJECT - MAR 2018 
   
  31,242.50 PUBLIC SAFETY COMPLEX SVCS - SEPT 2018 
 Check Total:  72,221.50 

 11/05/2018 THE UPS STORE 6449  557.00 LIVESCAN SERVICES AUG-SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 TREASURER ALAMEDA COUNTY  1,987.00 PARKING CITATIONS COLLECTED - SEPT 2018 

 11/05/2018 TRI-VALLEY HAVEN, INC  985.10 COMMUNITY SUPPORT GRANT AUG 2018 
   
  897.78 COMMUNITY SUPPORT GRANT SEPT 2018 
 Check Total:  1,882.88 

 11/05/2018 VALLEY WINDOW CLEANING INC  4,630.00 WINDOW CLEANING SERVICES-CIVIC CENTER 
   
  2,075.00 WINDOW CLEANING SERVICES-LIBRARY 
 Check Total:  6,705.00 

 11/05/2018 VALLEYCARE OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH  571.00 PRE-EMPLOYMENT MEDICAL SCREENING 

 11/05/2018 VSI RISK MGMT & ERGONOMICS INC  635.00 ERGONOMIC EVALUATIONS 

 11/05/2018 WAGEWORKS, INC.  554.00 FLEXIBLE SPENDING ACCOUNT FEES OCT 2018 

 11/05/2018 ZUMWALT ENGINEERING GROUP  17,450.75 ENGINEERING SERVICES SEPT 2018 
 
 Payments Issued 11/5/2018 Total:  2,177,300.29 

 
 11/07/2018 INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE  167.50 720 QUARTERLY FEDERAL EXCISE TAX RETURN 
 11/07/2018 U.S. BANK CORPORATE PMT SYSTEM  723.57 AFTER SCHOOL REC & PRESCHOOL SUPPLIES 
   
  1,669.22 AMERICAN PLANNING ASSN CONF REG EXP-3 ATTENDEES
   
  10.00 CITY POOL VEHICLE CHARGING FEE 
   
  509.25 COMPUTER EQUIPMENT 
   
  1,319.10 CREEK CLEAN-UP SUPPLIES 
   
  4.00 EAST BAY EDA MEETING EXPENSE-IARLA 
   
  438.47 ERGONOMIC EQUIPMENT 
   
  515.13 HERITAGE CENTER & MUSEUM SUPPLIES 
   
  57.97 HERITAGE CENTER SUPPLIES 
   
  107.33 ICMA CONFERENCE EXPENSES - L. SMITH 
   
  152.95 ICMA CONFERENCE EXPENSES -TRIBBY 
   
  721.29 INSIDE DUBLIN SUPPLIES 
   

4.6.a

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8 
 (

P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8)



 
 Print Date:  12/03/2018  City of Dublin 
 Page 4 of 10                 Payment Issuance Report 
                  Payments Dated 11/1/2018 through 11/30/2018 
 
 Date Issued Payee Amount Description 
 

 

  668.00 INT'L ASSN OF AMUSEMENT PARKS CONF REG-CRONIN 
   
  1,745.17 INT'L ASSN OF CRIME ANALYSTS CONF EXP-JAMMAL 
   
  300.00 INT'L CODE COUNCIL TRAINING SEMINAR-RECINOS-SERNA
   
  1,565.15 LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS CONFERENCE EXP- R. ALEX 
   
  1,657.56 MUNICIPAL INFO SYSTEMS ASSN CONF EXP-EISLER 
   
  771.23 NAT'L REC & PARK ASSN CONFERENCE EXP-BUTLER 
   
  475.00 NEW LAW CONFERENCE & TRAINING REG-SOLORZANO 
   
  475.00 NEW LAW CONFERENCE REGISTRATION-SOTO 
   
  1,040.33 PARK & COMMUNITY SVCS STAFF RETREAT SUPPLIES 
   
  679.18 POLICE EVIDENCE SUPPLIES 
   
  533.93 POLICE SUPPLIES 
   
  839.70 POLICE TRAINING EXPENSES- MONAGHAN, FEROZ 
   
  465.44 PRESCHOOL SUPPLIES 
   
  99.14 SAFETY SEMINAR & HR TRAINING EXP-WILKINSON 
   
  2,928.59 SAFETY WEEK & YELLOW COMMAND EXERCISE SUPPLIES 
   
  329.88 SENIOR CENTER SUPPLIES 
   
  3,669.51 SPLATTER FESTIVAL SUPPLIES 
   
  30.57 SWIM TEAM SUPPLIES 
   
  1,168.81 THE WAVE SUPPLIES 
   
  803.22 WATERPARK ASSN CONF EXPENSES-SANDHOLM 
 
 1,117.94 THE WAVE SUPPLIES, OSHA OPERATING FEES 
   
  17.94 TRI-VALLEY CITIES MEETING EXPENSE-HAUBERT 
   
  2,839.00 WALK AND ROLL TO SCHOOL EVENT SUPPLIES 
   
  54.84 WOMEN LEADING GOVERNMENT DUES-WETHERFORD 
 Check Total:  30,503.41 
 Payments Issued 11/7/2018 Total:  30,670.91 

 
 11/08/2018 CALPERS CERBT  219,490.98 RETIREE MEDICAL PAYROLL CHARGES 
 11/08/2018 UNUM LIFE INS CO OF AMERICA  11,640.32 LIFE AND AD&D PREMIUM - NOV 2018 
 Payments Issued 11/8/2018 Total:  231,131.30 

 
 11/13/2018 ADAMS SAFETY TRAINING  168.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 
 11/13/2018 ALAMEDA COUNTY FIRE DEPARTMENT  16,519.08 FIRE APPARATUS EQUIPMENT UNIT #377 
   
  1,121,937.92 FIRE SERVICES NOV 2018 
   
  922,456.73 FIRE SERVICES SEP 2018 
 Check Total:  2,060,913.73 

 11/13/2018 ALAMEDA COUNTY LIBRARY  144,984.00 LIBRARY SERVICES JUL-SEP 2018 

 11/13/2018 AMERICANS FOR THE ARTS  75.00 ORGANIZATION ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP RENEWAL 

 11/13/2018 AMS CONSULTING, LLC.  4,990.00 INSPECTION OF CITY ROADS & PARKING LOTS 

 11/13/2018 AMS.NET, INC.  660.00 FIBER & COPPER NETWORK CABLING  

 11/13/2018 ANANTHAN, STEFANIE  19.62 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT - OCT 2018 

 11/13/2018 ASSOCIATED ENGINEERING  19,456.00 ENGINEERING SERVICES - SEP 2018 

 11/13/2018 AT&T - CALNET 3  286.88 SERVICE TO 10/26/18 
   
  123.71 SERVICE TO 10/27/18 
 Check Total:  410.59 

 11/13/2018 BAY ALARM COMPANY  265.00 ALARM SERVICES-HERITAGE CENTER SERVICE CALL 

4.6.a

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8 
 (

P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8)



 
 Print Date:  12/03/2018  City of Dublin 
 Page 5 of 10                 Payment Issuance Report 
                  Payments Dated 11/1/2018 through 11/30/2018 
 
 Date Issued Payee Amount Description 
 

 

 11/13/2018 BAY ISLAND OFFICIAL ASSOC  1,083.00 SPORTS OFFICIATING SERVICES 

 11/13/2018 CA MUNICIPAL STATISTICS, INC.  500.00 STATISTICAL INFO FOR CAFR DOCUMENT 

 11/13/2018 CASTRO VALLEY PERFORMING ARTS  2,816.40 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/13/2018 CHAN, ROSA  366.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/13/2018 CHANDLER ASSET MANAGEMENT  10,074.51 INVESTMENT CONSULTING SERVICES OCT 2018 

 11/13/2018 CHINESE JOURNAL LLC  561.82 TRANSLATION OF BALLOT MATERIALS 

 11/13/2018 COGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC  2,219.00 CIVIC CENTER INTERNET SERVICE NOV 2018 
   
  2,219.00 CIVIC CENTER INTERNET SERVICE OCT 2018 
 Check Total:  4,438.00  
 11/13/2018 COMCAST  1,326.65 PARKS & COMM SVCS BLDGS INTERNET/CABLE OCT 2018 

 11/13/2018 COMCAST  2,300.00 CIVIC CENTER & FIRE STATION INTERNET SEPT 2018 

 11/13/2018 COMMUNICATION ACADEMY  3,234.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/13/2018 D.A. POPE  24,742.85 REFUND OF PERFORMANCE SECURITY CASH DEPOSIT 

 11/13/2018 DARLING INGREDIENTS INC.  274.71 GREASE TRAP CLEANING SERVICE-SENIOR CENTER 

 11/13/2018 DELL MARKETING L.P.  4,585.19 LAPTOP COMPUTERS 

 11/13/2018 DENG, JUN YUAN  369.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/13/2018 DIPIETRO & ASSOC. INC  697.67 AED PROGRAM SUPPLIES 

 11/13/2018 DKS ASSOCIATES  645.00 DESIGN SERVICES-AMADOR VALLEY BLVD IMPROV 

 11/13/2018 DUBLIN CHAMBER OF COMMERCE  945.00 DUBLIN CHAMBER OF COMMERCE ANNUAL DUES FY18-19 

 11/13/2018 DUBLIN HIGH SCHOOL  1,000.00 FIREWORKS SAFETY PUBLIC SERVICE ANNOUNCEMENT 

 11/13/2018 DUBLIN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  1,528.92 STAGER GYM ELECTRIC 9/12/18-10/11/18 
   
  1,225.79 STAGER GYM WATER/SEWER USAGE 8/1/18-9/30/18 
 Check Total:  2,754.71 

 11/13/2018 DUNBAR ARMORED INC  496.50 ARMORED CAR SERVICES OCT 2018 

 11/13/2018 ESRI  10,694.88 GIS SOFTWARE ANNUAL MAINTENANCE 

 11/13/2018 EVERBRIDGE, INC.  5,000.00 SUBSCRIPTION TO EMERGENCY ALERT SOFTWARE 

 11/13/2018 FALLON, DEBORAH P.  105.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/13/2018 FEHR & PEERS  1,427.50 ENGINEERING SERVICES SEPT 2018 

 11/13/2018 GHD, INC.  342.00 ENGINEERING SERVICES OCT 2018 
   
  863.00 TRAFFIC SAFETY STUDY UPDATE OCT 2018 
 Check Total:  1,205.00 

 11/13/2018 GIS WORKSHOP LLC  400.00 SOFTWARE SUPPORT-TRAFFIC SIGN TRACKING 

 11/13/2018 HSI, RON  90.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/13/2018 IMAGE SALES, INC.  248.00 EMPLOYEE ID BADGE SUPPLIES 

 11/13/2018 IRON MOUNTAIN  195.70 ACAP RECORDS STORAGE NOV 2018 

 11/13/2018 KITTELSON & ASSOCIATES, INC.  2,219.84 ENGINEERING SERVICES SEPT 2018 

 11/13/2018 LANLOGIC INC.  2,090.00 INFORMATION SYSTEMS CONSULTING SVCS SEPT 2018 
   
  1,050.00 MALWARE MONITORING SEPT 2018 
 Check Total:  3,140.00 

 11/13/2018 LIVERMORE, CITY OF  100.00 CITY MANAGERS' ASSN HOLIDAY LUNCHEON-FOSS/SMITH 

 11/13/2018 LYNX TECHNOLOGIES, INC.  1,200.00 GIS CONSULTING SERVICES SEPT 2018 

 11/13/2018 MINUTEMAN PRESS  217.41 GARBAGE BILL INSERT FOR AB1826 REQUIREMENT 

 11/13/2018 MISRA, VAISHNAVI  669.60 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/13/2018 MOHAWK COMMERCIAL, INC.  9,439.40 LIBRARY COMMUNITY ROOM CARPETING 

 11/13/2018 ONE WORKPLACE L. FERRARI LLC  420.66 COMPUTER MONITOR ARM  
   
  354.35 OFFICE CHAIR 
   
  1,798.76 WORK STATIONS FOR PLANNING & BLDG DIVISIONS 
 Check Total:  2,573.77 

 11/13/2018 PAKPOUR CONSULTING GROUP, INC.  19,183.50 PROJECT MGMT-SAN RAMON RD OVERLAY  

4.6.a

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8 
 (

P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8)



 
 Print Date:  12/03/2018  City of Dublin 
 Page 6 of 10                 Payment Issuance Report 
                  Payments Dated 11/1/2018 through 11/30/2018 
 
 Date Issued Payee Amount Description 
 

 

 11/13/2018 PARNES, REBECCA  33.25 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT SEPT 2018 

 11/13/2018 PG&E  21,961.27 SERVICE TO 10/16/18 
   
  10.38 SERVICE TO 10/25/18 
 Check Total:  21,971.65 

 11/13/2018 REDDELL, DANIEL E.  252.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/13/2018 ROTH STAFFING COMPANIES, L.P.  345.98 TEMP ASSISTANCE- BUSINESS LICENSE RENEWALS 

 11/13/2018 SAN RAMON VALLEY OFFICIALS AS  1,976.00 ADULT SOFTBALL OFFICIATING SERVICES 

 11/13/2018 SELECT IMAGING  4,294.60 BUDGET BOOK PRINTING & BINDING SERVICES 
   
  131.89 MAGNETIC CAR SIGNS FOR PARADES-MAYOR HAUBERT 
 Check Total:  4,426.49 

 11/13/2018 SF ART CONSERVATION  9,080.00 UNDERPASS MURAL RESTORATION 

 11/13/2018 SHIR MARTIAL ARTS, LLC  277.20 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/13/2018 SIMPLER SYSTEMS, INC  1,500.00 SIMPLER SOFTWARE LICENSING NOV 2018 

 11/13/2018 ST. FRANCIS ELECTRIC, LLC.  6,558.32 DUBLIN BLVD WIDENING RULE 20A CONSTRUCTION 
   
  68,076.91 RETENTION RELEASE DUBLIN BLVD RULE 20A CONSTR 
 Check Total:  74,635.23 

 11/13/2018 STUDIO BLUE REPROGRAPHICS  245.81 AERIAL IMAGERY MAP MOUNTING 

 11/13/2018 T-MOBILE USA, INC.  1,047.17 CELL PHONE SERVICES AUG 2018 
   
  484.08 CELL PHONE SERVICES SEPT 2018 
 Check Total:  1,531.25 

 11/13/2018 TPX COMMUNICATIONS  2,697.76 INTERNET & PHONE SVCS-VARIOUS LOCATIONS OCT 2018 

 11/13/2018 TREASURER ALAMEDA COUNTY  2,847,101.22 DUBLIN POLICE SERVICES 7/1/18-8/25/18 

 11/13/2018 TRI-VALLEY COMMUNITY TV  1,809.13 TELEVISE CITY COUNCIL & PLNG MTGS SEPT 2018 

 11/13/2018 TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.  800.00 EDEN SERVER MIGRATION & SOFTWARE UPDATE 
   
  240.00 UPGRADE TO TYLER CASHIERING SYSTEM 
 Check Total:  1,040.00 

 11/13/2018 UNITED SITE SERVICES OF CA INC  630.85 DISPOSAL SERVICES NOV 2018 

 11/13/2018 WEISS, ROBIN S.  540.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 
 
 Payments Issued 11/13/2018 Total:  5,323,356.37 

 
 11/16/2018 CAL PERS  75,403.55 PERS RETIREMENT PLAN: PE 11/9/18 
 11/16/2018 EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT DEPT  17,276.39 CA STATE WITHHOLDING: PE 11/9/18 

 11/16/2018 I C M A 401 PLAN  945.00 DEFERRED COMP 401A: PE 11/9/18 

 11/16/2018 I C M A 457 PLAN  25,288.79 DEFERRED COMP 457: PE 11/9/18 

 11/16/2018 INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE  53,212.77 FEDERAL WITHHOLDING: PE 11/9/18 

 11/16/2018 US BANK - PARS  3,375.17 PARS: PE 11/9/18 

 11/16/2018 WAGEWORKS, INC.  4,585.63 WAGEWORKS 2018: PE 11/9/18 
 
 Payments Issued 11/16/2018 Total:  180,087.30 

 
 11/19/2018 ADAMS SAFETY TRAINING  126.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 
 11/19/2018 ALL CITY MANAGEMENT SVCS INC  10,175.76 CROSSING GUARD SERVICES 10/7/18 - 10/20/18 

 11/19/2018 AMP PRINTING, INC.  175.32 BUSINESS CARDS 

 11/19/2018 BIG O TIRES #7  479.10 POLICE VEHICLE TIRES & MAINTENANCE 

 11/19/2018 BLAISDELL'S BUSINESS PRODUCTS  4,516.43 OFFICE SUPPLIES-OCT 2018 

 11/19/2018 BOITNOTT, MICHAEL  2,116.11 REIMB SOCIETY OF CIVIL ENGINEERS CONF EXPENSES 

 11/19/2018 BYOG  2,631.70 REC STAFF & REC CLASS PARTICIPANT SHIRTS 

 11/19/2018 CADENCE SPORTS ACADEMY, INC  2,925.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR  

4.6.a

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8 
 (

P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8)



 
 Print Date:  12/03/2018  City of Dublin 
 Page 7 of 10                 Payment Issuance Report 
                  Payments Dated 11/1/2018 through 11/30/2018 
 
 Date Issued Payee Amount Description 
 

 

 11/19/2018 CALIFORNIA BANK OF COMMERCE  16,625.91 RETENTION DEPOSIT-DOUGHERTY RD CONSTR 

 11/19/2018 CALIFORNIA BANK OF COMMERCE  40,853.73 RETENTION DEPOSIT-PUBLIC SAFETY BLDG CONSTR 

 11/19/2018 CHING, ERWIN  40.33 REIMBURSEMENT FOR PUBLIC WORKS CONF EXP-CHING 

 11/19/2018 CITIES GROUP, THE  3,146.32 WORKERS COMP & SAFETY COMPLIANCE ASSESSMENT 

 11/19/2018 CONNAUGHTON, JUDITH A.  1,833.36 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/19/2018 CORWOOD CAR WASH, INC.  700.00 CITY VEHICLE CAR WASHES SEPT/OCT 2018 

 11/19/2018 CREATIVE PRODUCT SOURCING, INC  1,739.13 POLICE SUPPLIES 

 11/19/2018 CSI FORENSIC SUPPLY  2,096.02 EVIDENCE SUPPLIES 

 11/19/2018 DESILVA GATES CONSTRUCTION LP  317,792.38 CONSTRUCTION SVCS-DOUGHERTY RD IMPROVEMENTS 

 11/19/2018 EAST BAY POOL SERVICE, INC.  3,511.65 POOL CHEMICALS FOR THE WAVE 

 11/19/2018 ELITE AUTO GLASS INC  395.00 POLICE VEHICLE WINDSHIELD REPAIR 

 11/19/2018 ENTERPRISE RENT A CAR  1,652.38 VEHICLE RENTAL-SPECIAL INVESTIGATIONS UNIT  

 11/19/2018 FIRST STREET TOW  200.00 POLICE EVIDENCE TOW 

 11/19/2018 FRANCHISE TAX BOARD  150.00 WAGE ASSIGNMENT: PE 11/9/18 

 11/19/2018 GLASPY, DANIEL  448.63 REIMB ROADSIDE IMPAIRMENT TRAINING EXP-GLASPY 

 11/19/2018 HDL COREN & CONE  1,639.02 PROPERTY TAX CONSULTING SVCS OCT-DEC 2018 

 11/19/2018 IARLA, SUZANNE  191.84 REIMBURSE CALED TRAINING EXPENSE-IARLA 

 11/19/2018 IRON MOUNTAIN  4,199.53 POLICE RECORDS STORAGE NOV 2018 

 11/19/2018 JAMMAL, LAURA  271.49 REIMB CRIME ANALYSTS CONFERENCE EXP-JAMMAL 

 11/19/2018 KACHALKIN, BARBARA  750.00 DEPOSIT REFUND SHANNON CENTER RENTAL  

 11/19/2018 KANG, MANDY  40.43 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT OCT 2018 
   
  228.02 REIMB AMERICAN PLANNING ASSN CONF EXP-KANG 
 Check Total:  268.45 

 11/19/2018 KIDZ LOVE SOCCER  5,128.50 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/19/2018 LEXISNEXIS RISK SOLUTIONS  260.65 DATABASE SEARCHES OCT 2018 

 11/19/2018 LIVERMORE AUTO GROUP  555.36 POLICE VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 

 11/19/2018 LIVERMORE, CITY OF  13,356.59 REIMBURSEMENT FOR TRI-VALLEY DISPLACEMENT STUDY 

 11/19/2018 METRO MOBILE COMMUNICATIONS  1,097.92 HELMET FOR POLICE MOTOR UNIT  
   
  738.24 POLICE VEHICLE RADIO REPAIR 
 Check Total:  1,836.16 

 11/19/2018 MICHAEL BAKER INT'L, INC.  190.00 HOUSING PROGRAM ASSISTANCE 

 11/19/2018 MNJ TECHNOLOGIES DIRECT INC  31,819.08 BARRACUDA BACKUP SYSTEM ANNUAL MAINTENANCE 
   
  2,950.57 MICROSOFT SURFACE TABLETS 
 Check Total:  34,769.65 

 11/19/2018 NORM'S TOWING SERVICE, LLC  337.50 POLICE EVIDENCE TOW 

 11/19/2018 ONE WORKPLACE L. FERRARI LLC  500.37 OFFICE CHAIR FOR P&CS DIRECTOR 

 11/19/2018 PACIFIC CREDIT SERVICES  125.00 FEES FOR ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE COLLECTION SVCS 

 11/19/2018 PG&E  9,898.42 SERVICE TO 10/15/18 
   
  7,220.81 SERVICE TO 10/24/18 
   
  101.27 SERVICE TO 10/25/18 
   
  396.28 SERVICE TO 10/29/18 
   
  247.82 SERVICE TO 10/30/18 
 Check Total:  17,864.60 

 11/19/2018 PHILLIPS, JOSHUA  55.12 REIMB ROADSIDE IMPAIRMENT TRAINING EXP-PHILLIPS 

 11/19/2018 PROULX, MICHAEL  46.36 REIMB ROADSIDE IMPAIRMENT TRAINING EXP-PROULX 

 11/19/2018 RADAR SHOP INC, THE  539.50 RADAR UNIT REPAIR 

 11/19/2018 RYKEN, STEPHEN  750.00 DEPOSIT REFUND HERITAGE PARK RENTAL 

 11/19/2018 SAUSAL CORPORATION  778,120.80 PUBLIC SAFETY COMPLEX CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 

 11/19/2018 SHAMROCK OFFICE SOLUTIONS INC  3,855.16 PRINTER OVERAGES 07/22/18-10/21/18 

4.6.a

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8 
 (

P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8)



 
 Print Date:  12/03/2018  City of Dublin 
 Page 8 of 10                 Payment Issuance Report 
                  Payments Dated 11/1/2018 through 11/30/2018 
 
 Date Issued Payee Amount Description 
 

 

   
  48.24 PRINTER OVERAGES OCT 2018 
 Check Total:  3,903.40 

 11/19/2018 SHAW LAW GROUP PC  5,000.00 EMPLOYEE HARASSMENT PREVENTION TRAINING 

 11/19/2018 SMITH, LINDA  192.58 REIMB ICMA CONFERENCE EXPENSES- L. SMITH 

 11/19/2018 SPECIAL EVENTS  1,033.75 SPLATTER FESTIVAL EQUIPMENT RENTAL 

 11/19/2018 STONERIDGE CHRYSLER JEEP DODGE  68.87 POLICE VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 

 11/19/2018 VASUDEVAN, PRIYA  720.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/19/2018 WEE HOOP, INC.  3,885.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/19/2018 WISEMAN, JENNY  62.05 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT OCT 2018 
 
 Payments Issued 11/19/2018 Total:  1,290,952.40 

 
 11/21/2018 DUBLIN RANCH GOLF COURSE  5,466.15 EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION LUNCHEON CATERING 
 
 Payments Issued 11/21/2018 Total:  5,466.15 

 
 11/27/2018 4 PAWS GOOSE CONTROL, INC  1,000.00 GEESE CONTROL SERVICES OCT 2018 
 11/27/2018 4LEAF INC.  125,206.00 BUILDING INSPECTION & PLAN CHECK SVCS SEPT 2018 
   
  877.50 BUILDING INSPECTIONS SERVICES-CIP SEPT 2018 
 Check Total:  126,083.50 

 11/27/2018 ADVANCED INTEGRATED PEST  945.00 PEST CONTROL SERVICES OCT 2018 

 11/27/2018 ALAMEDA COUNTY TRANSPORTATION  28,015.00 MEMBER AGENCY FEES FY18-19 

 11/27/2018 AMY'S ENGRAVED SIGNS & AWARDS  131.10 NEW COUNCILMEMBER NAMEPLATES 

 11/27/2018 APEX GRADING  14,500.00 FALLON VILLAGE GHAD MAINTENANCE 

 11/27/2018 ARAMARK UNIFORM SVC LOCKBOX  164.31 MAT SERVICE CIVIC CENTER OCT 2018 
   
  95.22 MAT SERVICE CORP YARD OCT 2018 
   
  111.09 MAT SERVICE SENIOR CENTER OCT 2018 
   
  58.32 MAT SERVICE SHANNON CENTER OCT 2018 
 Check Total:  428.94 

 11/27/2018 AT&T - CALNET 3  116.69 SERVICE TO 11/01/18 
   
  45.38 SERVICE TO 11/06/18 
 Check Total:  162.07 

 11/27/2018 AVILA, JUAN  750.00 DEPOSIT REFUND SHANNON CENTER RENTAL 

 11/27/2018 BAXLEY, DEAN  40.97 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT NOV 2018 

 11/27/2018 BAY ALARM COMPANY  95.00 ALARM SERVICE CALL-HERITAGE PARK 

 11/27/2018 BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MGMT DIST  750.00 DEPOSIT REFUND SHANNON CENTER RENTAL 

 11/27/2018 BPXPRESS  53.78 PRINTING SERVICES-PUBLIC SAFETY COMPLEX 

 11/27/2018 BSN SPORTS, INC.  528.62 P&CS SPORT SUPPLIES 

 11/27/2018 CHOPRA, TANVEEN  14.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 CODE PUBLISHING COMPANY  866.25 MUNICIPAL CODE UPDATES 

 11/27/2018 COMCAST  2,300.00 CIVIC CENTER & FIRE STATION INTERNET OCT 2018 

 11/27/2018 CONVERGEONE, INC.  1,107.00 ANNUAL MAINTENANCE FOR CITY'S PHONE SYSTEM 

 11/27/2018 CRISTERNA, VERONICA  500.00 DEPOSIT REFUND SENIOR CENTER RENTAL 

 11/27/2018 DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE  239.00 FINGERPRINTING SERVICES OCT 2018 

 11/27/2018 DOCTORS GIVING BACK  211.00 DEPOSIT REFUND SHANNON CENTER RENTAL 

 11/27/2018 DSRSD  11,728.19 SERVICE TO 10/31/2018 

 11/27/2018 DU-ALL SAFETY, LLC  1,921.25 SAFETY CONSULTING & INSPECTION SERVICES 

 11/27/2018 DUBLIN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  1,499.27 STAGER GYM ELECTRIC 8/13/18-8/31/18 

 11/27/2018 ENGEO INC  1,951.29 FALLON CROSSING GHAD MANAGEMENT OCT 2018 
   

4.6.a

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8 
 (

P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8)



 
 Print Date:  12/03/2018  City of Dublin 
 Page 9 of 10                 Payment Issuance Report 
                  Payments Dated 11/1/2018 through 11/30/2018 
 
 Date Issued Payee Amount Description 
 

 

  6,070.36 FALLON VILLAGE GHAD MANAGEMENT OCT 2018 
   
  6,898.51 SCHAEFER RANCH GHAD MANAGEMENT OCT 2018 
 Check Total:  14,920.16 

 11/27/2018 EVERYTHING GROWS INTERIOR  139.05 PLANT SERVICE NOV 2018 

 11/27/2018 FORMVERSE, INC.  7,980.00 ELECTRONIC FORMS SOFTWARE LICENSE 

 11/27/2018 GSM LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC.  1,094.50 JORDAN RANCH PARK DESIGN SERVICES 

 11/27/2018 GURUS EDUCATIONAL SERVICES  835.80 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/27/2018 HAAKE, LINDA  15.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 HOLMAN, DAVID  15.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 ICC INC.  136.56 BUILDING CODE BOOKS 

 11/27/2018 JUI, GEORGINA  50.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 KAPADIA, MARIA  756.00 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/27/2018 KEYSER MARSTON ASSOCIATES, INC  8,426.45 FISCAL ANALYSIS FOR AT DUBLIN PROJECT OCT 2018 

 11/27/2018 KIEFER, DELILAH  17.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOC. INC.  2,837.50 AT DUBLIN PARKING ANALYSIS/INTERSECTIONS EVAL 
   
  19,039.05 DESIGN/CONSTRUCTION SUPPORT DOUGHERTY RD 
 Check Total:  21,876.55 

 11/27/2018 KING, ARTHUR SCOTT  129.60 REC CLASS INSTRUCTOR 

 11/27/2018 LANGUAGE LINE SERVICES  67.75 LANGUAGE LINE SERVICES OCT 2018 

 11/27/2018 LANLOGIC INC.  4,347.50 INFORMATION SYSTEMS CONSULTING SVCS OCT 2018 

 11/27/2018 LIANG, MARGARET  250.00 DEPOSIT REFUND COUNCIL CHAMBERS RENTAL 

 11/27/2018 MARK THOMAS & COMPANY, INC.  62,610.87 IRON HORSE TRAIL CROSSING SEPT 2018 

 11/27/2018 MARTIN, KATE  18.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 MCE CORPORATION  3,548.00 ADDITIONAL LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE DSRSD 
   
  478,172.46 BUILDING MAINTENANCE - OCT 2018 
   
  9,497.42 LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE DSRSD OCT 2018 
 Check Total:  491,217.88 

 11/27/2018 MCEWIN, DIANA  15.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 MCGUIRE & HESTER  107,327.05 RETENTION RELEASE SEAN DIAMOND PARK PROJECT 
   
  4,037.50 SEAN DIAMOND PARK CONSTRUCTION PROJECT 
 Check Total:  111,364.55 
 

 11/27/2018 MOFFAT, JENNIFER  15.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 NEILSEN, GEORGE  30.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 OLBERDING ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.  2,018.41 BIO MONITORING SERVICES FALLON VILLAGE GHAD 

 11/27/2018 ONE WORKPLACE L. FERRARI LLC  471.93 PRINTER TABLE FOR PCS DIRECTOR 
   
  42.50 WORKSPACE PLANNING & DESIGN PS COMPLEX 
 Check Total:  514.43 

 11/27/2018 PG&E  434.98 SERVICE TO 10/29/18 
   
  3,134.31 SERVICE TO 10/30/18 
   
  1,988.21 SERVICE TO 10/31/18 
   
  26.37 SERVICE TO 11/05/18 
 Check Total:  5,583.87 

 11/27/2018 RAMOS, OMAR  14.50 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 RICCIO, LYDIA  15.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 ROTARY CLUB OF DUBLIN, CA  150.00 ROTARY CLUB VETERAN'S LUNCHEON-6 ATTENDEES 

 11/27/2018 SELECT IMAGING  956.89 DUBLIN PRIDE SHIRTS 

 11/27/2018 SIDHU, GURBIR  18.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 SILVERADO VALLEY ELECTRIC  4,048.50 ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATIONS-FALLON SP 

4.6.a

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8 
 (

P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8)



 
 Print Date:  12/03/2018  City of Dublin 
 Page 10 of 10                 Payment Issuance Report 
                  Payments Dated 11/1/2018 through 11/30/2018 
 
 Date Issued Payee Amount Description 
 

 

 11/27/2018 SOMMER, ENOYSE  100.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 SUMMERS, ANGELINA  15.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 SUTER, ANNE  15.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 THIAGARASJAN, RAMESH  12.00 REC CLASS REFUND 

 11/27/2018 TRI-SIGNAL INTEGRATION INC  126.00 QUARTERLY FIRE ALARM TESTING-FIRE STATION 
   
  323.75 QUARTERLY FIRE ALARM TESTING-LIBRARY 
 Check Total:  449.75 

 11/27/2018 TRI-VALLEY COMMUNITY TV  2,583.10 RECORD/TELEVISE CITY COUNCIL & PLNG MTGS 

 11/27/2018 TRI-VALLEY JANITORIAL INC.  3,474.82 EXTRA JANITORIAL SERVICES OCT 2018 
   
  19,649.00 JANITORIAL SERVICES NOV 2018 
   
  4,036.37 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES OCT 2018 
 Check Total:  27,160.19 

 11/27/2018 VALI COOPER & ASSOCIATES INC  17,822.64 SAN RAMON OVERLAY PROJ INSPECTION SEPT 2018 

 11/27/2018 WC3-WEST COAST CODE CONSULTANT  6,840.00 INSPECTION & PLAN CHECK SERVICES OCT 2018 

 11/27/2018 WESTERN PACIFIC SIGNAL LLC  1,584.11 CITY-WIDE TRAFFIC SIGNAL CONSULTING/UPGRADE 

 11/27/2018 YOUNG, SHANNAN  142.56 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT OCT 2018 
   
  63.69 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT SEPT 2018 
 Check Total:  206.25 
 
 Payments Issued 11/27/2018 Total:  990,305.80 

 
 11/30/2018 RETIREES 162,260.38 REIMBURSE RETIREE MEDICAL JAN-MAR 2019 
  
 Payments Issued 11/30/2018 Total:  162,260.38 

 
  
 Grand Total for Payments Dated 11/1/2018 through 11/30/2018:  10,564,820.15 
 
 Total Number of Payments Issued:  282 
 

4.6.a

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8 
 (

P
ay

m
en

t 
Is

su
an

ce
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
01

8)



 

Page 1 of 2 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Authorization to Purchase Mobile Data Terminal (MDT) Computers from 
NWN Corporation 
Prepared by:  Nate Schmidt, Captain - Dublin Police Services 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City Council will consider the purchase of four mobile data terminal computers for 
Dublin Polices Services.  Staff conducted research to determine which available MDT 
would best meet the needs of Dublin Police Services and is recommending the 
purchase of four Getac V110 G3 GUSA - Intel Core i5-6200U Processors and 
associated equipment from NWN Corporation.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt the Resolution Authorizing Staff to Purchase Four Mobile Data Terminal (MDT) 
Computers from NWN Corporation, and approve the budget change.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

 

The purchase of four Getac V110 G3 GUSA - Intel Core i5-6200U Processors and 
associated equipment from NWN Corporation will cost $21,467.34 and can be covered 
by available asset seizure funds.  Approval of the budget change will appropriate 
$68,847.63 to cover the computer purchase, with the remainder to be available for 
installation of the additional emergency equipment to the added vehicles and 
miscellaneous departmental equipment and supplies.   
 
DESCRIPTION: 

 

On May 15, 2018, the City Council approved the purchase of two marked 2018 Dodge 
Charger Police Vehicles.  To fully outfit these new vehicles, two mobile data terminal 
(MDT) computers will need to be purchased.  It was also found the Dublin Police 
Investigation Units have a growing need to have mobile computers.  This is due to an 
increase in investigative work being completed in the field.  Providing the general 
investigations unit and special investigations unit each with a MDT will significantly 
increase productivity and safety.   
 

4.7

Packet Pg. 122



 

Page 2 of 2 

With the assistance of City of Dublin and Alameda County Sheriff’s Office IT personnel, 
Staff evaluated available MDT’s with functionality, durability, performance and cost in 
mind, and selected the Getac V110 G3 GUSA - Intel Core i5-6200U Processors and 
associated equipment from NWN Corporation. 
 
On July 3, 2017, the State of California entered into a contract with NWN Corporation 
for the purchase of Getac Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop computers or MDT’s.  The 
contract expires on June 30, 2020 (Attachment 3). 
 
Staff is requesting the purchase of four Getac V110 G3 GUSA - Intel Core i5-6200U 
Processors and associated equipment from NWN Corporation at a cost of $21,467.34 
piggybacking on the negotiated price obtained via the aforementioned State of 
California Contract.  Staff contacted the State of California Department of General 
Services and obtained written approval to utilize the contract on quote #NWN18-
003RGTNB (Attachment 4).     
 
Through the work on several criminal investigations, the Dublin Police Services Special 
Investigations Unit has acquired revenue through state asset seizure and forfeitures.  In 
order for these funds to be used to purchase operational supplies and equipment for the 
improvement and enhancement of the department, the funds must be allocated to a 
budgeted account.  Approval of the budget change (Attachment 2) will move $68,847.63 
in asset seizure funds to the operational budget to cover the cost of the new MDT’s. The 
remainder of the funds would then be available for installation of emergency equipment 
for the new vehicles, and miscellaneous departmental equipment and supplies.   
 

STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE: 

 

None. 

 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

 

None. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1.  Resolution Authorizing Staff to Purchase Four Mobile Data Terminal (MDT) 

Computers from NWN Corporation 

2.  Budget Change Form 

3.  State of California Contract with NWN Corporation 

4.  Approved Quote from NWN Corporation 

 

4.7

Packet Pg. 123



ATTACHMENT 1 

RESOLUTION NO. xx - 18 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF DUBLIN 

* * * * * * * * * 

AUTHORIZING STAFF TO PURCHASE FOUR MOBILE DATA TERMINAL (MDT) COMPUTERS 

FROM NWN CORPORATION  
 

 WHEREAS, on May 15, 2018, City Council approved the purchase of two marked 2018 Dodge 
Charger Police Vehicles.  To fully outfit these new vehicles, two mobile data terminal (MDT) 
computers will need to be purchased; and  
 

 WHEREAS, workload indicators also showed the need for both the general investigations unit 
and special investigations unit to have a designated MDT for each of their respective units; and 
 

 WHEREAS, Staff conducted research to determine which available MDT would best meet the 
needs of Dublin Police and selected the Getac V110 G3 GUSA – Intel Core i5-6200U Processors 
and associated equipment from NWN Corporation; and 
 

 WHEREAS, the State of California entered into a contract with NWN Corporation for the 
purchase of Getac Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop computers or MDT’s with an expiration date of 
June 30, 2020; and 
 

 WHEREAS, piggybacking off of the State of California contract, Staff has obtained a quote 
from NWN Corporation for four Getac V110 G3 GUSA – Intel Core i5-6200U Processors and 
associated equipment at a cost of $21,467.34; and 
 

WHEREAS, Dublin Police Services has revenue from state asset seizure and forfeitures which 
will allow for the purchase of operational supplies and equipment for the improvement and 
enhancement of the department. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Dublin does 
hereby authorize the City Manager as the Purchasing Agent to procure four Getac V110 G3 GUSA – 
Intel Core i5-6200U Processors and associated equipment from NWN Corporation; and approve the 
budget change. 
 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of December 2018, by the following 
vote: 

 

AYES:   

NOES: 

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:  
______________________________________ 

Mayor 

ATTEST: 
_______________________________________ 

     City Clerk 
 
 

4.7.a

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
u

th
o

ri
zi

n
g

 S
ta

ff
 t

o
 P

u
rc

h
as

e 
F

o
u

r 
M

o
b

ile
 D

at
a 

T
er

m
in

al
 (

M
D

T
) 

C
o

m
p

u
te

rs
 f

ro
m

 N
W

N
 C

o
rp

o
ra

ti
o

n
  (

A
u

th
o

ri
za

ti
o

n
 t

o



Budget Change Reference #:

From Un-Appropriated Reserves X Budget Transfer Between Funds

From Designated Reserves Other

Account Amount Account Amount

2101.2111.72102 $68,847.63

12/18/2018

Posted By: Date:

As Presented at the City Council Meeting 

**********Finance Use Only**********

CITY OF DUBLIN

Utilization of State Seizure Fund to purchase police equipment

REASON FOR BUDGET CHANGE

FISCAL YEAR 2018-19

BUDGET CHANGE FORM

DECREASE BUDGET AMOUNT INCREASE BUDGET AMOUNT

EXP: State Seizure Fund - Police Ops Support - Equipment - 

ISF

City Council's Approval Required

\\cc-uem\users\carolines\appdata\roaming\iqm2\minutetraq\dublinca@dublinca.iqm2.com\work\attachments\4146 4146

4.7.b

Packet Pg. 125

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
B

u
d

g
et

 C
h

an
g

e 
F

o
rm

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

)



  
 

 

 

 
 

State of California 

CONTRACT USER INSTRUCTIONS 
****MANDATORY**** 

Incorporates Supplement 1 
CONTRACT NUMBER: 
 

1-17-70-11A Supplement 1 

DESCRIPTION: 
 

Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop 
Computers (Getac) 

CONTRACTOR(S): 
 

NWN Corporation 

CONTRACT TERM: 
 

07/01/2017 through 06/30/2020 

STATE CONTRACT 
ADMINISTRATOR: 

Denelle Scott 
916-375-4492 
denelle.scott@dgs.ca.gov 

   

The contract user instructions, products, and pricing are included herein.  All purchase documents 
issued under this contract incorporate the contract terms and applicable California General Provisions: 
http://www.documents.dgs.ca.gov/pd/contracts/forms/rfp/Exhibit%208.22%20IT%20General%20Provisio
ns.pdf  

 
Cal eProcure link:  www.caleprocure.ca.gov   
 

ORDER PLACEMENT INFORMATION <company name> 

U.S. Mail Contact Contractor Contract Manager 

 
NWN Corporation 

2969 Prospect Park Drive, Suite 225 
Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 

 

NWN Corporation 
Contact:  Tim Meade 

Phone: (916) 637-2200 
Fax: (916) 596-4800 

SCA_Sales_Team@nwnit.com 

NWN Corporation 
Contact:  Matt Niemann 
Phone: (916) 637-2135 

Fax: (916) 596-4800 
mniemann@nwnit.com  

Contractor Website: website link will be provided at a future date 

  

_______________________________________________           Date:  02/07/2018 
 Denelle Scott, Contract Administrator   
 

Department of General Services 
Procurement Division 
707 Third Street, 2nd Floor 
West Sacramento, CA  95605-2811 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 2 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

 
All changes to most recent Supplement are in bold red italic. 
 

SUMMARY OF CHANGES 

Supplement 
No. 

Description/Articles  Supplement Date 

1 • Attachment A – Contract Pricing Rev 1, dated 
02/07/2018 

• Section 4.A) Identifying Off Ramp purchases 
language has been added regarding purchase 
orders issued from FI$CAL. 
 

02/08/2018 

 
All other terms and conditions remain the same. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 3 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

1. SCOPE 

The State’s contract with NWN Corporation (contractor) provides Rugged and Semi Rugged Laptop 
Computers at contracted pricing to the State of California and local governmental agencies in accordance 
with the requirements of Contract # 1-17-70-11A.  The contractor shall supply the entire portfolio of products 
as identified in the contract and will be the primary point of contact for data collection, reporting, warranty 
issues, customer service and distribution of Rugged and Semi Rugged Laptop Computers to the State. 

The contract term is for three (3) years with an option to extend the contract for two (2) additional one (1) 
year periods or portion thereof.  The terms, conditions, and prices for the contract extension option shall be 
by mutual agreement between the contractor and the State.  If a mutual agreement cannot be met the 
contract may be terminated at the end of the current contract term. 

2. CONTRACT USAGE/RULES 

A. State Departments 

• The use of this contract is mandatory for all State of California departments. 

• Ordering departments must adhere to all applicable State laws, regulations, policies, best 
practices, and purchasing authority requirements, e.g. California Codes, Code of Regulations, 
State Administrative Manual, Management Memos, and State Contracting Manual Volume 2 and 
3, as applicable. 

• Prior to placing orders against this contract, departments must have been granted IT purchasing 
authority by the Department of General Services, Procurement Division (DGS/PD) for the use of this 
statewide contract. The department’s current purchasing authority number must be entered in the 
appropriate location on each purchase document. Departments that have not been granted 
purchasing authority by DGS/PD for the use of the State’s statewide contracts may access the 
Purchasing Authority Application at http://www.dgs.ca.gov/pd/Programs/Delegated.aspx or may 
contact DGS/PD’s Purchasing Authority Management Section by e-mail at pams@dgs.ca.gov. 

• Departments must have a Department of General Services (DGS) agency billing code prior to 
placing orders against this contract.  Ordering departments may contact their Purchasing Authority 
contact or their department’s fiscal office to obtain this information.  

B. Local Governmental Agencies 

• Local governmental agency use of this contract is optional. 

• Local government agencies are defined as “any city, county, city and county, district or other 
governmental body or corporation, including the California State Universities (CSU) and University 
of California (UC) systems, K-12 schools and community colleges’’, empowered to expend public 
funds for the acquisition of products, per Public Contract Code Chapter 2, Paragraph 10298 (a) 
(b).  While the State makes this contract available to local governmental agencies, each local 
governmental agency should determine whether this contract is consistent with its procurement 
policies and regulations.   

• Local governmental agencies shall have the same rights and privileges as the State under the 
terms of this contract.  Any agencies desiring to participate shall be required to adhere to the same 
responsibilities as do State agencies and have no authority to amend, modify or change any 
condition of the contract. 

• Local governmental agencies must have a DGS agency billing code prior to placing orders against 
this contract.  DGS agency billing codes may be obtained by emailing the DGS billing code contact 
with the following information: 

o Local governmental agency 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 4 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

o Contact name 

o Telephone number 

o Mailing address 

o Facsimile number and e-mail address 

DGS Billing Code Contact:   916-375-4400 

C. Unless otherwise specified within this document, the term “ordering agencies” will refer to all State 
departments and/or local governmental agencies eligible to utilize this contract.  Ordering and/or usage 
instructions exclusive to State departments or local governmental agencies shall be identified within each 
article. 

3. DGS ADMINISTRATIVE FEES 

A. State Departments 

The DGS will bill each State department an administrative fee for use of this statewide contract.  The 
administrative fee should NOT be included in the order total, nor remitted before an invoice is received 
from DGS.  

Current fees are available online in the Price Book & Directory of Services located at: 
http://www.dgs.ca.gov/ofs/home.aspx (Go to Price Book and click on “Purchasing” under Procurement 
Division.) 

B. Local Governmental Agencies    

For all local government agency transactions issued against the contract, the Contractor is required to 
remit the DGS/PD an Incentive Fee of an amount equal to 1% of the total purchase order amount 
excluding taxes and freight.  This Incentive Fee shall not be included in the agency’s purchase price, 
nor invoiced or charged to the purchasing entity.  All prices quoted to local governmental agency 
customers shall reflect State contract pricing, including any and all applicable discounts, and shall 
include no other add-on fees. 

4. SB/DVBE OFF-RAMP PROVISION  

The Rugged and Semi Rugged Laptop Computers Statewide Contract 1-17-70-11A is mandatory for use 
by all State of California departments except when the “SB/DVBE Off-Ramp” provision is utilized.  The 
SB/DVBE Off-Ramp provision allows a State department to, at its option, purchase contract items from a 
certified Small Business (SB), including a “microbusiness” (MB), or a Disabled Veteran Business Enterprise 
(DVBE) in accordance with the rules outlined within this document.   
 
Note: The rules outlined herein are exclusive to the Rugged and Semi Rugged Laptop Computers Statewide 
Contract 1-17-70-11A and do not affect any other contract.  Departments may not use the SB/DVBE Off-
ramp provision to buy outside of the mandatory statewide contract if the rules cannot be applied.  In these 
situations, the purchase must be made through the mandatory statewide contract. 

A. SB/DVBE Offramp Provision Usage Rules 

In order to utilize the SB/DVBE Off-ramp provision, departments must comply with the following 
usage rules: 

 

 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 5 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

Requirement Description / Procedure 

Purchasing Authority Departments must have approved Purchasing Authority Category for 
SB/DVBE Option per GC section 14838.5(a) granted by the DGS/PD in 
order to utilize the SB/DVBE Off-Ramp provision as identified within the 
statewide contract.. 

Transaction Limits Transactions must be less than $250,000 excluding sales and use tax, 
finance charges, postage, and handling charges. 

Supplier Certifications SB/DVBE Offramp purchases must be made to a supplier with a current 
California SB or DVBE certification.  State departments can verify 
certifications at the following website: www.caleprocure.ca.gov 

Price Quotations Departments must obtain price quotations from California-certified SB, 
MB, or DVBE supplier(s) as follows: 
 
 For purchases between $0 and under $5,000, departments must 

obtain at least one (1) phone quote or written quote.  
 

 For purchases between $5,000 and under $250,000, departments 
must obtain at least two (2) price quotations.  Refer to SCM Volume 
3, Chap.4. 

 

Note: Quotes must be obtained from suppliers of the same certification 
type (SB or DVBE). 

Evaluation State departments must document in the procurement file that the 
products being purchased are:   

1) The same brand and model as the products available from the 
statewide contract including product description, functional requirements, 
and manufacturer warranties as provided in the statewide contract; and  

2) Equal to or less expensive than the pricing offered from the 
statewide contract for the equivalent products based on the total order 
value before taxes.  

Identifying 
Off Ramp 
purchases 

FI$CAL 
purchase 
orders 

Department electing to exercise the Off Ramp provision by 
conducting a SB/DVBE Option and issuing a purchase order from 
FI$CAL (not the STD. 65), users should select the appropriate 
acquisition method (off ramp options) and then in the Purchase 
Order Reference field or Contract Reference field the user should 
enter “Off Ramp” and the contract number information. If these 
fields are not available, user shall enter the information in the Notes 
field. 

STD. 65 
purchase 
orders 
(for non-
FI$CAL 
users) 

Departments electing to exercise the Off Ramp provision by conducting a 
SB/DVBE Option purchase must, when executing the resulting STD. 65 
purchase document, enter “OFF RAMP” in the box titled “Leveraged 
Procurement Agreement No.”.   

Refer to the following example for identifying Off Ramp purchases on the 
STD. 65. 

 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 6 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

 

  

B. Off Ramp Documentation 

Requirement Description / Procedure 

Off Ramp 
Documentation 

The procurement file must be documented to support the contract award and 
the action taken including the following documents: 

• Copy of Statewide Contract User Instructions in support of executing a 
SB/DVBE purchase outside of the mandatory contact. 

• Statewide contract pricing sheet, highlighting the equivalent products 
being purchased and used for evaluation. 

• SB or DVBE price quotes obtained. 

• SB or DVBE certification verification. 

 

Refer to SCM Volume 3 for additional documentation requirements. 

 

5. EXEMPT PURCHASES 

To purchase Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop Computer units other than what is currently available on the 
contract pricing worksheet requires an approved exemption from the DGS/PD Contract Administrator.  
Please refer to http://www.dgs.ca.gov/pd/Programs/Leveraged/contracts/exemptionprocess.aspx 
for information and the required justification forms regarding the exemption process. 
 
These special exemption purchases must be documented within the individual procurement file and will be 
acquired under the department-approved IT purchasing authority guidelines stated in the SCM  
Volume 3. 

6. PROBLEM RESOLUTION/SUPPLIER PERFORMANCE 

Ordering agencies and/or contractors shall inform the State Contract Administrator of any technical or 
contractual difficulties encountered during contract performance in a timely manner.  This includes and is not 
limited to informal disputes, supplier performance, outstanding deliveries, etc. 

For contractor performance issues, ordering agencies must submit a completed Supplier Performance 
Report via email or facsimile to the State Contract Administrator identified in Article 34 (Contract 
Administration).  The ordering agency should include all relevant information and/or documentation (i.e. 
Purchase documents). 

 

 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 7 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

7. CONTRACT ITEMS    

  

 

 

 

 

A.  
A.  

 
A. Core Items 

All items in Attachment A, Contract Pricing, must meet or exceed all mandatory Common Configuration 
Requirements detailed in Attachment B – Exhibit 8.19E Addendum 7, Configuration Spec and Technical 
Worksheet – Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop Category.  Upgrades and Options are intended to 
augment proposed configurations.  Extended Warranty Options are available as Options/Upgrades and 
are intended to augment the warranty furnished with the contract equipment.  Offers for core items at a 
lesser discount will not be considered. 

• Value Added Services and Statements of Work 

Contractor shall provide the value added services listed in Attachment A, Contract Pricing, related to 
Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop Computers as specified by Attachment B – Exhibit 8.19E Addendum 
7, Configuration Spec and Technical Worksheet – Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop Category.  A 
statement of work (SOW) may be required when some Value Added Services are ordered.  If required 
the SOW must be created by the ordering agency and submitted to the DGS/PD Contract Administrator 
for approval prior to the Contractor’s acceptance of the order. 

B. Non-Core Products 

Only products meeting or exceeding the specifications of Attachment B – Exhibit 8.19E Addendum 7, 
Configuration Spec and Technical Worksheet – Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop Category, within the 
scope of the Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop Category may be purchased under this contract.  Non-
Core items meeting or exceeding the specifications may be quoted by the Contractor and require 
approval by the DGS/PD State Contract Administrator.  The DGS/PD Contract Administrator has the 
unilateral option to approve additional non-core items on a one-time basis at the request of an agency. 
The base criteria to consider non-core items are: 

• All items are directly related to the common configuration. 

• The discounts and the List Price from the OEM’s most current publically available Index meet the 
contract discount for that type of item. 

• Items do not conflict with any other mandatory statewide commodities contract. 

Non-Core Items must be offered at the same core discount appropriate for the product type: Rugged and 
Semi-Rugged Laptop Computer Configurations (Hardware), Options/Upgrades, or Value Added Services.  
Offers for non-core items may be offered at a greater discount than the contract discount.  Offers for non-
core items at a lesser discount will not be considered. 

Products outside the scope of the Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop Computer Category may not be 
purchased from this contract. State departments may request an Exemption and these requests require 
approval by the DGS/PD State Contract Administrator. Refer to Article 5, Exempt Purchases. 

Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop 
Computer Contract 

Discount Group 

Contract 
Discount 

Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop 
Computer Configurations (Hardware) 

35% 

Options / Upgrades 25% 

Value Added Services 17% 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 132

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 8 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

8.  SPECIFICATIONS    

All products listed on Attachment A, Contract Pricing, must conform to Attachment B – Exhibit 8.19E 
Addendum 7 Configuration Specification/Technical Worksheet-Ruggedized Laptop Catergory dated 
3/8/2017. 

9. CUSTOMER SERVICE 

The Contractor will have a customer service unit that is dedicated to this contract.  The customer service unit 
provides office and personnel resources for responding to inquiries, including telephone and email coverage 
weekdays during the hours of 8:00 a.m. - 5:00 p.m., PT.   

The customer service unit shall be staffed with individuals that: 

• Are trained in the requirements of this contract; 

• Have the authority to take administrative action to correct problems that may occur; and  

• Are designated for training and general customer service follow-up.   

The Contractor’s customer service unit shall respond to all customer inquiries within one (1) business day of 
initial contact.  

Contact Phone Email 

Tim Meade (916) 637-2200 SCA_Sales_Team@nwnit.com 

 

10. ELECTRONIC CATALOG/CONTRACT WEBSITE CONTENTS 

 An Electronic Catalog/Contract Website specific to the Statewide Contract for Rugged and Semi-Rugged 
Laptop Computers is available and contains the following data elements at minimum:  

• Detailed line item descriptions of Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop Computers core configurations, 
upgrade/downgrade (downgrades cannot be below minimum requirements) options, and value added 
services; 

• Warranty/PPM information 

• State-specific contract current pricing; 

• SB/DVBE participation information; 

• Quote generation 

• Contractor’s customer service contact information 

• Publically available OEM price lists (current and archives) 

Contract Website 

website link will be provided at a future date 

 

11. PRE-ORDER CONFIGURATION CONSULTATION (OFFER GENERATION) 

The contractor shall provide pre-sale pre-order technical consultation and configuration assistance to 
ordering departments in order to assure acquired configurations are operationally designed for the ordering 
agency’s technology needs. Ordering agencies will assure that the contractor has been appraised on the 
technical needs of the systems and components acquired under the contract. 

 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 133

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 9 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

12. OFFER FORMAT  

The Contractor shall provide an offer to ordering agencies in MS Excel spreadsheet format.  Purchase of 
Non-Core items may not take place without the written authorization of the State’s Contract Administrator. 
The authorization process requires submission of the Contractor’s offer format spreadsheet showing 
company letterhead) which must include the following data elements: 

• Contractor letterhead 

• Offer/Quote “prepared by” name and contact information 

• Offer/Quote number 

• Date of Offer/Quote 

• Date of the OEM’s publically available price index (MSRP/MSIP) 

• Ordering agency name 

• Ordering agency contact person 

• Contract number 

• Contract expiration date 

• Contract Line Item Number 

• Quantity 

• Core/Non-Core (Y/N) 

• Description of Item 

• Manufacturer’s Part Number/SKU 

• MSRP/Index Price 

• Contract Discount 

• Contract Unit Price 

• Extended Price (Quantity x Contract Price) 

• Subtotals of taxable and non-taxable items 

• Rate and calculated tax 

• Applicable fees 

• Grand total 

• Note that “Items with “N” in Core/Non-Core Column require approval by the State’s CA prior to purchase. 

13. ELECTRONIC WASTE RECYCLING FEE 

The contractor will comply with the Electronic Waste Recycling Act of 2003 requiring retailers to collect a 
recycling fee from consumers on covered electronic devices, starting January 1, 2005. California Public 
Resources Code Section 42463(f) defines a "covered electronic device" as a video display device containing 
a screen greater than four inches measured diagonally. The fees must be shown on all purchase orders. See 
the code identified above for more information and exceptions to this definition or go to 
http://www.boe.ca.gov/sptaxprog/tax_rates_stfd.htm#6 for a breakdown of the current fees. 

14. PRODUCT SUBSTITUTIONS/DISCONTINUED ITEMS  

Products and configurations meeting or exceeding the category requirements shall be available throughout 
the duration of the contract term.  The contract provides for technology refresh as models are discontinued or 
cease production and must be approved by the CA.  These changes will be made in the form of a contract 
supplement, and will not be effective until the supplement’s release.  

The Contractor shall not substitute products or configurations or modify catalog information without written 
approval from the DGS/PD State Contract Administrator. 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 134

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 10 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

The Contractor(s) will maintain the contract discount as bid throughout the original term of the contract and 
any extension(s), including upon approved substitution. 

If no substitute product is available that meets or exceeds the specifications due to fundamental technology 
or market change, the State may alter the common configurations to meet the updated marketplace 
standards.  Obsolescence of a configuration may be determined at the discretion of the State. 

Items with the same model number or SKU available elsewhere on the contract shall be made available to 
the State at the highest discount. 

15. PROMOTIONAL PRICING  

During special pricing promotions, the Contractor shall offer State and local agency purchasers the 
promotional pricing or the discount percentage off list, per Event ID 0000004112 Section 3.7.1, Pricing, 
whichever is lower. 

The Contractor shall notify the CA of all promotional pricing changes.  Notification shall include at a 
minimum: 

• Promotion start and end dates. 

• Models, products, and services included in the promotion. 

• Promotional pricing. 

Promotional pricing shall not be cause for a permanent change in pricing.  Promotional pricing shall not be 
cause for Contractor Refresh. 

Promotional items shall come with all benefits of the statewide contract terms and conditions and shall 
include all provisions such as warranty and delivery. 

16. STATE AGENCY INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY CERTFICATION REQUIREMENT 

This requirement does not apply to local government agencies.  
 
For State agencies, a signed certification of compliance with State information technology policies is required 
for all information technology procurements that cost $100,000 or more and are in support of a development 
effort.  The required format for the certification is provided in SAM Section 4832 and policy is set forth by the 
State Office of the Chief Information Officer (OCIO), www.cio.ca.gov. 
 
SAMPLE 
 
           CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH POLICIES PURSUANT TO              
                        SAM SECTIONS 4819.41 AND 4832                         
                                                                              
I hereby certify that I am the agency Director or designee; that the matters described 
herein are in compliance with the criteria and procedures for information technology 
prescribed in SAM; any acquisitions of new or enhanced information technology 
capabilities are consistent with project justification approved by Department of Finance 
myself or my designee; and that the foregoing statements are true to the best of my 
knowledge and belief.                                                         
                                                                              
_______________          ________________________________________________ 
        (Date)                      (Signature and Title - indicate Director or designee) 

 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 135

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 11 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

17. PURCHASE EXECUTION 

A. State Departments  

1) Std. 65 Purchase Documents 

State departments not transacting in FI$CAL must use the Purchasing Authority Purchase Order 
(Std. 65) for purchase execution.  An electronic version of the Std. 65 is available at the Office of 
State Publishing web site:  http://www.dgs.ca.gov/pd/Forms.aspx (select Standard Forms).   

All Purchasing Authority Purchase Orders (Std. 65) must contain the following: 

• Agency Order Number (Purchase Order Number) 

• Ordering Agency Name 

• Agency Billing Code 

• Purchasing Authority Number 

• Leveraged Procurement Number (Contract Number) 

• Supplier Information (Contact Name, Address, Phone Number, Fax Number, E-mail) 

• Line Item number 

• Quantity 

• Unit of Measure 

• Commodity Code Number 

• Product Description 

• Unit Price 

• Extension Price 

• Electronic Waste Recycling Fee 
 

2) FI$CAL Purchase Documents 

State departments transacting in FI$CAL will follow the FI$CAL procurement and contracting 
procedures. 

3) Blanket Orders 

The use of blanket orders against this statewide contract is not allowed.  

B. Local Governmental Agencies    

Local governmental agencies may use their own purchase document for purchase execution.  The 
purchase documents must include the same data elements as listed above (Exception: Purchasing 
Authority Number is used by State departments only). 

18. MINIMUM ORDER 

The minimum order shall be one (1) Laptop.    

19. ORDERING PROCEDURE 

A. Ordering Methods: 

Ordering agencies are to submit appropriate purchase documents directly to the contractor(s) via one of 
the following ordering methods: 

• U.S. Mail 

• Facsimile 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 136

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 12 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

• Email 

The contractor’s Order Placement Information is as follows: 

ORDER PLACEMENT INFORMATION 

U.S. Mail Facsimile Email 

2969 Prospect Park Drive, Suite 225 
Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 

(916) 596-4800 SCA_Sales_Team@nwnit.com  

 

Note: When using any of the ordering methods specified above, all State departments must conform to 
proper State procedures.   

20. ORDER ACCEPTANCE 

The Contractor shall accept orders from any State department or local governmental agency.  The 
Contractor shall not accept purchase documents for this contract that: 

• Are incomplete;  

• Are submitted without CA approval of non-core items 

• Contain non-contract items; or 

• Contain non-contract terms and conditions. 

The Contractor must not refuse to accept orders from any State department or local governmental agency for 
any other reason without written authorization from the CA. 

21. ORDER RECEIPT CONFIRMATION 

The Contractor will provide ordering agencies with an order receipt confirmation, via e-mail or facsimile, 
within one (1) business day of receipt of purchase document.  The Order Receipt Confirmation shall include 
the following information: 

• Ordering Agency Name 

• Agency Order Number (Purchase Order Number) 

• Purchase Order Total Cost 

• Anticipated Delivery Date 

• Identification of any Out of Stock/Discontinued Items 

• Contractor’s Order Number 

• Description of Goods 

 

22. OUT OF STOCK REMEDY 

Upon receipt of order acknowledgment identifying out of stock items, the ordering agencies shall have the 
following options: 

• Request back order; or 

• Cancel the item from the order with no penalty. 

Contractor will provide notification to the ordering agencies regarding out-of-stock items which have been 
back ordered.  

Under no circumstance is the Contractor permitted to make substitutions with non-contract items or 
unauthorized products. 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 137

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 13 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

23. DISCONTINUED ITEM REMEDY  

Upon receipt of order acknowledgment identifying discontinued items, the ordering agencies shall have the 
following options: 

• Amend purchase document to reflect State-approved substitute item (per Article 14, Product 
Substitutions/Discontinued Items) 

• Cancel the item from the order. 

Under no circumstance is the Contractor permitted to make substitutions with non-contract items or 
unauthorized products without approval from the CA. 

24. DELIVERY SCHEDULES 

Delivery for orders placed against this contract shall be in accordance with the following: 
 
A. Locations  

Deliveries are to be made (statewide) to the location specified on the individual purchase order, which 
may include, but not limited to inside buildings, high-rise office buildings, and receiving docks.  

 
B. Schedule 

Delivery of ordered product shall be completed in full within 30 days after receipt of an order (ARO) 
unless otherwise agreed to by the agency.  Since receiving hours for each ordering agency will vary 
by facility, it will be the Contractor’s responsibility to check with each facility for their specific delivery 
hours before delivery occurs.  The Contractor must notify the ordering agency within 12 hours of 
scheduled delivery time, if delivery cannot be made within the time frame specified on the Order 
Receipt Confirmation.   
 
Contractor is requested to make deliveries in Los Angeles County, Orange County, San Bernardino 
Metropolitan Area, and San Diego Metropolitan Area during off-peak hours. Off-peak hours are 
Monday through Friday, 10:00 AM to 4:00 PM.  

C. Security Requirements     

Deliveries may be made to locations inside secure institutional grounds (such as the California State 
Prisons) that require prior clearances to be made for delivery drivers.  Since security clearance 
procedures for each facility may vary, it will be the Contractor’s responsibility for contacting the secure 
location for security clearance procedures, hours of operation for deliveries and service, dress code, 
and other rules of delivery.   

 
25. EMERGENCY/EXPEDITED ORDERS 

Not Applicable. 

26. FREE ON BOARD (F.O.B.) DESTINATION 

All prices are F.O.B. destination; freight prepaid by the contractor, to the ordering agency’s final receiving 
point.  Responsibility and liability for loss or damage for all orders will remain with the contractor until final 
inspection and acceptance, when all responsibility will pass to the ordering organization, except the 
responsibility for latent defects, fraud, and the warranty obligations. 

 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 138

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 14 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

27. PALLETS  

Unless otherwise specified on the ordering agency’s purchase order document, standard commercially 
available pallet sizes should be used.  All pallets shall be of sturdy construction and adequate condition to 
assure delivery of the goods without damage to the goods or safety hazards.   

Exchange pallets may be available; however, the State assumes no responsibility for the availability to 
exchange pallets.  Delivery drivers shall not remove more pallets from the location than delivering at time of 
delivery. 

28. SHIPPED ORDERS 

All shipments shall be in accordance with the General Provisions, section 12 entitled “Packing and 
Shipment”.   

http://www.documents.dgs.ca.gov/pd/contracts/forms/rfp/Exhibit 8.22 IT General Provisions.pdf 
 

29. PACKING SLIP  

A packing slip will be included with each shipment, which will include at least the following information in no 
particular order: 

• Agency Order Number (Purchase Order Number) 

• Ordering Agency Name 

• Line item description 

• Quantity ordered 

• Quantity included in shipment 

• Any back ordered or out of stock items and availability date of unfilled and partial shipment 

• Number of parcels 

• Destination 

• All information contained on the packing label 

30. PACKING LABEL 

A packing label will also be included with each order shipped and include the following items, visible on the 
outside of the box: 

• Authorized Purchaser 

• Address 

• Department and floor 

• Authorized Purchaser Contact Name 

• Authorized Purchaser Telephone Number 

31. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS DOCUMENTATION  

For products that contain hazardous chemicals, as defined by California Code of Regulations, Title 8, 
Section 339, the Contractor must provide a Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS), via facsimile or email, to the 
ordering agency upon written request. 

 

 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 15 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

32. INSTALLATION 

Installation is available on the contract as a Value Added Service as described in Attachment B – Exhibit 
8.19E Addendum 7 Configuration Specification/Technical Worksheet-Ruggedized Laptop Catergory dated 
3/8/2017.  This line item may require a Statement of Work. Please refer to Article 7.A.  
 
Physical installation includes coordination of installation with State representative, power-up, installation of 
latest firmware, installation of software and updates, removal of the equipment that is being replaced, and 
dunnage. Testing and diagnostics must include execution of a suite of hardware and software. The basic 
configuration must be completed and accepted by a State representative. Installation shall include electronic 
documentation, including configuration instructions, at no additional price.   

33. INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE  

In accordance with the General Provisions, unless otherwise noted in the ordering agency’s SOW, rejection 
of deliverables must be processed within 30 days of delivery or it shall be deemed as accepted by the State. 

http://www.documents.dgs.ca.gov/pd/contracts/forms/rfp/Exhibit 8.22 IT General Provisions.pdf 
 

34. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION  

Both the State and the contractor have assigned contract administrators as the single points of contact for 
problem resolution and related contract issues. 

Administrator 
Information 

DGS/PD 
(State Contract Administrator) 

NWN  
(Contractor) 

Contact Name: Denelle Scott NWN Corporation 

Telephone: (916) 375-4492 (916) 637-2135 

Facsimile: (916) 375-4613 (916) 596-4800 

Email: denelle.scott@dgs.ca.gov mniemann@nwnit.com 

Address: DGS/Procurement Division 

Attn: Denelle Scott 

707 Third Street, 2nd Floor, MS 201 

West Sacramento, CA  95605 

NWN Corporation 
Attn: Matt Niemann 
2969 Prospect Park Drive, Suite 225 
Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 

 

35. RETURN POLICY 

Contractor will accept all products for return at no cost to the ordering agency within 30 calendar days of 
delivery, and refund the customer in full.  Contractor may impose a Restocking Fee per Article 37. 
Restocking Fees. 
 
Note: Products returned should be in the packaging as delivered and include all documentation.  Lost or 
damaged packaging materials and/or documentation shall be supplied by the Contractor.  The Contractor 
shall not charge for these materials.  The Contractor shall provide the CA and/or ordering department(s) a 
copy of the Contractor’s material cost, if requested, within ten (10) days of request. 
 
All returns shall be picked up within seven (7) working days of notification.  Notification is defined as notice in 
writing, by facsimile or e-mail. 

36. CREDIT POLICY  

The Contractor shall offer credit/refund for the following items: 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 16 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

• Items shipped in error 

• Items that are returned within 30 calendar days of delivery 

• Defective or freight-damaged items 

In all cases, the ordering agency shall have the option of taking an exchange or receiving a credit, or 
receiving a refund. 

The Contractor will be responsible for the credit or replacement of all products, including those covered by 
manufacturer warranties.  Contractor cannot require the ordering agency to deal directly with the 
manufacturer.   

37. RESTOCKING FEES  

The Contractor will not impose a restocking fee on the ordering agency for the following situations: 

• Items returned that were damaged upon receipt 

• Incorrect items shipped 

• Items that are returned within 30 calendar days of delivery 

• Items that are returned, but exchanged for other items within 30 calendar days. 

Re-stocking fees for all other reasons shall be ten percent (10%) of the value of the items needing re-
stocking. 

The packaging and documentation provisions of Article 35, Return Policy, shall apply to re-stocked items. 

The Contractor will not be required to accept returns more than 60 days after delivery.  The State will be 
responsible for return transportation costs to the Contractor if so accepted after 60 days after delivery. 

38. INVOICING    

Ordering agencies may require separate invoicing, as specified by each ordering agency.  The Contractor’s 
invoice must identify, at a minimum, the information listed below: 

• Contractor’s name, address and telephone number 

• Leveraged Procurement Number (State’s Contract Number) 

• Agency Order Number (Purchase Order Number) 

• Agency Billing Code 

• Ordering Agency Name 

• Delivery address of the order 

• Product(s) description 

• Contractor’s product stock keeping unit number (SKU) 

• State Contract Price(s) per unit(s) and extended price 

• Quantities of merchandise issued 

• Date ordered 

• Date delivered 

• Listing of returns or back ordered items 

• If applicable, discounts shall be clearly indicated on each invoice as a written statement.   

• Totals for each order.  Each invoice shall have a total for all orders, a total for all credits, and amount 
due from each agency 

• Any other mutually agreed upon requirements the State may later deem necessary 

Invoices shall be submitted to the ordering agencies within seven (7) calendar days from date of delivery. 

 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 17 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

39. PAYMENT    

A. Terms    

Payment terms for this contract are net forty-five (45) days.  Payment will be made in accordance with 
the provisions of the California Prompt Payment Act, Government Code Section 927, et seq.  Unless 
expressly exempted by statute, the Act requires State departments to pay properly submitted, 
undisputed invoices not more than forty- five (45) days after the date of acceptance of goods, 
performance of services, or receipt of an undisputed invoice, whichever is later. 

B. CAL-Card Use   

State departments may use the CAL-Card for the payment of invoices.  Use of the CAL-Card requires 
the execution of Purchasing Authority Purchase Order (Std. 65) as referenced in Article 17 (Purchase 
Execution) and must include all required documentation applicable to the purchase. 

The CAL-Card is a payment mechanism, not a procurement approach and, therefore, does not relieve 
departments from adhering to all procurement laws, regulations, policies, procedures, and best 
practices, including those discussed in the State Contracting Manual (SCM) Volume 1 and Volume 2. 
This includes but is not limited to the application of all sales and use tax laws, rules and policies as 
applicable to the purchase.  

C. State Financial Marketplace 

The State reserves the right to select the form of payment for all procurements, be it either an outright 
purchase with payment rendered directly by the State, or a financing/lease-purchase or operating lease 
via the State Financial Marketplace (GS $Mart and/or Lease $Mart). If payment is via the financial 
marketplace, the Supplier will invoice the State and the State will approve the invoice and the selected 
Lender/Lessor for all product listed on the State's procurement document will pay the supplier on behalf 
of the State. 

D. Payee Data Record 

Each State accounting office must have a copy of the Payee Data Record (Std. 204) in order to process 
payments.  State departments should forward a copy of the Std. 204 to their accounting office(s).  
Without the Std. 204, payment may be unnecessarily delayed. State departments should contact the 
contractor for copies of the Payee Data Record. 

40. CAL-CARD INVOICING 

All CAL-Card invoices are to be processed separately from other payment methods and include the elements 
identified in Article 38, Invoicing.  CAL-Card invoices shall be submitted to the CAL-Card account holder.  
The total invoice amount for each CAL-Card order must reflect a zero balance due or credit, if applicable, 
and state “paid by CAL-Card”.  

For additional information regarding DGS/PD’s CAL-Card program, see the following website: 
http://www.dgs.ca.gov/pd/Programs/CALCard.aspx. 

41. CALIFORNIA SELLER’S PERMIT 

The California seller permit number for the contractor is listed below.  State departments can verify that 
permits are currently valid at the following website: www.boe.ca.gov.  State departments must adhere to the 
file documentation required identified in the State Contracting Manual Volume 2 and Volume 3, as 
applicable.  

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 142

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 18 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

Contractor Name Seller Permit # 

NWN Corporation 100-937005 

 
 
42. ACCESSIBILITY COMPLIANCE/ VOLUNTARY PRODUCT ACCESSIBILITY TEMPLATE (VPAT)  

Contract products are compliant with requirements for accessibility based on Section 508 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794d) are determined to be relevant for this procurement. 
 

43. WARRANTY  

The Contractor must honor all manufacturers’ warranties and guarantees for a period of three (3) years from 
the date of acceptance on all products offered as part of this contract.  The Contractor shall bear all material 
and labor costs for repair of equipment defects and failure.  The bid price cost shall include the 
manufacturer’s warranty cost. 

During the warranty period, the Contractor must: 

• Honor all manufacturers’ warranties and guarantees on all products offered through the contract.  

• Continue to provide warranty service after contract termination until expiration of warranties for products 
that have been sold under the contract. 

• Provide all labor, parts, and travel necessary to keep the products in good operating condition and 
preserve its operating efficiency in accordance with its technical specifications. 

• Pay any necessary shipment and insurance costs. 

• Be the single point of contact for all warranty issues and subsequent resolution.  
 

The warranty services listed shall include all products, software and firmware maintenance costs and costs 
of labor, parts, travel, factory overhaul, rehabilitation, transportation and substitute product(s) as 
necessary.  If it is necessary to remove any products from an authorized purchaser’s location where On-site 
warranty is specified, the Contractor will provide substitute products at the time of removal.   

Substitute products will be comparable to or better than the products removed.  In instances where it is 
necessary for the Contractor to return the products to the factory, the Contractor will be responsible for all 
costs of the products from the time it leaves the authorized purchaser’s site until it is returned to the site in 
good operating condition.   

Only new standard parts or parts equal in performance to new parts will be used in effecting repairs.  Parts 
that have been replaced will become the property of the Contractor except in instances where the State 
chooses to keep the hard drives.  Replacement parts installed will become the property of the authorized 
purchaser. 

All operating system software and firmware will be considered an integral component of the equipment and 
the Contractor will respond to all requests for warranty service for any failure. 

Warranty services during the warranty period will not include electrical work external to the products, the 
furnishing of supplies, or adding or removing accessories, attachments, or other devices not provided under 
this contract.  Warranty services also will not include repair of damage resulting from transportation by the 
authorized purchaser between State or local sites or from accident, unless the accident is caused by 
negligent or intentional acts or omissions of Contractor or its agents. 

 

 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 143

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 19 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

44. QUALITY ASSURANCE GUARANTEES  

The Contractor(s) shall represent and warrant that Rugged and Semi-Rugged Laptop Computer products 
provided shall be free from defects in material and workmanship, given normal use and care, over the period 
of the manufacturer warranty.  The terms of this contract will supersede any language to the contrary on 
purchase orders, invoices, or other sources.  Contractors must use new products, parts, and components for 
all new equipment purchased by the State.  Contractors may use parts that are equal in performance to new 
parts for warranty replacement repair parts only as long as it does not violate manufacturers’ warranty. 

45. EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT DURING WARRANTY  

If the product(s) provided fails to perform in accordance with technical specifications and functional 
descriptions contained or referenced in the awarded contract agreement and is subject to warranty response 
three (3) or more times during any ninety (90) day period, the Contractor will upon the authorized purchaser’s 
request, replace the product(s) at no price. The replacement product(s) will be delivered no later than fifteen 
(15) working days after the authorized purchaser’s request is received by the contractor.  Replacement 
goods cannot be used, refurbished or recycled, and must be of equal or greater value. 

46. PRINCIPAL PERIOD OF MAINTENANCE 

The Contractor must provide warranty in accordance with the following Principal Period of Maintenance 
(PPM) times after notification from an authorized purchaser of a problem with any of the goods included in 
this contract. 

• Metropolitan Areas shall be 8x5x8 NBD onsite – Eight (8) hours, typically 8:00 am to 5:00 pm, Pacific 
Time, five (5) days a week, Monday through Friday, eight (8) hour Next Business Day onsite response 
time in metropolitan areas, excluding State holidays. 

• Non-Metropolitan Areas shall be 8x5x2 (two (2) hour call back response time, excluding State holidays.)  
Remediation shall be underway within 48 hours. 

Metropolitan Areas 

Counties 

San Diego           Orange           Riverside           Los Angeles 

San Francisco    Alameda         Sacramento      Santa Clara 

San Bernardino  Yolo                Solano               Contra Costa  

San Mateo 

Cities 

Redding             Stockton          Bakersfield       Ventura 

Tracy                 San Quentin     Santa Rosa       Santa Barbara 

Frontera            Fresno 

• For Monitors only: NBD cross-ship Exchange of Replacement monitor. 
 

47. RECYCLED CONTENT 

There is no recycled content associated with this contract.  

 

 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 144

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 20 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

48. SMALL BUSINESS/DISABLED VETERAN BUSINESS ENTERPRISE PARTICIPATION   

The small business (SB) and disabled veteran business enterprise (DVBE) certifications and percentages for 
the contractor(s) and subcontractor(s) are listed below.  State departments can verify that the certifications 
are currently valid at the following website: www.caleprocure.ca.gov 

SUBCONTRACTOR INFORMATION 

Name 
OSDS 

Certification # 

SB 
Percent 

(%) 

DVBE 
Percent 

(%) 

Work to be 
Performed 

Global Blue DVBE, 
Inc. 

1567640 1.5% 1.5% 
Contract Reporting, Pre-

Order Configuration 
Consulting 

Shade & Putnam 
Technology 
Solutions 

1747904 1.5% 1.5% 

Imaging, Deployment & 
Logistics Asset Tagging, 

Delivery, Installation, 
Take Back & Trade-In 

Support 

 

State departments must identify subcontractors on individual purchase documents whenever subcontractors 
have been identified.   

The Contractor has committed to DVBE participation at total statewide contract levels of 3% and 3%, 
respectively.   

Individual orders may have no applicable participation or may have participation greater than that of the total 
contract commitment.  Ordering agencies must verify the participation amount with the contractor. The exact 
participation percentage levels for each purchase order will be determined on an order-by-order basis in 
cooperation with the Contractor prior to submittal of a Purchasing Authority Purchase Order (STD 65).   

Exception: It is the responsibility of ordering departments to confirm CUF when value-added services are 
acquired by an ordering department and performed by certified SB/DVBE subcontractors consistent with 
commitments identified in the table above. 

Any irregularities or concerns regarding prime or SB/DVBE sub-contractor responsibilities are to be 
immediately documented and reported to the State’s contract administrator for further 
investigation.  Information provided to the State’s contract administrator includes, but is not limited to: 

• Copy of executed purchase document 

• Value-added service description 

• Work performance issue or concern 

• Department contact name, email, and phone number 

Departments may request from the Contractor a monthly report providing the SB/DVBE participation levels 
on purchase orders. 

49. BIDDER DECLARATION/COMMERCIALLY USEFUL FUNCTION (CUF) 
 
The DGS/PD, as the awarding department, has assessed the prime Contractor’s certifications and CUF 
during the solicitation evaluation process.  Consequently, when executing purchase documents pursuant to 
this contract, it is not necessary for State departments operating under statewide contract purchasing 
authority to request the completion of a Bidder Declaration document or perform additional CUF analysis.  
The department should make a notation of this within their procurement file. 
 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 145

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
PROCUREMENT DIVISION   

Contract User Instructions 
 

Contract 1-17-70-11A Page 21 02/07/2018 
User Instructions 

50. TAKE BACK/TRADE IN  

Before any Take Back or Trade-In can occur, ordering agencies must obtain approval for discarding their IT 
equipment from the DGS Surplus Property and Reutilization Program.  In accordance with the State 
Administrative Manual (SAM), Chapter 5900, Information Technology-Disposal of IT Equipment, each 
agency must explore the reutilization of surplus IT equipment prior to requesting approval for recycling or 
attempting to use the equipment as a credit toward the purchase of new equipment. 

This contract offers a Take Back service for similar equipment, including other OEM equipment. This Take 
Back service is for non-working equipment.  It is not mandatory that the ordering agency use the Take Back 
service offered.  The equipment returned as part of the Take Back service shall be environmentally 
responsibly managed. To the greatest extent feasible, the equipment is to be refurbished for resale or 
recycled.  

See Attachment C, Take Back/Trade In for more information. 

51. ELECTRONIC WASTE RECYCLING  

The contractor will comply with the Electronic Waste Recycling Act of 2003 requiring retailers to collect a 
recycling fee from consumers on covered electronic devices, starting January 1, 2005. California Public 
Resources Code Section 42463(f) defines a "covered electronic device" as a video display device containing 
a screen greater than four inches measured diagonally. The fees must be shown on all purchase orders. 
See the code identified above for more information and exceptions to this definition or go to 
http://www.boe.ca.gov/sptaxprog/tax_rates_stfd.htm#6 for a breakdown of the fees. 

52. ATTACHMENTS  

Attachment A – Contract Pricing Rev 1 dated 02/07/2018 
Attachment B – Exhibit 8.19E Addendum 7 Configuration Specification/Technical Worksheet-Ruggedized 
Laptop Catergory dated 3/8/2017 

Attachment C – Take Back/Trade In 

Attachment D – Supplier Performance Report 

 

 

4.7.c

Packet Pg. 146

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

w
it

h
 N

W
N

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

  (
A

u
th

o
ri

za
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

M
o

b
ile

 D
at

a 
T

er
m

in
al

 (
M

D
T

) 
C

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 f
ro

m



NWN Corporation
11931 Foundation Place
Suite 250
Gold River, CA 95670
Phone 800-660-0430
Fax 916-596-4800

Statewide Rugged Notebook
1-17-70-11A

Quote To: City of Dublin Quote # NWN18-0003RGTNB FEIN# 04-3532235

MSIP Dated - Nov 2018 Quoted By: Kim Lueb

E-mail: Klueb@nwnit.com

Date: 11/27/2018 Good Thru:

CORE CLIN Mfg Part # Rugged Notebook QTY Index Discount

N
A992427/ ATK-
V110NBD-3

V110 G3 Premium GUSA - Intel Core i5-6200U Processor, Touch Pad with Click Button, 11.6" With Webcam, 
Microsoft Windows 10 Pro x64 with 8GB RAM , 256GB SSD, Sunlight Readable LCD + Touch Screen + Hard 
Tip stylus, US KBD+US Power cord, Membrane Backlit KBD, Wifi+BT+GPS+Gobi+Passthrough, Hard Handle 
(V110), RFID , Dual batteries, TPM 2.0, Low Temp -21°C, IP65, 3 Year B2B Warranty

4 $       5,365.00 35%

Core Hardware Sub-Total

Upgrades/Accessories

N A950703
V110 Gamber Johnson Tri PassThrough Vehicle Dock & Replicaion with screen stiffener (DC power adapter 
sold separately) 4 $782.59 25%

N A991809 TG3 83 KEY, BACKLIT, TOUCHPAD, USB, COILED CORD, NO LOGO, BUNDLED 5 YEAR WARRANTY 4 $320.00 25%

N A952132 LIND 12-16VDC vehicle adapter/charger 4 $127.94 25%

Upgrades/Accessories Sub-Total

Non-taxable Items

N A950936 Bumper to Bumper + Extended Warranty-  (Year 4 & 5) 4 $725.00 25%

TAX

E-Waste

TOTAL QUOTE PRICE

Items with an "N" need DGS approval; please contact the Contract Manager, Denelle Scott, Denelle.Scott@dgs.ca.gov, 916-375-4492

Sub-Total

4.7.d

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
A

p
p

ro
ve

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

ro
m

 N
W

N
 C

o
rp

o
ra

ti
o

n
  (

A
u

th
o

ri
za

ti
o

n
 t

o
 P

u
rc

h
as

e 
M

o
b

ile
 D

at
a 

T
er

m
in

al



Make Payable to:
NWN Corporation
Dept. 34611 PO Box 39000
San Francisco, CA 94139

1/11/2019

Unit Price Extension

3,487.25$        13,949.00$  

3,487.25$        13,949.00$  

586.94$           2,347.77$    

240.00$           960.00$       

95.96$             383.82$       

922.90$           3,691.59$    

543.75$           2,175.00$    

4,953.90$        19,815.59$  

9.25% 1,631.75$    

$5.00 20.00$         

21,467.34$  

4.7.d

Packet Pg. 148

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
A

p
p

ro
ve

d
 Q

u
o

te
 f

ro
m

 N
W

N
 C

o
rp

o
ra

ti
o

n
  (

A
u

th
o

ri
za

ti
o

n
 t

o
 P

u
rc

h
as

e 
M

o
b

ile
 D

at
a 

T
er

m
in

al



 

Page 1 of 5 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Zoning Ordinance Amendments—Chapters 8.08 (Definitions), 8.12 
(Zoning Districts and Permitted Uses of Land), 8.40 (Accessory Structures 
and Uses Regulations), 8.70 (Recreational Facilities (Indoor)), 8.72 
(Landscaping and Fencing Regulations, 8.76 (Off-Street Parking and 
Loading Regulations), 8.80 (Second Units Regulations), 8.96 (Permit 
Procedures), and 8.104 (Site Development Review), (PLPA-2018-00030) 
Prepared by:  Mandy Kang, Senior Planner 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City Council will consider amendments to the Zoning Ordinance to bring greater 
clarity and consistency to existing regulations. Amendments are proposed to Chapters 
8.08 (Definitions), 8.12 (Zoning Districts and Permitted Uses of Land), 8.40 (Accessory 
Structures and Uses Regulations), 8.70 (Recreational Facilities (Indoor)), 8.72 
(Landscaping and Fencing Regulations), 8.76 (Off-Street Parking and Loading 
Regulations), 8.80 (Second Units Regulations), 8.96 (Permit Procedures), and 8.104 
(Site Development Review).   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Conduct the public hearing, deliberate, waive the reading, and INTRODUCE an 
Ordinance Amending Chapters 8.08 (Definitions), 8.12 (Zoning Districts and Permitted 
Uses of Land), 8.40 (Accessory Structures and Uses Regulations), 8.70 (Recreational 
Facilities (Indoor)), 8.76 (Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations), 8.80 (Second 
Units Regulations), 8.96 (Permit Procedures), and 8.104 (Site Development Review) of 
the Dublin Zoning Ordinance. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:  
 

None. 
 

DESCRIPTION: 
 

Periodically, the City initiates amendments to the Zoning Ordinance to clarify, add or 
amend certain provisions to ensure that the Zoning Ordinance remains internally 
consistent, simple to understand and implement, and relevant to changes occurring in 
the community. Staff is currently proposing minor amendments to the Zoning Ordinance 

4.8

Packet Pg. 149



 

Page 2 of 5 

to clarify certain policies, address errors in the Zoning Ordinance, align policies for 
similar uses, and to streamline processes.   
 

The following is a brief overview of the proposed Zoning Ordinance Amendments. For 
ease of understanding, a detailed list of the proposed amendments in 
underline/strikethrough format (where underlined text is proposed to be added and text 
with a strikethrough is proposed to be deleted) is included as Attachment 1. The 
proposed Ordinance approving the Zoning Amendments is included as Attachment 2. 
  
Definitions (Section 8.08.020) 
 

Eating and Drinking Establishment (use type):  This amendment is proposed to clarify 
that a microbrewery is considered an “Eating and Drinking Establishment”.   
 

Boarders, Boarding House (use type), Single Family Residence and Single 
Housekeeping Unit:  Amendments to these definitions are proposed to clarify and define 
what the difference is between a “Boarding House” and a “Single-Family Residence”.   
 

Maximum Lot Coverage:  This amendment is proposed to facilitate the use of the 
Zoning Ordinance and make it easier to find this definition by removing the word 
“Maximum” from the title. The definition of the term itself will not change with this 
amendment.   
 

Off-Street Loading Space:  The Zoning Ordinance references the term “Off-Street 
Loading Space” but the term is not defined. The proposed amendment would add a 
definition for “Off-Street Loading Space”.  
 

Zoning Districts and Permitted Uses of Land (Section 8.12.050) 
 

In 2010, the City Council adopted streamlined permitting for Day Care Centers (center 
which provide care to 15+ children). A Day Care Center is required to obtain an 
administratively approved Zoning Clearance if it meets established development 
standards, and a Minor Use Permit from the Community Development Director if it does 
not.  
 

Staff proposes to amend the Zoning Ordinance to provide this same streamlined 
permitting for Large Family Day Care Homes which provide care for up to 14 children. 
The Zoning Ordinance currently requires that a Large Family Day Care Home obtain an 
administratively approved Zoning Clearance if it meets established development 
standards, and a Conditional Use Permit from the Planning Commission if it does not. 
This amendment would align with and provide the same streamlined permitting process 
for a Day Care Center and a Large Family Day Care Home by requiring approval of a 
Minor User Permit from the Community Development Director if the use does not meet 
the development standards. Surrounding residents would continue to be notified of such 
application in the same manner as required for a Conditional Use Permit.  
 

4.8

Packet Pg. 150



 

Page 3 of 5 

Accessory Structures and Use Regulations (Chapter 8.40) 
 

Lot Coverage Exemptions (Section 8.40.020.F.1.d) 
In 2006, the City Council adopted an amendment to Section 8.36.100.A of the Zoning 
Ordinance to allow one 120 square foot residential accessory structure to be exempt 
from the lot coverage regulations regardless of lot size. However, Section 
8.40.020.F.1.d of the Zoning Ordinance, which also contains lot coverage requirements, 
was inadvertently not amended to provide consistent language. Therefore, the proposed 
amendment would modify the language in Section 8.40.020.F.1.d to provide the same 
120 square foot exemption and eliminate the inconsistency between the code sections.   
 

Guesthouses (Section 8.40.020.F.2.e) 
This amendment is proposed to clarify the setback requirement for a guesthouse since 
it is already defined in Section 8.40.020.F.2.h (Heights and Setbacks).   
 

Indoor Recreational Facilities (Section 8.70.030.A) 
 

An Indoor Recreational Facility is required to obtain an administratively approved 
Zoning Clearance if it meets established development standards, and a Minor Use 
Permit from the Community Development Director if it does not. This permitting process 
also applies to such uses in the Downtown Dublin Zoning District and Dublin Crossing 
Zoning District. The proposed text amendment would provide clarity by adding these 
zoning districts to the list of applicable zoning districts in Section 8.70.030.A.    
 

Landscaping and Fencing Regulations (Section 8.72.080.E) 
 

The list of prohibited fence materials is proposed to be modified to include other 
materials similar in nature to barbed wire, razor wire, etc. This amendment is proposed 
to provide greater clarity and assist staff with enforcing the intent of this existing 
regulation. 
 

Off Street Parking and Loading Regulations (Chapter 8.76) 
 

Table 76-1 

The Dimensional Requirements Table 76-1 currently lists the letters “C” and “F” in both 
the columns and rows, which makes it confusing when the letters are defined below the 
table.  This amendment is proposed to clarify and define each of the letters in Figure 76-
1, so they coincide with the dimensions.    
 

Loading Requirements (Section 8.76.090) 
The Zoning Ordinance requires a minimum of 1 loading spaces for certain use types 
regardless of the operating characteristics and need generated by the use. The 
proposed amendment would provide flexibility in the number of required loading spaces 
for a project. 
 

Second Units Regulations (Section 8.80.040.A) 
 

Second units are heavily regulated by State law. The proposed amendment will ensure 
consistency with State law by clarifying that the existing Zoning Ordinance Regulations 

4.8

Packet Pg. 151



 

Page 4 of 5 

supersede any Planned Development Zoning District regulations which are more 
restrictive. 
 

Permit Procedures (Section 8.96.020.E) 
 

The amount of work and financial investment by an applicant to bring a project to fruition 
can be substantial and take an extended period of time. However, Planning permits (i.e. 
Site Development Review, Conditional Use and Minor Use Permits, Minor Use Permits, 
etc.) typically expire after one year unless construction or use has begun, or an 
applicant has demonstrated substantial progress toward doing so (Section 8.96.020.D). 
The Zoning Ordinance does provide a mechanism for the original decision maker to 
extend the life of the permit for up to 6 months upon a determination that any Conditions 
of Approval remain adequate to assure that applicable findings of approval will continue 
to be met (Section 8.96.020.E). The proposed amendment would provide the 
Community Development Director with the authority to twice approve a permit extension 
of up to one year each, with additional extensions granted by the original decision 
maker. This amendment would streamline the current procedure while providing greater 
certainty to applicants while they expend substantial resources. 
 

Site Development Review (Section 8.104.030.A.1.a) 
 

The proposed amendment would simplify the language regarding landscape 
modifications and tree replacements. The proposed language would not change the 
intent of the existing policy. 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION REVIEW:  
 

On November 13, 2018, the Planning Commission reviewed the draft ordinance and 
adopted Resolution No. 18-27 by a 3-0 vote (Attachments 3 and 4), recommending the 
City Council adopt the proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments, with the following 
recommendations:   
 

1) Boarding House Definition (Section 8.08.020): Add the word “non-transient” to 
the definition of Boarding House; and  

2) Permit Procedures - Time Extension (Section 8.96.020.E): Allow the Community 
Development Director to grant a maximum of two extensions to a permit, with 
additional extensions granted by the original decision maker. 

 

These changes have been incorporated into the proposed Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments as described above and in Attachments 1 and 2.   
 
CONSISTENCY WITH THE GENERAL PLAN, SPECIFIC PLAN AND ZONING 
ORDINANCE: 
 

The proposed Zoning Ordinance Amendments are consistent with the Dublin General 
Plan and all applicable Specific by bringing greater clarity and consistency to existing 
Zoning regulations which implement the General Plan and Specific Plans. 
 

4.8

Packet Pg. 152



 

Page 5 of 5 

STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE: 
 
None. 
 
NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 
 

In accordance with State law, a notice regarding this Public Hearing was published in 
the East Bay Times and posted at several locations throughout the City.  The Staff 
Report for this public hearing was also available on the City’s website. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: 
 

The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), together with State Guidelines and 
City Environmental Regulations require that certain projects be reviewed for 
environmental impacts and that environmental documents be prepared.  Pursuant to 
CEQA, Staff is recommending that the proposed Ordinance be found exempt from 
CEQA per CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3). Section 15061(b)(3) states that 
CEQA applies only to those projects that may have the potential to cause a significant 
effect on the environment.  The adoption of the proposed Ordinance is exempt from 
CEQA because the Ordinance does not allow the establishment of any use or the 
construction of any building or structure, but sets forth the regulations that shall be 
followed if and when a use is proposed to be established, or a building or structure is 
proposed to be constructed, or a site is proposed to be development. This Ordinance, 
therefore, has no potential for resulting in significant physical change in the 
environment, directly or ultimately. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1.  Zoning Ordinance Amendments in Underline Strikethrough Format 

2.  Ordinance Approving Amendments to the Zoning Ordinance 

3.  Draft Planning Commission Meeting Minutes dated November 13, 2018 

4.  Planning Commission Resolution 18-27 Recommending Approval 

 

4.8

Packet Pg. 153



                                                               1 of 10  Attachment 1 
 

CHAPTER 8.08 
DEFINITIONS 

 
 
Section 8.08.020 (Definitions (A-Z)) of Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code is proposed to 
be amended as follows: 
 
Eating and Drinking Establishment (use type). The term Eating and Drinking 
Establishment shall mean restaurants, banquet facilities, bars, microbreweries, and 
taverns and other establishments selling prepared foods and drinks for on-premise 
consumption, as well as drive-through restaurants, lunch counters and refreshment 
stands selling prepared food and drinks for either immediate or off-premise 
consumption, or other purveyors determined to be substantially similar to the above by 
the Director of Community Development. 
 
Boarders.  The term Boarders shall mean a person who receives regular lodging rights 
(including but not limited to a place to eat and sleep) in return for compensation, 
whether direct or indirect.   
 
Boarding House (use type). The term Boarding House shall mean a housing unit used 
for residential purposes, other than a hotel, where lodging and meals for single-family 
dwelling where bedrooms are rented to five or more people non-transient persons, who 
are not living as a single housekeeping unit, are provided for compensation, whether 
direct or indirect. and at least one common meal is offered each day. In determining the 
number of persons lodging in a boarding house, all residents shall be counted, including 
those acting as a manager, landlord or building superintendent.  A Boarding House is 
considered to be a Multifamily Dwelling.   
 
Maximum Lot Coverage. The term Maximum Lot Coverage shall mean the maximum 
lot area which may be covered with buildings and structures. Buildings and structures 
include all land covered by Principal Buildings, garages and carports, Accessory 
Structures, covered decks and gazebos, and other enclosed and covered areas; but not 
standard roof overhangs, cornices, eaves, uncovered decks, swimming pools, paved 
areas such as walkways, driveways, patios, uncovered parking areas or roads. All areas 
of coverage are computed in terms of net lot area at ground level. 
 
Off-Street Loading Space.  Off-Street Loading Space shall mean an area designated 
for temporary parking for purposes of on- and off-loading. 
 
Single-Family Residence (use type). The term Single-Family Residence shall mean a 
building designed for and/or occupied exclusively by a single housekeeping unit. Also 
includes factory-built housing, modular housing, manufactured housing, mobile homes, 
and the rental of bedrooms within a single-family dwelling to no more than four 
boarders. A residence with more than four boarders, where residents do not live as a 
single housekeeping unit, constitutes a boarding house, which is included within the 
definition of “Multi-Family Residence”. 

4.8.a

Packet Pg. 154

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 in
 U

n
d

er
lin

e 
S

tr
ik

et
h

ro
u

g
h

 F
o

rm
at

  (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



                                                               2 of 10  Attachment 1 
 

 
Single Housekeeping Unit.  The term Single Housekeeping Unit shall mean a 
residence with two or more members, whose members are a non-transient interactive 
group of persons jointly occupying a single dwelling unit, including but not limited to the 
joint use of common areas and sharing household activities and responsibilities such as 
meals, chores and expenses. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.8.a

Packet Pg. 155

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 in
 U

n
d

er
lin

e 
S

tr
ik

et
h

ro
u

g
h

 F
o

rm
at

  (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



                                                               3 of 10  Attachment 1 
 

CHAPTER 8.12 
ZONING DISTRICTS AND PERMITTED USES OF LAND 

 
 
Section 8.12.050 (Permitted and Conditional Permitted Land Uses, Regulations, and 
Performance Standards) of Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code is proposed to be 
amended as follows: 
 

RESIDENTIAL USE TYPES  

RESIDENTIAL USE TYPE A R-1 R-2 R-M C-O C-N C-1 C-2 M-P M-1 M-2 

Family Day Care Home/Large 
(up to 14 children) 

ZC/CUP 
ZC/MUP 

ZC/CUP 
ZC/MUP 

ZC/CUP 
ZC/MUP 

ZC/CUP 
ZC/MUP 

- - - - - - - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

4.8.a

Packet Pg. 156

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 in
 U

n
d

er
lin

e 
S

tr
ik

et
h

ro
u

g
h

 F
o

rm
at

  (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



                                                               4 of 10  Attachment 1 
 

CHAPTER 8.40 
ACCESSORY STRUCTURES AND USES REGULATIONS 

 
 
Section 8.40.020.F.1.d. (Maximum square footage of detached accessory structures 
(excluding swimming pools) on a lot.) of Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code is 
proposed to be amended as follows: 
 
d.    Maximum square footage of detached accessory structures (excluding 
swimming pools) on a lot. For lots less than 5,000 square feet in size, o One 
accessory structure in the Rear Yard with a maximum of 120 square feet shall be 
exempt from the Coverage Requirements. 

 
For lots 5,000 square feet in size or larger, the combined maximum square footage of all 
accessory structures on a lot such as a detached accessory garage, workshop, studio, or 
office shall not exceed 1,000 square feet unless a larger size is approved by the Zoning 
Administrator by means of a Conditional Use Permit. Rev. Ord. 16-02 (October 2002) 
 
 
Section 8.40.020.F.2.e (Guesthouses) of Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 
e.    Guesthouses. A detached Guesthouse accessory structure may be established on 
the lot of a single-family residence, as follows: 

1.    Not located in setback area. A guesthouse shall not be located 
within any required setback area. 

12.    Permitted and prohibited spaces. A guesthouse may contain a 
sleeping space, bathroom and other living space, but may not contain 
kitchen facilities. 

23.    Floor area limitation. The maximum floor area allowed for a 
guesthouse is 50% of the habitable floor area of the main residence, up to 
a maximum of 840 square feet. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.8.a

Packet Pg. 157

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 in
 U

n
d

er
lin

e 
S

tr
ik

et
h

ro
u

g
h

 F
o

rm
at

  (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



                                                               5 of 10  Attachment 1 
 

CHAPTER 8.70 
RECREATIONAL FACILITIES (INDOOR) 

 
 
Section 8.70.030.A (Permitted in the C-1, C-2, M-P, M-1, M-2, and Certain Planned 
Development Zoning Districts) of Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code is proposed to be 
amended as follows: 
 

A. Permitted in the C-1, C-2, M-P, M-1, M-2, and Certain Planned Development 
Zoning Districts. An Indoor Recreation Facility may be established only in the 
C-1, C-2, M-P, M-1, and M-2 Zoning Districts, Downtown Dublin Zoning District, 
and Dublin Crossing Zoning District. An Indoor Recreation Facility may also be 
established in a Planned Development (PD) Zoning District if not specifically 
prohibited by the PD regulations and if the project site has an underlying 
Commercial or Industrial General Plan Land Use designation. Any PD 
regulations which require a Conditional Use Permit for an Indoor Recreation 
Facility shall be superseded by this Chapter. Any Indoor Recreation Facility in a 
PD Zoning District, unless specifically prohibited or expressly permitted by right, 
shall be subject to the requirements of this Chapter. Rev. Ord. 4-10 (February 
2010); Ord. 15-09 (November 2009) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.8.a

Packet Pg. 158

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 in
 U

n
d

er
lin

e 
S

tr
ik

et
h

ro
u

g
h

 F
o

rm
at

  (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



                                                               6 of 10  Attachment 1 
 

CHAPTER 8.72 
LANDSCAPING AND FENCING REGULATIONS 

 
 
Section 8.72.080.E (Prohibited Fence Materials) of Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code is 
proposed to be amended as follows: 
 
E.  Prohibited fence materials. 
The use of barbed wire, electrified fence, or razor wire fence, or other similar material as 
determined by the Director of Community Development, in conjunction with any fence, 
wall, or hedge, or by itself within any zoning district, is prohibited unless permitted by a 
Conditional Use Permit, or required by a law or regulation of the City, the State, or the 
Federal Government. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.8.a

Packet Pg. 159

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 in
 U

n
d

er
lin

e 
S

tr
ik

et
h

ro
u

g
h

 F
o

rm
at

  (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



                                                               7 of 10  Attachment 1 
 

CHAPTER 8.76 
OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING REGULATIONS 

 
 
Section 8.76.070.A.7 (Dimensional Requirements) of Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code 
is proposed to be amended as follows: 
 
 
Table 76-1  
 
*In Table 76-1, A (in degrees) Column, spell out “Compact” and “Full” instead of 
“C” and “F”  
 
A = Parking Angle, B = Stall Width, X = Stall Length, C = Compact Space, F = Full 
Sized Space, C = Stall Depth, D = Aisle Width, E = Curb Length Per Car, F= Edge to 
Edge Width of Double Row and Aisle *The Director of Public Works may require a 
larger back-up distance where sight distances are inadequate and for multi-family 
residential developments. 
 
 
 

Section 8.76.090 (Loading Requirements) of Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 
Off-street freight and equipment loading spaces shall be provided for all offices, 
hospitals, institutions, hotels, senior group housing, schools, day care centers, and 
other commercial and industrial land uses. 

The following minimum number of loading spaces shall be provided for each use: 

Commercial, industrial, office, institutional, hospital, hotel, schools: 

*Remove chart 

A minimum of one loading space shall be provided or as Requirements for uses not 
specifically listed shall be determined by the Director of Community Development based 
upon the requirements for comparable uses and upon the particular characteristics of 
the proposed use. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.8.a

Packet Pg. 160

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 in
 U

n
d

er
lin

e 
S

tr
ik

et
h

ro
u

g
h

 F
o

rm
at

  (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



                                                               8 of 10  Attachment 1 
 

CHAPTER 8.80 
SECOND UNITS REGULATIONS 

 
 
Section 8.80.040.A (Permitted in the R-1 District and Certain Planned Development 
Districts) of Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code is proposed to be amended as follows: 
 
A.    Permitted in the R-1 District and Certain Planned Development Districts. A 
second unit may only be permitted in the R-1 zoning district and in a Planned 
Development zoning district which specifically allows second units or in a Planned 
Development zoning district which is subject to underlying R-1 standards where second 
units are not specifically prohibited by the PD regulations.  Any PD development 
regulations that are more restrictive than this Chapter shall be superseded by this 
Chapter and shall be subject to the requirements of this Chapter.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.8.a

Packet Pg. 161

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 in
 U

n
d

er
lin

e 
S

tr
ik

et
h

ro
u

g
h

 F
o

rm
at

  (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



                                                               9 of 10  Attachment 1 
 

CHAPTER 8.96 
PERMIT PROCEDURES 

 
 
Section 8.96.020.E (Time Extension) of Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code is proposed 
to be amended as follows: 
 
E.    Time Extension. The original approving decision-maker Director of Community 
Development may, upon the Applicant’s written request for an extension of approval 
prior to expiration, and upon the determination that any Conditions of Approval remain 
adequate to assure that applicable findings of approval will continue to be met, grant a 
time extension of approval for a period not to exceed 6 12 months. All time extension 
requests shall be noticed and a public hearing or public meeting shall be held as 
required by the particular Permit.  The Director of Community Development may grant a 
maximum of two extensions of approval, and additional extensions may be granted by 
the original decision maker.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.8.a

Packet Pg. 162

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 in
 U

n
d

er
lin

e 
S

tr
ik

et
h

ro
u

g
h

 F
o

rm
at

  (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



                                                               10 of 10  Attachment 1 
 

CHAPTER 8.104 
SITE DEVELOPMENT REVIEW 

 
 
Section 8.104.030.A.1.a (Single-Family and Two-Family Residential Improvements) of 
Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code is proposed to be amended as follows: 
 
a.    Single-Family Residential Landscape Modification. In a Planned Development 
Zoning District with residential uses, the removal of a tree which is part of the 
streetscape of a development or is required by the Conditions of Approval, but which is 
proposed to be replaced or is proposed to be replaced with the same or a different 
species. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.8.a

Packet Pg. 163

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 in
 U

n
d

er
lin

e 
S

tr
ik

et
h

ro
u

g
h

 F
o

rm
at

  (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



ORDINANCE NO. XX-18 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
OF THE CITY OF DUBLIN 

********* 
APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO DUBLIN ZONING ORDINANCE CHAPTERS 8.08, 

8.12, 8.40, 8.70, 8.72, 8.76, 8.80, 8.96 and 8.104 EFFECTIVE CITY-WIDE 
PLPA-2018-00030  

 

 WHEREAS, the City occasionally initiates amendments to the Zoning Ordinance to 
clarify, add or amend certain provisions to ensure that the Zoning Ordinance remains internally 
consistent, simple to understand and implement, and relevant to changes occurring in the 
community; and 

 
 WHEREAS, proposed amendments relate to amending Chapters 8.08 (Definitions), 

8.12 (Zoning Districts and Permitted Uses of Land), 8.40 (Accessory Structures and Uses 
Regulations), 8.70 (Recreational Facilities (Indoor)), 8.72 (Landscaping and Fencing 
Regulations), 8.76 (Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations), 8.80 (Second Units 
Regulations), 8.96 (Permit Procedures), and 8.104 (Site Development Review); and 

 
         WHEREAS, the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), together with State 

Guidelines and City Environmental Regulations require that certain projects be reviewed for 
environmental impacts and that environmental documents be prepared; and 

 
         WHEREAS, pursuant to the CEQA, Staff is recommending that the Planning 

Commission recommend that the City Council find this project exempt in accordance with 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) because it can be seen with certainty that the 
amendments to Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code (Zoning Ordinance) will not have a 
significant effect on the environment; and 

 
         WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing on the 

said application on November 13, 2018, during which all interested persons were heard, and 
adopted Resolution 18-27 recommending City Council adoption of the proposed Zoning 
Ordinance Amendments; and 

 
          WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing on the proposing Zoning 

Ordinance Amendments on December 18, 2018, at which time all interested parties had the 
opportunity to be hard; and  

 
   WHEREAS, proper notice of said hearing was given in all respects as required by 

law; and 
 
           WHEREAS, the City Council did hear and consider all said reports, 

recommendations and testimony herein above set forth and used its independent judgment to 
evaluate the project. 

  
NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Dublin does hereby ordain as 

follows: 

4.8.b

Packet Pg. 164

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
p

p
ro

vi
n

g
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 t
h

e 
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
  (

Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

P
L

P
A

-2
01

8-
00

03
0)

)



 

SECTION 1:  
 
Pursuant to Section 8.120.050.B of the Dublin Municipal Code, the City Council hereby finds that 
the Zoning Ordinance Amendments are consistent with the Dublin General Plan and all 
applicable Specific Plans in that the Amendments are necessary to comply with State law and 
are consistent with applicable land use regulations and development policies.   

 
SECTION 2: 
 
The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), together with State Guidelines and City 
Environmental Regulations require that certain projects be reviewed for environmental impacts 
and that environmental documents be prepared. Pursuant to the CEQA, the City Council hereby 
finds the project exempt in accordance with CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) because it 
can be seen with certainty that the amendments to Title 8 of the Dublin Municipal Code (Zoning 
Ordinance) will not have a significant effect on the environment. The adoption of the proposed 
Ordinance does not, in itself, allow the establishment of any use or the construction of any 
building or structure, but sets forth the regulations that shall be followed if and when a use is 
proposed to be established, or a building or structure is proposed to be constructed, or a site is 
proposed to be developed. This Ordinance of itself, therefore, has no potential for resulting in 
significant physical change in the environment, directly or ultimately. 

 
SECTION 3: 
 
Section 8.08.020 (Definitions (A-Z)) of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby amended to replace 
the following definitions in their entirety: 

 
Eating and Drinking Establishment (use type). The term Eating and Drinking Establishment 
shall mean restaurants, banquet facilities, bars, microbreweries, and taverns and other 
establishments selling prepared foods and drinks for on-premise consumption, as well as drive-
through restaurants, lunch counters and refreshment stands selling prepared food and drinks for 
either immediate or off-premise consumption, or other purveyors determined to be substantially 
similar to the above by the Director of Community Development. 
 
Boarding House (use type). The term Boarding House shall mean a housing unit used for 
residential purposes, other than a hotel, where lodging and meals for five or more non-transient 
persons, who are not living as a single housekeeping unit, are provided for compensation, 
whether direct or indirect. In determining the number of persons lodging in a boarding house, all 
residents shall be counted, including those acting as a manager, landlord or building 
superintendent.  A Boarding House is considered to be a Multifamily Dwelling.   

 
Lot Coverage. The term Lot Coverage shall mean the maximum lot area which may be covered 
with buildings and structures. Buildings and structures include all land covered by Principal 
Buildings, garages and carports, Accessory Structures, covered decks and gazebos, and other 
enclosed and covered areas; but not standard roof overhangs, cornices, eaves, uncovered 
decks, swimming pools, paved areas such as walkways, driveways, patios, uncovered parking 
areas or roads. All areas of coverage are computed in terms of net lot area at ground level. 
 

4.8.b

Packet Pg. 165

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
p

p
ro

vi
n

g
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 t
h

e 
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
  (

Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

P
L

P
A

-2
01

8-
00

03
0)

)



Single-Family Residence (use type). The term Single-Family Residence shall mean a building 
designed for and/or occupied exclusively by a single housekeeping unit. Also includes factory-
built housing, modular housing, manufactured housing, mobile homes, and the rental of 
bedrooms within a single-family dwelling to no more than four boarders. A residence with more 
than four boarders, where residents do not live as a single housekeeping unit, constitutes a 
boarding house, which is included within the definition of “Multi-Family Residence”. 

 
SECTION 4: 
 
Section 8.08.020 (Definitions (A-Z)) of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby amended to add the 
following definitions: 
 
Boarders.  The term Boarders shall mean a person who receives regular lodging rights 
(including but not limited to a place to eat and sleep) in return for compensation, whether direct 
or indirect.   
 
Off-Street Loading Space.  Off-Street Loading Space shall mean an area designated for 
temporary parking for purposes of on- and off-loading. 
 
Single Housekeeping Unit.  The term Single Housekeeping Unit shall mean a residence with 
two or more members, whose members are a non-transient interactive group of persons jointly 
occupying a single dwelling unit, including but not limited to the joint use of common areas and 
sharing household activities and responsibilities such as meals, chores and expenses. 
 
SECTION 5: 

Section 8.12.050 (Permitted and Conditional Permitted Land Uses, Regulations, and Performance 

Standards) of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby amended to replace “Family Day Care 

Home/Large (up to 14 children)” as follows: 

RESIDENTIAL USE TYPES  

RESIDENTIAL USE 

TYPE 
A R-1 R-2 R-M C-O C-N C-1 C-2 M-P M-1 M-2 

Family Day Care 

Home/Large (up to 14 

children) 

ZC/MUP ZC/MUP ZC/MUP ZC/MUP - - - - - - - 

 
SECTION 6: 
  
Sections 8.40.020.F.1.d (Maximum square footage of detached accessory structures (excluding 
swimming pools) on a lot) and 8.40.020.F.2.e (Guesthouses) of the Dublin Municipal Code are 
hereby amended to read as follows: 
 
d.    Maximum square footage of detached accessory structures (excluding swimming 
pools) on a lot. One accessory structure in the Rear Yard with a maximum of 120 square feet 
shall be exempt from the Coverage Requirements. 

 

4.8.b

Packet Pg. 166

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
p

p
ro

vi
n

g
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 t
h

e 
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
  (

Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

P
L

P
A

-2
01

8-
00

03
0)

)



For lots 5,000 square feet in size or larger, the combined maximum square footage of all 
accessory structures on a lot such as a detached accessory garage, workshop, studio, or office 
shall not exceed 1,000 square feet unless a larger size is approved by the Zoning Administrator 
by means of a Conditional Use Permit. Rev. Ord. 16-02 (October 2002) 
 
e.    Guesthouses. A detached Guesthouse accessory structure may be established on the lot 
of a single-family residence, as follows: 
 
1.    Permitted and prohibited spaces. A guesthouse may contain a sleeping space, bathroom 
and other living space, but may not contain kitchen facilities. 

2.    Floor area limitation. The maximum floor area allowed for a guesthouse is 50% of the 
habitable floor area of the main residence, up to a maximum of 840 square feet. 

SECTION 7: 
  
Section 8.70.030.A (Permitted in the C-1, C-2, M-P, M-1, M-2, and Certain Planned 
Development Zoning Districts) of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as 
follows: 

 
A. Permitted in the C-1, C-2, M-P, M-1, M-2, and Certain Planned Development Zoning 
Districts. An Indoor Recreation Facility may be established only in the C-1, C-2, M-P, M-1, M-2 
Zoning Districts, Downtown Dublin Zoning District, and Dublin Crossing Zoning District. An 
Indoor Recreation Facility may also be established in a Planned Development (PD) Zoning 
District if not specifically prohibited by the PD regulations and if the project site has an 
underlying Commercial or Industrial General Plan Land Use designation. Any PD regulations 
which require a Conditional Use Permit for an Indoor Recreation Facility shall be superseded by 
this Chapter. Any Indoor Recreation Facility in a PD Zoning District, unless specifically prohibited 
or expressly permitted by right, shall be subject to the requirements of this Chapter. Rev. Ord. 4-
10 (February 2010); Ord. 15-09 (November 2009) 
 
SECTION 8: 
 
Section 8.72.080.E (Prohibited Fence Materials) of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby 
amended to read as follows: 
 
E.  Prohibited fence materials. 
The use of barbed wire, electrified fence, razor wire fence, or other similar material as 
determined by the Director of Community Development, in conjunction with any fence, wall, or 
hedge, or by itself within any zoning district, is prohibited unless permitted by a Conditional Use 
Permit, or required by a law or regulation of the City, the State, or the Federal Government. 
 
SECTION 9: 
 
Section 8.76.070.A.7 (Dimensional Requirements) is hereby amended to spell out “Compact” 
and “Full” in column “A (in degrees)” of Table 76-1 and replace the wording below Table 76-1 in 
its entirely to read as follows: 

 

4.8.b

Packet Pg. 167

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
p

p
ro

vi
n

g
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 t
h

e 
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
  (

Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

P
L

P
A

-2
01

8-
00

03
0)

)



A = Parking Angle, B = Stall Width, X = Stall Length, C = Stall Depth, D = Aisle Width, E = Curb 
Length Per Car, F= Edge to Edge Width of Double Row and Aisle *The Director of Public Works 
may require a larger back-up distance where sight distances are inadequate and for multi-family 
residential developments. 

 
SECTION 10: 
 
Section 8.76.090 (Loading Requirements) of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 

Off-street freight and equipment loading spaces shall be provided for offices, hospitals, 
institutions, hotels, senior group housing, schools, day care centers, and other commercial and 
industrial land uses. 

A minimum of one loading space shall be provided or as determined by the Director of 
Community Development based upon the requirements for comparable uses and upon the 
particular characteristics of the proposed use. 

SECTION 11: 
 
Section 8.80.040.A (Permitted in the R-1 District and Certain Planned Development Districts) of 
the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 
A.    Permitted in the R-1 District and Certain Planned Development Districts. A second unit 
may only be permitted in the R-1 zoning district and in a Planned Development zoning district 
which specifically allows second units or in a Planned Development zoning district which is 
subject to underlying R-1 standards where second units are not specifically prohibited by the PD 
regulations.  Any PD development regulations that are more restrictive than this Chapter shall be 
superseded by this Chapter and shall be subject to the requirements of this Chapter.   

SECTION 12: 
 
Section 8.96.020.E (Time Extension) of the Dublin Municipal Code is hereby amended to read 
as follows: 
 
E.    Time Extension. The Director of Community Development may, upon the Applicant’s 
written request for an extension of approval prior to expiration, and upon the determination that 
any Conditions of Approval remain adequate to assure that applicable findings of approval will 
continue to be met, grant a time extension of approval for a period not to exceed 12 months.  
The Director of Community Development may grant a maximum of two extensions of approval, 
and additional extensions may be granted by the original decision maker.   
 
SECTION 13: 
 
Section 8.104.030.A.1.a (Single-Family and Two-Family Residential Improvements) of the 
Dublin Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 

4.8.b

Packet Pg. 168

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
p

p
ro

vi
n

g
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 t
h

e 
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
  (

Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

P
L

P
A

-2
01

8-
00

03
0)

)



A.    Single-Family Residential Landscape Modification. In a Planned Development Zoning 
District with residential uses, the removal of a tree which is part of the streetscape of a 
development or is required by the Conditions of Approval, but which is proposed to be replaced 
with the same or a different species. 
 
SECTION 14:   
 
The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and if any provision, clause, sentence, word or 
part thereof is held illegal, invalid, unconstitutional, or inapplicable to any person or 
circumstances, such illegality, invalidity, unconstitutionality, or inapplicability shall not affect or 
impair any of the remaining provisions, clauses, sentences, sections, words or parts thereof of 
the ordinance or their applicability to other persons or circumstances. 
 
SECTION 15:  Effective Date and Posting of Ordinance 
 
This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force thirty (30) days from and after the date of its final 
adoption. The City Clerk of the City of Dublin shall cause this Ordinance to be posted in at least 
three (3) public places in the City of Dublin in accordance with Section 39633 of the Government 
Code of California.  

 
PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED BY the City Council of the City of Dublin on this   day 

of   , 2018, by the following votes: 
 
AYES:  
 
NOES:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
ABSTAIN:  
 
 

_____________________________ 
Mayor   

 
 

ATTEST: 
  
 
 
___________________________________ 
  City Clerk    

 

4.8.b

Packet Pg. 169

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
p

p
ro

vi
n

g
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 t
h

e 
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
  (

Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

P
L

P
A

-2
01

8-
00

03
0)

)



    
 

 PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES 
 Tuesday, November 13, 2018 
 

 

Planning Commission              November 13, 2018 
Regular Meeting  P a g e  | 1 

A Regular Meeting of the Dublin Planning Commission was held on Thursday, November 
13, 2018, in the City Council Chamber. The meeting was called to order at 7:00 PM., by 
Commission Vice Chair Wright. 
 

1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 
 

 

Attendee Name Title Status 

Tara Bhuthimethee Commission Chair Absent 

Stephen Wright Commission Vice Chair Present 

Amit Kothari Planning Commissioner Present 

Scott Mittan Planning Commissioner Present 

 
2. Oral Communications – None. 

 
2.1 Public Comment  
 
 No public comments were made. 

 
3. Consent Calendar 

 
3.1. Approve the Minutes of the October 30, 2018 Planning Commission Meeting 
 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 
MOVED BY: Scott Mittan, Planning Commissioner 
SECOND: Amit Kothari, Planning Commissioner 
AYES: Wright, Mittan, Kothari 
ABSENT:         Tara Bhuthimethee, Planning Commission Chair 
 

 
4. Written Communication - None. 

 
5. Public Hearing  

 
5.1  Happy Little Munchkins Large Family Daycare (PLPA-2018-00024) 
 

Martha Battaglia, Associate Planner, made a presentation and responded to 
questions posed by the Commission.  
 
Swapnil Dipankar, Applicant, addressed the Commission.  
 
Prachi Nadkarni, Applicant, addressed the Commission and responded to 
questions posed by the Commission.  
Commission Vice Chair Wright opened public hearing.  

4.8.c

Packet Pg. 170

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
D

ra
ft

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

d
at

ed
 N

o
ve

m
b

er
 1

3,
 2

01
8 

 (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



Planning Commission              November 13, 2018 
Regular Meeting P a g e  | 2 

 
Commission Vice Chair Wright closed the public hearing and deliberations 
began. 
 

           The Planning Commission took the following action: 

RESOLUTION NO.  18-25 

 
APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT  

FOR THE OPERATION OF A LARGE FAMILY DAY CARE HOME LOCATED AT 
4451 SUNSET VIEW DRIVE 

(PLPA-2018-00024) 
 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 
MOVED BY: Scott Mittan, Planning Commissioner 
SECOND: Amit Kothari, Planning Commissioner 
AYES: Wright, Mittan, Kothari 
ABSENT:         Tara Bhuthimethee, Commission Chair 

 
5.2  Tri-Valley Korean Parents Association (PLPA-2018-00008) 
 

Martha Battaglia, Associate Planner, made a presentation and responded to 
questions posed by the Commission.  

 
Karen Lee, Representative of the Applicant, responded to questions posed by 
the Commission.  

 
Commission Vice Chair opened public hearing. 
 

 
Commission Vice Chair Wright closed the public hearing and deliberations 
began.  

 
The Planning Commission took the following action: 

RESOLUTION NO.  18-26 

 
APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT  

TO OPERATE A CIVIC, CULTURAL AND INSTITUTIONAL USE AT 7723 AMADOR 
VALLEY BOULEVARD, SUITE B  

PLPA-2018-00008 
 

4.8.c

Packet Pg. 171

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
D

ra
ft

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

d
at

ed
 N

o
ve

m
b

er
 1

3,
 2

01
8 

 (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



Planning Commission              November 13, 2018 
Regular Meeting P a g e  | 3 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 
MOVED BY: Amit Kothari, Planning Commissioner 
SECOND: Scott Mittan, Planning Commissioner 
AYES: Wright, Mittan, Kothari 
ABSENT:         Tara Bhuthimethee, Commission Chair 

 
5.3  Zoning Ordinance Amendments (PLPA-2018-00030) 
 

Mandy Kang, Senior Planner, made a presentation and responded to questions 
posed by the Commission.  

 
Jeff Baker, Assistant Community Development Director, responded to questions 
posed by the Commission.  

 
Lauren Quint, Assistant City Attorney, responded to questions posed by the 
Commission.  
 
Commission Vice Chair Wright opened the public hearing.  

 
Commission Vice Chair Wright closed the public hearing and deliberations 
began. 

 
The Planning Commission took the following action with a recommendation to 

include the following: 1) Add the word “non-transient” to the definition of Boarding 

House (use type) in Section 8.08.020 (Definitions (A-Z)); and 2) Add the 

sentence, “The Director of Community Development may grant a maximum of 

two extensions of approval, and additional extensions may be granted by the 

original decision maker” to Section 8.96.020.E (Time Extension). 

RESOLUTION NO.  18-27 

 
RECOMMENDING CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL OF AMENDMENTS TO THE DUBLIN 

ZONING ORDINANCE EFFECTIVE CITY-WIDE 
PLPA-2018-00030 

 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 
MOVED BY: Scott Mittan, Planning Commissioner 
SECOND: Amit Kothari, Planning Commissioner 
AYES: Wright, Mittan, Kothari 
ABSENT:         Tara Bhuthimethee, Commission Chair 

 
6. Unfinished Business – None. 

 
7. New Business – None. 

4.8.c

Packet Pg. 172

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
D

ra
ft

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

d
at

ed
 N

o
ve

m
b

er
 1

3,
 2

01
8 

 (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



Planning Commission              November 13, 2018 
Regular Meeting P a g e  | 4 

8. Other Business  
 

9. Adjournment 
 

The meeting was adjourned by Commission Vice Chair Wright at 8:15 p.m.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 
  
 

              
Planning Commission Vice Chair 

 
ATTEST: 
 

         
      
Jeff Baker 
Assistant Community Development Director 

4.8.c

Packet Pg. 173

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
D

ra
ft

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

d
at

ed
 N

o
ve

m
b

er
 1

3,
 2

01
8 

 (
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

  (
P

L
P

A
-2

01
8-

00
03

0)
)



      Attachment 2 

RESOLUTION NO.  18-27 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION 
OF THE CITY OF DUBLIN 

 
RECOMMENDING CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL OF AMENDMENTS TO THE DUBLIN 

ZONING ORDINANCE  
EFFECTIVE CITY-WIDE 

PLPA-2018-00030 
 
 WHEREAS, the City occasionally initiates amendments to the Zoning Ordinance to clarify, 
add or amend certain provisions to ensure that the Zoning Ordinance remains internally 
consistent, simple to understand and implement, and relevant to changes occurring in the 
community; and 
 
 WHEREAS, proposed amendments relate to amending Chapters 8.08 (Definitions), 8.12 
(Zoning Districts and Permitted Uses of Land), 8.40 (Accessory Structures and Uses 
Regulations), 8.70 (Recreational Facilities (Indoor)), 8.72 (Landscaping and Fencing 
Regulations), 8.76 (Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations), 8.80 (Second Units 
Regulations), 8.96 (Permit Procedures), and 8.104 (Site Development Review); and 
 

WHEREAS, the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), together with State 
Guidelines and City Environmental Regulations require that certain projects be reviewed for 
environmental impacts and that environmental documents be prepared; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the CEQA, Staff is recommending that the Planning Commission 

recommend that the City Council find this project exempt in accordance with CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15061(b)(3) because it can be seen with certainty that the amendments to Title 8 of the 
Dublin Municipal Code (Zoning Ordinance) will not have a significant effect on the environment; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing on the said application on 
November 13, 2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, proper notice of said hearing was given in all respects as required by law; and 

 
WHEREAS, a Staff Report dated November 13, 2018 was submitted to the City of Dublin 

Planning Commission recommending City Council approval of the proposed Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission did hear and consider all said reports, 

recommendations and testimony herein above set forth and used its independent judgment to 
evaluate the project. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the foregoing recitals are true and correct 

and made a part of this Resolution. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Dublin Planning Commission does hereby 
recommend that the City Council adopt the Ordinance attached hereto as Exhibit A and 
incorporated herein by reference, with the following recommendations: 1) Add the word “non-

4.8.d

Packet Pg. 174

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 1
8-

27
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

in
g

 A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

P
L

P
A

-2
01

8-
00

03
0)

)



  

2 of 2 

transient” to the definition of Boarding House (use type) in Section 8.08.020 (Definitions (A-Z)) 
and 2) Add the sentence, “The Director of Community Development may grant a maximum of two 
extensions of approval, and additional extensions may be granted by the original decision maker.” 
to Section 8.96.020.E (Time Extension). 
 
 PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 13th day of November 2018 by the following vote: 
 
AYES:    
 
NOES:  
 
ABSENT:    
 
ABSTAIN:  
 
 
        ______________________________ 
         Planning Commission Chair  

   
 ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________ 
Assistant Community Development Director 
 

 

 
 

 
 

4.8.d

Packet Pg. 175

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

.  
P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 1
8-

27
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

in
g

 A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

P
L

P
A

-2
01

8-
00

03
0)

)



 

Page 1 of 3 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Consolidation of City Facility Rental Packets 
Prepared by:  Lisa McPherson, Recreation Manager 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City Council will consider two policy changes related to the priority use of facilities 
and refunds to ensure consistency for all facilities.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approve the recommended changes to priority use and refunds.   

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None. 
 
DESCRIPTION: 
 
Staff is recommending certain updates to City’s facility rental procedures in an effort to 
provide greater clarity and consistency on facility policies, regulations, rules and 
agreement requirements when the public rents a City facility (includes: Civic Center, 
Dublin Library, Heritage Park & Museums, Shannon Community Center, Dublin Senior 
Center and The Wave) and City sports facilities (Tennis Courts, Sports Fields and 
Stager Community Gymnasium).  
 
At the October 15, 2018 Parks and Community Services Commission meeting, the 
Commissioners reviewed the revised facility rental packets and recommended two 
policy changes (priority use and refunds) to ensure consistency for all facilities. The 
Commission voted 4-0-0 to recommend the revised rental packets and two policy 
changes.   
 
Facility Rentals 
 
Currently, the City offers rental packets for each type of facility.  The most recent facility 
rental packet was created in 2017 upon the opening of The Wave’s Community Room. 
The remainder of the facility packets have not been updated since 2009:   

4.9

Packet Pg. 176



 

Page 2 of 3 

 Civic Center Regional Meeting Room 
 Library Program Room and Community Room 
 Shannon Community Center 
 Dublin Senior Center 
 Heritage Park’s Old St. Raymond’s Church and Kolb Sunday School Barn 

 
For consistency in guidelines and to combine the individual packets into one, Staff 
wishes to make some changes in the following areas: 
 
Rental Categories 
Currently, the rental categories are identified as Group Numbers (1, 2, 3, and 4). Staff 
will be renaming the categories to make it easier for the community and Staff to properly 
identify. The groups will be as follows: 

• Public Agencies, Dublin Non-Profits, Resident  

• Non-Resident  

• Commercial Resident  

• Commercial Non-Resident  
 

Rental Categories Priority Use 
Currently, the priority use period is different for each facility. Staff is recommending one 
priority use for all facilities, and selected the current Senior Center priority use as the 
model: 

• Public Agencies, Dublin Non-Profits and Dublin Residents 
➢ One year in advance  

• Non-Resident 
➢ Nine months in advance  

• Commercial  
➢ Six months in advance  

 
Cancellation Policy and Refunds 
Cancellation policies vary depending on the facility; therefore, Staff is recommending 
utilizing one policy for consistency and selected the current Civic and Library 
cancellation and refund policy as the model: 

• All cancellations must be in writing and received 90 days prior to the event, to 
receive a refund                                

• 89-31 days - Forfeit Rental Deposit                                 

• 30 days or less  - Forfeit Rental Deposit and half of rental fees paid                             

• A $25.00 processing fee will be applied to all refunds.  If the rental date is 

rebooked by another customer, the full deposit will be refunded less the $25 
processing fee. 

 
The updated facility rental packet includes the following documents (Attachment 1): 

 Facility Reservation Policies and Rules  
 Facility Rental Fee Schedule  
 Facility Room Descriptions, Capacity and Equipment   
 Facility Rental Before and After Checklist 
 Facility Rental Agreement for all locations: 

➢ (Civic Center, Dublin Library, Heritage Park & Museum, Shannon 
Community Center, Dublin Senior Center and The Wave)  

4.9

Packet Pg. 177



 

Page 3 of 3 

  
Sports Facility Rentals 
 
The City of Dublin Tennis Courts, Sports Fields and Stager Community Gymnasium 
facility rental packets (reservation policy, rules and agreement) were also updated for 
consistency and clarification. Staff combined the Sports Fields and Stager Community 
Gymnasium into one rental packet (Attachment 2). The updated Tennis Courts rental 
packet is included as Attachment 3. There were no substantive changes made in these 
updates. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE: 
 
None. 
 
NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 
 

None. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1.  Facility Rental Packet 

2.  Tennis Courts Rental Packet 

3.  Sports Fields/Stager Community Gymnasium Rental Packet 

 

4.9

Packet Pg. 178



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 179

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 180

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 181

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 182

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 183

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 184

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 185

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 186

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 187

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 188

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 189

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 190

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 191

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 192

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 193

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 194

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 195

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 196

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 197

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 198

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.a

Packet Pg. 199

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

.  
F

ac
ili

ty
 R

en
ta

l P
ac

ke
t 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.b

Packet Pg. 200

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
T

en
n

is
 C

o
u

rt
s 

R
en

ta
l P

ac
ke

t 
 (

U
p

d
at

ed
 F

ac
ili

ty
 P

ac
ke

t 
L

ay
o

u
ts

)



4.9.b

Packet Pg. 201

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
T

en
n

is
 C

o
u

rt
s 

R
en

ta
l P

ac
ke

t 
 (

U
p

d
at

ed
 F

ac
ili

ty
 P

ac
ke

t 
L

ay
o

u
ts

)



4.9.b

Packet Pg. 202

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
T

en
n

is
 C

o
u

rt
s 

R
en

ta
l P

ac
ke

t 
 (

U
p

d
at

ed
 F

ac
ili

ty
 P

ac
ke

t 
L

ay
o

u
ts

)



4.9.b

Packet Pg. 203

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
T

en
n

is
 C

o
u

rt
s 

R
en

ta
l P

ac
ke

t 
 (

U
p

d
at

ed
 F

ac
ili

ty
 P

ac
ke

t 
L

ay
o

u
ts

)



4.9.b

Packet Pg. 204

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

.  
T

en
n

is
 C

o
u

rt
s 

R
en

ta
l P

ac
ke

t 
 (

U
p

d
at

ed
 F

ac
ili

ty
 P

ac
ke

t 
L

ay
o

u
ts

)



4.9.c

Packet Pg. 205

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

p
o

rt
s 

F
ie

ld
s/

S
ta

g
er

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

G
ym

n
as

iu
m

 R
en

ta
l P

ac
ke

t 
[R

ev
is

io
n

 1
] 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.c

Packet Pg. 206

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

p
o

rt
s 

F
ie

ld
s/

S
ta

g
er

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

G
ym

n
as

iu
m

 R
en

ta
l P

ac
ke

t 
[R

ev
is

io
n

 1
] 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.c

Packet Pg. 207

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

p
o

rt
s 

F
ie

ld
s/

S
ta

g
er

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

G
ym

n
as

iu
m

 R
en

ta
l P

ac
ke

t 
[R

ev
is

io
n

 1
] 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.c

Packet Pg. 208

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

p
o

rt
s 

F
ie

ld
s/

S
ta

g
er

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

G
ym

n
as

iu
m

 R
en

ta
l P

ac
ke

t 
[R

ev
is

io
n

 1
] 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.c

Packet Pg. 209

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

p
o

rt
s 

F
ie

ld
s/

S
ta

g
er

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

G
ym

n
as

iu
m

 R
en

ta
l P

ac
ke

t 
[R

ev
is

io
n

 1
] 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.c

Packet Pg. 210

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

p
o

rt
s 

F
ie

ld
s/

S
ta

g
er

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

G
ym

n
as

iu
m

 R
en

ta
l P

ac
ke

t 
[R

ev
is

io
n

 1
] 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



4.9.c

Packet Pg. 211

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

.  
S

p
o

rt
s 

F
ie

ld
s/

S
ta

g
er

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

G
ym

n
as

iu
m

 R
en

ta
l P

ac
ke

t 
[R

ev
is

io
n

 1
] 

 (
U

p
d

at
ed

 F
ac

ili
ty

 P
ac

ke
t 

L
ay

o
u

ts
)



 

Page 1 of 6 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) and Annual Audit for 
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2018 and Supplemental Reports Completed 
by the Auditors 
Prepared by:  Colleen Tribby, Director of Administrative Services 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City of Dublin has prepared its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
(CAFR), for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2018. This report includes financial 
statements prepared by City staff along with the audit prepared by Badawi and 
Associates, the independent auditors selected by the City Council. The CAFR is a 
report which encompasses information beyond minimum financial reporting 
requirements. The Auditors have provided a "clean opinion" based on their review. 
The report has also been reviewed by the City Council Ad-Hoc Audit 
Subcommittee. The Auditors have also completed the following supplemental 
reports: 1) a compliance audit of Alameda County Transportation Measure B 
Funds; 2) a compliance audit of the Alameda County Transportation Commission 
Fund (ACTC-VRF) Program; 3) a compliance audit of Alameda County 
Transportation Measure BB Funds; and 4) a review of the City's Annual 
Appropriations Limit Calculation. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Receive the report. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

 

Summarized financial information is discussed in this Staff Report, and Attachment 1 

provides a guide to key information found in the CAFR. The full CAFR is included as 

Attachment 2. 

 

4.10

Packet Pg. 212



 

Page 2 of 6 

DESCRIPTION: 

 

The City of Dublin has prepared its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

(CAFR) for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2018. The CAFR (Attachment 2) 

includes audited financial statements reviewed by Badawi and Associates, the 

independent auditor selected by the City Council, and concludes the first year of the 

three-year audit services contract. 

 

Ad-Hoc Audit Committee Review 

 

The auditors met with the City Council Ad-Hoc Audit Committee, comprised of 

Mayor Haubert and Vice Mayor Hernandez, on December 3, 2018, to review the 

results of the audit. The interaction of the auditors directly with representatives of 

the elected body is a key component to audit standards and provides committee 

members an opportunity to discuss the report and ask questions of the auditors.  

 

Overall, based on their testing and review, the auditors granted the City a "clean 

opinion" (see CAFR pages 1 - 3), meaning that the City's financial statements 

present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the City. 

 

Financial Overview 

 
Attachment 1 provides a guide to key elements contained in the CAFR. Some of 

the important financial results include: 

 

Increased Total Net Assets - Net assets increased by $46.7 million, as shown in 

Table 1 below. This change is on an entity-wide basis and includes both capital 

assets as well as restricted funds. Included in the Management Discussion and 

Analysis section of the CAFR is a discussion of the changes in Net Assets (CAFR 

pages 5 on). It is important to note that the amount reported as Total Net Assets 

includes: 

1. $501.5 million (66.9% of total net assets) in investments in capital assets (e.g. 

land, infrastructure, buildings, and equipment). These are not assets that are 

available for future spending. 

2. $107.5 million (14.3% of total net assets) are subject to external restrictions on 

how they can be used, such as development impact fee funds. 

3. $141.0 million (18.8% of total net assets) in net assets are unrestricted. 

 

4.10

Packet Pg. 213



 

Page 3 of 6 

 
 
 

Memorandum on Internal Controls (MOIC) (Attachment 3) 

The MOIC includes a report on the City’s accounting and reporting procedures, 

as well as recommendations for process improvements. The report does not note 

any issues for FY 2017-18. The MOIC also discusses implementation of new 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board pronouncements. 

 

Designations of Fund Balances 

The City's Fund Balance and Reserves Policy conforms to required standards 

enacted by the GASB. A listing of the FY 2017-18 year-end major fund reserves 

established in accordance with this policy is shown on CAFR page 78. The 

following table summarizes the fund balances for all City funds: 

 

4.10

Packet Pg. 214



 

Page 4 of 6 

TABLE 2: GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCE CHANGES

June 30, 2018 and 2017

June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 $ Change % Change

General Fund 142,112,666  122,415,662  19,697,004  16.1%

Affordable Housing Fund 27,669,545   27,193,329   476,216      1.8%

Measure BB Grant Fund (1,002,609)    (1,367,617)    365,008      -26.7%

Capital Improvement Funds 61,234,876   54,676,919   6,557,957   12.0%

Other Governmental Funds 15,577,152   13,992,345   1,584,807   11.3%

Total Governmental Funds 245,591,630 216,910,638 28,680,992 13.2%  
 

As shown above, General Fund Reserves totaled $142.1 million as of June 30, 2018.  

$36.2 million of that is available for cash flow purposes, equating to 5.7 months of 

budgeted operating expenditures in FY 2018-19. This exceeds the target as guided by 

the City Policy, which sets the cash flow goal at between two and four months of the 

next year’s budget. 

 

Additional Reports Prepared by Auditors 

In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor engagement also 

included the completion of specialized reports.  The four supplemental reports 

include: 

1. A compliance audit of Alameda County Transportation Commission (ACTC) 

Measure B Funds 

2. A compliance audit of the ACTC Vehicle Registration Fee (Measure F) Program 

3. A compliance audit of the ACTC Measure BB Program 

4. A review of the City's Annual Appropriations Limit Calculation 

 

The City did not meet the threshold of $500,000 in expenditures of federal funds in FY 

2016-17, and therefore was not required to complete a Federal Grant - Single Audit 

Report. The following briefly summarizes each supplemental report: 

 

ACTC Measure B Funds Report (Attachment 4): 

ACTC provides local funding via two local programs: 1) Local Street Improvements; 

and 2) Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvements. During FY 2017-18, the following 

projects were funded by Measure B: 

 

− Citywide Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvements   

− Street Slurry Seal Program 

− Street Overlay Program 

 

The compliance audit found that, based on the information reviewed and 

presented, the expenditures were materially in compliance with the program 

requirements. 

 

As of June 30, 2018, the Local Streets fund balance of $507,561 is assigned to a 

Capital Reserve for the continued street improvement projects, and the Bike I 

4.10

Packet Pg. 215



 

Page 5 of 6 

Pedestrian fund balance of $565,878 is restricted to the appropriate related bike 

and pedestrian program improvements.  

 

ACTC Vehicle Registration Fee (Measure F) Report (Attachment 5): 

The City of Dublin uses a Special Revenue Fund to account for the funds collected 

through the ACTC's Vehicle Registration Fee. The goal of the program is to 

sustain the County's transportation network through a distribution of the funds 

throughout the County on successive five-year cycles. 

 

As of June 30, 2018, the ACTC VRF fund had a balance of $290,617 in restricted 

funds. The FY 2017-18 Budget appropriated funds from this source to support 

upgrades to citywide traffic signals. 

 

ACTC Measure BB Report (Attachment 6): 

Alameda County Measure BB was approved by the voters in November 2014, with 

70% of the vote. The fee is expected to generate about $30 billion over the next 

30 years funded by an additional one-half cent sales tax to be used for 

transportation related expenditures.  The program includes four categories of 

projects: 1) Transit; 2) Affordable Transit for Seniors and People with Disabilities; 3) 

Local Streets and Roads; and 4) Bicycle and Pedestrian Path and Safety. 

 

As of June 30, 2018, the Measure BB Fund had a restricted fund balance of 

$360,517 for Local Streets and Roads, and $132,200 restricted for Bicycle and 

Pedestrian improvements.  Expenditures of these funds in FY 2017-18 were related 

to the City’s Street Overlay Program. 

 

Appropriation Limit Schedule Report (Attachment 7 ): 

State law requires the adoption of an Appropriations Limit (Limit) which must be 

included in the Budget document. The City Council adopts the Limit by resolution 

and it is adjusted annually based on factors establish in State Law. The Limit 

applies only to appropriations that are funded by "proceeds of taxes." The Limit for 

the City of Dublin is substantially more than the amount of revenue generated from 

taxes. The Auditors reviewed the calculation used to develop the $341,825,370 Limit 

as presented in the FY 2018-19 Budget. There were no exceptions noted in the 

findings. 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE: 

 

None. 

 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

 

None. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Summary - Key Information Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for FY 2017-18 

4.10

Packet Pg. 216



 

Page 6 of 6 

2. City of Dublin CAFR 2018 

3. City of Dublin MOIC 2018 

4. City of Dublin FY 2018 Measure B Report 

5. City of Dublin FY 2018 Measure F Report 

6. City of Dublin FY 2018 Measure BB Report 

7. City of Dublin Appropriations Limit FY 2019 

 

4.10

Packet Pg. 217



SUMMARY – KEY INFORMATION  
COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2018 
City Council Meeting December 18, 2018 

 

Page 1 of 1  

Attachment 1 

 

1. Includes audited financial statements reviewed by the City’s audit firm, Badawi & 
Associates. 

 
2. The auditors opinion is that the City’s financial statements fairly represent the City’s 

financial position. 
 
3. The CAFR format will allow the City to apply for a Certificate of Achievement from the 

Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA).  The goal is to provide financial 
information of the highest quality, in a transparent manner.   
 

4. ORGANIZATION OF DRAFT REPORT:  
 

a. Transmittal letter (beginning page v): provides a general overview of economic 
and budgetary factors that impact the City. 
  

b. Opinion issued by the Independent Auditor (beginning page 1).   
 

c. Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) (beginning page 5): provides an 
overview of the financial activities, with a focus on significant trends, as well as 
major changes associated with the City's major funds (i.e. General Fund and 
Impact Fee funds). 

 
d. Financial Statements: a significant portion of the CAFR is comprised of financial 

statements and schedules for the various funds used to account for the City’s 
revenue and expenditures. Pages 24-26 present the Government-Wide 
Statement of Net Position presents financial statements similar to those used by 
private corporations.  That section is followed by financial statements for each 
fund. 

 

e. Statistical Section (pages 186-end): the unaudited statistical section of the 
CAFR includes graphs of relevant historical data.   

 
5. Fund Balances - A complete listing of fund reserves and designations for all major 

funds is shown on page 78 of the report.    
 

6. Audit Recommendations / Disclosures - As part of the Audit Review the independent 
auditors can present recommendations for consideration by the City.  The process 
allows the Auditors to disclose their observations on certain practices and policies that 
need improvement.  The report for FY 2017-18 does not note any findings.  The report 
also discusses implementation of new accounting standards. This information is 
presented as a separate document titled “Memorandum on Internal Controls”.  

4.10.a

Packet Pg. 218

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. S
u

m
m

ar
y 

- 
K

ey
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
 C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt



A City of Dublin Fiscal Years 2014-15 and 2015-16  

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL  
FINANCIAL REPORT

Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2018

City of Dublin
c a l i f o r n i a

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 219

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



4.10.b

Packet Pg. 220

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of
Dublin

Dublin, California

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Prepared by:
Administrative Services Department

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 221

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



4.10.b

Packet Pg. 222

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Table of Contents

i

Page
INTRODUCTORY SECTION

Table of Contents ...................................................................................................................................................... i

Letter of Transmittal ................................................................................................................................................. v

Principal Officers ...................................................................................................................................................... xiii

Organization Chart ................................................................................................................................................... xiv

GFOA Certificate of Excellence in Financial Reporting ...................................................................................... xv

FINANCIAL SECTION

Independent Auditors’ Report .............................................................................................................................. 1

Management’s Discussion and Analysis ............................................................................................................ 5

Basic Financial Statements:

Government-Wide Financial Statements:

Statement of Net Position ........................................................................................................................... 24

Statement of Activities ................................................................................................................................ 26

Fund Financial Statements:

Governmental Fund Financial Statements:

Balance Sheet.......................................................................................................................................... 30

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

to the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position................................................................. 33

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances......................................... 34

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances to the Government-Wide

Statement of Activities ................................................................................................................... 37

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and Actual:

General Fund................................................................................................................................... 38

Affordable Housing Special Revenue Fund ............................................................................... 39

Measure BB Grants Special Revenue Fund................................................................................. 40

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 223

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Table of Contents, Continued

ii

Page
FINANCIAL SECTION, Continued

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements:

Statement of Net Position..................................................................................................................... 42

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position ......................................... 43

Statement of Cash Flows ...................................................................................................................... 44

Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements:

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position................................................................................................... 47

Notes to Basic Financial Statements ................................................................................................................ 51

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited):

Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability – Last 10 Years ................... ...103

Schedule of Contributions – Last 10 Years............................................................................................... 103

Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB)

City Retiree Health Plan – Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and

Related Ratios ........................................................................................................................................ 104

DRFA Retiree Health Plan – Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and

Related Ratios ........................................................................................................................................ 105

Schedule of City Retiree Health Plan Contributions – Last 10 Years................................................... 105

Supplementary Information:

General Fund – Budget Versus Actual

Schedule of Budget Versus Actual Revenue by Sources........................................................................ 108

Schedule of Budget Versus Actual Departmental Expenditures .......................................................... 111

Budgeted Major Governmental Funds Other than General Fund and Special Revenue Funds:

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and Actual:

General Improvements Projects Capital Projects Fund................................................................... 116

Community Improvements Projects Capital Projects Fund ........................................................... 117

Parks Projects Capital Projects Fund.................................................................................................. 118

Streets Projects Capital Projects Fund ................................................................................................ 119

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 224

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Table of Contents, Continued

iii

Page
FINANCIAL SECTION, Continued

Public Facilities Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund......................................................................... 120

Fire Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund.............................................................................................. 121

Traffic Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund......................................................................................... 122

Dublin Crossing Contribution Capital Projects Fund...................................................................... 123

Non-Major Governmental Funds:

Combining Balance Sheet.................................................................................................................................. 128

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances................................. 134

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual .................. 140

Internal Service Funds:

Combining Statement of Net Position............................................................................................................. 172

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position ........................................... 174

Combining Statement of Cash Flows .............................................................................................................. 176

Fiduciary Funds:

Combining Statement of Assets and Liabilities ............................................................................................. 181

Statement of Changes in Agency Funds Assets and Liabilities .................................................................. 182

STATISTICAL SECTION (Unaudited)

Net Position by Component .................................................................................................................................... 186
Changes in Net Position........................................................................................................................................... 188
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds ................................................................................................................ 192
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds............................................................................................ 194
Assessed Value and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property ................................................................... 196
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates......................................................................................................... 198
Principal Property Taxpayers.................................................................................................................................. 200

Property Tax Levies and Collections ..................................................................................................................... 201

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type...................................................................................................................... 202

Direct and Overlapping Debt.................................................................................................................................. 203

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 225

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 

Table of Contents, Continued 
 
 

iv 

Page 
STATISTICAL SECTION (Unaudited), Continued 
 

Legal Debt Margin Information ........................................................................................................................... 204 
Demographic and Economic Statistics ................................................................................................................ 206 
Property Value, Construction, and Bank Deposits ............................................................................................ 207 
Principal Employers ............................................................................................................................................... 208 
Full-Time Equivalent City and Contract Government Employees by Function ........................................... 210 
Operating Indicators by Function/Program ...................................................................................................... 212 
Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program ................................................................................................... 214 
Top 25 Sales Tax Producers .................................................................................................................................. 216 
Miscellaneous Statistical Data .............................................................................................................................. 217 
 
 

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 226

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



v

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 227

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



vi

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 228

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



vii

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 229

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



viii

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 230

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



. 

ix

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 231

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



xix

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 232

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



xiixi

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 233

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

xvi 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page left intentionally blank 

xvixii

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 234

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

 

CITY OF DUBLIN  

PRINCIPAL OFFICERS 

Fiscal Year 2017/2018 

 

 

Mayor 

David Haubert 

 

 

 

Vice Mayor         Councilmember 

Melissa Hernandez        Janine Thalblum 

 

 

Councilmember        Councilmember 

Abe Gupta         Arun Goel 

 

 

 

ADMINISTRATION PERSONNEL 

 

City Manager         Chris Foss 

Assistant City Manager       Linda Smith 

City Attorney         John Bakker 

Administrative Services Director      Colleen Tribby 

City Clerk         Caroline Soto 

Chief of Police        Garrett Holmes 

Community Development Director      Luke Sims 

Economic Development Director      Vacant 

Fire Marshal         Bonnie Terra 

Human Resources Director       Julie Carter 

Parks & Community Services Director     Vacant 

Public Works Director       Gary Huisingh 



xiv

Organization Chart

Citizens of Dublin

City Council

City Manager

Public WorksPolice Services

Human 
Resources

Fire Services

Administrative 
Services

Non-
Departmental

City Clerk

Assistant City 
Manager

Economic 
Development

Community 
Development

Parks and 
Community 

Services

City Attorney

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 236

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



xv 

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 237

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

xvi 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page left intentionally blank 

xvi

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 238

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Dublin, California (City)  as of and for the year ended June 
30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of the City, as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows 
thereof, and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund, the Affordable Housing and Measure BB 
Grants Special Revenue Funds for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 239

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
of the City of Dublin 

Dublin, California 
Page 2 

 

2 

 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, pension schedules required by GASB Statement No. 68, and OPEB schedules required by 
GASB Statement No. 75 on pages 5–20 and 103-105 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain 
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information  

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, other budgetary comparison schedules, 
combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, budgetary comparison schedules of nonmajor 
funds, and statistical section, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the 
basic financial statements.  

The other budgetary comparison schedules, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, and 
budgetary comparison schedules of nonmajor funds are the responsibility of management and were derived from 
and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to 
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, other budgetary comparison schedules, 
combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, and budgetary comparison schedules of nonmajor 
funds are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on 
them. 

Change in Accounting Principle 

As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, in 2018, the City adopted new accounting guidance, GASBS 
No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. Our opinion is not 
modified with respect to this matter. 

  

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 240

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
of the City of Dublin 

Dublin, California 
Page 3 
 

 
 

3 

 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 11, 2018, on 
our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that 
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  

 

 
Badawi and Associates 
Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018 

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 241

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

4 

This page intentionally left blank 

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 242

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



5

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MDA) June 30, 2018

As management of the City of Dublin (City), we offer readers of the City’s financial statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the Fiscal Year (FY) ended June 
30, 2018. Please read this overview in conjunction with the accompanying letter of transmittal and the 
accompanying basic financial statements. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements, 
which are comprised of three components: 

 Government-wide Financial Statements – These include the Statement of Net Position and 
Statement of Activities. These statements provide information about the activities of the City as a 
whole and about the overall financial condition of the City in a manner similar to a private-sector 
business. 

 Fund Financial Statements – These statements provide additional information about the City’s 
major funds, including how services were financed in the short term and fund balances available 
for financing future projects. 

 Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional detail that is essential to a full 
understanding of the information provided in the Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements. 

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain 
required supplementary information concerning the City’s progress in funding its obligation to provide 
pension benefits to its employees. 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - DESCRIPTION 

These statements include all assets and liabilities of the City using the accrual basis of accounting, which 
is similar to the accounting used by most private sector companies. All current year’s revenues and expenses 
are accounted for regardless of when the cash is paid or received. 

These statements report the City’s net position and changes to the net position during the FY. Net position
- the difference between assets and liabilities - are one way to measure the City’s financial position. Over 
time, increases or decreases in the net position are among indicators used to assess whether the financial 
condition of the City is improving or deteriorating. However, it is also important to consider other 
nonfinancial factors, such as: changes in the City’s property tax values, sales tax outlets, and the condition 
of the City’s infrastructure (i.e. parks and streets), to accurately assess the overall health of the City. 

The Government-wide statements present information about the City’s activities, all of which are 
considered governmental in nature. These include services provided for police, fire, community 
development, streets, and culture and leisure. These services are funded from monies received from 
property, sales and other taxes, direct charges for services provided, grants, contributions from other 
agencies, and impact fees collected from new development.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 243

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



6

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – ANALYSIS 

Table 1 provides and analysis summarizing the year to year change in the Government-Wide net assets 
reported for the City of Dublin. By definition the “net assets” are represented as the difference between 
total assets and total liabilities.

As illustrated in the above table, the City’s net position increased by $46.5 million (6.6%) during FY 2017-
18. This is primarily due to the following:

 Total assets increased $39.3 million, due primarily to increases in cash and investments and accounts 
receivable which are part of current assets, and in capital assets.  Cash and investments in the General 
fund and Dublin Crossing TIF funds increased by $17.0 million and $3.1 million, respectively. Capital 
assets increased by $13.9 million (2.8%) due to significant progress on capital improvement projects, 
including $5.3 million on Fallon Sports Park Phase II, and $9.3 million on the Dougherty Road – Sierra 
Lane and Dublin Boulevard - Sierra Court Improvement Project. 

 Total liabilities decreased in FY 2017-18 with a net difference of $7.4 million from the prior year. 
Current liabilities primarily represent obligations outstanding for current operations (accounts payable), 
capital projects (such as retention payable), deferred revenue, and deposits held. Accounts payable 
decreased by $5.1 million due primarily to completion of significant construction projects. The decrease 
in Noncurrent liabilities reflects the City’s repayment of long-term debt of $1.4 million pertaining to 
the land acquisition for the Dublin Crossing project.

TABLE 1: SUMMARY OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2018 and 2017

June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 $ Change % Change

Item  

Current and other assets 267,979,710   242,412,845   25,566,865   10.5%

Notes receivable (See Note5) 15,270,706     15,032,783     237,923       1.6%

OPEB asset (Note 12) 690,000         1,172,913       (482,913)      -41.2%

Capital assets 505,978,024   492,040,457   13,937,567   2.8%

Total Assets 789,918,440 750,658,998 39,259,442 5.2%

Deferred Outflows of Resources 6,051,605    3,915,819    2,135,786  54.54%

Current liabilities 21,702,006     27,001,634     (5,299,628)   -19.6%

Noncurrent liabilities 22,158,358     24,262,586     (2,104,228)   -8.7%

Total Liabilities 43,860,364  51,264,220  (7,403,856) -14.4%

Deferred Inflows of Resources 2,131,415    977,509       1,153,906  118.0%

Net investment in capital assets 501,516,781   487,123,214   14,393,567   3.0%

Restricted 107,452,492   94,745,655     12,706,837   13.4%

Unrestricted 141,008,993 120,464,219 20,544,774   17.1%

(See Note 8 to Financials for 

Classification)

Total Net Assets 749,978,266 702,333,088 47,645,178 6.8%

Governmental Activities

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 244

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



7

 The City’s $501.5 million in net investment in capital assets represents 67% of total reported net assets. 
Capital asset investments include the City’s investments in land, infrastructure, buildings, and 
equipment. As the City uses these capital assets to provide current services to residents, the assets are 
not available for future spending. The change in annual capital assets reflects both the addition of capital 
assets (including construction in progress), less accumulated depreciation.

 Restricted assets, including a portion of restricted assets in General fund, Affordable Housing fund, 
Impact Fee funds and Grant funds, are resources that have external restrictions on their use. In FY 2017-
18 the City’s restricted assets increased by $11.6 million. The increase was significantly attributed to
changes in impact fees rates in FY 2017-18, specifically in the Public Facility Fee funds, which resulted 
in an increase of $2.1 million in fund balance. Traffic Impact Fees funds increased $3.7 million and 
Dublin Crossing TIF funds increased $1.3 million. These funds are restricted to specific capital 
improvement use. Approximately $141.0 million of the City’s total assets (an increase of $20.5 million 
over the prior year) are unrestricted and may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to the 
community and to creditors. The bulk of unrestricted assets in the General Fund are already committed 
and assigned for specific purposes, in accordance with the City’s Fund Balance and Reserves Policy.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 245

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



8

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

Table 2 below provides a summary of major program expense categories, program revenues used to fund 
specific expenses, and general City revenues available for funding all City programs. The information 
presented here provides detail behind the numbers shown in the Summary of Net Position (Table 1).

TABLE 2: SUMMARY OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION

June 30, 2018 and 2017

June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 $ Change % Change

Revenues

Program Revenues

Charges For Services 26,243,465     22,823,852     3,419,613       15.0%

Operating Contributions & Grants 12,577,699     9,171,746       3,405,953       37.1%

Capital Grants & Contributions 23,438,110     21,133,748     2,304,362       10.9%

     Total Program Revenue 62,259,274     53,129,346     9,129,928       17.2%

General Revenues

Property Taxes 40,628,040     36,964,785     3,663,255       9.9%

Special Assessments Taxes 1,472,933       1,416,721       56,212           4.0%

Sales Taxes 21,134,636     21,186,333     (51,697)          -0.2%

Other Taxes 7,366,201       6,834,545       531,656         7.8%

Investment income, unrestricted (558,269)        (710,595)        152,326         -21.4%

Intergovernmental, unrestricted 153,834         258,508         (104,674)        -40.5%

Other general revenues 3,181,766       1,949,854       1,231,912       63.2%

     Total General Revenue 73,379,141     67,900,151     5,478,990       8.1%

     Total Revenues 135,638,415 121,029,497 14,608,918   12.1%

Expenses

Governmental activities:

General government 16,120,440     13,412,146     2,708,294       20.2%

Police 19,423,830     17,080,942     2,342,888       13.7%

Fire 13,315,788     13,687,195     (371,407)        -2.7%

Public works 17,103,825     18,351,543     (1,247,718)      -6.8%

Park and community services 15,640,280     11,193,876     4,446,404       39.7%

Economic development 683,362         864,697         (181,335)        -21.0%

Community development 7,074,630       14,249,950     (7,175,320)      -50.4%

Interest on long-term debt 125,881         136,867         (10,986)          -8.0%

     Total Governmental Activites 89,488,036  88,977,216  510,820        0.6%

Increase In Net Position 46,150,379  32,052,281  14,098,098   44.0%

Net Position - Beginning of Year 702,333,088 670,280,807 32,052,281   4.8%

GASB 75 Adjustment 1,494,799    -               -               

Net Position - Beginning of Year as restated 703,827,887

Net Position - End of Year 749,978,266 702,333,088 47,645,178   6.8%

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 246

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



9

As shown in Table 2, revenues from all sources totaled $135.6 million and expenses for all City programs 
totaled $89.5 million in FY 2017-18. The City’s net position increased $46.2 million, excluding an 
accounting adjustment of $1.5 million due to adoption of GASB 75 related to OPEB. 

Revenues 

Overall revenues increased $14.6 million, or 12.1%, in FY 2017-18 compared to the prior year. Changes 
included:

 Charges for Services increased a net of $3.4 million mainly due to the increases in recreation and 
aquatic programs by $1.7 million, followed by community development programs by $0.8 million, 
along with $0.6 million increases in general government for increases in residential garbage charges
and waste management admin fees.

 Operating Contributions & Grants increased $3.4 million due primarily to Measure B & Measure 
BB Grants received in FY 2017-18. These grants were used to fund bike and pedestrian 
improvement projects.

 Capital Grants and Contributions increased $2.3 million due to a one-time large Community 
Benefit Payment that was received in the current year that did not occur in the prior year.

 Property Taxes increased $3.7 million, resulting from an increase to overall assessed property 
valuations, and the incorporation of continued recapture of previous values lost during the 
recession.

 Other General revenue increased $1.2 million, due primarily to reimbursements received from 
some utility companies related to one of the City’s street capital projects.

Expenses

Total expenses increased $0.5 million, or 0.6% in FY 2017-18 compared to the prior year. The following 
factors contributed to the overall increase:

 General Government expenses increased by a net $2.7 million: the City made its first Dublin 
Crossing loan repayment of $1.4 million and a one-time pass-through $1.1 million contribution to 
other agency for the BART project.

 Police expenses increased by $2.3 million due to the net of a $1.0 million reversal of a prior period 
accrual for police dispatch expenditures that caused understated prior expenditures, and a $1 
million increase of police contract costs with the County.

 Parks and Community Services expenses increased a net $4.4 million, reflecting increases in 
recreation and aquatic programs related to the opening of the new water park facility (“The Wave”)
in May 2017, as well as depreciation expense on the capital assets.

 Community Development expenses decreased $7.2 million due primarily to the $5.5 million one-
time community parkland acquisition loan for the Dublin Crossing project that was acquired in the 
prior year.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 247

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



10

Revenues and Expenses by Category

The following chart presents the Government-Wide FY 2017-18 revenues in a pie chart format (in 
thousands). Approximately 82% of the total revenue is from four sources: 1) Property taxes, 30%; 2)
Charges for services, 19%; 3) Capital grants & contributions, 17%; and 4) Sales tax, 16%. This is relatively 
consistent with the prior year.

Charges for Services 
$26,243, 19% 

Operating Grants 
& Contributions  

$12,578, 9% 

Capital Grants 
& Contributions 

$23,438, 17% 

Property Taxes 
$40,628, 30% 

Special Assessments
$1,473, 1% 

Sales Taxes 
$21,135, 16% 

Other Taxes 
$7,366, 5% 

Investment Income
($558), -0% Intergovernmental

$154, 0% Other General 
Revenues

$3,182, 2% 

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 248

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



11

Government-Wide expenses in FY 2017-18 are shown below in the same pie chart format (in thousands). 
Of the $89 million in total expenses, Police and Public Works are the largest program costs, making up a 
combined 41% of the total. General Government, Parks & Community Services and Fire follow at 18%, 
17%, and 15%, respectively.

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These statements provide more detailed information about the City’s major funds. A fund is a grouping of 
related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific 
activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure 
and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City can be 
divided into three categories: Governmental funds, Proprietary funds, and Fiduciary funds. 

Governmental funds: Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported 
as governmental activities in the Government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the Government-
wide financial statements, Governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows 
of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the FY. Such 
information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements. 

Because the focus of Governmental funds is narrower than that of the Government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for Governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the Government-wide financial statements. By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. 
Both the Governmental fund balance sheet and Governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, 
and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between Governmental 
funds and governmental activities.

General Government 
$16,120,440 , 18%

Police 
$19,423,830 , 22%

Fire Services 
$13,315,788 , 15%

Public Works 
$17,103,825 , 19%

Parks & Community Services
$15,640,280 , 18%

Community Development 
$7,074,630 , 8%

Economic Development
$683,362 , 1%

Interest on long-term debt
$125,881 , 0%

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 249

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



12

The City maintains sixty-six (66) individual Governmental funds. Information is presented separately in 
the Governmental fund balance sheet and in the Governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, 
and changes in fund balances for the following ten funds: General Fund; Affordable Housing Fund; four 
Capital Project Funds (General Improvement Projects; Community Improvement Projects; Parks Projects; 
Streets Projects); and four Impact Fee Funds (Public Facilities Impact Fees, Fire Impact Fees, Traffic 
Impact Fees, and Dublin Crossings Contribution). These funds either qualify or the City requested them to 
be classified as major funds due to their significance in the financing of new capital assets. Data from the 
other fifty-five (55) Governmental funds are combined into a single aggregated presentation, labeled as 
Non-Major Governmental Funds. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is 
provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for each of its Governmental funds. A budgetary comparison 
statement has been provided for each Governmental fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget. 

Proprietary funds: The City maintains one type of Proprietary fund, the internal service fund (ISF), which 
is an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the City’s various functions 
and to build up reserves for future replacement of capital assets. ISF’s are also used to collect funds for 
future retiree medical costs, which are then transferred to a trust. In FY 2006-07, the City established an 
internal service fund component related to the pre-payment of the Public Employees Retirement System 
side fund obligation. Charges are made to departments based on payroll to fully recover advanced 
retirement payment over time. The City uses three ISF’s to account for its fleet of vehicles, computer 
systems, other furniture and equipment, certain retiree costs and contributions, and improvements to City 
buildings. In FY 2015-16, the City added a new ISF to account for all costs related to information 
technology needs. Because these services solely benefit the governmental function, they have been included 
within governmental activities in the Government-wide financial statements. 

Proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information as the Government-wide
financial statements, only in more detail. All four ISF’s are combined into a single, aggregated presentation 
in the Proprietary fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the ISF’s is provided in the form of 
combining statements elsewhere in this report. 

Fiduciary funds: The Fiduciary fund section consists of the City’s eight Agency Funds. The Dublin 
Boulevard Extension Agency Fund is an improvement district with outstanding bonds. The City’s role is 
that of a trustee, or fiduciary, in collecting assessments and remitting bond payments. The City has no legal, 
contingent or moral obligation for the repayment of this debt and merely ensures that the assets received 
are used for their intended purposes. The City also provides a similar role for four Geologic Hazard 
Abatement Districts. California Public Resources Code section 25670 establishes that these Districts are a 
political subdivision of the State and not an agency or instrumentality of a local agency. The City 
contractually provides support to collect funds in a fiduciary capacity and may also arrange for activities 
funded by the Districts. 

The City has served as the fiscal agent for Alameda County Associated Community Action Program 
(ACAP) since 2011. The entity is a Joint Powers agency which the members have decided to proceed with 
closing out all activities. The City role was limited to holding funds collected from members and issuing 
payments as part of the close-out process.

These fiduciary activities are excluded from the City’s fund financial statements because these assets cannot 
be used to finance City operations. The activity for these funds, however, is provided for in a separate 
combining statement contained elsewhere in this report. 

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 250

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



13

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

At June 30, 2018, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $245.6 million, 
an increase of $28.7 million from the prior year. Table 3 below illustrates the net change in fund balances 
over the prior year for these funds. A discussion of the changes follows the table; individual and non-major 
funds may be found in the Supplemental.

GENERAL FUND 

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. Approximately $0.2 million of the fund balance 
is non-spendable in the form of pre-paid expenses. At the end of FY 2017-18, the unassigned fund balance 
of the General Fund was $36 million, representing approximately five and a half months of budgeted FY 
2018-19 expenditures, with total fund balance at $142.1 million. The unassigned amount reflects an amount 
calculated for the unrealized loss on investments as well as an amount related to cash flow for on-going 
operations. The remaining balances are committed or assigned in accordance with a policy adopted by the 
City Council as discussed in Note 8 to the financial statements.

During FY 2017-18, General Fund revenues exceeded its expenditures by $22.4 million, before transfers
out. Compared to the prior year, General Fund revenues came in $7.4 million higher, from $83.9 million 
in FY 2016-17 to $91.3 million in FY 2017-18. This is due mainly to gains in Property Taxes and Sales 
Taxes, which made up 44.5% and 21.6%, respectively, of all General Fund revenues in FY 2017-18. 

Expenditures in General Fund departments totaled $68.9 million in FY 2017-18, staying nearly $7.2 million 
under the final budget (not including transfers out), and coming in $3.8 million higher than actual 
expenditures in the prior year. The increase was primarily due to higher police contracted service costs and 
utilities expenditures by approximately $2 million and $1 million, respectively, over the prior year.

AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUND 

The Affordable Housing Fund is a special revenue fund which accounts for funds associated with the 
Affordable Housing programs. The fund balance totaled $27.7 million at June 30, 2018, an increase of 
nearly $0.5 million over the prior year. The change primarily reflects increase in the developer fees received 
during the fiscal year.

TABLE 3: GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCE CHANGES

June 30, 2018 and 2017

June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 $ Change % Change

General Fund 142,112,666 122,415,662 19,697,004 16.1%

Affordable Housing Fund 27,669,545  27,193,329  476,216     1.8%

Measure BB Grant Fund (1,002,609)   (1,367,617)   365,008     -26.7%

Capital Improvement Funds 61,234,876  54,676,919  6,557,957  12.0%

Other Governmental Funds 15,577,152  13,992,345  1,584,807  11.3%

Total Governmental Funds 245,591,630 216,910,638 28,680,992 13.2%

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 251

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



14

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUNDS 

As previously described, the City has included seven specific capital funds in the information presented as 
part of the governmental funds. Four of the funds are used to capture expenditures related to active capital 
projects that are underway. The four funds are: General Improvement Projects; Community Improvement 
Projects; Parks Projects; and Streets Projects. Funding for the expenditures in these funds occurs via
transfers in from other funds. Starting June 30, 2017 (unlike in the prior years), one of these funds which is 
Street Capital Project carried a balance that will be eliminated in the next few years upon completion of the 
project. The following Capital Impact Fee Funds are also reported: 

Public Facilities Fee Fund: This fund includes developer fees collected to develop parks and other public 
facilities. Total revenue collected in FY 2017-18 was $12.1 million, a decrease of $4.1 million from the 
prior year, which was due primarily to some large one-time fee payments that were received in the prior 
year. This revenue is collected when developers process Final Maps, resulting in payments of park land 
dedication fees. Due to variations in project construction and acquisition timelines, expenditure patterns 
will fluctuate. Expenses (excluding transfer out) in FY 2017-18 totaled $1.4 million. The balance is 
designated as restricted due to the fact that there are legal restrictions on its use, and it is not available for 
general purposes. 

Fire Impact Fees:  This fund accounts for fees collected from new development to pay for the capital cost 
associated with the provision of Fire Services. Total revenue collected in FY 2017-18 was $0.1 million, 
trending with what was collected in the prior year. In FY 2011-12 the City collected an advance payment 
from the Jordan Ranch project, which will reduce fees collected as the property develops, since the 
developers will have credits in-lieu of paying cash at the time of receiving a building permit. In addition, 
collections will fluctuate with the normal variations in development activity.

In prior years, the negative fund balance associated with this fund represents the repayment of a long-term 
advance, including interest, made from the City General Fund. In FY 2017-18 the amount owed to the
General Fund was paid in full. The balance is designated as restricted due to the fact that there are legal 
restrictions on its use, and it is not available for general purposes. 

Traffic Impact Fee Funds: These funds account for fees collected to construct major traffic improvements 
necessary to facilitate development. Fees are levied and collected on development in proportion to its 
impact on the transportation needs. Revenue collected in FY 2017-18 totaled $6.3 million (including 
interest earned), approximately $0.4 million lower than was collected in the prior year. The City expended 
approximately $1.8 million to reduce outstanding obligations and a one-time pass-through contribution to 
another other agency for BART project. In addition, approximately $0.8 million was transferred to the 
Streets Capital Project Fund for future project design expenses. This resulted in a net increase of fund 
balance by $3.7 million. The balance is designated as restricted due to the fact that there are legal restrictions 
on its use, and it is not available for general purposes.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 252

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



15

NON-MAJOR FUNDS 

The City’s non-major funds, which are all Special Revenue Funds, are presented in the basic financial 
statements in the aggregate. Total fund balance increased $1.6 million in these funds. Based on the 
designated use of the funds they can be arranged by function as shown in Table 4 below:

The full fund balances of these Special Revenue Funds are legally restricted to use under the programs 
indicated in the table above and are not available for general purposes. The Transportation category shows 
an increase in fund balance largely due to capital expenditures for streets and roads projects. More 
information about these aggregated non-major funds can be found in the combining statements following 
the required supplementary information. 

June 30, 2018 and 2017

June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 $ Change % Change

Function

Public Safety 832,262       1,002,352    (170,090)    -17.0%

Transportation 6,033,686    5,278,598    755,088     14.3%

Environmental 1,409,652    1,322,843    86,809       6.6%

Parks, Culture, Arts 4,574,826    4,583,254    (8,428)       -0.2%

Health & Welfare 382,182       (43,274)       425,456     -983.2%

Maintenance Districts 2,344,544    1,848,572    495,972     26.8%

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 15,577,152 13,992,345 1,584,807 11.3%

TABLE 4: ANALYSIS OF FUND BALANCES - 

NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS, ARRANGED BY FUNCTION

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 253

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



16

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

A summary of the budgetary comparison schedule for the General Fund is shown in Table 5 below. The 
complete schedule, as required, is included in the supplementary information following the notes to the 
financial statements.

Over the course of the year, revisions were made to the City budget with adjustments that generally fall 
into one of the following three categories: 

 Adjustments to carry over operating budgets from the prior year. 
 Adjustments to carry over capital expenditure budgets, typically in the form of transfers out to 

capital improvement funds, from the prior year. 
 Adjustments to revenue and expenditure budgets based on current economic conditions, new 

revenue sources, and/or operational spending needs after the original budget was adopted.

TABLE 5: SUMMARY OF GENERAL FUND ORIGINAL AND FINAL BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

Period Ending June 30, 2018

Actual Variance from

Original Final Amount Final Budget

REVENUE

Taxes 64,214,948    65,694,948    67,717,906    2,022,958       

Intergovernmental 198,618        198,618        153,834        (44,784)          

Licenses and permits 5,319,629     5,319,629      7,706,579      2,386,950       

Charges for services 10,881,043    12,534,659    13,407,066    872,407          

Use of money & property 1,957,672     2,407,672      424,228        (1,983,444)      

Fines and forfeitures 111,432        111,432        134,022        22,590            

Other revenue 459,235        509,737        1,677,224      1,167,487       

Total Revenue 83,142,577 86,776,695  91,220,858  4,444,163     

EXPENDITURE

General government 9,063,915     8,880,752      7,300,935      1,579,817       

Police 20,308,395    20,829,059    19,211,349    1,617,710       

Fire 13,377,388    13,139,670    13,097,284    42,386            

Public Works 9,984,580     10,272,701    8,841,446      1,431,255       

Parks and Community Services 14,668,956    14,673,560    13,547,216    1,126,344       

Economic Development 968,396        1,013,620      664,909        348,711          

Community development 6,415,290     7,338,521      6,284,306      1,054,215       

Total Expenditure 74,786,920 76,147,883  68,947,446  7,200,437     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfer in 155,861        110,151        (45,710)          

Transfer out (2,440,629)    (9,571,617)     (2,686,559)     6,885,058       

Total other financing sources (uses) (2,440,629)  (9,415,756)  (2,576,408)  6,839,348     

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 5,915,028   1,213,056    19,697,004  18,483,949   

Budget Amounts

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 254

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



17

In the General Fund total actual revenues exceeded the final budget by $4.4 million as of June 30, 2018, 
due mainly to the following factors:

• Taxes: $2.0 million higher than budget. Property tax came in $1.4 million higher than budget, as
the result of overall growth in the City’s assessed valuation. Sales tax came in $0.6 million lower, 
after satisfying sales tax sharing arrangements. Property transfer tax came in $0.3 million higher
consistent with the prior year. High hotel occupancy and increased room rates brought Transient 
occupancy tax revenue in $0.2 million over budget; and Garbage and Cable franchise fee revenue 
came in $0.6 million above budget, due both to rate increases and expanded services.

• Licenses and Permits: $2.4 million higher than budget. Building Permits came in $2.3 million
higher as the result of development activity during FY 2017-18. It is important to note that these 
revenues are not long-term in nature, and that long-term forecasts incorporate a significant 
reduction in such development-related income. Because there is a lag between the receipt of 
revenue and the expense of related funds to provide the services, the City continues to maintain a 
Service Continuity Reserve (currently at $3.2 million) to ensure that there are future funds to cover 
expenditures when development activity slows. 

• Use of Money & Property: $2.0 million lower than budget. While interest revenue came in $0.5
million higher than budget, reflecting the performance of the City’s investments, the City 
recognized an unrealized loss on investment of $2.7 million to present the fair market value of 
investments at the end of FY 2017-18. 

• Other Revenue: $1.2 million higher than budget. A pass-through donation of $1.1 million was 
received for the Bus Rapid Transit project. The City also received a number of smaller payments 
that were related to existing development agreements.

General Fund expenditures came in $7.2 million lower than the final budget, reflecting overall savings 
across departments. The following is a discussion of the changes.

• General Government: $1.6 million lower than budget. Contract services costs were $1.3 million 
lower than budget, for a variety of contracts that were opened via the purchase order process, with 
the work extending to the current fiscal year.

• Police Services: $1.6 million lower than budget. A budget saving of $1.4 million was realized 
due to benefit costs being lower than projected. Lower fuel and vehicle maintenance costs resulted 
in approximately $0.2 million in budget savings.

• Public Works: $1.4 million lower than budget. Some of the budget savings resulted from City 
staff vacancies throughout part of the year. Services and supplies also came in lower than budget
across departments.

• Parks and Community Services: $1.1 million lower than budget. Budget savings resulted from
City staff vacancies throughout the year, and supplies came in lower than budget across 
departments.

• Community Development: $1.1 million lower than budget. The primary driver of budget savings 
in this department was the remaining budget for specific contracted services related to 
development. These fluctuate with the City’s development activities and with the timelines for 
projects, and are routinely carried over to the next budget year until the projects are closed. 

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 255

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



18

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital Assets 

The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental activities, as of June 30, 2018, amount to $501.5
million (net of accumulated depreciation). These capital assets include land and streets right of way, 
buildings, park and roadway improvements, vehicles and other equipment, and construction in progress, as 
summarized in Table 6 below. During FY 2017-18, the City’s investment in capital assets increased by 
approximately $14 million (2.8%), due to additions to construction in progress.

The City continued its active Capital Improvement Program with significant progress made on a variety of 
community assets. A comprehensive list of all CIP expenditures during FY 2017-18 is presented in Table 
7 below (this includes project costs that may not have any impact on changes to capital assets, such as 
repairs or planning costs).  For more detailed information of capital assets balances, see Note 5 to the 
financial statements.

TABLE 6: SUMMARY OF INVESTMENT IN CAPITAL ASSETS

June 30, 2018 and 2017

June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 $ Change % Change

Land 171,301,925     171,301,925       -               0.0%

Streets Right of Way 35,908,389       35,908,389        -               0.0%

Construction in Progress 63,414,607       84,412,375        (20,997,768)   -24.9%

Infrastructure 390,429,128     388,463,894       1,965,233      0.5%

Buildings and Improvements 115,277,630     76,066,000        39,211,631    51.5%

Machinery and Equipment 20,161,819       15,398,724        4,763,095      30.9%

Subtotal 796,493,498   771,551,307    24,942,191  3.2%

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (290,515,474)    (279,510,850)     (11,004,624)   3.9%

Total Net of Depreciation 505,978,024   492,040,457    13,937,567  2.8%

Governmental Activities

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 256

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



19

TABLE 7: SUMMARY OF CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT ACTIVITY

As of June 30, 2018

ACTUAL

FY 2017/18

GENERAL IMPROVEMENTS 2,380,767        

Police Services Building 1,861,322          In Progress

Maintenance Yard Facility Improvements 4,280                In Progress

Civic Center Modification Design &Construction 495,192             In Progress

ADA Transition Plan 19,973              Complete

COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENTS 76,795             

Sidewalk Safety Repair 76,795              Complete

PARKS 10,580,787      

Emerald Glen Park Recreation & Aquatic Complex 1,893,239          In Progress

Don Biddle Community Park 4,931                In Progress

Dublin Heritage Park Cemetary Phase 1,335                In Progress

Sean Diamond Park 1,894,284          In Progress

Public Art - Don Biddle Community Park 58,612              In Progress

Shannon Center Parking Lot Improvements 970,661             In Progress

Public Art - Clover Park & Sunrise Park 96                    In Progress

Public Art - Jordan Ranch Neighborhood Park 155                   In Progress

Fallon Sports Park Phase II 5,301,793          In Progress

Public Art - Emerald Glen Recreation 47,478              In Progress

Dublin Sports Ground Renovation 236,587             Complete

Public Art - Police Services Building 330                   In Progress

Jordan Ranch Neighborhood Park 68,524              In Progress

Public Art - Fallon Sports Park 98,400              Complete

Dublin Sports Ground Rehabilitation 4,362                In Progress

STREETS 12,676,595      

Tassajara Road Realignment and Design 15,254              In Progress

Annual Street Resurfacing 1,513,282          In Progress

Iron Horse Trail Bidge at Dublin Blvd 83,014              In Progress

Dublin Blvd Extension 452,924             In Progress

San Ramon Road Arterial Management 388,625             In Progress

AVB - Wildwood Rd Intersection Improvement 14,352              In Progress

Dublin Ranch Street Light Improvements 844                   In Progress

San Ramon Road Trail Improvements 193                   In Progress

Citywide Bicycle & Pedestrian Improvements 135,105             In Progress

Traffic Sign Inventory and Safety Review 1,195                In Progress

City Wide Signal Communitcation Upgrade 67,599              In Progress

Amador Plaza Road Bicycle and Pedestrian 56,034              In Progress

Dougherty Rd. Improvement - Sierra Ln 7,424,904          In Progress

Dublin Blvd - Sierra Ct to Dublin 1,919,375          In Progress

Storm Drain Trash Capture Project 603,895             In Progress

TOTAL 25,714,944      

STATUSPROJECT NAME

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 257

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



20

Debt 

In FY 2012-13, the City entered into a lease financing arrangement to fund planned energy-efficient 
improvements through an Energy Services Performance Contract with Chevron Solutions. The total amount 
financed was $6.8 million, which was added to the City’s long-term debt category, with an average 
repayment of $0.6 million annually for fourteen years. FY 2013-14 was the first year the City began to 
repay this debt.  For more detailed information of debt balances and repayment schedules, see Note 7 to the 
financial statements.

In FY 2013-14, the City also entered into a development agreement with Dublin Crossing Venture, LLC 
(Developer) for the acquisition and development of a parcel of land. The City exercised its option to enter-
into an interest-free loan of $5.4 million with the developer to finance the land acquisition. The loan 
occurred in FY 2016-17 and shall be fully repaid in July 2021.   

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET

The City is currently preparing its budget for FY 2019-20, which is the second year in a two-year budget 
cycle. Although property tax and development revenues have shown significant gains in the last two years, 
Sales tax is showing signs of flattening, and contract costs and ongoing maintenance of new facilities 
remains a concern in the long-term perspective.

As discussed in the Transmittal Letter, the current level of revenue growth is not expected to continue as 
the City nears build-out.  The most current 10-Year Forecast projects an operating deficit of $1.4 million 
by FY 2024-25. Accordingly, in the next budget cycle the City will focus not only on continuing to provide 
a high level of community service and maintain top-notch facilities, but to consider long-term budget 
balancing solutions while shoring up contingency reserves.

Copies of the adopted Budget and Financial Plan are available online at www.dublin.ca.gov. 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the financial position of the City for all 
those with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided 
in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the following address: 
City of Dublin, Finance Department, 100 Civic Plaza, Dublin, CA 94568. A copy of this financial report is 
also located at the City’s website – www.dublin.ca.gov.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 258

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



BASIC 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 259

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

22

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 260

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



GOVERNMENT-WIDE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 261

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Statement of Net Position

Primary Government
Governmental

Activities

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and investments (Note 3) 252,138,108$                   
Accounts receivable 14,712,343                       
Accrued interest receivable 927,381                            
Prepaids 201,878                            

Total current assets 267,979,710                     

Noncurrent assets:
Notes receivable (Note 4) 15,270,706                       

Net OPEB asset - City of Dublin (Note 10A) 690,000                            

Capital assets (non-depreciable) (Note 5):
Land 171,301,925                     
Streets right of way 35,908,389                       
Construction in progress 63,414,607                       

Capital assets (depreciable):
Infrastructures 390,429,128                     
Building and improvements 115,277,630                     
Vehicles and equipment 20,161,819                       

less accumulated depreciation (290,515,474)                    

Total capital assets 505,978,024                     

Total noncurrent assets 521,938,730                     

Total assets 789,918,440                     

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred outflows of resources related to pension (Note 9) 4,421,431                         
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB - City of Dublin (Note 10A) 1,589,000                         
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB - Dublin Regional Fire Authority (Note 10B) 41,174                              

Total deferred outflows of resources 6,051,605                         

June 30, 2018

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 24

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 262

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Primary Government
Governmental

Activities

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 15,857,964                       
Accrued wages and other payroll liabilities 148,626                            
Deposits payable 1,166,094                         
Contract retention payable 247,252                            
Other payables 449,961                            
Unearned revenue 1,316,440                         
Compensated absences - due within one year (Note 1I) 750,756                            
Long-term debt - due within one year (Note 6) 1,764,913                         

Total current liabilities 21,702,006                       

Noncurrent liabilities:

Claims payable 27,968                              

Compensated absences - due in more than one year (Note 1I) 321,753                            

Long-term debt - due in more than one year (Note 6) 6,800,888                         

Net OPEB liability - Dublin Regional Fire Authourity (Note 10B) 609,604                            

Net pension liability (Note 9) 14,398,145                       

Total noncurrent liabilities 22,158,358                       

Total liabilities 43,860,364                       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows of resources related to pension (Note 9) 1,581,415                         
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB - City of Dublin (Note 10A) 550,000                            

Total deferred inflows of resources 2,131,415                         

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 501,516,781                     
Restricted for:  

Public safety 832,262                            
Impact fee projects 67,684,377                       
Highways and streets 9,144,187                         
Health and welfare 28,477,170                       
Culture and leisure 1,314,496                         

Total restricted 107,452,492                     

Unrestricted 141,008,993                     

749,978,266$                   Total net position

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 25

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 263

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Statement of Activities
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Net (Expense) 
Revenue and

Changes in Net 
Position

Operating Capital

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Total Activities

Governmental activities:

General government 16,120,440$        6,060,099$          10,755,438$        23,196,191$        40,011,728$        23,891,288$        

Police 19,423,830          335,929               39,892                 -                          375,821               (19,048,009)        

Fire 13,315,788          1,551,899            -                          -                          1,551,899            (11,763,889)        

Public works 17,103,825          3,517,700            1,308,134            142,545               4,968,379            (12,135,446)        

Park and community services 15,640,280          4,638,050            381,893               -                          5,019,943            (10,620,337)        

Economic development 683,362               -                          3,450                   -                          3,450                   (679,912)             

Community development 7,074,630            10,139,788          88,892                 99,374                 10,328,054          3,253,424            

Interest on long-term debt 125,881               -                          -                          -                          -                          (125,881)             

  Total governmental activities 89,488,036$        26,243,465$        12,577,699$        23,438,110$        62,259,274$        (27,228,762)        

General Revenues:

Taxes:

Property taxes 40,628,040          

Special assessment taxes 1,472,933            

Sales tax 21,134,636          

Other taxes 7,366,201            

Total taxes 70,601,810          

Intergovernmental, unrestricted 153,834               

Miscellaneous 3,181,766            

Unrestricted investment earnings (558,269)             

Total general revenues 73,379,141          

Change in net position 46,150,379          

Net position - beginning of year, as restated (Note 16) 703,827,887        

Net position - end of year 749,978,266$      

Program Revenues

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 26

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 264

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements

27

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 265

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

28

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 266

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



The funds described below were determined to be Major Funds by the City in Fiscal Year 2017-2018. Individual non-major
funds may be found in the supplemental.

The General Fund is the governments primary operating fund, It accounts for all financial resources of the City, except those
required to be accounted for in another fund.

The Affordable Housing Special Revenue Fund - is used to account for in-lieu fees received from developers of properties,
which can only be used for the design, development, and construction of citywide affordable housing projects and/or
support of affordable housing programs.

Measure BB Grants established to account for Alameda County Transportation Commission (ACTC) discretionary funding
(versus direct funding) from 2014 voter-approved increase in sales tax used for improvements on bike and pedestrian
projects.

The General Improvements Projects Capital Projects Fund - is used to manage the programming of funds and activities
associated with major Capital Improvements Projects. The Fund accumulates resources for capital expenditures and utilizes
those resources to support projects that are general in nature and are not Streets, Parks, or Community Improvements
Projects.

The Community Improvements Projects Capital Projects Fund - is used to manage the programing of funds and activities
associated with major Capital Improvements Projects. The fund accumulates resources for capital expenditures and utilizes
those resources to support projects that would promote or enhance redevelopment, revitalization, beautification of the city's
infrastructure and not General Improvements, Streets or Parks related projects.

The Parks Projects Capital Projects Fund - is used to manage the programming of funds and activities associated with
major Capital Improvements Projects, The Fund Accumulates resources for capital expenditures and utilizes those resources
to support projects that would construct, improve, or enhance the City's parks and facilities.

The Streets Projects Capital Projects Fund - is used to manage the programming of fund and activities associated with
major Capital Improvements Projects, The Fund accumulates resources for capital expenditures and utilizes those resources
to support projects that would construct, improve, or enhance the City's trails, highways, streets, roads, bridges, as well as
street lighting, and drain systems.

The Public Facilities Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund - is used to account for fees received from developers of properties,
which can only be used for the design, development, and construction of new public facilities within the City.

The Fire Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund - is used to account for impact fees received from developers of properties,
which can only be used for the design development, and construction of fire capital expansion projects within the City.

The Traffic Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund - is used to account for impact fees received from developers of properties,
which can only be used for the design, development and construction of street and highway projects which serve as part of
the City's transportation network.

The Dublin Crossing Contribution Capital Projects Fund - Accounts for community benefit payments specific to the Dublin
Crossing Project, separate from any developer impact fees generated by the project.

GOVERNMENTAL FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 267

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018

General Community

General Affordable Measure BB Improvement Improvement

Fund Housing Grants Projects Projects

ASSETS

Cash and investments 129,778,090$     12,415,831$       -$                        493,665$            3,317$                
Accounts receivable 6,084,426           500                     6,508,243           -                          -                          
Accrued interest receivable 927,381              -                          -                          -                          -                          
Due from other funds 18,525,920         -                          -                          -                          -                          
Notes receivable -                          15,270,706         -                          -                          -                          
Prepaids 7,391                  -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total assets 155,323,208       27,687,037         6,508,243           493,665              3,317                  

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES

 
Liabilities:

Accounts payable 10,201,052         5,684                  -                          493,665              -                          
Accrued wages and other payroll liabilities 160,346              -                          -                          -                          -                          
Deposits payable 1,059,581           11,808                -                          -                          -                          
Contract retention payable -                          -                          -                          -                          3,317                  
Other payables 449,961              -                          -                          -                          -                          
Unearned revenue 1,316,440           -                          -                          -                          -                          
Due to other funds -                          -                          6,359,144           -                          -                          

Total liabilities 13,187,380         17,492                6,359,144           493,665              3,317                  

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable revenue - accounts receivable 23,162                -                          1,151,708           -                          -                          

Total deferred inflows of resources 23,162                -                          1,151,708           -                          -                          

Fund Balances: 
Nonspendable 7,391                  -                          -                          -                          -                          
Restricted 1,938,000           27,669,545         -                          -                          -                          
Committed 43,740,492         -                          -                          -                          -                          
Assigned 57,267,840         -                          -                          -                          -                          
Unassigned 39,158,943         -                          (1,002,609)          -                          -                          

Total fund balances 142,112,666       27,669,545         (1,002,609)          -                          -                          

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
resources, and fund balances 155,323,208$     27,687,037$       6,508,243$         493,665$            3,317$                

Special Revenue Funds Capital Projects Funds

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 30

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 268

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Public Dublin Other Total

Parks Streets Facilities Fire Impact Traffic Impact Crossing Governmental Governmental

Projects Projects Impact Fees Fees Fees Contribution Funds Funds

756,587$            1,856,134$         28,865,459$       144,168$            29,939,022$       14,956,759$       15,501,927$       234,710,959$     
-                          -                          -                          -                          231,460              -                          1,887,714           14,712,343         
-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          927,381              
-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          18,525,920         
-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          15,270,706         
-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          650                     8,041                  

756,587              1,856,134           28,865,459         144,168              30,170,482         14,956,759         17,390,291         284,155,350       

621,498              2,631,108           -                          -                          1,168,457           5,829                  395,544              15,522,837         
-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          160,346              
-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          32,523                62,182                1,166,094           

135,089              108,846              -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          247,252              
-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          449,961              
-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          1,316,440           
-                          -                          10,695,248         -                          116,115              -                          1,355,413           18,525,920         

756,587              2,739,954           10,695,248         -                          1,284,572           38,352                1,813,139           37,388,850         

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          1,174,870           

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          1,174,870           

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          650                     8,041                  
-                          -                          18,170,211         144,168              28,885,910         14,918,407         15,688,440         107,414,681       
-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          43,740,492         
-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          57,267,840         
-                          (883,820)             -                          -                          -                          -                          (111,938)             37,160,576         

-                          (883,820)             18,170,211         144,168              28,885,910         14,918,407         15,577,152         245,591,630       

756,587$            1,856,134$         28,865,459$       144,168$            30,170,482$       14,956,759$       17,390,291$       284,155,350$     

Capital Projects Funds

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 31

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 269

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

32

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 270

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

Total Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 245,591,630$      

   

Capital assets used in governmental activities were not current financial resources.
Therefore, they were not reported in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet. Except
for the internal service funds reported below, the capital assets were adjusted as
follows:

Government-
Wide Statement 
of Net Position

Internal Service 
Funds Total

Non-depreciable 270,624,921$      (14,812,160)$       255,812,761        

Depreciable, net 235,353,103        (29,343,096)         206,010,007        

Total capital assets 505,978,024$      (44,155,256)$       461,822,768        

Internal service funds were used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities, such as insurance, to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the
Internal service funds were included in governmental activities in the Government-
Wide Statement of Net Position. 56,991,592          

Unavailable revenues recorded in the fund financial statements resulting from
activities in which revenues were earned but were not available are reclassified as
revenues in the Government-Wide Financial Statements. 1,174,870            

In the Government-Wide Financial Statements, deferred employer contributions for
pension and OPEB, certain differences between actuarial estimates and actual results,
and other adjustments resulting from changes in assumptions and benefits are
deferred in the current year.

Deferred outflows of resources related to pension 4,421,431            
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB - City of Dublin 1,589,000            

Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB - Dublin Regional Fire Authority 41,174                 
Deferred inflows of resources related to pension (1,581,415)           
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB - City of Dublin (550,000)              

Long-term liabilities were not due and payable in the current period. Therefore, they
were not reported in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet.

Government-
Wide Statement 
of Net Position

Internal Service 
Funds Total

Compensated absences - due within one year (750,756)              -                           (750,756)              

Long term debt - due within one year (1,764,913)           396,727               (1,368,186)           

Claims payable (27,968)                -                           (27,968)                

Compensated absences - due in more than one year (321,753)              -                           (321,753)              

Long term debt - due in more than one year (6,800,888)           4,064,516            (2,736,372)           

Net OPEB asset - City of Dublin 690,000               -                           690,000               

Net OPEB liability - Dublin Regional Fire Authority (609,604)              -                           (609,604)              

Net pension liability (14,398,145)         -                           (14,398,145)         

Total long-term liabilities (23,984,027)$       4,461,243$          (19,522,784)         

Net Position of Governmental Activities 749,978,266$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position were
different from those reported in the Governmental Funds above because of the
following:

City of Dublin

to the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2018

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 33

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 271

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018

General Community

General Affordable Measure BB Improvement Improvement

Fund Housing Grants Projects Projects

REVENUES:

Property taxes 40,628,040$      -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       
Sales tax 19,723,665        -                         -                         -                         -                         
Other taxes 7,366,201          -                         -                         -                         -                         
Intergovernmental 153,834             -                         6,778,536          -                         -                         
Licenses and permits 7,706,579          -                         -                         -                         -                         
Charges for service 13,407,066        18,969               -                         -                         -                         
Interest (819,161)            182,250             -                         -                         -                         
Use of property 1,243,389          426,452             -                         -                         -                         
Fines and forfeitures 134,022             -                         -                         -                         -                         
Developer fees 87,403               85,000               -                         -                         -                         
Other revenue 1,589,820          99,374               -                         -                         -                         
Special assessments -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total revenues 91,220,858        812,045             6,778,536          -                         -                         

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
General Government 7,300,935          8,255                 -                         -                         -                         
Police 19,211,349        -                         -                         -                         -                         
Fire 13,097,284        -                         -                         -                         -                         
Public works 8,841,446          -                         -                         -                         -                         
Park and community services 13,547,216        -                         -                         -                         -                         
Economic development 664,909             -                         -                         -                         -                         
Community development 6,284,307          327,574             -                         -                         -                         

Capital outlay:
General improvements -                         -                         -                         2,380,766          -                         
Community improvements -                         -                         -                         -                         76,795               
Parks -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Streets -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Debt service:
Principal -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total expenditures 68,947,446        335,829             -                         2,380,766          76,795               

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 22,273,412        476,216             6,778,536          (2,380,766)         (76,795)              

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in 110,151             -                         -                         2,380,766          76,795               
Transfers (out) (2,686,559)         -                         (6,413,528)         -                         -                         

Total other financing sources (uses) (2,576,408)         -                         (6,413,528)         2,380,766          76,795               

Net change in fund balances 19,697,004        476,216             365,008             -                         -                         

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS):

Beginning of year 122,415,662      27,193,329        (1,367,617)         -                         -                         

End of year 142,112,666$    27,669,545$      (1,002,609)$       -$                       -$                       

Special Revenue Funds Capital Projects Funds

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 34

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 272

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Public Dublin Other Total

Parks Streets Facilities Fire Impact Traffic Impact Crossing Governmental Governmental

Projects Projects Impact Fees Fees Fees Contribution Funds Funds

-$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       40,628,040$      
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         19,723,665        
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         7,366,201          
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         5,482,997          12,415,367        
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         7,706,579          
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         4,433,735          17,859,770        
-                         -                         439,285             2,029                 422,967             206,261             233,177             666,808             
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         1,669,841          
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         141,643             275,665             
-                         -                         11,542,485        148,751             4,689,886          -                         542,742             17,096,267        
-                         981,736             25,468               -                         1,213,493          3,000,000          434,840             7,344,731          
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         1,472,932          1,472,932          

-                         981,736             12,007,238        150,780             6,326,346          3,206,261          12,742,066        134,225,866      

-                         -                         -                         88,291               1,629,193          -                         4,329,315          13,355,989        
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         144,540             19,355,889        
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         334,607             13,431,891        
-                         -                         -                         -                         35,069               -                         1,842,033          10,718,548        
-                         -                         1,215                 -                         -                         -                         37,275               13,585,706        
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         664,909             
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         88,892               6,700,773          

-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         2,380,766          
-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         76,795               

10,580,786        -                         -                         -                         -                         25,468               -                         10,606,254        
-                         12,676,594        -                         -                         155,861             -                         -                         12,832,455        

-                         -                         1,345,484          -                         -                         -                         -                         1,345,484          

10,580,786        12,676,594        1,346,699          88,291               1,820,123          25,468               6,776,662          105,055,459      

(10,580,786)       (11,694,858)       10,660,539        62,489               4,506,223          3,180,793          5,965,404          29,170,407        

10,580,786        11,061,717        107,557             -                         -                         -                         45,717               24,363,489        
-                         -                         (8,652,590)         -                         (812,591)            (1,861,322)         (4,426,314)         (24,852,904)       

10,580,786        11,061,717        (8,545,033)         -                         (812,591)            (1,861,322)         (4,380,597)         (489,415)            

-                         (633,141)            2,115,506          62,489               3,693,632          1,319,471          1,584,807          28,680,992        

-                         (250,679)            16,054,705        81,679               25,192,278        13,598,936        13,992,345        216,910,638      

-$                       (883,820)$          18,170,211$      144,168$           28,885,910$      14,918,407$      15,577,152$      245,591,630$    

Capital Projects Funds

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 35

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 273

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

36

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 274

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 28,680,992$              

Governmental funds reported capital outlay as expenditures. However, in the Government-Wide Statement
of Activities, the cost of those assets was allocated over their estimated lives as depreciation expense. This
was the amount of capital assets recorded in the current period, net of Internal Service Funds of $920,427. 24,124,893                

Depreciation expense on capital assets was reported in the Government-Wide Statement of Activities, but
did not require the use of current financial resources. Therefore, depreciation expense was not reported as
expenditures in the governmental funds, net of internal service funds of $2,783,835. (8,323,918)                

Accrued compensated leave payments were reported as expenditures in the governmental funds, however
expense is recognized in the Government-Wide Statement of Activities based on earned leave accruals. (74,274)                     

Debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt increased long-
term liabilities in the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position. Repayment of debt was an expenditure
in governmental funds, but the repayment reduced long-term liabilities in the Government-Wide Statement
of Net Position.

Long-term debt repayments 1,345,484                  

Claim payments are recorded as expenditures in the governmental funds, however claim expense is
recognized as claims are incurred on the Government-Wide Statement of Activities (5,931)                       

Current year employer pension and OPEB contributions are recorded as expenditures in the governmental
funds, however, these amounts are reported as a deferred outflow of resources in the Government-Wide
Statement of Net Position. 2,648,270                  

Pension expense is reported in the Government-Wide Statement of Activities does not require the use of
current financial resources, and therefore is not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. (2,529,566)                

OPEB expense is reported in the Government-Wide Statement of Activities does not require the use of
current financial resources, and therefore is not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. (729,981)                   

Unavailable revenues recorded in the fund financial statements resulting from activities in which revenues
were earned but were not available are reclassified as revenues in the Government-Wide Financial
Statements. 1,151,708                  

Internal service funds were used by management to charge the costs of certain activities, such as insurance
and fleet management, to individual funds. The net revenue of the internal service funds was reported with
governmental activities. (137,298)           

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 46,150,379$              

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities were different because:

City of Dublin

in Fund Balances to the Government-Wide Statement of Activities
For the year ended June 30, 2018

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 37

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 275

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
General Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Property taxes 37,971,147$             39,201,147$             40,628,040$             1,426,893$               
Sales tax 20,296,801               20,296,801               19,723,665               (573,136)                   
Other taxes 5,947,000                 6,197,000                 7,366,201                 1,169,201                 
Intergovernmental 198,618                    198,618                    153,834                    (44,784)                     
Licenses and permits 5,319,629                 5,319,629                 7,706,579                 2,386,950                 
Charges for services 10,881,043               12,534,659               13,407,066               872,407                    
Interest 876,000                    1,326,000                 (819,161)                   (2,145,161)                
Use of property 1,081,672                 1,081,672                 1,243,389                 161,717                    
Fines and forfeitures 111,432                    111,432                    134,022                    22,590                      
Developer fees -                                -                                87,403                      87,403                      
Other revenues 459,235                    509,737                    1,589,820                 1,080,083                 

Total revenues 83,142,577               86,776,695               91,220,858               4,444,163                 

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
General government 9,063,915                 8,880,752                 7,300,935                 1,579,817                 
Police 20,308,395               20,829,059               19,211,349               1,617,710                 
Fire 13,377,388               13,139,670               13,097,284               42,386                      
Public works 9,984,580                 10,272,701               8,841,446                 1,431,255                 
Parks and community services 14,668,956               14,673,560               13,547,216               1,126,344                 
Economic development 968,396                    1,013,620                 664,909                    348,711                    
Community development 6,415,290                 7,338,521                 6,284,307                 1,054,214                 

Total expenditures 74,786,920               76,147,883               68,947,446               7,200,437                 

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 8,355,657                 10,628,812               22,273,412               11,644,600               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in -                                155,861                    110,151                    (45,710)                     
Transfers (out) (2,440,629)                (9,571,617)                (2,686,559)                6,885,058                 

Total other financing sources (uses) (2,440,629)                (9,415,756)                (2,576,408)                6,839,348                 

Net change in fund balance 5,915,028$               1,213,056$               19,697,004               18,483,948$             

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 122,415,662             

End of year 142,112,666$           

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 38

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 276

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Affordable Housing

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Charges for services 38,072$                    38,072$                    18,969$                    (19,103)$                   
Interest 98,627                      98,627                      182,250                    83,623                      
Use of property -                                -                                426,452                    426,452                    
Developer fees 502,000                    502,000                    85,000                      (417,000)                   
Other revenues -                                -                                99,374                      99,374                      

Total revenues 638,699                    638,699                    812,045                    173,346                    

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
General government 60,000                      60,000                      8,255                        51,745                      
Community development 537,345                    821,972                    327,574                    494,398                    

Total expenditures 597,345                    881,972                    335,829                    546,143                    

Net change in fund balance 41,354$                    (243,273)$                 476,216                    719,489$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 27,193,329               

End of year 27,669,545$             

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 39

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 277

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Measure BB Grants

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 3,727,000$               13,818,350$             6,778,536$               (7,039,814)$              

Total revenues 3,727,000                 13,818,350               6,778,536                 (7,039,814)                

EXPENDITURES:

Capital outlay:
Streets -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total expenditures -                                -                                -                                -                                

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 3,727,000                 13,818,350               6,778,536                 (7,039,814)                

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) (3,100,000)                (13,731,218)              (6,413,528)                7,317,690                 

Total other financing sources (uses) (3,100,000)                (13,731,218)              (6,413,528)                7,317,690                 

Net change in fund balance 627,000$                  87,132$                    365,008                    277,876$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year (1,367,617)                

End of year (1,002,609)$              

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 40

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 278

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Proprietary fund account for City operation financed and operated in a manner similar to a private business
enterprise, The intent of the City is that the cost of providing good and services be financed primarily through
user charges.

PROPRIETARY FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 279

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018

Governmental

Activities-

Internal Service

Funds

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and investments 17,427,149$                  

Prepaids 193,837                         

Total current assets 17,620,986           

Capital Assets:

Land 10,774,792                    

Construction in progress 4,037,368                      

Infrastructure 122,183                         

Building and improvements 63,136,927                    

Vehicles ain equipment 7,461,646                      

Less accumulated depreciation (41,377,660)                   

Net capital assets 44,155,256           

Total assets 61,776,242           

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accruals 323,407                         

Capital lease - due within one year 396,727                         

Total current liabilities 720,134                

Long-term liabilities:

Capital lease - due in more than one year 4,064,516                      

Total long-term liabilities 4,064,516             

Total liabilities 4,784,650             

NET POSITION (DEFICIT)

Net investment in capital assets 39,694,013                    

Unrestricted 17,297,579                    

Total net position (deficit) 56,991,592$         

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 42

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 280

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Governmental
Activities-

Internal Service
Funds

OPERATING REVENUES:

Charges for services 5,384,956$                    
Other revenue 653,076                         

Total operating revenues 6,038,032                      

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Supplies and services 2,092,419                      
Retiree health premiums 2,122,583                      
Depreciation 2,584,703                      

Total operating expenses 6,799,705                      

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (761,673)                        

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

Interest income 260,841                         

Interest and fiscal charges (125,881)                        

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 134,960                         

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE CONTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSFERS: (626,713)                        

Transfers in 836,897                         

Transfers (out) (347,482)                        

Total transfers 489,415                         

Change in net position (137,298)                        

NET POSITION (DEFICIT):

Beginning of year 57,128,890                    

End of year 56,991,592$                  

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 43

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 281

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Governmental

Activities-
Internal Service

Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Receipts from other funds 5,393,452$                    
Payments to suppliers and service providers (3,940,778)                     
Other revenues 653,076                         

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,105,750                      

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Cash receipts from other funds 836,897                         
Cash disbursements to other funds (635,379)                        

Cash provided by (used in) noncapital financing activities 201,518                         

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of capital assets (721,295)                        
Interest paid on capital lease (125,881)                        
Capital lease repayment (456,000)                        

Cash used in capital and related financing activities (1,303,176)                     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Interest received 260,841                         

Cash flows investing activities 260,841                         

Net Cash Flows 1,264,933                      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of year 16,162,216                    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of year 17,427,149$                  

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating income (loss) (761,673)$                      
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
  to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation 2,584,703                      

Change in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable 8,496                             
Prepaids 15,530                           
Accounts payable and accruals 258,694                         

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,105,750$                    

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 44

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 282

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



FIDUCIARY FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Agency funds are used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for individuals, private organization, and 
other governments. The financial activities of these funds are excluded from the Entity-wide financial statements, but 
are presented in separate Fiduciary Fund financial statements.

45

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 283

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

46

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 284

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Fund
June 30, 2018

Agency

Funds

ASSETS

Cash and investments 35,213,223$                             

Accounts receivable 9,124                                        

Total  assets 35,222,347$                             

LIABILITIES

Accrued payable 84,615$                                    

Due to other 26,598,461                               

Due to trustee 8,530,454                                 

Due to bondholders 8,817                                        

Total liabilities 35,222,347$                             

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements 47

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 285

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

48

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 286

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



49

NOTES TO BASIC 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 287

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



50

This page intentionally left blank

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 288

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

51

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements and accounting policies of the City conform with generally accepted 

accounting principles applicable to governments. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

(GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial

reporting principles. Significant accounting policies are summarized below:

A.   Reporting Entity

The City is a residential community with a significant regional commercial base, located in the 
TriValley area of Alameda County, California at the crossroads of Interstate Freeways 580 and 680. 
The City was incorporated as a municipal corporation on February 1, 1982. The total population 
estimate published by the California Department of Finance for January 1, 2018 was 63,241. This 
figure includes prisoners housed at the Alameda County Sheriff’s Department Santa Rita Jail and at 
the Federal Correctional Institute. The City of Dublin was ranked based on total population at #153 
out of 482 cities within California.

The City operates under the Council-Manager form of government, with five elected Council 
members served by a full-time City Manager and staff. At June 30, 2018, the City's staff was 
comprised of 87 authorized permanent employees who were responsible for City-provided services.
The City provides many traditional municipal services through contracts with both public and
private agencies. Approximately 144.34 contract employees provide a variety of municipal services
from City facilities. As of June 30, 2018, the City had approximately 259 temporary and seasonal
personnel that were on active payroll status.

B.   Basis of Presentation

The City's Basic Financial Statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. The Government Accounting Standards Board is 
the acknowledged standard setting body for establishing accounting and financial reporting 
standards followed by governmental entities in the U.S.A. These Standards require that the financial 
statements described below be presented.

Government-wide Statements:

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities display information about the 
primary government (the City). These statements include the financial activities of the overall City 
government, except for fiduciary activities. Governmental activities generally are financed through 
taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 289

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

52

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued

B.   Basis of Presentation, Continued

The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues
for each function of the City's governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically
associated with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. 
Program revenues include (a) charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the 
programs, (b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational needs of a 
particular program and (c) fees, grants and contributions that are restricted to financing the 
acquisition or construction of capital assets. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, 
including all taxes, are presented as generalrevenues.

Fund Financial Statements:

The fund financial statements provide information about the City's funds, including fiduciary 
funds. Separate statements for each fund category - governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary - are
presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major individual governmental funds, 
each of which is displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental are aggregated and 
reported as nonmajor funds.

Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions 
associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each 
party receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating revenues, such as subsidies and 
investment earnings, result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary activities.

C.   Major Funds

Major funds are defined as funds that have either assets, liabilities, revenues or
expenditures/expenses equal to ten percent of their fund-type total and five percent of the grand 
total. The General Fund is always a major fund. The City may also select other funds it believes 
should be presented as major funds.

The City reported the following major governmental funds in the accompanying financial 
statements:

The General Fund - is the governments primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial 
resources of the City, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

The Affordable Housing Special Revenue Fund - is used to account for in-lieu fees received 
from developers of properties, which can only be used for the design, development, and 
construction of citywide affordable housing projects and/or support of affordable housing 
programs.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 290

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

53

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued

C.   Major Funds, Continued

The Measure BB Grants Special Revenue Fund – established to account for Alameda County 
Transportation Commission (ACTC) discretionary funding (versus direct funding) from 2014 
voter-approved increase in sales tax used for improvements on bike and pedestrian projects.

The General Improvements Projects Capital Projects Fund - is used to manage the programming
of funds and activities associated with major Capital Improvements Projects. The Fund 
accumulates resources for capital expenditures and utilizes those resources to support projects 
that are general in nature and are not Streets, Parks, or Community Improvements projects.

The Community Improvements Projects Capital Projects Fund - is used to manage the
programming of funds and activities associated with major Capital Improvements Projects. 
The Fund accumulates resources for capital expenditures and utilizes those resources to 
support projects that would promote or enhance redevelopment, revitalization, beautification 
of the City's infrastructure and are not General Improvements, Streets or Parks related projects.

The Parks Projects Capital Projects Fund - is used to manage the programming of funds and 
activities associated with major Capital Improvements Projects. The Fund accumulates 
resources for capital expenditures and utilizes those resources to support projects that would 
construct, improve, or enhance the City's parks and facilities.

The Streets Projects Capital Projects Fund - is used to manage the programming of funds and 
activities associated with major Capital Improvements Projects. The Fund accumulates 
resources for capital expenditures and utilizes those resources to support projects that would 
construct, improve, or enhance the City's trails, highways, streets, roads, bridges, as well as 
street lighting, and storm drain systems.

The Public Facilities Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund - is used to account for impact fees
received from developers of properties, which can only be used for the design, development, 
and construction of new public facilities within the City.

The Fire Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund- is used to account for impact fees received from
developers of properties, which can only be used for the design, development, and 
construction of fire capital expansion projects within the City.

The Traffic Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund - is used to account for impact fees received 
from developers of properties, which can only be used for the design, development and
construction of street and highway projects which serve as part of the City's transportation
network.

The Dublin Crossing Contribution Capital Projects Fund - accounts for community benefit 
payments specific to the Dublin Crossings Project, separate from any developer impact fees 
generated by the project.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 291

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

54

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued

C.   Major Funds, Continued

The City also reports the following fund types:

Internal Service Funds - Account for replacement of assets and internal charges collected for 
the purpose of funding retirement plan side-fund obligations, post-retirement healthcare 
activities, and the financing and funding for the replacements of vehicle, building and 
equipment, various information technology projects, and the energy efficiency capital lease 
project. These activities are provided to City departments on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Fiduciary Funds - The City maintains one type of Fiduciary Funds - Agency Funds. The 
financial activities of these funds are excluded from the Government-wide financial statement, 
but are presented in separate Fiduciary Fund financial statements. Agency Funds are used to 
account for assets held by the City as an agent for the following purposes:

The Dublin Boulevard Extension Assessment District is an Agency Fund, which is used to account 
for amounts held for debt service on the Dublin Boulevard Extension Project. The Agency Fund is 
custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and therefore does not involve measurement of results of 
operations. The City is not responsible for payment of the bonds and acts only as an agent to collect 
assessments, pay bondholders, and initiate foreclosure proceedings.

The Associated Community Action Program (ACAP) is an Agency Fund. The City acts as the fiscal 
agent to collect and account for the contributions received and to coordinate administrative services 
leading to the agency ceasing its operation. ACAP is a Joint Powers Authority (JPA), whose 
members include the Alameda County and eleven of the thirteen incorporated cities in the County. 
(The cities of Berkeley and Oakland are not members). The JPA was formed to provide and 
administer social service related programs. The Agency fund is custodial in nature (assets equal 
liabilities) and therefore does not involve measurement of results of operations.

The Fallon Village, Schaefer Ranch, Fallon Village Annex/Jordan Ranch, and Fallon Crossing 
Geological Hazard Abatement Districts (GHAD) are Agency Funds. Each fiscal year, the District 
Engineer prepares an Engineer's Report which includes the budget for the GHADs for that year. 
The annual budget consists of regular site monitoring, annual inspections, contract services for 
annual mitigation and repairs, and administrative costs. The funds collected through special 
assessment are placed into a dedicated reserve fund. The reserve fund is set aside to be used to 
mitigate and repair large, geologic hazards, such as landsides in the respective Subdivisions.

The Dublin Crossing Community Facilities District (CFD) No. 2015-1 (Dublin Crossing) Fund, 
which is used to account for bond issuances to finance capital facilities and infrastructure within the 
CFD secured by the collection of Special Taxes on real property within the CFD. The Agency Fund 
is custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and therefore does not involve measurement of results 
of operations. CFD bonds are not debt obligations of the City.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 292

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

55

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued

D.   Basis of Accounting

The government-wide and proprietary financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and 
expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows 
take place.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide 
financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payments-in-lieu of taxes and other charges 
between the government's business-type activities and various other functions of the government. 
Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the 
various functions concerned.

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, 
services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and 
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general 
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.

Those revenues susceptible to accrual at both the City-wide and Fund level are property, sales and 
franchise taxes, current service charges, and interest revenue. Fines and licenses and permits are not 
susceptible to accrual because they are not measurable until received in cash.

Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized when measurable 
and available. The City considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if 
the revenues are collected within sixty days after year-end. Expenditures are recorded when the 
related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims 
and judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they 
have matured. Governmental capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental 
funds. Proceeds of governmental long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported 
as other financing sources.

Non-exchange transactions, in which the City gives or receives value without directly receiving or 
giving equal value in exchange, include taxes, grants, entitlements, and donations. On the accrual
basis, revenue from taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied or assessed. 
Revenues from grants, entitlements, and donations are recognized in the fiscal year in which all 
eligibility requirements have been satisfied.

Grant revenues are recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements are met. Under 
the terms of grant agreements, the City may fund certain programs with a combination of cost-
reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Certain indirect costs are 
included in program expenses reported for individual functions and activities.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 293

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

56

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued

D.   Basis of Accounting, Continued

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering 
goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating 
revenues of the City's internal service funds are charges to customers for sales and services. 
Operating expenses for internal service funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative 
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition 
are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

E.   Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments

The City pools cash resources from all funds in order to facilitate the management of cash.  The balance 
in the pooled cash account is available to meet current operating requirements.  Cash in excess of current 
requirements is invested in various interest-bearing accounts and other investments for varying terms.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Disclosures (Amendment of GASB No. 
3), certain disclosure requirements for Deposits and Investment Risks were made in the following areas:

• Interest Rate Risk

• Credit Risk

o Overall

o Custodial Credit Risk

o Concentrations of Credit Risk

In addition, other disclosures are specified including use of certain methods to present deposits and 
investments, highly sensitive investments, credit quality at year-end, and other disclosures.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and 
for External Investment Pools, highly liquid money market investments with maturities of one year or less 
at time of purchase are stated at amortized cost.  All other investments are stated at fair value.  The City 
categorizes the fair value measurements of its investments based on the hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles. The fair value hierarchy, which has three levels, is based on the 
valuation inputs used to measure an asset’s fair value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets 
for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant 
unobservable inputs. The City does not have any investments that are measured using Level 3 inputs.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 294

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

57

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued

E.   Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments, Continued

The City participates in an investment pool managed by the State of California entitled Local Agency 
Investment Fund (LAIF) which has invested a portion of the pooled funds in Structured Notes and 
Asset-Backed Securities.  LAIF’s investments are subject to credit risk with the full faith and credit of the 
State of California collateralizing these investments.  In addition, these Structured Notes and Asset-
Backed Securities are subject to market risk as to the change in interest rates.

Cash equivalents are considered amounts in demand deposits and short-term investments with a 
maturity date within three months of the date acquired by the City and are presented as “Cash and 
Investments” in the accompanying Basic Financial Statements.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the City considers all pooled cash and investments 
(consisting of cash and investments and restricted cash and investments) held by the City as cash and 
cash equivalents because the pool is used essentially as a demand deposit account from the standpoint 
of the funds.  The City also considers all non-pooled cash and investments (consisting of cash with fiscal 
agent and restricted cash and investments held by fiscal agent) as cash and cash equivalents because 
investments meet the criteria for cash equivalents defined above.

F.   Property Tax Revenues

Alameda County assesses properties and bills, collects, and distributes property taxes to the City. 
The County remits the entire amount paid and handles the collection of all delinquencies. The City 
receives proportionate shares of prior year collections including interest and penalties. Secured and 
unsecured property taxes are levied on January 1 of the preceding fiscal year. The property tax 
assessments are formally due on November 1 and February I, and become delinquent after 
December 10 and April 10, respectively. Taxes become a lien on the property effective January 1 of 
the preceding year.

G.   Use of Restricted Resources

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use 
restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources as needed.

H.  Prepaid Items

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded 
as prepaid costs in both government-wide and fund financial statements, using the consumption 
method. Prepaid costs in governmental funds are equally offset with nonspendable fund balance to 
indicate they do not constitute resources available for appropriation. Prepaids in governmental 
funds are treated using the consumption method, where the prepaid expenditure is recognized in 
the period in which the service is provided or the item is put into use.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 295

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

58

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued

I     Compensated Absences

The City records a long-term compensated absences liability to recognize the financial effect of 
unused general leave and other accrued compensated leave. The liability will be paid from future 
resources primarily from the general fund.

Compensated absences activities were as follows for the year ended June 30, 2018:

General Leave

Compensated 

Leave Total

Beginning Balance 981,917$      16,318$        998,235$      

Additions 1,006,152     15,730          1,021,882     

Payments (920,932)       (26,676)         (947,608)       

Ending Balance 1,067,137     5,372            1,072,509     

Current Portion 746,995$      3,761$          750,756$      

J.   Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include buildings, machinery and equipment, and infrastructure assets (roads,
bridges, curbs and gutters, streets and sidewalks, drainage systems, lighting systems, and park 
improvements), are reported in the Governmental Activities columns of the Government-Wide 
Financial Statements. Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost 
of more than $5,000 for general capital assets and $100,000 for infrastructure capital assets. Such 
assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not 
available. Donated capital assets, donated works of art and similar items, and capital assets 
received in a service concession arrangement are reported at acquisition value.

Capital assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. This 
means the cost of the asset is divided by its expected useful life in years and the result is charged to 
expense each year until the asset is fully depreciated. The purpose of depreciation is to spread the 
cost of capital assets over the useful life of these assets. The amount charged to depreciation 
expense each year represents that year's pro rata share of the cost of capital assets.

Depreciation of capital assets is charged as an expense against operations each year and the total 
amount of depreciation taken over the years, called accumulated depreciation, and is reported on 
the Statement of Net Position of the government-wide financial statements as a reduction in the 
book value of the capital assets.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 296

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

59

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued

J.   Capital Assets, Continued

The City has assigned the useful lives listed below to capital assets.

Infrastructure 15-75 Years
Buildings and Improvements 20-38 Years
Vehicles and Equipment   4-20 Years

Capital assets include land, buildings, and equipment used in City operations. Infrastructure 
includes roads, bridges, curbs, sidewalks, drainage systems, street and traffic lights, park 
improvements and other improvements used by all citizens.

Donated capital assets, donated works of art and similar items, and capital assets received in a 
service concession arrangement are recorded at acquisition value. All other capital assets are 
valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available.

K.   Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The City 
categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles. The fair value hierarchy categorizes the inputs to valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value into three levels based on the extent to which inputs used in 
measuring fair value are observable in the market.

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities.

Level 2 inputs are inputs - other than quoted prices included within level 1 - that are 
observable for an asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.

L.  Pension

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related
to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the City’s California 
Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) plans (Plans) and additions to/deductions from the
Plans’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
CalPERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are 
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at 
fair value.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 297

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

60

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued

M.  Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
City’s plan (OPEB Plan) and additions to/deductions from the OPEB Plan’s fiduciary net position have 
been determined on the same basis. For this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when currently 
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. Generally 
accepted accounting principles require that the reported results must pertain to liability and asset 
information within certain defined timeframes. For this report, the following timeframes are used:

Valuation Date June 30, 2017
Measurement Date June 30, 2017
Measurement Period July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017

N.  Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

O.  Deferred Out flows / lnflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position or balance sheet report is a separate 
section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred 
outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position or fund balance that applies to a
future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense
/expenditure) until then.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position or balance sheet report is a separate 
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred 
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position or fund balance that applies to a 
future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that 
time.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 298

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

61

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued

P.   Net Position and Fund Balance

Net Position

Net Position is the excess of all the City's assets and deferred outflow of resources over all its 
liabilities and deferred inflow of resources, regardless of fund. Net Assets are divided into three 
captions. These captions apply only to Net Position, which is determined only for proprietary funds 
and at the Government-wide level, and are described below:

Net Investment in Capital Assets, describes the portion of Net Position which is represented by the 
current net book value of the City's capital assets, and reduced by outstanding debt that attributed 
to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of the assets.

Restricted describes the portion of Net Position which is restricted as to use by the terms and 
conditions of agreements with outside parties, governmental regulations, laws, or other restrictions 
which the City cannot unilaterally alter. These principally include developer fees received for use 
on capital projects and debt service requirements.

Unrestricted describes the portion of Net Position which is not restricted to use.

When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position 
are available, the City’s policy is to apply restricted net position first.

Fund Balances

Governmental fund balances represent the net current assets of each fund. Net current assets 
generally represent a fund's cash and receivables, less its liabilities.

The City's fund balances are classified based on spending constraints imposed on the use of 
resources. For programs with multiple funding sources, the City prioritizes and expends funds in 
the following order: Restricted, Committed, Assigned, and Unassigned. Each category in the 
following hierarchy is ranked according to the degree of spending constraint:

Nonspendable represents balances set aside to indicate items do not represent available, spendable 
resources even though they are a component of assets. Fund balances required to be maintained 
intact, such as Permanent Funds, and assets not expected to be converted to cash, such as prepaids, 
notes receivable, and long-term interfund loans are included. However, if proceeds realized from 
the sale or collection of nonspendable assets are restricted, committed or assigned, then 
Nonspendable amounts are required to be presented as a component of the applicable category.

Restricted fund balances have external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, 
laws, regulations, or enabling legislation which requires the resources to be used only for a specific 
purpose. Nonspendable amounts subject to restrictions are included along with spendable 
resources.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 299

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

62

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued

P.   Net Position and Fund Balance

Committed fund balances have constraints imposed by resolution of the City Council which may be 
altered only by formal action (resolution) of the City Council to establish, modify, or rescind a fund 
balance commitment. The City Council commits fund balance through the adoption of a resolution 
prior to the end of the fiscal year. Once adopted, the limitation imposed by the resolution remains 
in place until similar action is taken to remove or revise the limitation. Only the highest level action 
(a resolution) can be considered a commitment for fund balance classification purposes.

Assigned fund balances are amounts constrained by the City's intent to be used for a specific 
purpose, but are neither restricted nor committed. Intent is expressed by the City Council or its 
designee and may be changed at the discretion of the City Council or its designee. This category 
includes nonspendable when it is the City's intent to use proceeds or collections for a specific 
purpose, and residual fund balances, if any, of Special Revenue, Capital Projects and Debt Service 
Funds which have not been restricted or committed. Through a council resolution, the City Council 
has designated the City Manager to determine the amount of assigned Fund balance.

Unassigned fund balance represents residual amounts that have not been restricted, committed, or 
assigned. This includes the residual general fund balance and residual fund deficits, if any, of other 
governmental funds. 

Hierarchy of Expenditures to Classify Fund Balance Amounts

To determine the composition of ending fund balances, the City considers for expenditures made in any 
governmental fund, the restricted amounts will be reduced first, followed by committed amounts, 
assigned amounts, and then unassigned amounts. 

Q.   New Pronouncements

In 2018, the City adopted new accounting standards in order to conform to the following 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements:

GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other 
Than Pensions - The objective of this statement is to address reporting by governments that 
provide other postemployment benefits (OPEB) to their employees and for governments that 
finance OPEB for employees of other governments. The City restated its beginning net position as 
part of implementation of this statement.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 300

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

63

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued

Q.   New Pronouncements, Continued

GASB Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements – The objective of this statement is 
to improve accounting and financial reporting for irrevocable split-interest agreements by 
providing recognition and measurement guidance for situations in which a government is a 
beneficiary of the agreement.  The requirements of this statement did not apply to the City for the 
current fiscal year.

GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017 – The objective of this statement is to address practice issues that 
have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB Statements. This 
Statement addresses a variety of topics including issues related to blending component units, goodwill, 
fair value measurement and application, and other postemployment benefits (OPEB). There was no 
effect on net position as a result of implementation of this statement.

GASB Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues – The objective of this statement is to 
improve consistency in accounting and financial reporting for in-substance defeasance of debt by 
providing guidance for transactions in which cash and other monetary assets acquired with only 
existing resources—resources other than the proceeds of refunding debt—are placed in an irrevocable 
trust for the sole purpose of extinguishing debt. This Statement also improves accounting and financial 
reporting for prepaid insurance on debt that is extinguished and notes to financial statements for debt 
that is defeased in substance.  The requirements of this statement did not apply to the City for the 
current fiscal year.

2.   BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING

The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the basic 

financial statements:

 Prior to June 30 the City Manager submits to the City Council a proposed operating budget for 
the fiscal year commencing the following July 1. The operating budget includes proposed 
expenditures and the means of financing them.

 The public is given an opportunity to comment on the budget at a noticed City Council 
meeting. Prior to July 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution.

 During the fiscal year, the City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between 
line items, provided that the transfer is within the same fund, regardless of the specific 
department activity. This includes the authority to transfer from the General Fund budgeted 
contingency amounts that are approved by the City Council during the budget adoption. The 
City Manager is authorized to increase revenue and expenditure budget for various 
departmental functions, when the net budget impact is zero.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 301

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

64

2.   BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING, Continued

 The City Manager is authorized to increase the appropriations for the following fiscal year in an 
amount not to exceed the amount of funds encumbered or designated by the City Manager as 
needed for expenses that did not occur prior to the year-end, but are expected to be expended 
in the next year consistent with the original purpose.

 As part of the annual Budget adoption the City Council authorizes the carry-over unexpended 
capital project appropriations, for those projects where work and expenditures will continue in the 
subsequent year.

 Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year for 
the general fund, special revenue funds and capital projects funds.

 Budgets for the general, special revenue and capital projects funds are adopted on a basis 
consistent with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

The following Major Capital Projects Fund incurred expenditures in excess of their budgets in the 

amount below. Sufficient resources were available within each department to finance these 

overages.

Capital Projects Fund
  Traffic Impact Fees:
         Capital outlay $155,861

Dublin Crossing Contribution:
         Park and community services $25,468

3.   CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The City's dependence on property tax receipts, which are received semi-annually, requires it to 

maintain significant cash reserves to finance operations during the remainder of the year. The City 

pools cash as described under the policy section on the following page.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 302

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

65

3.   CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued

A.   Policies

California Law requires banks and savings and loan institutions to pledge government securities 
with a market value of 110% of the City's cash on deposit, or first trust deed mortgage notes with a 
market value of 150% of the deposit, as collateral for these deposits. Under California law, this 
collateral is held in a separate investment pool by another institution in the City's name and places 
the City ahead of general creditors of the institution.

The City pools cash from all sources and all funds, except certain specific investments within funds 
and cash with fiscal agents, so that it can be invested at the maximum yield, consistent with safety 
and liquidity, while individual funds can make expenditures at any time.

The City and its fiscal agents invest in individual investments and in investment pools. Individual 
investments are evidenced by specific identifiable pieces of paper called security instruments, or by 
an electronic entry registering the owner in the records of the institution issuing the security, called 
the book entry system. Individual investments are generally made by the City's fiscal agents as
required under its debt issues. In order to maximize security, the City employs the Trust 
Department of a bank as the custodian of all City managed investments, regardless of their form.

The City's investments are carried at fair value, as required by generally accepted accounting 
principles. The City adjusts the carrying value of its investments to reflect their fair value at each 
fiscal year end, and it includes the effects of these adjustments in income for that fiscal year.

B.   Classification

Cash and investments are classified in the financial statements as shown below, based on whether 
or not their use is restricted under the terms of City agreements.

Primary Government:

Cash and investments 252,138,108$      

Fiduciary Funds:

Cash and investments 35,213,223          

Total cash and investments 287,351,331$      

Cash and investments as of June 30, 2018, consist of the following:

Cash on hand 7,740$                 

Deposits with financial institutions 7,797,159            

Investments 253,310,428        

Cash and investments with fiscal agent 26,236,004          

Total cash and investments 287,351,331$      

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 303

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

66

3.   CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued

C.   Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and the City’s Investment Policy

The City's Investment Policy and the California Government Code allow the City to invest in the 
following, provided the credit ratings of the issuers are acceptable to the City; and approved 
percentages and maturities are not exceeded. The table below also identifies certain provisions of 
the California Government Code, or the City's Investment Policy where the City's Investment 
Policy is more restrictive.

Authorized Investment Type

Maximum 

Maturity

Minimum Credit 

Quality

Maximum 

Percentage of 

Portfolio

Maximum 

Investment In 

One Issuer

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 years A-1 30% 20%

Bankers' Acceptance 180 days A-1 40% 20% of Portfolio

U.S. Treasury Bills and Notes 5 years N/A No Limit No Limit

U.S. Government Agency Securities 5 years N/A 25% for callable 35%

California Asset Management Program N/A N/A No Limit No Limit

Commercial Paper 270 days A-1 25% 20% of Portfolio

Time Certificates of Deposit 1 year N/A 10% No Limit

State Local Agency Investment Fund N/A N/A No Limit No Limit

Asset-Backed Securities N/A AA 20% 5%

Medium_Term Notes 5 years A 30% 5%

Money Market Funds N/A AAA 20% No Limit

Municipal Securities 5 years A No Limit 5%

Supranationals 5 years AA 30% 10%

D.   Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value 
of an investment. Normally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of 
its fair value to changes in market interest rates. The City generally manages its interest rate risk by 
holding investments to maturity.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 304

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

67

3.   CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued

D.   Interest Rate Risk, Continued

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the City's investments (including investments 
held by bond trustees) to market interest rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that 
shows the distribution of the City's investments by maturity or earliest call date:

Investment Type

12 Months or 

less

13 to 24 

Months

25 to 60 

Months Total

Asset-Backed Securities 35,423$          2,367,965$     4,263,517$     6,666,905$     

U.S. Treasury Notes -                      16,718,206     37,528,799     54,247,005     

Supranationals -                      -                      4,338,241       4,338,241       

Medium-Term Notes 6,827,072       9,943,342       15,789,397     32,559,811     

U.S. Government Agency Securities 6,256,696       9,006,598       33,067,767     48,331,061     

Local Agency Investment Fund 40,552,349     -                      -                      40,552,349     

California Asset Management Program 55,611,407     -                      -                      55,611,407     

Commercial Paper 2,775,000       -                      5,937,283       8,712,283       

Money Market Funds 2,291,367       -                      -                      2,291,367       

Total Investments 114,349,314$ 38,036,111$   100,925,003$ 253,310,428$ 

The City is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated 
by California Government Code Section 16429 under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of 
California.  The City’s investments with LAIF as of June 30, 2018, include a portion of the pool 
funds invested in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities.  These investments include the 
following:

Structured Notes – are debt securities (other than asset-backed securities) whose cash flow 
characteristics (coupon rate, redemption amount, or stated maturity) depend upon one or more 
indices and/or have embedded forwards or options.

Asset-Backed Securities – the bulk of which are mortgage-backed securities, entitle their purchasers 
to receive a share of the cash flows from a pool of assets such as principal and interest repayments 
from a pool of mortgages (such as Collateralized Mortgage Obligations) or credit card receivables.

As of June 30, 2018, the City had $40,552,349 invested in LAIF, which had invested 2.67% of the 
pool investment funds in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities as compared to 2.89% in 
the previous year. The LAIF fair value factor of 0.998126869 was used to calculate the fair value of 
the investments in LAIF.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 305

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

68

3.   CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued

D.   Interest Rate Risk, Continued

The City is a participant in the California Asset Management Program (CAMP). CAMP is an 
investment pool offered by the California Asset Management Trust (the Trust). The Trust is a joint 
powers authority and public agency created by the Declaration of Trust and established under the
provisions of the California Joint Exercise of Powers Act (California Government Code Sections 
6500 et seq., or the "Act") for the purpose of exercising the common power of its Participants to 
invest certain proceeds of debt issues and surplus funds. The Pool's investments are limited to 
investments permitted by subdivisions (a) to (n), inclusive, of Section 53601 of the California 
Government Code. The City reports its investments in CAMP at the fair value amounts provided 
by CAMP, which is the same as the value of the pool share. The fair value approximated is the 
City's cost. As of June 30, 2018, these investments have an average maturity of 49 days.

The City's investments include Asset-Backed Securities in the amount of $6,666,905 that are highly 
sensitive to interest rate fluctuations to a greater degree than already indicated above

E.   Fair Value Hierarchy

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure fair 
value of the assets. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in an active market for identical assets; Level 2 
inputs are significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.

The following is a summary of the fair value hierarchy of the fair value of investments of the City 
as of June 30, 2018:

Level 2 Total

Investments By Fair Value Level:

Asset-Backed Securities 6,666,905$      6,666,905$      

U.S. Treasury Notes 54,247,005      54,247,005      

Supranationals 4,338,241        4,338,241        

Medium-Term Notes 32,559,811      32,559,811      

U.S. Government Agency Securities 48,331,061      48,331,061      

Commercial Paper 8,712,283        8,712,283        

Total 154,855,305$  154,855,305    

Investments Exempt From Disclosure:

Local Agency Investment Fund 40,552,349      

California Asset Management Program 55,611,407      

Money Market Funds 2,291,367        

Total 253,310,428$  

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 306

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

69

3.   CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued

E.   Fair Value Hierarchy, Continued

U.S. Government agency securities, medium term notes, asset-backed securities, and commercial, 
classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, are valued using matrix pricing techniques 
maintained by various pricing vendors. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the 
securities' relationship to benchmark quoted prices. The California Local Agency Investment Fund 
(LAIF), California Asset Management Program and money market funds are classified as exempt 
in the fair value hierarchy. Fair value is defined as the quoted market value on the last trading day 
of the period. These prices are obtained from various pricing sources by our custodian bank.

F.   Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of 
the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization. The actual ratings as of June 30, 2018 were provided by Standard 
and Poor's investment rating system except as noted. The Local Agency Investment Fund was not 
rated as of June 30, 2018.

Investment Type AAA AA+ AA AA- A+ A A- Total

Asset-Backed Securities 3,820,488$  -$                   -$               -$               -$               -$                 -$               3,820,488$    

U.S. Treasury Notes -                   54,247,005    -                 -                 -                 -                   -                 54,247,005    

Supranationals -                   -                     4,338,241  -                 -                 -                   -                 4,338,241      

Medium Term Notes 1,847,779    1,807,290      3,357,053  5,184,198  8,265,195  8,194,212    3,904,084  32,559,811    

U.S. Government Agency 

Securities -                   48,331,061    -                 -                 -                 -                   -                 48,331,061    

California Asset 

Management Program 55,611,407  -                     -                 -                 -                 -                   -                 55,611,407    

Commercial Paper -                   -                     -                 -                 -                 1,487,878    2,775,000  4,262,878      

Money Market Funds 2,291,367    -                     -                 -                 -                 -                   -                 2,291,367      

Total 63,571,041$ 104,385,356$ 7,695,294$ 5,184,198$ 8,265,195$ 9,682,090$  6,679,084$ 205,462,257  

Not rated:

Asset-Backed Securities 2,846,417      

Commercial Paper 4,449,405      

State Local Agency Investment Fund 40,552,349    

Total Investments 253,310,428$

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 307

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

70

3.   CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued

G.   Concentration of Credit Risk

Included in the table at Note F above are the following significant investments in any one issuer 
other than U.S. Treasury securities, mutual funds, and external investment pools.

Reporting 

Unit Issuer Investment Type

Reported 

Amount

Entity-wide

Federal Home Loan Bank US Government Agency Securities 15,763,283$   

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation US Government Agency Securities 8,872,103       

Federal National Mortgage Association US Government Agency Securities 24,688,091     

4.   INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS

A.   Transfers Between Funds

Transfers between funds during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 were as follows:

Transfers Out General

General 

Improvements 

Projects 

Capital 

Projects

Community 

Improvements 

Projects 

Capital 

Projects

Parks Projects 

Capital 

Projects

Streets 

Projects 

Capital 

Projects

Public 

Facilities 

Impact Fee 

Capital 

Projects

Non-major 

Governmental 

Funds

Internal 

Service Funds Total

Major Funds

General Fund -$                 24,252$         76,795$        1,123,868$  604,087$     107,557$     -$                 750,000$     2,686,559$  

Measure BB Grants -                   -                     -                    -                   6,413,528    -                   -                   -                   6,413,528    

Public Facilities Impact

Fees Capital Projects -                   -                     -                    8,652,590    -                   -                   -                   -                   8,652,590    

Traffic Impact Fees

Capital Projects -                   -                     -                    -                   812,591       -                   -                   -                   812,591       

Dublin Crossing Contribution

Capital Projects -                   1,861,322      -                    -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   1,861,322    

Non-major Govtl Funds 110,151       495,192         -                    456,846       3,231,511    -                   45,717         86,897         4,426,314    

Total Govt Funds 110,151       2,380,766      76,795          10,233,304  11,061,717  107,557       45,717         836,897       24,852,904  

Internal Service Funds -                   -                     -                    347,482       -                   -                   -                   -                   347,482       

Total 110,151$     2,380,766$    76,795$        10,580,786$ 11,061,717$ 107,557$     45,717$       836,897$     25,200,386$

Transfers In

Significant transfers noted above made to major capital project funds were to fund on-going capital 
projects.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 308

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

71

4.   INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS, Continued

B.   Current Interfund Balances

Current interfund balances arise in the normal course of business and are expected to be repaid 
shortly after the end of the fiscal year. Significant balances in the capital project funds are a result 
of initiation of capital projects expected to be funded by future fees. No formal repayment 
schedules have been adopted for these temporary loans. As of June 30, 2018, the following funds 
have balances due to the General Fund:

Due to General Fund:

Measure BB Grants Special Revenue Fund 6,359,144$           

Public Facilities Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund 10,695,248           

Traffic Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund 116,115                

Non-Major Governmental Funds 1,355,413             

Total 18,525,920$         

4.   NOTES RECEIVABLE

The following table summarizes the notes receivable outstanding as of June 30, 2018:

First Time Homebuyer Loan Program 1,473,044$            

Eden (Wicklow) Square Senior Affordable Housing 2,860,957               

Arroyo Vista Predevelopment/Construction Loan - Family Housing 2,685,274               

Arroyo Vista Predevelopment/Construction Loan - Senior Housing 1,424,096               

Veterans Family Apartment Development Loan 6,827,335               

Total 15,270,706$          

Revolving Home Loans - As part of the City of Dublin First Time Homebuyer Loan Program 
(FTHLP), the City provides financial assistance, in the form of a deferred loan. The program targets 
first time homebuyers within a certain income range purchasing their first home in Dublin. 
Monthly payments of principal and interest are generally deferred until the homes are sold, or are 
in default. In certain situations the loan may also be due when the homeowners refinance their 
primary mortgage. The total outstanding amount due, including accrued simple interest at 3.5% 
per annum, as of June 30, 2018 was $1,473,044. As of June 30, 2018, there were no loans in default.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 309

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

72

4.   NOTES RECEIVABLE, Continued

Details of the Revolving Home Loans as of June 30, 2018 were as follows:

LOAN # LOAN DATE

 ORIGINAL 

LOAN 

AMOUNT 

 ACCRUED 

INTEREST 

 REPAYMENT OF 

INTEREST AND 

PRINCIPAL 

 LOAN 

BALANCE 

#07-04 10/31/2007 50,000$         18,671$               -$                                 68,671$              

#07-09 9/21/2007 26,036           9,880                   -                                   35,916                

#07-11 10/12/2007 38,141           14,316                 -                                   52,457                

#07-12 10/8/2007 33,051           13,154                 -                                   46,205                

#07-14 10/2/2007 19,610           7,378                   -                                   26,988                

#07-15 12/4/2007 24,536           9,083                   -                                   33,619                

#07-16 12/28/2007 8,000             2,943                   -                                   10,943                

#07-18 2/29/2008 24,170           8,744                   -                                   32,914                

#08-05 2/3/2009 22,619           7,456                   -                                   30,075                

#08-06 2/11/2009 55,404           18,192                 -                                   73,596                

#08-07 4/10/2009 27,425           8,856                   -                                   36,281                

#08-08 6/30/2009 39,576           12,471                 -                                   52,047                

#09-02 9/29/2009 36,595           11,213                 -                                   47,808                

#10-02 1/26/2011 40,000           10,404                 -                                   50,404                

#10-03 5/6/2011 26,700           6,686                   -                                   33,386                

#11-01 12/9/2011 26,025           5,991                   -                                   32,016                

#11-03 11/22/2011 30,839           7,131                   -                                   37,970                

#11-04 12/28/2011 35,249           7,022                   (42,271)                        -                          

#11-05 1/13/2012 29,999           6,787                   -                                   36,786                

#11-06 1/13/2012 36,415           8,239                   -                                   44,654                

#11-07 1/19/2012 36,682           7,731                   (44,413)                        -                          

#11-08 1/31/2012 35,249           7,914                   -                                   43,163                

#11-09 2/15/2012 36,671           8,180                   -                                   44,851                

#11-10 4/3/2012 38,586           8,434                   -                                   47,020                

#12-01 10/30/2012 29,999           5,953                   -                                   35,952                

#12-02 1/31/2013 40,000           7,580                   -                                   47,580                

#12-03 3/22/2013 36,749           6,788                   -                                   43,537                

#12-04 4/12/2013 36,749           6,714                   -                                   43,463                

#12-05 4/26/2013 35,249           6,393                   -                                   41,642                

#12-06 6/12/2013 31,499           5,571                   -                                   37,070                

#12-07 5/15/2013 35,249           6,329                   -                                   41,578                

#12-08 5/10/2013 35,249           6,346                   -                                   41,595                

#12-09 4/25/2013 36,749           5,910                   (42,659)                        -                          

#13-01 7/31/2013 40,000           6,886                   -                                   46,886                

#13-03 10/2/2013 40,000           6,645                   -                                   46,645                

#13-04 12/9/2013 40,000           6,384                   -                                   46,384                

#15-01 7/1/2016 40,000           2,800                   -                                   42,800                

#17-01 5/25/2018 40,000           142                      -                                   40,142                

1,295,070$    307,317$             (129,343)$                    1,473,044$         

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 310

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

73

4.   NOTES RECEIVABLE, Continued

Eden Senior Affordable Housing Loan - (Wicklow Square) - On September 23, 2002, the City selected 
Eden Housing, Inc. as the developer for the affordable senior housing at the site of the former 
library located at 7606 Amador Valley Boulevard. This site also houses a senior center that the City 
constructed during fiscal year 2003-2004. On February 1, 2004, the City entered into an agreement 
and provided a loan in the amount of $2,248,248 to the Dublin Senior Limited Partnership to
support the senior housing project. The interest on the outstanding principal balance of the loan is 
accrued at the rate of 3% simple interest per annum. The entire outstanding principal balance of the 
loan, together with the interest accrued, shall be payable in full on February 8, 2059, the 55th 
anniversary of the Initial Disbursement Date of February 18, 2004. Repayments commenced on 
June 1, 2006, and on the first day of each June, 60% of the Surplus Cash generated by the project 
during the previous calendar year are remitted to reduce the outstanding indebtedness. Any 
payment not paid when due shall bear interest at a rate equal to 10% annum from the due date
until it is paid in full. The outstanding amount as of June 30, 2018 was $2,860,957.

Arroyo Vista Predevelopment/Construction Loan - Family and Senior Projects - (Emerald Vista) - On June 
1, 2011, the City entered into an agreement to provide a loan to Eden Dougherty, L.P., a California 
nonprofit public benefit corporation, with a not-to-exceed $7,600,000 principal amount in
accordance to the Arroyo Vista Disposition and Development Agreement dated July 25, 2007 
concerning the redevelopment of the real property located at 6700 Dougherty Road in the City of 
Dublin. The City agreed to provide a loan to Eden to assist in financing the development of the 
Family Project and Senior Project. The City determined that the development of the project is in the 
interests of health, safety and welfare of the residents of the City, and that the City financing is
necessary to make the project affordable to low and very low income households for a term of not 
less than fifty-five years. The note will not bear interest until the earlier of (i) the date that the 
project's construction financing is either converted to a permanent loan or repaid in full, or (ii) 
twelve months following the date of issuance of the final certificate of occupancy or equivalent for 
the project; thereafter, the outstanding principal balance of the loan shall bear interest at a rate 
equal to three percent simple annual interest. Annual payments shall be due and payable on a 
residual receipts basis in accordance with the formula set forth in the note. The entire outstanding 
principal balance and accrued interest shall be paid in full on the earlier of (i) the fifty fifth
anniversary of the date of issuance of the final certificate of occupancy or (ii) the fifty-seventh 
anniversary of the loan origination date. The City has the right to accelerate maturity date and 
declare all sums immediately due and payable to the City upon the occurrence of an event of 
developer default, including developer's failure to commence or complete construction of the 
project within times period specified in the note. As of June 30, 2018, the outstanding amounts are 
$2,685,274 for the Family Project and $1,424,096 for the Senior Project.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 311

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

74

4.   NOTES RECEIVABLE, Continued

Veterans Family Apartment Development Loan- On October 1, 2015, the City entered into an 
agreement to provide a loan to Dublin Family, L.P., a California limited partnership. The City 
entered into an agreement and provided a loan in the amount of $6,400,000 to the Dublin Family 
L.P. to build on the property a 66-unit affordable multifamily rental housing project consisting of 
65 affordable rental housing units primarily for very low and low income veterans and their 
families, one resident manager's unit, and other related improvements. The only payment to be
received is the accrued interest. The principal is not due until the maturity date. The entire 
outstanding principal balance of the loan, together with the interest accrued, shall be payable in 
full on June 1, 2070. The City has the right to accelerate maturity date and declare all sums 
immediately due and payable to the City upon the occurrence of an event of developer default, 
including developer's failure to commence or complete construction of the project within times 
period specified in the note. As of June 30, 2018, the outstanding amount of the loan was $6,827,335.

5.   CAPITAL ASSETS

A.   Current Year Activities

Capital asset activities during the fiscal year were as follows:

Balance Balance

June 30, 2017 Additions Retirements Transfers June 30, 2018

Non-depreciable assets:

Land 171,301,925$  -$                        -$                        -$                        171,301,925$  

Streets right of way 35,908,389       -                          -                          -                          35,908,389       

Construction in progress 84,412,375       24,103,698       -                          (45,101,466)     63,414,607       

Total non-depreciable assets 291,622,689    24,103,698       -                          (45,101,466)     270,624,921    

Depreciable assets:

Infrastructure 388,463,894    -                          -                          1,965,234         390,429,128    

Buildings and improvements 76,066,000       -                          -                          39,211,630       115,277,630    

Vehicles and equipment 15,398,724       941,622            (103,129)           3,924,602         20,161,819       

479,928,618    941,622            (103,129)           45,101,466       525,868,577    

Less accumulated depreciation:

Infrastructure (233,403,289)   (7,287,624)        -                          -                          (240,690,913)   

Buildings and improvements (40,299,946)     (2,519,038)        -                          529,227            (42,289,757)     

Vehicles and equipment (5,807,615)        (1,301,091)        103,129            (529,227)           (7,534,804)        

Total accumulated depreciation (279,510,850)   (11,107,753)     103,129            -                          (290,515,474)   

Total depreciable assets, net 200,417,768    (10,166,131)     -                          45,101,466       235,353,103    

Total capital assets 492,040,457$  13,937,567$    -$                        -$                        505,978,024$  

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 312

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

75

5.   CAPITAL ASSETS, Continued

B.   Project Commitments

As of June 30, 2018, the City had outstanding commitments with contractors for the following 
projects:

Project Commitment

Facility Construction 15,929,655$        

Facility Modification 779,405                

Park Construction 387,423                

Park Improvements 85,590                  

Street Improvements 4,857,834            

Street Repair/Maintenance 3,190,342            

Street Signal Improvements 61,833                  

Technology Upgrade 170,034                

Miscellaneous 705,608                

C.   Capital Asset Contributions

Some capital assets may be acquired using Federal and State grant funds, or they may be 
contributed by developers or other governments. GASB Statement 34 requires that these 
contributions be accounted for as revenues at the time the capital assets are contributed.

D.   Depreciation Allocation

Depreciation expense is charged to functions and programs based on their usage of the related 
assets. The amounts allocated to each function or programs are as follows:

Governmental Activities:

General Government 1,371,105$         

Police 287,123               

Fire 596,593               

Public Works 5,838,570            

Parks and Community Service 2,849,044            

Community Development 165,318               

Total depreciation expense 11,107,753$       

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 313

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

76

6.   LONG TERM DEBT

A.   Current Year Transactions and Balances

Due in

Balance Balance Due Within More than

June 30, 2017 Additions Deletions June 30, 2018 One Year One Year

Governmental Activities:

2012 Chevron Energy Capital Lease 4,917,243$    -$                  (456,000)$     4,461,243$    396,727$       4,064,516$    

Dublin Crossing Loan Payable 5,450,042      -                    (1,345,484)    4,104,558      1,368,186      2,736,372      

Total long-term debt 10,367,285$  -$                  (1,801,484)$  8,565,801$    1,764,913$    6,800,888$    

B.   2012 Chevron Energy Capital Lease

On June 12, 2012, City entered into an Energy Services Performance Contract with Chevron Energy 
Solutions to implement the recommended efficiency improvements in the City's ongoing efforts to 
reduce energy consumption and develop long-term cost savings through increased energy 
efficiency. The total project cost was estimated to be $7,430,976. City expects the full cost of 
improvements including interest can be offset through estimated energy savings. The project was 
funded through a combination of Lease Financing and Internal Service Fund reserves.

The total amount financed by the bank was approximately $6,755,824, with interest rate fixed at 
2.56% which occurred on October 1, 2012. The first payment was made on September 28, 2013. The 
financing is a lease arrangement with Bank of America holding title to the improvements being 
installed. Once all lease payments are made, improvements are fully owned by the City.

The payments will be made over a fourteen-year period. The amount of annual lease payments is 
intended to produce consistent savings each year. Therefore, for payments in the initial years, 
when certain rebates and incentives are received, the payments will be higher. The average annual 
lease payment over the repayment period is estimated to be approximately $565,977 per year. The 
City anticipates that energy savings and incentives are projected to fully offset these costs.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 314

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

77

6.   LONG TERM DEBT, Continued

C.   Dublin Crossing Loan Payable

As discussed in Note 14, the City entered into several agreements with various developers and 
merchant builders who are developing numerous residential and commercial projects throughout 
the City. On November 19th 2013, the City entered into one of these agreements with Dublin 
Crossing Venture LLC (Developer), for the acquisition and development of a parcel of land. The 
City acquired the land and subsequently conveyed it to the Developer on March 23, 2017. Included 
in the development plan are residential units, commercial uses, a community park, a neighborhood 
park, privately owned open space, and an elementary school site. The City exercised its option to 
enter into an interest-free loan of $5,450,042 with the Developer to finance the land acquisition. The 
repayment of the loan is due in four annual installments. Installment payments will commence in 
July 2018 and shall be fully repaid in July 2021.

D.   Debt Service Requirements

The annual debt service requirement on the capital lease obligation is as follows:

Year Ending

June 30, Principal Interest Total

2019 396,727$            114,208$            510,935$            

2020 424,629              104,052              528,681              

2021 453,889              93,181                547,070              

2022 484,565              81,562                566,127              

2023 516,719              69,157                585,876              

2024-2027 2,184,714           144,086              2,328,800           

Total 4,461,243$         606,246$            5,067,489$         

The annual debt service requirement on the loan payable is as follows:

Year Ending

June 30, Principal

2019 1,368,186$         

2020 1,368,186           

2021 1,368,186           

Total 4,104,558$         

,

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 315

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

78

7.   FUND BALANCES

Detailed classifications of the City's Fund Balances, as of June 30, 2018, are stated below:

Affordable Measure Street Public Facilities Fire Impact Traffic Impact Dublin

General Housing BB Grants Projects Impact Fees Fees Fees Crossing Non-Major

Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Contributions Funds Total

Nonspendable:

Prepaids 7,391$            -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   650$               8,041$            

Subtotal Non-Spendable Fund Balance 7,391              -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     650                 8,041              

Restricted for:

Cemetery Endowment 60,000            -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     60,000            

Public Safely Programs -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     832,262          832,262          

Street Maintenance and Construction -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     9,108,739       9,108,739       

Health and Welfare Programs -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     498,613          498,613          

Heritage Park Maintenance 750,000          -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     750,000          

Recycling Programs -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     792,145          792,145          

Impact Fee Capital Projects -                     -                     -                     -                     18,170,211     144,168          28,885,910     -                     -                     47,200,289     

Capital Improvement Projects -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     14,918,407     4,456,681       19,375,088     

Developer Contribution - Heritage Park 19,000            -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     19,000            

Developer Contribution - Nature Park 60,000            -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     60,000            

Downtown Community Benefit Program 1,049,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     1,049,000       

Housing -                     27,669,545     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     27,669,545     

Subtotal Restricted Fund Balance 1,938,000       27,669,545     -                     -                     18,170,211     144,168          28,885,910     14,918,407     15,688,440     107,414,681   

Committed to:

Economic Stability 8,000,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     8,000,000       

Downtown Public Improvements 3,000,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     3,000,000       

Emergency Communications 741,000          -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     741,000          

Fire Services OPEB 3,584,672       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     3,584,672       

Innovations and New Opportunities 1,813,408       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     1,813,408       

Maintenance Facility 71,753            -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     71,753            

Civic Center Expansion 22,745            -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     22,745            

Historic Park Cemetary Expansion 5,270,875       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     5,270,875       

One Time Initiatives 6,341,408       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     6,341,408       

Advance to Public Facility Fee 6,000,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     6,000,000       

Fallon Sports Park 110,500          -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     110,500          

Storm Drain Capture 118,303          -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     118,303          

Utility Undergrounding 1,170,190       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     1,170,190       

Dublin Sports Ground 2,495,638       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     2,495,638       

Economic Development 3,000,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     3,000,000       

Public Safely 2,000,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     2,000,000       

Subtotal Committed Fund Balance 43,740,492     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     43,740,492     

Assigned to:

Non-street CIP 4,000,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     4,000,000       

Employees Accrued Leave 1,072,508       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     1,072,508       

Operating Carryovers 2,169,276       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     2,169,276       

ClP Carryovers 4,272,555       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     4,272,555       

Catastrophic Loss and Recovery 14,764,599     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     14,764,599     

Service Continuity Obligations 3,150,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     3,150,000       

Pension and Post Employment Benefits 12,000,000     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     12,000,000     

Fiscally Responsible Adjustment 325,000          -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     325,000          

Civic Center Renovation 1,962,100       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     1,962,100       

Internal Service Fund 1,500,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     1,500,000       

Municipal Regional Permit 2,370,030       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     2,370,030       

HVAC Replacement 2,000,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     2,000,000       

Relocate Parks 250,000          -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     250,000          

Fire Equipment Replacement 290,873          -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     290,873          

Pension Rate Stabilization 2,000,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     2,000,000       

Chevron Debt Pay-off 4,656,742       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     4,656,742       

Parks and Street Contingency Maintenance 250,000          250,000          

Commercial Facade Improvement Grant 234,157          -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     234,157          

Subtotal Assigned Fund Balance 57,267,840     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     57,267,840     

Unassigned Fund Balance:

Fund Balance Deficits -                     -                     (1,002,609)     (883,820)        -                     -                     -                     -                     (111,938)        (1,998,367)     

Unrealized Gain on Investments/(Loss) 3,000,861       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     3,000,861       

Cash Flow Per City Policy 36,158,082     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     36,158,082     

Subtotal Unassigned Fund Balance 39,158,943     -                     (1,002,609)     (883,820)        -                     -                     -                     -                     (111,938)        37,160,576     

Total Fund Balance (Deficit) 142,112,666$ 27,669,545$   (1,002,609)$   (883,820)$      18,170,211$   144,168$        28,885,910$   14,918,407$   15,577,152$   245,591,630$ 

Major Funds

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 316

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

79

7.   FUND BALANCES, Continued

A.   Minimum Fund Balance Policies

The City's Reserve Policy requires the City to maintain an Unrestricted General Funds, for cash flow 

purposes, of minimum equal to two months of budgeted operating expenditures with a goal to achieve 

a maximum of four months. As of June 30, 2018 the cash flow reserves, which are part of the 

Unassigned Fund Balance, were above the minimum at approximately 5.5 months, which were over 

the desired target of 4 months. Funds may be appropriated as to Undesignated Capital Contribution

by designation from City Council only for high priority one time capital expenditures provided the 

minimum fund balance would remain.

B.   Fund Equity Deficits

The funds listed in the table below had fund balance deficits as of June 30, 2018. These deficits are 
expected to be eliminated by future revenues.

Fund Fund Deficit

Measure BB Grants Special Revenue Fund 1,002,609$           

Streets Project Capital Projects Fund 883,820                 

Measure B Grants Special Revenue Fund 78,432                   

Transportation for Clean Air (TFCA) Special Revenue Fund 33,506                   

Energy Efficiency Internal Service Fund 4,254,619             

8.   DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

City employees may defer a portion of their compensation under a City sponsored deferred 

compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457. Under this 

plan, participants are not taxed on the deferred portion of their compensation until it is distributed

to them; distributions may be made only at termination of employment, retirement, death, or in an 

emergency as defined by the Plan. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 32, the funds have 

been placed in a trust administered by ICMA Retirement Corporation and are not available to the 

City's general creditors. Accordingly, the City does not report the assets in the financial 

statements.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 317

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

80

9.   PENSION PLAN

A.   General Information about the CalPERS Pension Plan

Plan Description and Summary of Balances by Plan - All qualified permanent and probationary 
employees are eligible to participate in the City's Miscellaneous (all other) Employee Pension Rate 
Plan. The City's Miscellaneous Rate Plan is part of the public agency cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan (PERF C), which is administered by the California Public 
Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS). PERF C consists of a miscellaneous pool and a safety 
pool (also referred to as "risk pools"), which are comprised of individual employer miscellaneous
and safety rate plans, respectively. Individual employers may sponsor more than one 
miscellaneous and safety rate plan. The employer participates in one cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan regardless of the number of rate plans the employer 
sponsors. The City sponsors two rate plans (miscellaneous). Benefit provisions under the Plan are 
established by State statute and City resolution. CalPERS issues publicly available reports that 
include a full description of the pension plan regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and 
membership information that can be found on the CalPERS website.

Benefits Provided - CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of 
living adjustments and death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and 
beneficiaries. Benefits are based on years of credited service, equal to one year of full time 
employment. All members are eligible for non-duty disability benefits after 10 years of service. The 
death benefit is one of the following: the Basic Death Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the 
Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. The cost of living adjustments for each plan are applied as 
specified by the Public Employees' Retirement Law. The Pension Reform Act of2013 (PEPRA), 
Assembly Bill 340, is applicable to employees new to CalPERS and hired after December 31, 2012.

The Plan's provisions and benefits in effect as of June 30, 2018, are summarized as follows:

Miscellaneous

Miscellaneous PEPRA

Hire Date Prior to January 1, 2013 Prior to January 1, 2013

Benefit formula 2.7% @ 55 2% @ 62

Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service

Benefit payment Monthly for life Monthly for life

Retirement age 55 62

Monthly benefits, as a % of annual salary 2.70% 2.00%

Required employee contribution rates 7.951% 6.250%

Required employer contribution rates 11.675% 6.533%

Required unfunded liability payment 663,512$                                  1,367$                                      

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 318

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

81

9.   PENSION PLAN, Continued

A.   General Information about the CalPERS Pension Plan, Continued

Contributions - Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees' Retirement Law requires that 
the employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the 
actuary and shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. Funding 
contributions for the Plan are determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS. 
The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits 
earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued 
liability. The City is required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate 
and the contribution rate of employees.

For the measurement period ended June 30, 2017, the City's contributions to the Plan were 
$1,738,634.

B.  Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to   
Pensions 

As of June 30, 2018, the City reported $14,398,145 in net pension liabilities for its proportionate 
share of the net pension liability of the Plan.

The City's net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the proportionate share of the net 
pension liability. The net pension liability of the Plan is measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total 
pension liability for the Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016 rolled forward to June 30, 2017 using standard update 
procedures. The City's proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the City's 
long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all 
participating employers, actuarially determined.

The City's proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan as of the measurement dates
June 30, 2016 and 2017 was as follows:

Proportion - June 30, 2016 0.15006%

Proportion - June 30, 2017 0.14518%

Change - Increase (Decrease) -0.00488%

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 319

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

82

9.   PENSION PLAN, Continued

B.  Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to   
Pensions, Continued

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the City recognized net pension expense of $2,529,291 for the 
Miscellaneous Plan on the Statement of Activities. As of June 30, 2018, the City reported deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following 
sources:

Deferred 

Outflows of 

Resources

Deferred Inflows 

of Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to 

measurement date  $            1,018,096  $                           - 

Changes of assumptions                2,504,321                   190,957 

Differences between expected and actual 

experience                     20,184                   289,169 

Changes in employer's proportion                   303,421                   765,401 

Differences between the employer's 

contribution and the employer's 

proportionate share of contributions                       9,310                   335,888 

Net differences between projected and 

actual earnings on plan investments                   566,099                               - 

Total 4,421,431$            1,581,415$            

The $1,018,096 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year 
ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as pension expense as follows:

Measurement Period

Ending June 30:

2019  $       402,081 

2020        1,074,086 

2021           682,295 

2022         (336,542)

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 320

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

83

9.   PENSION PLAN, Continued

B.  Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to   
Pensions, Continued

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate - The following presents the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan, 
calculated using the discount rate for the Plan, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the 
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point 
lower or 1-percentage point higher than the current rate:

1% Decrease 6.15.%

Net Pension Liability  $        22,653,104 

Current Discount Rate 7.15.%

Net Pension Liability  $        14,398,145 

1% Increase 8.15.%

Net Pension Liability  $           7,561,238 

Actuarial Assumptions - For the measurement period ended June 30, 2017, the total pension 
liabilities were determined by rolling forward the June 30, 2016 total pension liability. The June 30, 
2016 total pension liabilities were based on the following actuarial methods and assumptions:

Valuation Date June 30, 2016

Measurement Date June 30, 2017

Actuarial Cost Method Entry-Age Normal Cost Method

Actuarial Assumptions: 

Discount Rate 7.15.%

Inflation 2.75.%

Projected Salary Increase (1) Varies by entry age and service

Investment Rate of Return 7.15.%

Mortality
Derived by CaIPERS 

membership data for all funds
(1) Net of pension plan administrative expenses.

All other actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016 valuation were based on the results of a 
January 2014 actuarial experience study for the period 1997 to 2011. Further details of the 
Experience Study can found on the CalPERS website.

Change of Assumptions – During fiscal year 2017-18, CalPERS reduced the discount rate from 
7.65% to 7.15%.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 321

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

84

9.   PENSION PLAN, Continued

B.  Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to   
Pensions, Continued

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.15% for the 
Plan. To determine whether the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a discount 
rate for each plan, CalPERS stress tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that 
would be different from the actuarially assumed discount rate. Based on the testing, none of the 
tested plans run out of assets. Therefore, the current 7.15% discount rate is adequate and the use of 
the municipal bond rate calculation is not necessary. The long term expected discount rate of 7.65% 
will be applied to all plans in the Public Employees Retirement Fund (PERF). The stress test results 
are presented in a detailed report that can be obtained from the CalPERS website.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a 
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class.

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term 
and long- term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Using 
historical returns of all the funds' asset classes, expected compound returns were calculated over 
the short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term (11-60 years) using a building-block approach. 
Using the expected nominal returns for both short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits
was calculated for each fund. The expected rate of return was set by calculating the single 
equivalent expected return that arrived at the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the 
one calculated using both short-term and long-term returns. The expected rate of return was then
set equivalent to the single equivalent rate calculated above and rounded down to the nearest one 
quarter of one percent.

The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class. The rate of return 
was calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and 
asset allocation. These rates of return are net of administrative expenses.

Asset Class

New

Strategic

Allocation

Real Return

Years 1 - 10(a)

Real Return 

Years 11+(b)

Global Equity 47.00.% 4.90.% 5.38.%

Global Fixed Income 19.00.% 0.80.% 2.27.%

Inflation Sensitive 6.00.% 0.60.% 1.39.%

Private Equity 12.00.% 6.60.% 6.63.%

Real Estate 11.00.% 2.80.% 5.21.%

Infrastructure and Forestland 3.00.% 3.90.% 5.36.%

Liquidity 2.00.% -0.40.% -0.90.%

Total 100%

(a)An expected inflation of 2.5% used for this period.

(b)An expected inflation of 3.0% used for this period.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 322

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

85

9.   PENSION PLAN, Continued

B.  Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to   
Pensions, Continued

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about each pension plan's fiduciary 
net position is available in the separately issued CalPERS financial reports.

10.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

A.  City of Dublin Retiree Health Plan

Plan Description - City of Dublin (City) Retiree Health Plan is a single-employer defined benefit 
healthcare plan administered by the California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS). 
The plan provides medical insurance benefits to eligible retirees and their eligible dependents in 
accordance with Public Employee Retirement Law (Article 2). The Public Employees Retirement 
System Board of Administration has the responsibility to approve health benefit plans and may 
contract with carriers offering health benefit plans. The Board of Administration is responsible for 
adopting all rules and regulations, including the scope and content of basic health plans. The 
California Government Code also defines certain rules for contract agencies, such as the City of 
Dublin, to purchase health insurance benefits.

Contributions - There is no requirement imposed by CalPERS, to contribute any amount beyond the 
pay-as-you-go contributions. The cost of monthly insurance premiums may be shared between the 
retiree and the City. The contribution and cost sharing varies depending on: date of hire; the 
dependent status; and plan selected. The City contributes PEMHCA to retirees hired after January 
1, 2016. A minimum employer monthly contribution requirement is established and may be 
amended by the CalPERS Board of Administration and applicable laws. Within the parameters of 
the law, individual contracting agencies, such as the City, are allowed to establish and amend the 
level of contributions made by the employer towards the monthly cost of the plans. Changes to the 
employer contribution rate towards retiree benefits are recorded in a resolution adopted by the 
City Council.

For the measurement period 2016-17, the City contributed $1,878,000.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 323

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

86

10.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, Continued

A.  City of Dublin Retiree Health Plan, Continued

Employees Covered

Inactive employees or beneficiaries 

currently receiving benefits
60

Inactive employees entitled to but not 

yet receiving benefits
4

Active employees 95

Total              159 

Net OPEB Liability

The City’s net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2017 and the total OPEB liability used to the 
calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation dated June 30, 2017, based on 
the following actuarial methods and assumptions

Valuation Date June 30, 2017

Measurement Date June 30, 2017

Actuarial Cost Method Entry-Age Normal Cost Method

Actuarial Assumptions: 

Discount Rate 6.25%

Inflation 2.75%

Contribution Policy Contributes full ADC

Salary Increases Varies by Entry Age and Service 

Investment Rate of Return 6.25%

Mortality CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study

Post Retirement Benefit 

Increase

Post-retirement mortality projected fully 

generational with Scale MP-2017

Healthcare Trend Non-Medicate - 7.5% for 2019, decreasing to 

an ultimate rate of 4.0% in 2076 and later 

years

Medicare - 6.5% for 2019, decreasing to an 

ultimate rate of 4.0% in 2076 and later years

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of OPEB plan 
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined 
to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by 
the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best 
estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the table on the 
following page.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 324

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

87

10.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, Continued

A.  City of Dublin Retiree Health Plan, Continued

Net OPEB Liability, Continued

Target Expected Real

Asset Class Allocation* Rate of Return

Public Equity 57.00% 4.82%

Fixed Income 27.00% 1.47%

TIPS 5.00% 1.29%

Commodities 3.00% 0.84%

REITS 8.00% 3.76%

Assumed Long-Term Rate of Inflation 2.75%

Assumed Long-Term Investment Expenses n/a

Expected Long-Term Net Rate of Return, Rounded 6.25%

Discount Rate** 6.25%

*P ro vided by CalP ERS' S tra tegic  As s et Allo ca tio n Ana lys is  Overview in Augus t 2014 – Stra tegy 1.

**The fiduciary net po s itio n is  pro jec ted to  be  s uffic ient to  make  pro jec ted benefit payments , and

the plan a s s ets  are  expec ted to  be  inves ted us ing the  s tra tegy to  achieve the expec ted return.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 6.25 percent.  The projection of cash flows 
used to determine the discount rate assumed that City contributions will be made at rates equal to the 
actuarially determined contribution rates. Based on those assumptions, the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make all projected OPEB payments for current active and 
inactive employees and beneficiaries.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total OPEB 
liability.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 325

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

88

10.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, Continued

A.  City of Dublin Retiree Health Plan, Continued

Changes in the Net OPEB Liability

The changes in the Net OPEB liability for the OPEB Plan are as follows:

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB

Liability Net Position Liability/(Asset)

Balance at June 30, 2016  $           16,075,000  $           15,089,000  $                986,000 

Changes in the year:

Service cost                    827,000                       -                    827,000 

Interest on the total pension 

liability                 1,032,000                       -                 1,032,000 

Differences between actual and 

expected experience                               -                       -                               - 

Changes in assumptions                               -                       -                               - 

Changes in benefit terms                               -                       -                               - 

Contribution - employer                       -                 1,878,000               (1,878,000)

Contribution - employee                       -                               -                               - 

Net investment income                       -                 1,665,000               (1,665,000)

Administrative expenses                       -                      (8,000)                        8,000 

Benefit payments , including 

refunds of employee contributions                  (805,000)                  (805,000)                               - 

Net changes                 1,054,000                 2,730,000               (1,676,000)

Balance at June 30, 2017  $           17,129,000  $           17,819,000  $              (690,000)

Increase (Decrease)

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the City if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 
one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate, for measurement 
period ended June 30, 2017:

Current

1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase

(5.25%) (6.25%) (7.25%)

Net OPEB Liability  $                   1,604,000 (690,000)$                    (2,570,000)$                 

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 326

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

89

10.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, Continued

A.  City of Dublin Retiree Health Plan, Continued

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Health Care Cost Trend Rates

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the City if it were calculated using health care cost trend 
rates that are one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate, for 
measurement period ended June 30, 2017:

Current Healthcare

1% Decrease Trend Rate 1% Increase

(6.5% - 3.0%) (7.5% - 4.0%) (8.5% to 5.0%)

Net OPEB Liability  $                 (2,682,000) (690,000)$                    1,760,000$                  

Recognition of Deferred Outflow and Deferred Inflows of Resources

Gains and losses related to changes in total OPEB liability and fiduciary net position are recognized in 
OPEB expense systematically over time. Amounts are first recognized in OPEB expense for the year the 
gain or loss occurs. The remaining amounts are categorized as deferred outflows and deferred inflows 
of resources related to OPEB and are to be recognized in future OPEB expense.  The recognition period 
differs depending on the source of the gain or loss:

Net difference between projected 5 years

and actual earnings on OPEB plan

investments

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows/(Inflows) of Resources Related to OPEB

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the City recognized OPEB expense of $752,000. For the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2018, the City reported deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB from the 
following sources:

Deferred Outflows of 

Resources

Deferred Inflows of 

Resources

OPEB contributions subsequent to 

measurement date  $                  1,589,000  $                                 - 

Net differences between projected 

and actual earnings on plan 

investments                                     -                550,000 

Total 1,589,000$                 550,000$                    

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 327

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

90

10.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, Continued

A.  City of Dublin Retiree Health Plan, Continued

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows/(Inflows) of Resources Related to OPEB, Continued

The $1,589,000 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the 
June 30, 2017 measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability during the 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to 
OPEB will be recognized as expense as follows:

Fiscal Year

Ending June 30:

2019  $ (138,000)

2020     (138,000)

2021     (138,000)

2022     (136,000)

B.  Dougherty Regional Fire Authority Health Plan

Dougherty Regional Fire Authority Background - In 1988, the cities of Dublin and San Ramon formed 
Dougherty Regional Fire Authority (DRFA), a Joint Powers Agency (JPA). The JPA provided fire 
services to all of Dublin and the southern portion of San Ramon. In 1997, the two cities decided to 
change how Fire Services would be provided in each City. As a result, JPA personnel were 
absorbed by the two new service providers pursuant to a mutual agreement. The JPA has remained 
intact to conclude the financial affairs of the entity. This includes residual retiree obligations and 
workers compensation liabilities. Dublin's share of all DRFA close-out expenses, including retiree 
medical benefits, is 57.51% of the actual costs, with the City of San Ramon paying 42.49% of the 
costs. The two cities have entered into a binding agreement to share these expenses on this basis. 
The City of Dublin is presenting information only for its contractual share of the obligations.

Plan Description - City of Dublin share of DRFA Retiree Health Plan is a single-employer defined 
benefit healthcare plan administered by the California Public Employees Retirement System 
(CalPERS). The Plan provides medical insurance benefits to eligible retirees and their eligible 
dependents. In accordance with Public Employee Retirement Law (Article 2), the Public Employees 
Retirement System Board of Administration has the responsibility to approve health benefit plans
and may contract with carriers offering health benefit plans. The Board of Administration is 
responsible for adopting all rules and regulations, including the scope and content of basic health
plans. The California Government Code also defines certain rules for contract agencies, such as 
DRFA, to purchase health insurancebenefits.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 328

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

91

10.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, Continued

B.  Dougherty Regional Fire Authority Health Plan, Continued

Funding Policy - There is no requirement imposed by CalPERS, to contribute any amount beyond the
pay-as-you-go contributions. The cost of monthly insurance premiums may be shared between the 
retiree and DRFA. The cost sharing varies depending on: the bargaining unit; dependent status; 
and plan selected. A minimum employer monthly contribution requirement is established and may 
be amended by the CalPERS Board of Administration and applicable laws. Within the parameters 
of the law, individual contracting agencies, such as the DRFA, are allowed to establish and amend 
the level of contributions made by the employer towards the monthly cost of the plans. Changes to 
the employer contribution rate towards retiree benefits are recorded in a resolution adopted by the 
DRFA Management Committee.

For measurement period ended June 30, 2017, the City contributed $42,587 to the plan, all of which 
was for current premiums. No other contributions were made.

Employees Covered

As of the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation, the following current and former employees were covered by 
the benefit terms under the DRFA Retiree Health Plan:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries 

currently receiving benefits
10

Inactive employees entitled to but not 

yet receiving benefits
3

Active employees 0

Total                13 

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 329

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

92

10.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, Continued

B.  Dougherty Regional Fire Authority Health Plan, Continued

Net OPEB Liability

The City’s Net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2017 and the total OPEB liability used to 
calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation dated June 30, 2017 based on 
the following actuarial methods and assumptions:

Valuation Date June 30, 2017

Measurement Date June 30, 2017

Actuarial Cost Method Entry-Age Normal Cost Method

Actuarial Assumptions: 

Discount Rate 3.58%

Inflation 2.75%

Contribution Policy No prefunding

Salary Increases Varies by Entry Age and Service 

Projected Salary Increase 3.00%

Investment Rate of Return n/a

Mortality CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study

Post Retirement Benefit 

Increase

Post-retirement mortality projected fully 

generational with Scale MP-2016

Healthcare Trend Non-Medicate - 7.5% for 2019, decreasing to 

an ultimate rate of 4.0% in 2076 and later 

years

Medicare - 6.5% for 2019, decreasing to an 

ultimate rate of 4.0% in 2076 and later years

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 3.58%. The District’s OPEB Plan is an 
unfunded plan, therefore the discount rate was set to the rate of tax-exempt, high quality 20-year 
municipal bonds, as of the valuation date.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 330

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

93

10.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, Continued

B.  Dougherty Regional Fire Authority Health Plan, Continued

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability

The changes in the net OPEB liability for the DRFA Retiree Health Plan are as follows:

Increase (Decrease)

Total OPEB

Liability

Balance at June 30, 2016  $                      674,210 

Changes in the year:

Service cost                                      - 

Interest on the total pension liability                            18,608 

Differences between actual and 

expected experience                                      - 

Changes in assumptions                           (40,627)

Changes in benefit terms                                      - 

Contribution - employer                            - 

Contribution - employee                            - 

Administrative expenses                            - 
Benefit payments , including refunds 

of employee contributions                           (42,587)

Net changes                           (64,606)

Balance at June 30, 2017  $                      609,604 

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the DRFA Retiree Health Plan if it were calculated using 
a discount rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate, 
for measurement period ended June 30, 2017:

Current

1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase

(2.58%) (3.58%) (4.58%)

Net OPEB Liability  $                     666,395 609,604$                     560,364$                     

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 331

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

94

9.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, Continued

B.  Dougherty Regional Fire Authority Health Plan, Continued

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Health Care Cost Trend Rates

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the DRFA Retiree Health Plan if it were calculated using 
health care cost trend rates that are one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the 
current rate, for measurement period ended June 30, 2017:

Current Healthcare

1% Decrease Trend Rate 1% Increase

(6.5% - 3.0%) (7.5% - 4.0%) (8.5% to 5%)

Net OPEB Liability  $                     563,207 609,604$                     661,894$                     

D. OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows/(Inflows) of Resources Related to OPEB

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the City recognized OPEB expense (income) for the DRFA 
Retiree Health Plan of $(22,019). For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the City reported deferred 
outflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of 

Resources

Deferred Inflows of 

Resources

OPEB contributions subsequent to 

measurement date  $                       41,174  $                                 - 

Total 41,174$                      -$                                

The $41,174 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the June 
30, 2017 measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the Total OPEB liability during the fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2019. 

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 332

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

95

11.   HEALTH, GENERAL LIABILITY, AND WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COVERAGE

A.  Risk Pool

The City participates in the PLAN JPA, a non-profit public benefit corporation established to 
provide liability insurance coverage, claims administration and risk management services, and 
legal defense to its participating members. The liability insurance coverage is provided by a 
combination self-insurance collectively funded by PLAN JPA and the purchase of commercial 
insurance for large losses.

PLAN JPA provides the first $5 million of coverage as self-funded general liability and automobile 
liability coverage per occurrence. PLAN JPA purchases commercial excess liability insurance in 
two layers of $10 million and $15 million each to provide total coverage of claims up to $30 million 
per occurrence. The City has a deductible of $50,000 per occurrence. PLAN JPA also provides $2
million of employee bonds (theft coverage) in excess of a $10,000 deductible.

PLAN JPA also provides property insurance coverage. This coverage is also comprised of a self-
insured layer combined with commercial insurance. The first $100,000 of losses are self-funded by
PLAN JPA form premiums collected from the participants in the program. PLAN JPA purchases an 
insurance policy to cover losses above $100,000 per occurrence and the annual aggregate losses of 
the pool are insured above $225,000. The insurance provides coverage for property damage among 
all participants to $1 billion. The City deductible for property and vehicle losses is $5,000. For any 
single loss in excess of $25,000 the deductible is waived.

The City's contributions to the PLAN JPA for liability coverage are based on a formula which 
considers the ratio of the City's payroll to the total payrolls of all entities participating in the same 
layer of each program, in each program year's loss history and population. Actual surpluses or 
losses are shared according to a formula developed from overall loss costs and spread to member 
entities on a percentage basis after a retrospective rating.

There have been no significant reductions in any of the City's areas of insurance coverage and no
settlement amounts have exceeded coverage in the past three years. Audited financial information 
for the PLAN JPA can be obtained from Bickmore, 1750 Creekside Oaks Drive, Suite 200, 
Sacramento, CA 95833.

B.  Workers’ Compensation Coverage

The City participates in The Cities Group, created by a joint powers agreement (JPA) to provide 
workers' compensation coverage paid from the pooled contributions of its membership with no 
deductible to the City. Any claim in excess of $1 million is covered up to $10 million through a 
policy with Safety National Casualty Corp purchased by The Cities Group. The Cities Group acts 
as an administrator, claim adjuster and provides other risk management services as provided by 
State law. Each member of The Cities Group pays a premium commensurate with the level of 
coverage requested and shares surpluses and deficits proportionately to its participation in The 
Cities Group. During the year ended June 30, 2018, the City paid The Cities Group $6,194 in 
premium. Financial Statements may be obtained from The Cities Group, PO Box 111, Burlingame, 
CA 94011-0111.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 333

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

96

11. HEALTH, GENERAL LIABILITY, AND WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COVERAGE,   
Continued

C.  Liability for Uninsured Claims

The GASB requires municipalities to record their liability for uninsured claims and reflect the 
current portion of this liability as expenditures in their financial statements. As discussed above, 
the City has coverage for such claims, but it has retained the risk for the deductible or the 
uninsured portion of these claims in the PLAN JPA and The Cities Group plans. GASB Statement 
No. 10, "Financial Reporting for Risk Financing and Related Insurance Issues" require that this 
amount be separately identified and recorded as a liability.

The City's liability for uninsured claims, limited to general liability and workers compensation 
claims as discussed above, includes a provision for incurred but not reported (IBNR) losses. This 
amount was estimated based on claims experience. The reserve recorded, $27,968, is adequate to 
cover IBNR claims. Therefore no adjustment was made in fiscal year 2017-2018 as the City's 
exposure is for the $5,000 deductible per general liability claim.

12.   JOINT POWERS AGREEMENTS

The City participates in joint ventures discussed below through separate entities established under 

the Joint Exercise of Powers Act of the State of California. As separate legal entities, these entities

exercise full powers and authorities within the scope of the related Joint Powers Agreements 

including the preparation of annual budgets, accountability for all funds, the power to make and

execute contracts and the right to sue and be sued. Each joint venture is governed by a board consisting 

of representatives from member municipalities. Each board controls the operations of the respective

joint venture, including selection of management and approval of operating budgets, independent of

any influence by member municipalities beyond their representation on that board. Obligations and

liabilities of these joint ventures are not the City's responsibility and the City does not have an equity

interest in the assets of each joint venture except upon dissolution of the joint venture.

A.  Animal Control Services

The Cities of Dublin, Pleasanton, and Livermore and the County of Alameda have entered a joint 
powers agreement, dated September 15, 1992, under which Alameda County constructed an 
animal shelter facility on County's property. The agreement provided that the County would retain 
ownership of the land and that each participating agencies would receive an equity interest in the 
facility. Certificates of Participation were issued to construct the facility. Under the agreement the 
entities will share in the debt service costs of the project based upon their use of the animal shelter.
The original total principal portion of the scheduled debt is $4,523,877. The City's share for the 
annual debt service requirements are based upon the statistics of live animals handled in the 
shelter. In fiscal year 2017-2018 the City contributed $35,373 of the total annual debt service 
payment. In addition, the City contributed $184,795 or 13.45% toward the annual operating shelter 
services and $34,032 representing 3.19% of the animal field service expenditures.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 334

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

97

12.  JOINT POWERS AGREEMENTS

A.  Animal Control Services, Continued

The City has not recorded an equity interest for the animal shelter agreement. As noted above the 
ongoing financial interest is limited to the statistics of live animals handled in the appropriate fiscal 
year. No Joint Powers Authority was established as part of this agreement therefore, separate 
financial statements are not issued.

B.  Associated Community Action Program (ACAP)

The City is a member of ACAP, a Joint Powers Authority established in July 12, 1994, with a 
governing board comprised of elected officials from its 13 member agencies. The members include 
Alameda County and the Cities of Alameda, Albany, Dublin, Emeryville, Fremont, Hayward, 
Livermore, Newark, Piedmont, Pleasanton, San Leandro, and Union City. The purpose of the 
ACAP was to plan, develop, and administer social services programs under the federal 
Community Services Block Grant Program. These programs included housing assistance, jobs 
training and education, and youth development services. Due to significant financial issues, the 
Board of Directors of ACAP in February 2011 chose to terminate its participation in various state 
and federal program and to effectively cease its operations. Management Partners, Inc. was 
engaged to manage and implement the close of ACAP.

The representatives of the members and the ACAP Board of Directors have determined that the 
original JPA that created ACAP should be amended to reflect the current status of ACAP. On 
October 18, 2011, the City Council approved an Amended and Restated Joint Powers Agreement to 
restructure ACAP and delegate oversight powers to allow the County and the City Managers, 
rather than the elected officials, to continue its obligations such as records retention, legal and 
claims, and audit compliance and to limit future exposure for member agencies.

During fiscal year 2017-2018 the City of Dublin has also acted as a fiscal agent, which was 
comprised of collecting contributions from the members, processing payments on behalf of ACAP, 
and issuing financial reports. In fiscal year 2017-2018, the ACAP Board of Directors determined 
that no contributions would be made by member agencies, unless additional close-out funds are 
needed. The City will incur a pro-rata share of the on-going costs.

Unaudited condensed financial information as of June 30, 2018 for ACAP is presented below:

Total assets 128,063$                        

Total liabilities 904,027                          

Total net position (775,964)$                       

Total revenues -$                                      

Total expenses 20,451                             

Increase (decrease) net position (20,451)$                         

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 335

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

98

13.   OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABLITIES

The City participates in several Federal and State grant programs. These programs have been audited

by the City's independent accountants in accordance with the provisions of the Federal Single Audit 

Act and applicable State requirements. No cost disallowances were proposed as a result of these 

audits. However, these programs are still subject to further examination by the grantors and the 

amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be

determined at this time. The City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

The City is a defendant in a number of lawsuits that have arisen in the normal course of business, the 

outcome of which cannot be predicted with certainty. In the opinion of the City Attorney, these actions 

when finally adjudicated will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the City.

A.  Reimbursements to the City of Pleasanton

On January 23, 1996, the City adopted a fee for the purpose of reimbursing the City of Pleasanton 
for the costs of making improvements to the interchanges of Interstate 580 at Hacienda Drive and
Tassajara Road/Santa Rita Road that benefit development in both Pleasanton and future 
development in Eastern Dublin. The Cities entered into an agreement on November 3, 1998, to 
allow for an automatic annual escalator factor in the amount of the fee assessed to developers 
based upon the LAIF interest rate and to repay the City of Pleasanton. The amount of the 
contingent liability outstanding at June 30, 2018, was $3,002,840 which is net of the $175,980 in 
payments made by the City to reduce this contingent liability during the year. The accounting for 
the amount due is not recorded as indebtedness since future payments are contingent upon the 
future collection of development fees assessed for reimbursement of these improvements.

B.  Other Development Agreements

The City entered into several agreements with various developers and merchant builders who are 
developing numerous residential and commercial projects throughout the City. The City agreed to 
grant the developers' impact fee credits since the developers constructed certain improvements 
beyond what was needed to serve their specific projects. The value of credits does not increase for 
inflation nor do they accrue interest. Any unused credits may be used by the developers on other 
projects located within the Traffic Impact Fee area. The value of the credits as of June 30, 2018 was 
$118,175,633. The addition of $27,967,743 to the credit balance was mainly due to value 
appreciation by converting parkland acreage to a dollar value, and credit used for the fiscal years 
was $31,762,809.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 336

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

99

13.  OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABLITIES, Continued

C.  Alameda County Fire Department (ACFD)

The City of Dublin contracts to have the Alameda County to provide fire services. As part of the 
contract, the City pays for its share of ACFD's retiree health plan and retirement plan. In 2012 
ACFD began working with CalPERS to create side funds within its OPEB trust to allow for member 
agencies to fund their share of the obligation. In preparation for this, in June 2012 the City Council 
authorized a contribution of $6.487 million towards the liability that was then moved to a General 
Fund Reserve, which was reclassified as an assigned fund balance upon the City's implementation 
of GASB Statement No. 54. Since then, the City continued to add funds to that fund balance 
assignment.

After ACFD successfully implemented the OPEB trust side funds, the City was notified that as of 
June 30, 2017, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the City's side fund was 79.29% funded. The 
Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) for benefits was $12,093,000 and the Actuarial Value of Plan 
Asset was $9,589,000 resulting in an Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) of $2,275,000.

14. DEBT WITHOUT GOVERNMENT COMMITTMENT

On August 31, 2017, the City issued $32,740,000 of City 2017 Improvement Area No. 1 Special Tax 
Bonds by and through its Community Facilities District No. 2015-1 (Dublin Crossing) Improvement 
Area No. 1. The Bonds are special tax obligations of the City, authorized pursuant to the Mello-Roos 
Community Facilities Act of 1982, as amended, being California Government Code Section 53311, et 
seq. The bonds were issued to construction and acquire certain public facilities and/or reimburse the 
payment of fees for capital improvements. 

The Bonds are not general obligations of the City nor any political subdivision and the full faith and 
credit of the City is not pledged for the repayment thereof. Since these debts do not constitute an 
obligation of the City and the City is not obligated to make payment beyond the available bond 
reserves, these bonds have not been reflected in the long-term debt in the accompanying financial 
statements. The outstanding indebtedness on June 30, 2018 was $32,740,000.

15. TAX ABATEMENTS

The City has entered into multiple sales tax reimbursement agreements for the purpose of attracting 

new businesses within the City through the construction and improvement of property sites. The City 

is expected to make annual reimbursement payments over a five (5) to ten (10) year period in which 

the amount of each reimbursement payment commitment is based on total sales tax received and 

derived using formulas in the approved agreements.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 337

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
For the year ended June 30, 2018

100

15. TAX ABATEMENTS, Continued

For financial reporting purposes, the GASB Statement No. 77 defines a tax abatement as resulting from 

an agreement between a government and an individual or entity in which the government promises to

forgo tax revenues and the individual or entity promises to subsequently take a specific action that 

contributes to economic development or otherwise benefits the government or its citizens. According 

to GASB Statement No. 77, the substance of these sales tax reimbursement agreements meets the

definition of “tax abatements."

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, under these sales-tax reimbursement agreements, the City has 

abatements totaling $562,731.

Pursuant to the Sales and Use Tax law (chapter 8 - Article 1 - section 7056), in order to protect the 

confidential information of sales taxes collected and abatements provided to each of the specific 

agencies, the City has presented the aggregate amount abated during the current fiscal year.

16.  PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS

The City recorded a prior period adjustment to eliminate the previously reported net OPEB obligation, 
and to recognized deferred outflows of resources and net OPEB liabilities as of June 30, 2017.

Net Position, as Deferred Net Position, as

Previously Reported Employer OPEB Net OPEB Net OPEB Restated at

at June 30, 2017 Contributions Obligation Liability June 30, 2017

Government-Wide Statements

Governmental Activities 702,333,088$               1,920,587$        1,234,422$        (1,660,210)$       703,827,887$    

Prior Period Adjustments

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 338

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



101

REQUIRED
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 339

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



102

This page intentionally left blank

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 340

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Required Supplementary Information
For the year ended June 30, 2018

103

1.   DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN

A.  Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability – Last 10 Years*

Fiscal year: 2018 2017 2016 2015 *

Measurement date: 6/30/2017 6/30/2016 6/30/2015 6/30/2014

Proportion of the net pension liability 0.14518% 0.15006% 0.14788% 0.12593%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability  $     14,398,145  $     12,984,969  $     10,150,590  $       7,835,901 

Covered payroll  $     10,443,838  $       9,268,029  $       8,463,027  $       8,716,918 

Proportionate Share of the net pension liability as 

percentage of covered payroll
137.86.% 140.10.% 119.94.% 89.89.%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total 

pension liability
73.31.% 74.06.% 78.40.% 79.82.%

Notes to Schedule:

* Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation.

B.  Schedule of Contributions – Last 10 Years*

Fiscal year 2018 2017 2016 2015 *

Contractually required contribution 

(actuarially determined)
 $       1,018,096  $           988,634  $           869,497  $       1,411,959 

Contribution in relation to the actuarially 

determined contributions
         (1,018,096)          (1,738,634)             (869,497)          (1,411,959)

Contribution deficiency (excess)  $                      -    $         (750,000)  $                      -    $                      -   

Covered payroll
 $       9,753,107  $     10,443,838  $       9,268,029  $       8,463,027 

Contributions as a percentage of covered 

payroll
10.44% 26.79% 22.41% 18.59%

Note to Schedule

Valuation date:** 6/30/2015 6/30/2014 6/30/2013 6/30/2012

* Fiscal year 2015 was the 1 st year of implementation.

** Date of actuarial valuation used to determine the contractually required contribution.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 341

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Required Supplementary Information
For the year ended June 30, 2018

104

2.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB)

A.  City Retiree Health Plan - Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
During the Measurement Period – Last 10 Years (1)

Measurement Period 2017

Total OPEB Liability

Service Cost 827,000$                

Interest on the total OPEB liability 1,032,000               

Changes in benefit terms -                                

Differences between expected and actual experience -                                

Changes of assumptions -                                

Benefit paymens, including refunds of employee contributions (805,000)                 

Net change in total OPEB liability 1,054,000               

Total OPEB liability - beginning 16,075,000             

Total OPEB liability - ending (a) 17,129,000$           

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - employer 1,878,000$             

Contributions - employee .

Net investment income 1,665,000               

Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (805,000)                 

Administrative expense (8,000)                      

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 2,730,000               

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 15,089,000             

Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 17,819,000$           

Net OPEB liability/(asset) - ending (a) - (b) (690,000)$               

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 104%

Covered-employee payroll 10,431,000$           

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll -6.61%

(1) Fiscal year 2018 was the 1st year of implementation.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 342

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Required Supplementary Information
For the year ended June 30, 2018

105

2.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB), Continued

B.  DRFA Retiree Health Plan - Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
During the Measurement Period – Last 10 Years (1)

Measurement Period 2017

Total OPEB Liability

Service Cost -$                         

Interest on the total OPEB liability 18,608                     

Changes in benefit terms -                                

Differences between expected and actual experience -                                

Changes of assumptions (40,627)                    

Benefit paymens, including refunds of employee contributions (42,587)                    

Net change in total OPEB liability (64,606)                    

Total OPEB liability - beginning 674,210                   

Total OPEB liability - ending (a) 609,604$                

Covered-employee payroll Not Applicable

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll Not Applicable

(1) Fiscal year 2018 was the 1st year of implementation.

2.   OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB), Continued

C.  Schedule of City Retiree Health Plan Contributions – Last 10 Years (1)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 2018

Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC) 861,000$          

Contributions in relation to the ADC (1,589,000)       

Contribution deficiency (excess) (728,000)$        

Covered-employee payroll 9,997,000$      

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 15.89%

(1) Fiscal year 2018 was the 1st year of implementation.

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 343

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

106

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 344

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

107

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 345

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Budget Versus Actual Revenues By Sources
General Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Property taxes:

Current year secured 29,691,023$             30,921,023$             31,241,706$             320,683$                  
Current year unsecured 1,579,935                 1,579,935                 1,561,829                 (18,106)                     
Supplemental property tax 698,321                    698,321                    1,328,858                 630,537                    
Prior year secured 315,987                    315,987                    376,257                    60,270                      
Prior year unsecured -                                -                                (13,770)                     (13,770)                     
Property tax penalties (170,000)                   (170,000)                   97,960                      267,960                    
In lieu property tax 5,855,881                 5,855,881                 6,035,200                 179,319                    

Sub-total 37,971,147               39,201,147               40,628,040               1,426,893                 

Taxes other than property:
Sales and use tax 20,296,801               20,296,801               19,723,665               (573,136)                   
Real property transfer tax 500,000                    750,000                    1,093,646                 343,646                    
Hotel transient occupancy tax 1,400,000                 1,400,000                 1,621,423                 221,423                    
Franchise taxes 4,047,000                 4,047,000                 4,651,132                 604,132                    

Sub-total 26,243,801               26,493,801               27,089,866               596,065                    

Licenses and permits:
Animal licenses 7,000                        7,000                        5,949                        (1,051)                       
Building permits 4,397,615                 4,397,615                 6,660,274                 2,262,659                 
Business license 170,000                    170,000                    187,170                    17,170                      
Construction and demolition permits 437,820                    437,820                    562,814                    124,994                    
Encroachment permits 118,000                    118,000                    120,444                    2,444                        
Fire permits 94,271                      94,271                      97,142                      2,871                        
Grading permits 4,100                        4,100                        1,921                        (2,179)                       
Planning permits 57,098                      57,098                      44,647                      (12,451)                     
Miscellaneous permits 33,725                      33,725                      26,218                      (7,507)                       

Sub-total 5,319,629                 5,319,629                 7,706,579                 2,386,950                 

Fines and forfeitures:
Parking citations 72,432                      72,432                      81,498                      9,066                        
Business license penalties 4,000                        4,000                        6,742                        2,742                        
Other court fines 35,000                      35,000                      45,782                      10,782                      

Sub-total 111,432                    111,432                    134,022                    22,590                      

Revenues from use of money and property:
Interest 876,000                    1,326,000                 1,913,216                 587,216                    
Internal designated -                                -                                19,303                      19,303                      
Change in fair market value -                                -                                (2,751,680)                (2,751,680)                
Rents and concessions:

Field and court rentals 200,000                    200,000                    248,626                    48,626                      
Facility rentals 381,228                    381,228                    486,995                    105,767                    
Leased property 500,444                    500,444                    507,768                    7,324                        

Sub-total 1,957,672                 2,407,672                 424,228                    (1,983,444)                

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

108

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 346

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Budget Versus Actual Revenues By Sources (Continued)
General Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Intergovernmental:
Motor vehicle-in-lieu -                                -                                31,418                      31,418                      
Mandated costs 15,000                      15,000                      11,238                      (3,762)                       
Homeowner's property tax relief 183,618                    183,618                    111,178                    (72,440)                     

Sub-total 198,618                    198,618                    153,834                    (44,784)                     

Charges for services:
General government

Building use insurance 21,000                      21,000                      27,408                      6,408                        
Agency fund administration -                                -                                25,000                      25,000                      
Sales of maps and documents 500                           500                           215                           (285)                          

Public safety
Police charges for services 56,720                      56,720                      48,988                      (7,732)                       
Fire charges for services 287,630                    359,630                    606,853                    247,223                    
Santa Rita fire services 505,200                    505,200                    839,795                    334,595                    

Waste mangement
Waste management admin fees 900,000                    900,000                    1,014,095                 114,095                    

Environmental programs
EV charges 2,000                        2,000                        3,197                        1,197                        

Parks and community services
Aquatic programs 1,695,163                 1,695,163                 1,453,091                 (242,072)                   
Cemetery 6,222                        6,222                        5,046                        (1,176)                       
Cultural arts 204,500                    204,500                    228,866                    24,366                      
Family programs 741,565                    741,565                    1,096,302                 354,737                    
Community events and festivals 94,570                      94,570                      184,517                    89,947                      
Heritage center 22,485                      22,485                      17,384                      (5,101)                       
Preschool programs 359,828                    359,828                    369,911                    10,083                      
Recreational activities 318,500                    318,500                    333,684                    15,184                      
Senior programs 93,400                      93,400                      106,034                    12,634                      
Sports programs 763,303                    825,290                    843,216                    17,926                      

Community development
Engineering plan checking 3,638,721                 3,926,327                 3,386,342                 (539,985)                   
Local share permit surcharge - SMIP 4,544                        4,544                        8,063                        3,519                        
Building plan checking 750                           750                           -                                (750)                          
Local share permit surcharge - Zone 7 drainage fees 14,314                      14,314                      24,221                      9,907                        
Zoning and subdivision fees 1,148,855                 2,380,878                 2,777,265                 396,387                    
Local share permit surcharge - Green building 1,273                        1,273                        1,776                        503                           

Public works
PFD development services -                                -                                5,797                        5,797                        

Sub-total 10,881,043               12,534,659               13,407,066               872,407                    

Budgeted Amounts

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

109

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 347

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Budget Versus Actual Revenues By Sources (Continued)
General Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Developer fees:
Developer fees -                                -                                87,403                      87,403                      

Sub-total -                                -                                87,403                      87,403                      

Other revenues:
Contributions 112,760                    116,510                    106,825                    (9,685)                       
Sales of property -                                -                                123,973                    123,973                    
Miscellaneous -                                3,333                        347,308                    343,975                    
Reimbursement - general 146,475                    189,894                    341,714                    151,820                    
Reimbursement - public damage -                                -                                -                                -                                
Reimbursement - community benefit assessment 200,000                    200,000                    670,000                    470,000                    

Sub-total 459,235                    509,737                    1,589,820                 1,080,083                 

Total revenues by sources 83,142,577$             86,776,695$             91,220,858$             4,444,163$               

Budgeted Amounts

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

110

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 348

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Budget Versus Actual Departmental Expenditures
General Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

General government:

City council 544,595                    544,595                    396,618                    147,977                    

City manager 1,240,780                 1,240,780                 1,237,063                 3,717                        

City clerk 632,609                    632,609                    533,179                    99,430                      

Election 3,120                        3,120                        1,324                        1,796                        

Human resources 751,193                    785,607                    768,880                    16,727                      

Insurance 517,450                    617,450                    581,705                    35,745                      

City attorney 896,180                    896,180                    947,372                    (51,192)                     

Finance 1,777,662                 1,807,721                 1,730,568                 77,153                      

Non departmental ISF 1,840,340                 1,467,268                 375,191                    1,092,077                 

Disaster preparedness 137,366                    146,680                    128,810                    17,870                      

Crossing guards 147,729                    163,851                    163,759                    92                             

Animal control 379,471                    379,471                    254,201                    125,270                    

Waste management 71,770                      71,770                      71,192                      578                           

Community TV 123,650                    123,650                    111,073                    12,577                      

Sub-total 9,063,915                 8,880,752                 7,300,935                 1,579,817                 

Police:

Police admin/support services 2,794,028                 2,794,028                 2,533,879                 260,149                    

Patrol 9,071,123                 9,071,123                 8,089,859                 981,264                    

Traffic 1,131,732                 1,131,732                 1,239,495                 (107,763)                   

Investigations 2,378,341                 2,378,341                 2,688,797                 (310,456)                   

Crime prevention/school resource services 1,694,440                 1,694,440                 1,558,123                 136,317                    

Communications/dispatch 1,196,434                 1,708,785                 1,309,093                 399,692                    

Police operations support 2,042,297                 2,050,610                 1,792,103                 258,507                    

Sub-total 20,308,395               20,829,059               19,211,349               1,617,710                 

Fire:

Administration 12,538,018               12,219,297               12,219,297               -                                

Fire prevention 414,694                    414,694                    411,642                    3,052                        

Operations 176,000                    257,003                    238,617                    18,386                      

Fire station maintenance 248,676                    248,676                    227,728                    20,948                      

Sub-total 13,377,388               13,139,670               13,097,284               42,386                      

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

111

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 349

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Budget Versus Actual Departmental Expenditures (Continued)
General Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Public works:

Buillding management 1,413,374                 1,582,644                 1,550,044                 32,600                      

Public safety complex 93,847                      98,847                      81,583                      17,264                      

Traffic signals 10,000                      15,894                      12,904                      2,990                        

Street lighting 160,064                    160,064                    165,528                    (5,464)                       

Parks/facilities development 302,205                    361,716                    263,819                    97,897                      

Public works administration 1,305,265                 1,290,265                 1,127,868                 162,397                    

Street maintenance 167,704                    122,704                    101,436                    21,268                      

Street sweeping 159,926                    159,926                    135,630                    24,296                      

Street landscaping 1,657,447                 1,669,403                 1,484,031                 185,372                    

Street tree maintenance 325,050                    325,050                    268,390                    56,660                      

Environmental services 668,144                    589,460                    501,878                    87,582                      

Engineering 3,721,554                 3,896,728                 3,148,335                 748,393                    

Sub-total 9,984,580                 10,272,701               8,841,446                 1,431,255                 

Parks and community services:

Library services 951,071                    1,025,154                 1,040,198                 (15,044)                     

Historic facility operations and rentals 209,150                    217,107                    210,697                    6,410                        

Heritage center programs 226,216                    221,823                    212,685                    9,138                        

Cultural activities 393,835                    393,835                    290,292                    103,543                    

Community events and festivals 698,181                    698,181                    691,962                    6,219                        

Facility operations and rentals 1,385,602                 1,289,650                 1,132,575                 157,075                    

Parks and community services administration 1,821,447                 1,824,660                 1,492,655                 332,005                    

Family programs 544,245                    556,245                    489,065                    67,180                      

Recreational activities 309,285                    309,285                    333,176                    (23,891)                     

Preschool programs 249,413                    257,938                    199,916                    58,022                      

Senior programs 443,728                    443,728                    445,088                    (1,360)                       

Sports programs 720,929                    829,463                    751,322                    78,141                      

Emerald Glen Recreation and Aquatic Center 2,877,750                 2,918,102                 2,522,295                 395,807                    

Park maintenance 3,830,783                 3,670,783                 3,724,765                 (53,982)                     

Cemetaries 7,321                        17,606                      10,525                      7,081                        

Sub-total 14,668,956               14,673,560               13,547,216               1,126,344                 

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

112

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 350

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Budget Versus Actual Departmental Expenditures (Continued)
General Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Economic development:

Economic development 657,637                    647,373                    416,735                    230,638                    

Public information 310,759                    366,247                    248,174                    118,073                    

Sub-total 968,396                    1,013,620                 664,909                    348,711                    

Community development:

Human services 252,909                    255,709                    190,813                    64,896                      

Planning 2,583,540                 3,477,441                 2,873,352                 604,089                    

Building and safety 3,578,841                 3,605,371                 3,220,142                 385,229                    

Sub-total 6,415,290                 7,338,521                 6,284,307                 1,054,214                 

Total expenditures 74,786,920$             76,147,883$             68,947,446$             7,200,437$               

Budgeted Amounts

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

113

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 351

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

114

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 352

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



The General Improvements Projects Capital Projects Fund - is used to manage the programming of
funds and activities associated with major Capital Improvements Projects. The Fund accumulates
resources for capital expenditures and utilizes those resources to support projects that are general in
nature and are not Streets, Parks, or Community Improvements Projects.

The Community Improvements Projects Capital Projects Fund - is used to manage the programing
of funds and activities associated with major Capital Improvements Projects. The fund accumulates
resources for capital expenditures and utilizes those resources to support projects that would
promote or enhance redevelopment, revitalization, beautification of the city's infrastructure and not
General Improvements, Streets or Parks related projects.

The Parks Projects Capital Projects Fund - is used to manage the programming of funds and
activities associated with major Capital Improvements Projects, The Fund Accumulates resources for
capital expenditures and utilizes those resources to support projects that would construct, improve,
or enhance the City's parks and facilities.

The Streets Projects Capital Projects Fund - is used to manage the programming of fund and
activities associated with major Capital Improvements Projects, The Fund accumulates resources for
capital expenditures and utilizes those resources to support projects that would construct, improve,
or enhance the City's trails, highways, streets, roads, bridges, as well as street lighting, and drain
systems.

The Public Facilities Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund - is used to account for fees received from
developers of properties, which can only be used for the design, development, and construction of
new public facilities within the City.

The Fire Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund - is used to account for impact fees received from
developers of properties, which can only be used for the design development, and construction of fire
capital expansion projects within the City.

The Traffic Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund - is used to account for impact fees received from
developers of properties, which can only be used for the design, development and construction of
street and highway projects which serve as part of the City's transportation network.

The Dublin Crossing Contribution Capital Projects Fund - Accounts for community benefit
payments specific to the Dublin Crossing Project, separate from any developer impact fees generated
by the project.

BUDGETED MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS OTHER THAN
GENERAL FUND AND SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

115

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 353

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
General Improvement Projects Capital Projects Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

EXPENDITURES:

Capital outlay:
General improvements -$                              20,574,197$             2,380,766$               18,193,431$             

Total expenditures -                                20,574,197               2,380,766                 18,193,431               

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES -                                (20,574,197)              (2,380,766)                18,193,431               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in -                                20,574,197               2,380,766                 (18,193,431)              

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                20,574,197               2,380,766                 (18,193,431)              

Net change in fund balance -$                              -$                              -                                -$                              

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year -                                

End of year -$                              

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

116

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 354

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Community Improvements Projects Capital Projects Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

EXPENDITURES:

Capital outlay:
Community improvements -$                              100,363$                  76,795$                    23,568$                    

Total expenditures -                                100,363                    76,795                      23,568                      

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES -                                (100,363)                   (76,795)                     23,568                      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in -                                100,363                    76,795                      (23,568)                     

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                100,363                    76,795                      (23,568)                     

Net change in fund balance -$                              -$                              -                                -$                              

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year -                                

End of year -$                              

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

117

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 355

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Parks Project Capital Projects Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

EXPENDITURES:

Capital outlay:
Parks and community services 7,962,886$               19,354,451$             10,580,786$             8,773,665$               

Total expenditures 7,962,886                 19,354,451               10,580,786               8,773,665                 

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES (7,962,886)                (19,354,451)              (10,580,786)              8,773,665                 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in 7,962,886                 19,354,451               10,580,786               (8,773,665)                

Total other financing sources (uses) 7,962,886                 19,354,451               10,580,786               (8,773,665)                

Net change in fund balance -$                              -$                              -                                -$                              

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year -                                

End of year -$                              

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

118

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 356

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Streets Projects Capital Projects Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Other revenues -$                              -$                              981,736$                  981,736$                  

Total revenues -                                -                                981,736                    981,736                    

EXPENDITURES:

Capital outlay:
Streets 7,214,910                 31,472,158               12,676,594               18,795,564               

Total expenditures 7,214,910                 31,472,158               12,676,594               18,795,564               

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES (7,214,910)                (31,472,158)              (11,694,858)              19,777,300               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in 7,214,910                 31,472,158               11,061,717               (20,410,441)              

Total other financing sources (uses) 7,214,910                 31,472,158               11,061,717               (20,410,441)              

Net change in fund balance -$                              -$                              (633,141)                   (633,141)$                 

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year (250,679)                   

End of year (883,820)$                 

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

119

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 357

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Public Facilities Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 153,956$                  153,956$                  439,285$                  285,329$                  
Developer fees 7,603,560                 9,583,560                 11,542,485               1,958,925                 
Other revenues -                                -                                25,468                      25,468                      

Total revenues 7,757,516                 9,737,516                 12,007,238               2,269,722                 

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Parks and community services -                                1,215                        1,215                        -                                

Debt service:
Principal 1,362,511                 1,362,511                 1,345,484                 17,027                      

Total expenditures 1,362,511                 1,363,726                 1,346,699                 17,027                      

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 6,395,005                 8,373,790                 10,660,539               2,286,749                 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in 107,557                    107,557                    107,557                    -                                
Transfers (out) (2,974,405)                (14,489,264)              (8,652,590)                5,836,674                 

Total other financing sources (uses) (2,866,848)                (14,381,707)              (8,545,033)                5,836,674                 

Net change in fund balance 3,528,157$               (6,007,917)$              2,115,506                 8,123,423$               

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 16,054,705               

End of year 18,170,211$             

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

120

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 358

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Fire Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest -$                              -$                              2,029$                      2,029$                      
Developer fees -                                160,000                    148,751                    (11,249)                     

Total revenues -                                160,000                    150,780                    (9,220)                       

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
General government -                                91,681                      88,291                      3,390                        

Total expenditures -                                91,681                      88,291                      3,390                        

Net change in fund balance -$                              68,319$                    62,489                      (5,830)$                     

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 81,679                      

End of year 144,168$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

121

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 359

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Traffic Impact Fees Capital Projects Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 167,027$                  167,027$                  422,967$                  255,940$                  
Developer fees 1,778,751                 2,733,751                 4,689,886                 1,956,135                 
Other revenues -                                1,140,000                 1,213,493                 73,493                      

Total revenues 1,945,778                 4,040,778                 6,326,346                 2,285,568                 

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
General government 500,000                    1,642,398                 1,629,193                 13,205                      
Public works -                                35,887                      35,069                      818                           

Capital outlay:
Streets -                                -                                155,861                    (155,861)                   

Total expenditures 500,000                    1,678,285                 1,820,123                 (141,838)                   

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 1,445,778                 2,362,493                 4,506,223                 2,143,730                 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) (1,597,000)                (5,980,271)                (812,591)                   5,167,680                 

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,597,000)                (5,980,271)                (812,591)                   5,167,680                 

Net change in fund balance (151,222)$                 (3,617,778)$              3,693,632                 7,311,410$               

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 25,192,278               

End of year 28,885,910$             

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

122

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 360

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Dublin Crossing Contribution Capital Project Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 23,141                      23,141                      206,261                    183,120                    
Other revenues 3,000,000                 3,000,000                 3,000,000                 -                                

Total revenues 3,023,141                 3,023,141                 3,206,261                 183,120                    

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Capital outlay:

Parks and community services -                                -                                25,468                      (25,468)                     

Total expenditures -                                -                                25,468                      (25,468)                     

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 3,023,141                 3,023,141                 3,180,793                 157,652                    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) (3,152,401)                (16,409,571)              (1,861,322)                14,548,249               

Total other financing sources (uses) (3,152,401)                (16,409,571)              (1,861,322)                14,548,249               

Net change in fund balance (129,260)$                 (13,386,430)$            1,319,471                 14,705,901$             

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 13,598,936               

End of year 14,918,407$             

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

123

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 361

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

124

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 362

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Public Safety

Special Criminal Activity established to account for receipt of funds derived from asset forfeitures.

Vehicle Abatement established to account for the use of funds received from vehicle registration of Dublin
residents for the towing of abandoned vehicles in city limits.

Supplemental Law Enforcement (SLESJCOPS) established to account for police expenditures funded by a State
grant.

Traffic Safety established to account for the receipt of traffic fines and traffic safety expenditures.

Federal Asset seizure established to account for the receipts and expenditures of the Federal seizure funds.

Emergency Medical Services (EMS) established to account for excise taxes received to fund the costs of
providing Emergency Medical Services.

Enforcement Grants established to account for miscellaneous grants received for police expenditures not
reported in the above funds.

Transportation:

State Gas Tax established to account for the receipt of state gasoline taxes and expenditures.

Measure B Sales Tax - Local Streets established to account for an Alameda County voter sales tax used for
improvements on streets and roads.

Measure B Sales Tax - Bike/Pedestrian established to account for an Alameda County voter approved increase
in sales tax used for bike and pedestrian related projects.

Measure B Grants established to account for transportation projects financed by grants, funded by an Alameda
County voter approved increase in sales tax.

Measure BB Sales Tax - Streets and Roads established to account for an Alameda County voter approved
increase in sales tax used for improvements on streets and roads.

Measure BB Sales Tax - Bike/Pedestrian established to account for Alameda County voter approved increase in
sales tax used for bike and pedestrian related projects.

Transportation Fund for Clean Air (TFCA) established to account for a portion of vehicle registration fee used
for achieving the reduction of motor vehicle emissions.

Road Maintenance & Rehabilitation Account (RMRA) established to account for Senate Bill 1 that increases
gasoline and diesel taxes and vehicle registration fees to fund for basic road maintenance, rehabilitation, and
critical safety projects on local streets and roads.

NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than major capital
projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures for specific purposes.

125

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 363

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



ACTC Vehicle Registration Fee established to account for an Alameda County Transportation Commission
(ACTC) voter approved increase in vehicle registration fee that is distributed by ACTC to be used for street road
system maintenance.

TDA established to account for the financial activities associated with allocations funded by the State of
California Transportation Development Act (TDA) for the Pedestrian/Bicycle Projects.

Environmental:

Garbage/Recycling established to account for the following activities:

Measure D Recycling established to account for the use of funds received which are levied by the County 
pursuant to a charter amendment and are provided for recycling and related activities. This fund also 
accounts for other locally derived funds for recycling related activities.

Garbage Service established to account for the use of funds received which are levied by the county on behalf 
of the City for garbage pitch-up and removal and recycling services.

Local Recycling established to account for locally derived funds collected for a commercial organic and 
recycling program and activities retained by the City at the end of the franchise held by Waste Management 
Inc. These funds are independent of the funds distributed by Stop Waste pursuant to the Alameda County 
Recycling Measure.

AVI Economic Benefit/business Assistance Program established to account for the grant received from Amador
Valley Industry and to provide business owners funding for eligible environmental related improvements.

Storm Water Management  established to account for the following activities:

Storm Water Management established to account for the funds received from the State and designated 
specifically for the use of storm water related activities.

Village Parkway Storm Water Management established to account for funds designated for management of 
the Village Parkway area storm water units.

Box Culvert established to account for the funds designated for the maintenance and repairs of box culvert in
the East Dublin area.

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS, Continued

NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

126

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 364

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Parks, Cultural, and Arts:

Public Art  established to account for the fees received from developers of properties, which can only be used for 
the purchase design, development, and construction of Public Art projects within the City of Dublin.

Miscellaneous Special Revenue established to account for the following activities:

Cable TV Facilities  established to account for Cable TV Facilities fees collected from Cable Television 
providers and passed through to the City for local cable television as allowed under State and Federal 
franchising laws.

Noise Mitigation established to account for the fees received from developers of properties, which can only 
be used for the noise mitigation measures.

Citywide Events (Customer Service) Fund established to account for event ticket sales and donations, to be 
spent on special events citywide.

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) used to account for grants and expenditures related to
Community Development Block Grants received.

HCD Housing Related Parks Grant established to account for a Housing-Related Park (HRP) Grant funding
from the Department of Housing and Community Development pursuant to the Housing and Emergency
Shelter Trust Fund Act of 2006 (Proposition IC.)

Maintenance Districts established to account for revenue and related expenditures of lighting and landscape
districts.

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS, Continued

127

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 365

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Combining Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018

Special Supplemental

Criminal Vehicle Law Traffic Federal Asset

Activity Abatement Enforcement Safety Seizure

ASSETS

Cash and investments 130,153$             213,366$             95,946$               272,476$             20,015$               

Accounts receivable -                          9,872                   -                          11,355                 -                          

Prepaids -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total assets 130,153               223,238               95,946                 283,831               20,015                 

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 

RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
 
Liabilities:

Accounts payable 2,161                   -                          -                          17,804                 5,197                   

Deposits payable 59,145                 -                          -                          -                          -                          

Due to other funds -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total liabilities 61,306                 -                          -                          17,804                 5,197                   

Deferred inflows of resources:

Unavailable revenue - accounts receivable -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total deferred inflows of resources -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Fund Balances: 

Nonspendable -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Restricted:

Public safety programs 68,847                 223,238               95,946                 266,027               14,818                 

Street maintenance and construction -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Health and welfare programs -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Recycling programs -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Capital improvement projects -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Unassigned -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total fund balances 68,847                 223,238               95,946                 266,027               14,818                 

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
resources, and fund balances 130,153$             223,238$             95,946$               283,831$             20,015$               

Special Revenue Funds

128

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 366

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Emergency Measure B Measure B Measure BB

Medical Enforcement Sales Tax Sales Tax Measure B Sales Tax

Services Grants State Gas Tax Local Streets Bike/Pedestrian Grants Streets and Roads

188,291$             10,554$               4,060,013$          419,453$             535,454$             -$                        281,368$             

49,388                 9,510                   -                          88,108                 30,880                 1,088,934            79,149                 

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

237,679               20,064                 4,060,013            507,561               566,334               1,088,934            360,517               

94,357                 -                          63,850                 -                          456                      -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          1,167,366            -                          

94,357                 -                          63,850                 -                          456                      1,167,366            -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

143,322               20,064                 -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          3,996,163            507,561               565,878               -                          360,517               

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          (78,432)               -                          

143,322               20,064                 3,996,163            507,561               565,878               (78,432)               360,517               

237,679$             20,064$               4,060,013$          507,561$             566,334$             1,088,934$          360,517$             

Special Revenue Funds

129

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 367

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Combining Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018

ACTC
Measure BB Transportation Road Maint & Vehicle

Sales Tax for Clean Air Rehab Account Registration

Bike/Pedestrian (TFCA) (RMRA) Fee TDA

ASSETS

Cash and investments 106,980$             -$                        165,452$             301,461$             730$                    

Accounts receivable 25,220                 112,502               126,504               52,426                 -                          

Prepaids -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total assets 132,200               112,502               291,956               353,887               730                      

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 

RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
 
Liabilities:

Accounts payable -                          -                          -                          63,270                 -                          

Deposits payable -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Due to other funds -                          146,008               -                          -                          -                          

Total liabilities -                          146,008               -                          63,270                 -                          

Deferred inflows of resources:

Unavailable revenue - accounts receivable -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total deferred inflows of resources -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Fund Balances: 

Nonspendable -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Restricted:

Public safety programs -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Street maintenance and construction 132,200               -                          291,956               290,617               730                      

Health and welfare programs -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Recycling programs -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Capital improvement projects -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Unassigned -                          (33,506)               -                          -                          -                          

Total fund balances 132,200               (33,506)               291,956               290,617               730                      

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
resources, and fund balances 132,200$             112,502$             291,956$             353,887$             730$                    

Special Revenue Funds

130

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 368

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



AVI Economic
Benefit/Business Storm Miscellaneous Community

Garbage/ Assistance Water Box Special Development

Recycling Program Management Culvert Public Art Revenue Block Grant

736,424$             367,352$             243,761$             373,095$             4,456,797$          96,812$               -$                        

94,422                 -                          -                          -                          -                          39,258                 64,578                 

650                      -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

831,496               367,352               243,761               373,095               4,456,797            136,070               64,578                 

38,701                 -                          -                          -                          116                      59                        22,539                 

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          3,037                   -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          42,039                 

38,701                 -                          -                          -                          116                      3,096                   64,578                 

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

650                      -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          243,761               373,095               -                          -                          -                          

-                          367,352               -                          -                          -                          132,974               -                          

792,145               -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          4,456,681            -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

792,795               367,352               243,761               373,095               4,456,681            132,974               -                          

831,496$             367,352$             243,761$             373,095$             4,456,797$          136,070$             64,578$               

Special Revenue Funds

131

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 369

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Combining Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018

HCD 1983-1 1983-2 1986-1 1997-1

Housing Related Street Stagecoach Dougherty Santa Rita

Parks Grant Lighting Landscape Landscape Landscape

ASSETS

Cash and investments -$                        275,864$             171,922$             346,767$             730,538$             

Accounts receivable -                          1,623                   212                      695                      1,378                   

Prepaids -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total assets -                          277,487               172,134               347,462               731,916               

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 

RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
 
Liabilities:

Accounts payable -                          29,145                 7,806                   3,173                   20,294                 

Deposits payable -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Due to other funds -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total liabilities -                          29,145                 7,806                   3,173                   20,294                 

Deferred inflows of resources:

Unavailable revenue - accounts receivable -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total deferred inflows of resources -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Fund Balances: 

Nonspendable -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Restricted:

Public safety programs -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Street maintenance and construction -                          248,342               164,328               344,289               711,622               

Health and welfare programs -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Recycling programs -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Capital improvement projects -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Unassigned -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total fund balances -                          248,342               164,328               344,289               711,622               

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
resources, and fund balances -$                        277,487$             172,134$             347,462$             731,916$             

Maintenance Districts

Special Revenue Funds

132

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 370

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



1999-1 Dublin Total Nonmajor

East Dublin Crossing Governmental

Street Lighting CFD No. 2017-1 Funds

894,888$             5,995$                 15,501,927$        

1,700                   -                          1,887,714            

-                          -                          650                      

896,588               5,995                   17,390,291          

26,616                 -                          395,544               

-                          -                          62,182                 

-                          -                          1,355,413            

26,616                 -                          1,813,139            

-                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          650                      

-                          -                          832,262               

869,972               5,995                   9,107,026            

-                          -                          500,326               

-                          -                          792,145               

-                          -                          4,456,681            

-                          -                          (111,938)             

869,972               5,995                   15,577,152          

896,588$             5,995$                 17,390,291$        

Maintenance Districts

Special Revenue Funds

133

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 371

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Special Supplemental

Criminal Vehicle Law Traffic Federal Asset

Activity Abatement Enforcement Safety Seizure

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental -$                        46,757$               139,416$             -$                        -$                        

Charges for service -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Interest 1,170                   5,626                   1,455                   4,551                   505                      

Fines and forfeitures -                          -                          -                          141,643               -                          

Developer fees -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Other revenue 1,743                   -                          -                          -                          -                          

Special assessments -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total revenues 2,913                   52,383                 140,871               146,194               505                      

EXPENDITURES:

Current:

General Government 29,231                 -                          -                          -                          -                          

Police 2,160                   -                          100,000               -                          20,562                 

Fire -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Public works -                          -                          -                          226,267               -                          

Park and community services -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Community development -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total expenditures 31,391                 -                          100,000               226,267               20,562                 

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES (28,478)               52,383                 40,871                 (80,073)               (20,057)               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Transfers (out) -                          (197,048)             -                          (1,195)                 -                          

Total other financing sources (uses) -                          (197,048)             -                          (1,195)                 -                          

Net change in fund balances (28,478)               (144,665)             40,871                 (81,268)               (20,057)               

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS):

Beginning of year 97,325                 367,903               55,075                 347,295               34,875                 

End of year 68,847$               223,238$             95,946$               266,027$             14,818$               

Special Revenue Funds

134

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 372

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Measure BB

Emergency Measure B Measure B Sales Tax

Medical Enforcement Sales Tax Sales Tax Bike Measure B Streets and

Services Grants State Gas Tax Local Streets /Pedestrian Grants Roads

191,956$             36,022$               1,189,479$          558,327$             195,681$             1,185,206$          498,207$             

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

2,224                   100                      61,803                 8,775                   6,795                   -                          3,555                   

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          67,853                 -                          -                          -                          -                          

189,628               -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

383,808               36,122                 1,319,135            567,102               202,476               1,185,206            501,762               

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          21,818                 -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

334,607               -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          508,138               -                          8,590                   -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

334,607               21,818                 508,138               -                          8,590                   -                          -                          

49,201                 14,304                 810,997               567,102               193,886               1,185,206            501,762               

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          (489,131)             (515,460)             (14,352)               (1,082,803)          (790,000)             

-                          -                          (489,131)             (515,460)             (14,352)               (1,082,803)          (790,000)             

49,201                 14,304                 321,866               51,642                 179,534               102,403               (288,238)             

94,121                 5,760                   3,674,297            455,919               386,344               (180,835)             648,755               

143,322$             20,064$               3,996,163$          507,561$             565,878$             (78,432)$             360,517$             

Special Revenue Funds

135

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 373

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Measure BB ACTC

Sales Tax Transportation Road Maint & Vehicle

Bike/ for Clean Air Rehab Account Registration

Pedestrian (TFCA) (RMRA) Fee TDA

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 158,756$             112,502$             349,733$             282,389$             -$                        

Charges for service -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Interest 2,196                   344                      645                      3,958                   730                      

Fines and forfeitures -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Developer fees -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Other revenue -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Special assessments -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total revenues 160,952               112,846               350,378               286,347               730                      

EXPENDITURES:

Current:

General Government -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Police -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Fire -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Public works -                          -                          -                          170,753               -                          

Park and community services -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Community development -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total expenditures -                          -                          -                          170,753               -                          

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 160,952               112,846               350,378               115,594               730                      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Transfers (out) (135,105)             (126,600)             (58,422)               (32,493)               -                          

Total other financing sources (uses) (135,105)             (126,600)             (58,422)               (32,493)               -                          

Net change in fund balances 25,847                 (13,754)               291,956               83,101                 730                      

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS):

Beginning of year 106,353               (19,752)               -                          207,516               -                          

End of year 132,200$             (33,506)$             291,956$             290,617$             730$                    

Special Revenue Funds

136

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 374

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



AVI Economic

Benefit/Business Storm Miscellaneous Community

Garbage/ Assistance Water Box Special Development

Recycling Program Management Culvert Public Art Revenue Block Grant

217,599$             -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        88,892$               

4,270,285            -                          -                          -                          -                          163,450               -                          

16,719                 3,308                   3,674                   5,592                   66,045                 3,629                   -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          538,375               4,367                   -                          

1,200                   364,044               -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

4,505,803            367,352               3,674                   5,592                   604,420               171,446               88,892                 

4,257,934            -                          -                          -                          -                          42,150                 -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

108,042               -                          3,980                   -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          37,275                 -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          88,892                 

4,365,976            -                          3,980                   -                          37,275                 42,150                 88,892                 

139,827               367,352               (306)                    5,592                   567,145               129,296               -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

(58,304)               -                          -                          -                          (205,072)             (495,192)             -                          

(58,304)               -                          -                          -                          (205,072)             (495,192)             -                          

81,523                 367,352               (306)                    5,592                   362,073               (365,896)             -                          

711,272               -                          244,067               367,503               4,094,608            498,870               -                          

792,795$             367,352$             243,761$             373,095$             4,456,681$          132,974$             -$                        

Special Revenue Funds

137

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 375

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018

HCD 1983-1 1983-2 1986-1 1997-1

Housing Related Street Stagecoach Dougherty Santa Rita

Parks Grant Lighting Landscape Landscape Landscape

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 232,075$             -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Charges for service -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Interest -                          1,793                   2,259                   5,412                   8,427                   

Fines and forfeitures -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Developer fees -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Other revenue -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Special assessments -                          304,364               93,215                 149,159               395,991               

Total revenues 232,075               306,157               95,474                 154,571               404,418               

EXPENDITURES:

Current:

General Government -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Police -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Fire -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Public works -                          195,677               70,229                 105,806               255,000               

Park and community services -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Community development -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total expenditures -                          195,677               70,229                 105,806               255,000               

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 232,075               110,480               25,245                 48,765                 149,418               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in -                          -                          -                          -                          45,717                 

Transfers (out) (178,576)             -                          -                          (45,717)               -                          

Total other financing sources (uses) (178,576)             -                          -                          (45,717)               45,717                 

Net change in fund balances 53,499                 110,480               25,245                 3,048                   195,135               

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS):

Beginning of year (53,499)               137,862               139,083               341,241               516,487               

End of year -$                        248,342$             164,328$             344,289$             711,622$             

Special Revenue Funds

Maintenance Districts

138

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 376

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



1999-1 Dublin Total Nonmajor

East Dublin Crossing Governmental

Street Lighting CFD No. 2017-1 Funds

-$                        -$                        5,482,997$          

-                          -                          4,433,735            

11,845                 42                        233,177               

-                          -                          141,643               

-                          -                          542,742               

-                          -                          434,840               

332,789               7,786                   1,472,932            

344,634               7,828                   12,742,066          

-                          -                          4,329,315            

-                          -                          144,540               

-                          -                          334,607               

187,718               1,833                   1,842,033            

-                          -                          37,275                 

-                          -                          88,892                 

187,718               1,833                   6,776,662            

156,916               5,995                   5,965,404            

-                          -                          45,717                 

(844)                    -                          (4,426,314)          

(844)                    -                          (4,380,597)          

156,072               5,995                   1,584,807            

713,900               -                          13,992,345          

869,972$             5,995$                 15,577,152$        

Maintenance Districts

Special Revenue Funds

139

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 377

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Special Criminal Activity Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 1,196                        1,196                        1,170                        (26)                            
Other revenues -                                -                                1,743                        1,743                        

Total revenues 1,196                        1,196                        2,913                        1,717                        

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
General government -                                45,052                      29,231                      15,821                      
Police -                                -                                2,160                        (2,160)                       

Total expenditures -                                45,052                      31,391                      13,661                      

Net change in fund balance 1,196$                      (43,856)$                   (28,478)                     15,378$                    

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 97,325                      

End of year 68,847$                    

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

140

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 378

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Vehicle Abatement Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 30,457$                    30,457$                    46,757$                    16,300$                    
Interest 3,763                        3,763                        5,626                        1,863                        

Total revenues 34,220                      34,220                      52,383                      18,163                      

EXPENDITURES:

Current:

Police 822                           822                           -                                822                           

Total expenditures 822                           822                           -                                822                           

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 33,398                      33,398                      52,383                      18,985                      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) -                                -                                (197,048)                   (197,048)                   

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                -                                (197,048)                   (197,048)                   

Net change in fund balance 33,398$                    33,398$                    (144,665)                   (178,063)$                 

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 367,903                    

End of year 223,238$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

141

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 379

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Supplemental Law Enforcement Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 100,000$                  100,000$                  139,416$                  39,416$                    
Interest 310                           310                           1,455                        1,145                        

Total revenues 100,310                    100,310                    140,871                    40,561                      

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Police 100,000                    100,000                    100,000                    -                                

Total expenditures 100,000                    100,000                    100,000                    -                                

Net change in fund balance 310$                         310$                         40,871                      40,561$                    

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 55,075                      

End of year 95,946$                    

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

142

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 380

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Traffic Safety Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 2,358$                      2,358$                      4,551$                      2,193$                      
Fines and forfeitures 148,279                    148,279                    141,643                    (6,636)                       

Total revenues 150,637                    150,637                    146,194                    (4,443)                       

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Public works 194,093                    240,169                    226,267                    13,902                      

Total expenditures 194,093                    240,169                    226,267                    13,902                      

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES (43,456)                     (89,532)                     (80,073)                     9,459                        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) -                                (45,573)                     (1,195)                       44,378                      

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                (45,573)                     (1,195)                       44,378                      

Net change in fund balance (43,456)$                   (135,105)$                 (81,268)                     53,837$                    

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 347,295                    

End of year 266,027$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

143

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 381

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Federal Asset Seizure Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest -$                              -$                              505$                         505$                         

Total revenues -                                -                                505                           505                           

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Police -                                20,614                      20,562                      52                             

Total expenditures -                                20,614                      20,562                      52                             

Net change in fund balance -$                              (20,614)$                   (20,057)                     557$                         

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 34,875                      

End of year 14,818$                    

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

144

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 382

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Emergency Medical Services Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 63,143$                    63,143$                    191,956$                  128,813$                  
Interest 932                           932                           2,224                        1,292                        
Special assessments 185,312                    185,312                    189,628                    4,316                        

Total revenues 249,387                    249,387                    383,808                    134,421                    

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Fire 335,768                    335,818                    334,607                    1,211                        

Total expenditures 335,768                    335,818                    334,607                    1,211                        

Net change in fund balance (86,381)$                   (86,431)$                   49,201                      135,632$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 94,121                      

End of year 143,322$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

145

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 383

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Enforcement Grants Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental -$                              50,000$                    36,022$                    (13,978)$                   
Interest 20                             20                             100                           80                             

Total revenues 20                             50,020                      36,122                      (13,898)                     

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Police 2,500                        52,500                      21,818                      30,682                      

Total expenditures 2,500                        52,500                      21,818                      30,682                      

Net change in fund balance (2,480)$                     (2,480)$                     14,304                      16,784$                    

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 5,760                        

End of year 20,064$                    

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

146

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 384

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
State Gas Tax Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 1,207,169$               1,207,169$               1,189,479$               (17,690)$                   
Interest 20,891                      20,891                      61,803                      40,912                      
Other revenues 396,334                    65,618                      67,853                      2,235                        

Total revenues 1,624,394                 1,293,678                 1,319,135                 25,457                      

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Public works 570,897                    603,837                    508,138                    95,699                      

Total expenditures 570,897                    603,837                    508,138                    95,699                      

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 1,053,497                 689,841                    810,997                    121,156                    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) (1,102,100)                (2,771,228)                (489,131)                   2,282,097                 

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,102,100)                (2,771,228)                (489,131)                   2,282,097                 

Net change in fund balance (48,603)$                   (2,081,387)$              321,866                    2,403,253$               

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 3,674,297                 

End of year 3,996,163$               

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

147

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 385

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Measure B Sales Tax Local Streets Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 442,000$                  442,000$                  558,327$                  116,327$                  
Interest -                                -                                8,775                        8,775                        

Total revenues 442,000                    442,000                    567,102                    125,102                    

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 442,000                    442,000                    567,102                    125,102                    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) (445,000)                   (863,770)                   (515,460)                   348,310                    

Total other financing sources (uses) (445,000)                   (863,770)                   (515,460)                   348,310                    

Net change in fund balance (3,000)$                     (421,770)$                 51,642                      473,412$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 455,919                    

End of year 507,561$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

148

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 386

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Measure B Sales Tax Bike / Pedestrian Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 170,000$                  170,000$                  195,681$                  25,681$                    
Interest -                                -                                6,795                        6,795                        

Total revenues 170,000                    170,000                    202,476                    32,476                      

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Public works 17,961                      17,961                      8,590                        9,371                        

Total expenditures 17,961                      17,961                      8,590                        9,371                        

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 152,039                    152,039                    193,886                    41,847                      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) (267,430)                   (518,110)                   (14,352)                     503,758                    

Total other financing sources (uses) (267,430)                   (518,110)                   (14,352)                     503,758                    

Net change in fund balance (115,391)$                 (366,071)$                 179,534                    545,605$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 386,344                    

End of year 565,878$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

149

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 387

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Measure B Grants Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental -$                              1,300,644$               1,185,206$               (115,438)$                 

Total revenues -                                1,300,644                 1,185,206                 (115,438)                   

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES -                                1,300,644                 1,185,206                 (115,438)                   

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) -                                (1,119,810)                (1,082,803)                37,007                      

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                (1,119,810)                (1,082,803)                37,007                      

Net change in fund balance -$                              180,834$                  102,403                    (78,431)$                   

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year (180,835)                   

End of year (78,432)$                   

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

150

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 388

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Measure BB Sales Tax Streets and Roads Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 400,200$                  400,200$                  498,207$                  98,007$                    
Interest -                                -                                3,555                        3,555                        

Total revenues 400,200                    400,200                    501,762                    101,562                    

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 400,200                    400,200                    501,762                    101,562                    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) (400,000)                   (1,023,600)                (790,000)                   233,600                    

Total other financing sources (uses) (400,000)                   (1,023,600)                (790,000)                   233,600                    

Net change in fund balance 200$                         (623,400)$                 (288,238)                   335,162$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 648,755                    

End of year 360,517$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

151

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 389

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Measure BB Sales Tax Bike / Pedestrian Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 140,000$                  140,000$                  158,756$                  18,756$                    
Interest 624                           624                           2,196                        1,572                        

Total revenues 140,624                    140,624                    160,952                    20,328                      

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 140,624                    140,624                    160,952                    20,328                      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) (117,780)                   (145,780)                   (135,105)                   10,675                      

Total other financing sources (uses) (117,780)                   (145,780)                   (135,105)                   10,675                      

Net change in fund balance 22,844$                    (5,156)$                     25,847                      31,003$                    

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 106,353                    

End of year 132,200$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

152

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 390

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Transportation for Clean Air (TFCA) Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental -                                146,352                    112,502                    (33,850)                     
Interest -                                -                                344                           344                           

Total revenues -                                146,352                    112,846                    (33,506)                     

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES -                                146,352                    112,846                    (33,506)                     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) -                                (126,600)                   (126,600)                   -                                

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                (126,600)                   (126,600)                   -                                

Net change in fund balance -$                              19,752$                    (13,754)                     (33,506)$                   

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year (19,752)                     

End of year (33,506)$                   

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

153

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 391

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Road Maintenance & Rehabilitation Account (RMRA) Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental -$                              330,716$                  349,733$                  19,017$                    
Interest -                                -                                645                           645                           

Total revenues -                                330,716                    350,378                    19,662                      

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES -                                330,716                    350,378                    19,662                      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) -                                (330,716)                   (58,422)                     272,294                    

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                (330,716)                   (58,422)                     272,294                    

Net change in fund balance -$                              -$                              291,956                    291,956$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year -                                

End of year 291,956$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

154

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 392

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
ACTC Vehicle Registration Fee Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 252,000$                  252,000$                  282,389$                  30,389$                    
Interest 1,134                        1,134                        3,958                        2,824                        

Total revenues 253,134                    253,134                    286,347                    33,213                      

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Public works 173,265                    173,265                    170,753                    2,512                        

Total expenditures 173,265                    173,265                    170,753                    2,512                        

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 79,869                      79,869                      115,594                    35,725                      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) (40,120)                     (142,956)                   (32,493)                     110,463                    

Total other financing sources (uses) (40,120)                     (142,956)                   (32,493)                     110,463                    

Net change in fund balance 39,749$                    (63,087)$                   83,101                      146,188$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 207,516                    

End of year 290,617$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

155

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 393

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
TDA Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest -$                              -$                              730$                         730$                         

Total revenues -                                -                                730                           730                           

Net change in fund balance -$                              -$                              730                           730$                         

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year -                                

End of year 730$                         

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

156

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 394

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Garbage / Recycling Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 164,000$                  164,000$                  217,599$                  53,599$                    
Charges for services 4,073,000                 4,256,135                 4,270,285                 14,150                      
Interest 3,331                        3,331                        16,719                      13,388                      
Other revenues 2,000                        2,000                        1,200                        (800)                          

Total revenues 4,242,331                 4,425,466                 4,505,803                 80,337                      

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
General government 4,074,612                 4,258,047                 4,257,934                 113                           
Public works 183,360                    171,943                    108,042                    63,901                      

Total expenditures 4,257,972                 4,429,990                 4,365,976                 64,014                      

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES (15,641)                     (4,524)                       139,827                    144,351                    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) -                                (80,000)                     (58,304)                     21,696                      

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                (80,000)                     (58,304)                     21,696                      

Net change in fund balance (15,641)$                   (84,524)$                   81,523                      166,047$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 711,272                    

End of year 792,795$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

157

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 395

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
AVI Economic Benefit / Business Assistance Program Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest -$                              -$                              3,308$                      3,308$                      
Other revenues -                                -                                364,044                    364,044                    

Total revenues -                                -                                367,352                    367,352                    

Net change in fund balance -$                              -$                              367,352                    367,352$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year -                                

End of year 367,352$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

158

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 396

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Storm Water Management Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 3,975$                      3,975$                      3,674$                      (301)$                        

Total revenues 3,975                        3,975                        3,674                        (301)                          

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Public works 10,000                      10,000                      3,980                        6,020                        

Total expenditures 10,000                      10,000                      3,980                        6,020                        

Net change in fund balance (6,025)$                     (6,025)$                     (306)                          5,719$                      

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 244,067                    

End of year 243,761$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

159

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 397

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Box Culvert Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 3,662$                      3,662$                      5,592$                      1,930$                      

Total revenues 3,662                        3,662                        5,592                        1,930                        

Net change in fund balance 3,662$                      3,662$                      5,592                        1,930$                      

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 367,503                    

End of year 373,095$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

160

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 398

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Public Art Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 21,316$                    21,316$                    66,045$                    44,729$                    
Developer fees -                                -                                538,375                    538,375                    

Total revenues 21,316                      21,316                      604,420                    583,104                    

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Parks and community services 157,645                    89,271                      37,275                      51,996                      

Total expenditures 157,645                    89,271                      37,275                      51,996                      

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES (136,329)                   (67,955)                     567,145                    635,100                    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) (361,008)                   (1,106,614)                (205,072)                   901,542                    

Total other financing sources (uses) (361,008)                   (1,106,614)                (205,072)                   901,542                    

Net change in fund balance (497,337)$                 (1,174,569)$              362,073                    1,536,642$               

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 4,094,608                 

End of year 4,456,681$               

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

161

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 399

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Charges for services 183,000$                  183,000$                  163,450$                  (19,550)$                   
Interest 587                           587                           3,629                        3,042                        
Developer fees 3,068                        3,068                        4,367                        1,299                        

Total revenues 186,655                    186,655                    171,446                    (15,209)                     

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
General government 35,338                      42,150                      42,150                      -                                

Total expenditures 35,338                      42,150                      42,150                      -                                

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 151,317                    144,505                    129,296                    (15,209)                     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) -                                (535,157)                   (495,192)                   39,965                      

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                (535,157)                   (495,192)                   39,965                      

Net change in fund balance 151,317$                  (390,652)$                 (365,896)                   24,756$                    

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 498,870                    

End of year 132,974$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

162

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 400

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Community Development Block Grant Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental 82,202$                    100,334$                  88,892$                    (11,442)$                   

Total revenues 82,202                      100,334                    88,892                      (11,442)                     

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Community development 82,202                      88,892                      88,892                      -                                

Total expenditures 82,202                      88,892                      88,892                      -                                

Net change in fund balance -$                              11,442$                    -                                (11,442)$                   

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year -                                

End of year -$                              

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

163

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 401

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
HCD Housing Related Parks Grant Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Intergovernmental -$                              -$                              232,075$                  232,075$                  

Total revenues -                                -                                232,075                    232,075                    

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES -                                -                                232,075                    232,075                    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) -                                (178,576)                   (178,576)                   -                                

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                (178,576)                   (178,576)                   -                                

Net change in fund balance -$                              (178,576)$                 53,499                      232,075$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year (53,499)                     

End of year -$                              

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

164

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 402

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Maintenance Districts 1983-1 Street Lighting Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 839$                         839$                         1,793$                      954$                         
Special assessments 291,983                    291,983                    304,364                    12,381                      

Total revenues 292,822                    292,822                    306,157                    13,335                      

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Public works 205,368                    207,178                    195,677                    11,501                      

Total expenditures 205,368                    207,178                    195,677                    11,501                      

Net change in fund balance 87,454$                    85,644$                    110,480                    24,836$                    

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 137,862                    

End of year 248,342$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

165

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 403

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Maintenance Districts 1983-2 Stagecoach Landscape Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 861$                         861$                         2,259$                      1,398$                      
Special assessments 85,343                      85,343                      93,215                      7,872                        

Total revenues 86,204                      86,204                      95,474                      9,270                        

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Public works 89,421                      90,408                      70,229                      20,179                      

Total expenditures 89,421                      90,408                      70,229                      20,179                      

Net change in fund balance (3,217)$                     (4,204)$                     25,245                      29,449$                    

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 139,083                    

End of year 164,328$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

166

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 404

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Maintenance Districts 1986-1 Dougherty Landscape Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 1,403$                      1,403$                      5,412$                      4,009$                      
Special assessments 139,586                    139,586                    149,159                    9,573                        

Total revenues 140,989                    140,989                    154,571                    13,582                      

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Public works 143,754                    144,741                    105,806                    38,935                      

Total expenditures 143,754                    144,741                    105,806                    38,935                      

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES (2,765)                       (3,752)                       48,765                      52,517                      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) -                                -                                (45,717)                     (45,717)                     

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                -                                (45,717)                     (45,717)                     

Net change in fund balance (2,765)$                     (3,752)$                     3,048                        6,800$                      

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 341,241                    

End of year 344,289$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

167

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 405

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Maintenance Districts 1997-1 Santa Rita Landscape Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 3,564$                      3,564$                      8,427$                      4,863$                      
Special assessments 396,154                    396,154                    395,991                    (163)                          

Total revenues 399,718                    399,718                    404,418                    4,700                        

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Public works 328,666                    329,653                    255,000                    74,653                      

Total expenditures 328,666                    329,653                    255,000                    74,653                      

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 71,052                      70,065                      149,418                    79,353                      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in -                                -                                45,717                      45,717                      

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                -                                45,717                      45,717                      

Net change in fund balance 71,052$                    70,065$                    195,135                    125,070$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 516,487                    

End of year 711,622$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

168

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 406

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Maintenance Districts 1999-1 East Dublin Street Lighting Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest 4,074$                      4,074$                      11,845$                    7,771$                      
Special assessments 298,169                    298,169                    332,789                    34,620                      

Total revenues 302,243                    302,243                    344,634                    42,391                      

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Public works 194,211                    194,807                    187,718                    7,089                        

Total expenditures 194,211                    194,807                    187,718                    7,089                        

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 108,032                    107,436                    156,916                    49,480                      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers (out) (37,480)                     (388,930)                   (844)                          388,086                    

Total other financing sources (uses) (37,480)                     (388,930)                   (844)                          388,086                    

Net change in fund balance 70,552$                    (281,494)$                 156,072                    437,566$                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 713,900                    

End of year 869,972$                  

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

169

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 407

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Community Facilities District No. 2017-1 Special Revenue Fund

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Interest -$                              -$                              42$                           42$                           
Special assessments -                                7,194                        7,786                        592                           

Total revenues -                                7,194                        7,828                        634                           

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Public works -                                4,123                        1,833                        2,290                        

Total expenditures -                                4,123                        1,833                        2,290                        

Net change in fund balance -$                              3,071$                      5,995                        2,924$                      

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year -                                

End of year 5,995$                      

City of Dublin

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

170

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 408

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

Vehicle Replacement this fund is an interest bearing Internal Service Fund established to finance necessary
vehicle replacements.

Building Replacement this fund is an interest bearing Internal Service Fund established to finance future
major building component repair expenditures.

Equipment Replacement this fund is an interest bearing Internal Service fund established to finance
necessary equipment replacements.

Retiree Health Care this fund is an interest bearing Internal Service Fund established to account for the
contribution made to the California Employers' Retiree Benefit Trust Fund for future retiree health care
benefits.

PERS Side Fund this fund was established to account for the repayment to the general fund for the
advance made in fiscal year 2007-2008 to pay CalPERS for the City's Side Fund obligation. The Side Fund
was created in 2005 when CaIPERS assigned agencies with less than 100 participants to a risk sharing pool.
The City elected to pre-pay its obligation from the General Fund reserves and an internal service charge is
made each year to repay the reserve.

Information Technology fund accounts for all information and technology costs, including staffing.

Energy Efficiency this fund was established to account for the financing and construction of the Energy
Efficiency Upgrade Capital Project.

171

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 409

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Combining Statement of Net Position
Internal Service Funds
June 30, 2018

Vehicle Building Equipment

Replacement Replacement Replacement

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and investments 2,893,188$                    7,655,336$                    5,202,760$                    

Prepaids -                                     -                                     -                                     

Total current assets 2,893,188             7,655,336             5,202,760             

Capital Assets:

Land -                                     10,774,792                    -                                     

Construction in progress -                                     3,533,027                      4,563                             

Infrastructure -                                     -                                     -                                     

Building and improvements -                                     63,094,195                    -                                     

Vehicles and equipment 4,972,652                      -                                     2,442,910                      

Less accumulated depreciation (3,557,620)                     (36,199,094)                   (1,619,280)                     

Net capital assets 1,415,032             41,202,920           828,193                

Total assets 4,308,220             48,858,256           6,030,953             

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accruals -                                     -                                     55,626                           

Capital lease -                                     -                                     -                                     

Total current liabilities -                            -                            55,626                  

Long-term liabilities:

Capital lease -                                     -                                     -                                     

Total long-term liabilities -                            -                            -                            

Total liabilities -                            -                            55,626                  

NET POSITION (DEFICIT)

Net investment in capital assets 1,415,032                      41,202,920                    828,193                         

Unrestricted 2,893,188                      7,655,336                      5,147,134                      

Total net position (deficit) 4,308,220$           48,858,256$         5,975,327$           

172

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 410

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Retiree PERS Information Energy

Health Care Side Fund Technology Efficiency Total

47,534$                         -$                                   1,543,890$                    84,441$                         17,427,149$                  

150,466                         -                                     43,371                           -                                     193,837                         

198,000                -                            1,587,261             84,441                  17,620,986           

-                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     10,774,792                    

-                                     -                                     499,778                         -                                     4,037,368                      

-                                     -                                     -                                     122,183                         122,183                         

-                                     -                                     42,732                           -                                     63,136,927                    

-                                     -                                     46,084                           -                                     7,461,646                      

-                                     -                                     (1,666)                            -                                     (41,377,660)                   

-                            -                            586,928                122,183                44,155,256           

198,000                -                            2,174,189             206,624                61,776,242           

167,221                         -                                     100,560                         -                                     323,407                         

-                                     -                                     -                                     396,727                         396,727                         

167,221                -                            100,560                396,727                720,134                

-                                     -                                     -                                     4,064,516                      4,064,516                      

-                            -                            -                            4,064,516             4,064,516             

167,221                -                            100,560                4,461,243             4,784,650             

-                                     -                                     586,928                         (4,339,060)                     39,694,013                    

30,779                           -                                     1,486,701                      84,441                           17,297,579                    

30,779$                -$                          2,073,629$           (4,254,619)$          56,991,592$         

173

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 411

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Internal Service Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Vehicle Building Equipment Retiree
Replacement Replacement Replacement Health Care

OPERATING REVENUES:

Charges for services 520,512$             298,776$             932,532$             1,469,507$          
Interest -                          -                          -                          -                          
Other revenue -                          -                          -                          653,076               

Total operating revenues 520,512               298,776               932,532               2,122,583            

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Supplies and services 597,927               (169,015)             144,981               -                          
Retiree health premiums -                          -                          -                          2,122,583            
Depreciation 354,182               2,111,345            118,224               -                          

Total operating expenses 952,109               1,942,330            263,205               2,122,583            

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (431,597)             (1,643,554)          669,327               -                          

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

Interest income 48,679                 110,414               72,387                 5,546                   

Gain (loss) from sales of property -                          -                          -                          -                          

Interest and fiscal charges -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 48,679                 110,414               72,387                 5,546                   

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE

CONTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSFERS: (382,918)             (1,533,140)          741,714               5,546                   

Transfers in 86,897                 750,000               -                          -                          

Transfers (out) -                          (304,750)             -                          -                          

Total transfers 86,897                 445,250               -                          -                          

Change in net position (296,021)             (1,087,890)          741,714               5,546                   

NET POSITION (DEFICIT):

Beginning of year 4,604,241            49,946,146          5,233,613            25,233                 

End of year 4,308,220$          48,858,256$        5,975,327$          30,779$               

174

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 412

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



PERS Information Energy
Side Fund Technology Efficiency Total

159,616$             1,422,132$          581,881$             5,384,956$          
-                          -                          -                          -                          
-                          -                          -                          653,076               

159,616               1,422,132            581,881               6,038,032            

-                          1,518,526            -                          2,092,419            
-                          -                          -                          2,122,583            
-                          952                      -                          2,584,703            

-                          1,519,478            -                          6,799,705            

159,616               (97,346)               581,881               (761,673)             

-                          22,549                 1,266                   260,841               

-                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          (125,881)             (125,881)             

-                          22,549                 (124,615)             134,960               

159,616               (74,797)               457,266               (626,713)             

-                          -                          -                          836,897               

-                          (42,732)               -                          (347,482)             

-                          (42,732)               -                          489,415               

159,616               (117,529)             457,266               (137,298)             

(159,616)             2,191,158            (4,711,885)          57,128,890          

-$                        2,073,629$          (4,254,619)$        56,991,592$        

175

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 413

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Combining Statement of Cash Flows
Internal Service Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Vehicle Building Equipment Retiree

Replacement Replacement Replacement Health Care

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Receipts from customers 520,512$           298,776$           932,532$           1,478,003$        
Payments to suppliers and service providers (597,927)            169,015             (92,330)              (1,960,810)         
Other revenues -                         -                         -                         653,076             

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (77,415)              467,791             840,202             170,269             

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Cash receipts from other funds 86,897               750,000             -                         -                         
Cash disbursements to other funds -                         (304,750)            -                         (128,281)            

Cash provided by (used in) noncapital financing activities 86,897               445,250             -                         (128,281)            

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of capital assets (558,433)            (218,727)            (5,348)                -                         
Interest paid on capital lease -                         -                         -                         -                         
Capital lease repayment -                         -                         -                         -                         

Cash used in capital and related financing activities (558,433)            (218,727)            (5,348)                -                         

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Interest received 48,679               110,414             72,387               5,546                 

Cash flows from investing activities 48,679               110,414             72,387               5,546                 

Net Cash Flows (500,272)            804,728             907,241             47,534               

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of year 3,393,460          6,850,608          4,295,519          -                         

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of year 2,893,188$        7,655,336$        5,202,760$        47,534$             

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating income (loss) (431,597)$          (1,643,554)$       669,327$           -$                       
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
  to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation 354,182             2,111,345          118,224             -                         

Change in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable -                         -                         -                         8,496                 
Prepaids -                         -                         -                         (5,448)                
Accounts payable and accruals -                         -                         52,651               167,221             

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (77,415)$            467,791$           840,202$           170,269$           

176

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 414

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



PERS Information Energy

Side Fund Technology Efficiency Total

159,616$           1,422,132$        581,881$           5,393,452$        
-                         (1,458,726)         -                         (3,940,778)         
-                         -                         -                         653,076             

159,616             (36,594)              581,881             2,105,750          

-                         -                         -                         836,897             
(159,616)            (42,732)              -                         (635,379)            

(159,616)            (42,732)              -                         201,518             

-                         61,213               -                         (721,295)            
-                         -                         (125,881)            (125,881)            
-                         -                         (456,000)            (456,000)            

-                         61,213               (581,881)            (1,303,176)         

-                         22,549               1,266                 260,841             

-                         22,549               1,266                 260,841             

-                         4,436                 1,266                 1,264,933          

-                         1,539,454          83,175               16,162,216        

-$                       1,543,890$        84,441$             17,427,149$      

159,616$           (97,346)$            581,881$           (761,673)            

-                         952                    -                         2,584,703          

-                         -                         -                         8,496                 
-                         20,978               -                         15,530               
-                         38,822               -                         258,694             

159,616$           (36,594)$            581,881$           2,105,750$        

177

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 415

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

178

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 416

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



AGENCY FUNDS

Fallon Village Geologic Hazard abatement District this assessment district was established in
2007, in accordance with a condition of approval for the Fallon Village development project. The
District was formed to provide a mechanism for ongoing maintenance on open space areas within
the development. The boundary of this assessment district encompasses approximately 175 acres of
land, located generally east of Fallon Road.

Schaefer Ranch Geologic Hazardous Abatement District this assessment district was established in
2006, in accordance with a condition of approval for the Fallon Village development project. The
District was formed to provide a mechanism for ongoing maintenance of open space areas within
the development. The boundary of this assessment district encompasses approximately 500 acres of
land, located at the westerly boundary of the City limits north of interstate 580, and south of the
unincorporated area of Alameda County.

Fallon Crossing (North Tassajara) Geologic Hazard Abatement District this assessment district
was established to account for the maintenance of open space areas in accordance with a condition
of approval for the fallon Crossings development project. The boundary of the District encompasses
68 acres of land located on the northeast side of Tassajara Road, about 2 1/4 Miles north of
Interstate Highway 580, Tassajara Road and Moller Creek, a tributary of Tassajara Creek, border the
western and northeastern limits of the site.

Dublin Crossing Community Facilities District (CFD) No. 2015-1 (Dublin Crossing) Fund is used to
account for bond issuances to finance capital facilities and infrastructure within the CFD secured by the
collection of Special Taxes on real property within the CFD. The Agency Fund is custodial in nature
(assets equal liabilities) and therefore does not involve measurement of results of operations. CFD
bonds are not debt obligations of the City.

Dublin Boulevard Extension Assessment District to account form the special assessment established to
fund the improvements to Dublin Boulevard.

Associated Community Action Program this fund was established for the City to act as the fiscal agent
to collect and account for the contributions received from twelve cities in Alameda County and to
coordinate administrative service for the closing of the ACAP, a Joint Powers Agency, in social services
related programs serving Alameda County communities.

Geologic Hazard Abatement Districts two districts were formed under provisions in the California
Public Code, Which establishes in section 25670 that a district is a political subdivision of the State and
is not an agency or instrumentality of a local agency. The City acts as a trustee of the funds collected
and may contractually provide or arrange for services paid for by the District. Fiscal Year 2008-2009
was the first year that tax roll assessments were levied by the Districts.

179

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 417

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

180

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 418

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Combining Statement of Assets and Liabilities
All Agency Funds
June 30, 2018

Dublin

Boulevard Associated Fallon Community

Extension Community Crossing Facilities

Assessment Action Fallon Schnaefer (North District Total

District Program Village Ranch  Tassajara) No. 2015-1 Agency Funds

Assets:

Cash and investments 8,817$              -$                      4,221,733$       3,909,061$       460,449$          26,613,163$     35,213,223$     

Accounts receivable -                        -                        4,094                4,363                667                   -                        9,124                

Total assets 8,817$              -$                      4,225,827$       3,913,424$       461,116$          26,613,163$     35,222,347$     

Liabilities:

Accounts payable -$                      2,168$              44,111$            23,634$            -$                      14,702$            84,615$            

Due to other 0 0 0 0 0 26,598,461 26,598,461       

Due to trustee -                        (2,168)               4,181,716         3,889,790         461,116            -                        8,530,454         

Due to bondholders 8,817                -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        8,817                

Total liabilities 8,817$              -$                      4,225,827$       3,913,424$       461,116$          26,613,163$     35,222,347$     

Geologic Hazard Abatement Districts

181

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 419

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dubin
Agency Funds
 Statement of Changes in Agency Funds Assets and Liabilities
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Balance Balance

July 1, 2017 Additions Deductions June 30, 2018

Dublin Boulevard Extension Assessment District

Assets:

Cash and investments 8,685$                 132$                    -$                        8,817$                 

Total assets 8,685$                 132$                    -$                        8,817$                 

Liabilities:

Due to bondholders 8,685$                 132$                    -$                        8,817$                 

Total liabilities 8,685$                 132$                    -$                        8,817$                 

Associated Community Action Program

Assets:

Cash and investments 12,199$               16,343$               28,542$               -$                        

Total assets 12,199$               16,343$               28,542$               -$                        

Liabilities:

Accounts payable 1,103$                 2,168$                 1,103$                 2,168$                 

Due to trustee 11,096                 14,175                 27,439                 (2,168)                 

Total liabilities 12,199$               16,343$               28,542$               -$                        

Fallon Village Geologic Hazardous Abatement District

Assets:

Cash and investments 3,420,626$          1,012,862$          211,755$             4,221,733$          

Accounts receivable 5,147                   4,094                   5,147                   4,094                   

Total assets 3,425,773$          1,016,956$          216,902$             4,225,827$          

Liabilities:

Accounts payable 57,276$               44,111$               57,276$               44,111$               

Due to trustee 3,368,497            972,845               159,626               4,181,716            

Total liabilities 3,425,773$          1,016,956$          216,902$             4,225,827$          

Schaefer Ranch Geologic Hazardous Abatement District

Assets:

Cash and investments 3,176,247$          862,918$             130,104$             3,909,061$          

Accounts receivable 4,194                   4,363                   4,194                   4,363                   

Total assets 3,180,441$          867,281$             134,298$             3,913,424$          

Liabilities:

Accounts payable 21,607$               23,634$               21,607$               23,634$               

Due to trustee 3,158,834            843,647               112,691               3,889,790            

Total liabilities 3,180,441$          867,281$             134,298$             3,913,424$          

182

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 420

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Balance Balance

July 1, 2017 Additions Deductions June 30, 2018

Fallon Crossing (North Tassajara) Geologic Hazardous Abatement District

Assets:

Cash and investments 348,308$             133,475$             21,334$               460,449$             

Accounts receivable 1,282                   667                      1,282                   667                      

Total assets 349,590$             134,142$             22,616$               461,116$             

Liabilities:

Accounts payable 2,037$                 -$                        2,037$                 -$                        

Due to trustee 347,553               134,142               20,579                 461,116               

Total liabilities 349,590$             134,142$             22,616$               461,116$             

Communities Facilities District No. 2015-1

Assets:

Cash and investments -$                        37,022,550$        10,409,387$        26,613,163$        

Total assets -$                        37,022,550$        10,409,387$        26,613,163$        

Liabilities:

Accounts payable -$                        14,702$               -$                        14,702$               

Due to other -                          37,007,848          10,409,387          26,598,461          

Total liabilities -$                        37,022,550$        10,409,387$        26,613,163$        

Totals - All Agency Funds

Assets:

Cash and investments 6,966,065$          39,048,280$        10,801,122$        35,213,223$        

Accounts receivable 10,623                 9,124                   10,623                 9,124                   

Total assets 6,976,688$          39,057,404$        10,811,745$        35,222,347$        

Liabilities:

Accounts payable 82,023$               84,615$               82,023$               84,615$               

Due to other -                          37,007,848          10,409,387          26,598,461          

Due to trustee 6,885,980            1,964,809            320,335               8,530,454            

Due to bondholders 8,685                   132                      -                          8,817                   

Total liabilities 6,976,688$          39,057,404$        10,811,745$        35,222,347$        

183

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 421

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

184

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 422

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Index

Financial Trends

Revenue Capacity

Debt Capacity

Demographic and Economic Information

Operating Information

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the 
information in the City’s financial report relates to the services the City provides and the activities 
it performs.

STATISTICAL SECTION

This part of the City of Dublin’s comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required
supplementary information says about the City's overall financial health.

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the City’s financial 
performance and well-being have changed over time.

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City’s most significant local 
revenue source, the property tax.

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the City’s 
current levels of outstanding debt and the City’s ability issues additional debt in the future.

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the 
environment within which the City’s financial activities take place.

185

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 423

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2009 2010 2011 2012
Governmental Activities
     Net Investment In Capital Assets 423,474,384$  436,857,107$   433,779,703$       433,548,888$        
     Restricted 36,906,687      25,004,384       21,453,867           36,714,724            
     Unrestricted 66,597,197      70,203,471       76,303,907           86,063,259            

Total primary government 526,978,268$ 532,064,962$  531,537,477$      556,326,871$        

Source: City of Dublin Administrative Services Department 

CITY OF DUBLIN
NET POSITION BY COMPONENT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal Year

186

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 424

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

432,722,323$      445,529,366$   444,832,546$   460,963,292$  487,123,214$     501,516,781$    
52,548,095          60,808,540       74,738,217       97,592,438      94,745,655         107,452,493      
99,084,771          97,918,858       107,176,361     111,725,077    120,464,219       141,008,993      

584,355,189$      604,256,764$   626,747,124$   670,280,807$ 702,333,088$    749,978,267$   

Fiscal Year

187

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 425

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2009 2010 2011 2012
Expenses
Governmental Activities
      General government 8,721,545$    8,396,199$    9,322,322$    10,116,219$   
      Police
      Fire
      Public works 
      Parks and community service
      Economic development
      Public safety 23,880,635 23,797,696 24,413,496 26,781,283
      Highways and streets 20,368,655 15,969,371 10,142,946 6,709,217
      Health and Welfare 1,869,428 3,615,077 12,749,042 146,204
      Culture and leisure services 11,563,136 10,757,355 9,304,429 9,804,128
      Community development 7,175,272 5,112,469 5,482,552 6,089,415
      Interest on long-term debt

Total Governmental Activities Expenses 73,578,671 67,648,167 71,414,787 59,646,466

Program Revenues
Governmental Activities
     Charges for Services
        General government 215,711$       219,386$       225,109$       140,418$        
        Police
        Fire
        Public works
        Parks and community service
        Economic development 
        Public safety 1,545,935 1,600,890 1,821,404 1,061,352
        Highways and streets 598,542 8,078,369 450,937 738,662
        Health and Welfare 3,050,719 2,798,092 2,874,952 3,063,223
        Culture and leisure services 1,719,501 2,101,867 2,214,407 1,909,812
        Community development 4,720,221 3,775,102 5,546,417 9,051,970
     Operating Contributions and Grants 2,245,945 2,229,043 2,220,247 1,008,318
     Capital Contributions and Grants 14,599,068 12,254,443 15,745,614 23,668,070

Total Governmental Activities Program Revenues 28,695,642$ 33,057,192$ 31,099,087$ 40,641,825$   

 

Source: City of Dublin Administrative Services Department 

CITY OF DUBLIN
CHANGES IN NET POSITION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal Year

188

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 426

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

10,265,476$        17,665,221$  10,774,480$  19,280,680$  13,549,013$   16,120,440$    
15,325,113 18,316,420 17,080,942 19,423,830
12,198,769 14,725,476 13,687,195 13,315,788
15,336,225 13,883,008 18,351,543 17,103,824
12,149,716 14,625,459 11,193,876 15,640,280

679,313 555,564 864,697 683,362
26,846,045 27,770,111

7,241,263 4,305,390
3,753,875 4,057,796

10,772,868 9,018,161
9,979,877 9,169,788 5,713,196 11,410,946 14,249,950 7,074,630

125,881

68,859,404 71,986,467 72,176,812 92,797,553 88,977,216 89,488,035

142,353$             153,544$       5,777,971$    5,209,378$    5,402,925$     6,060,099$      
399,802 362,054 322,231 335,929

1,746,581 1,633,056 1,426,973 1,551,899
2,987,235 2,698,767 3,386,621 3,517,700
3,009,383 2,931,553 2,950,625 4,638,050

2,482,060 2,164,085
470,063 484,801

3,422,782 3,631,344
2,463,146 2,753,911
9,540,241 10,393,367 7,657,467 13,217,027 9,334,477 10,139,788
1,135,050 1,674,815 955,677 1,629,137 8,008,289 12,577,699

28,689,753 20,914,994 21,931,981 38,433,119 21,133,748 23,438,110

48,345,448$        42,170,861$  44,466,097$  66,114,091$ 51,965,889$  62,259,274$   

Fiscal Year

189

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 427

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2009 2010 2011 2012
Net (Expense)/Revenue
Governmental Activities (44,883,029)$     (34,590,975)$     (40,315,700)$      (19,004,641)$      

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities
     Taxes
          Property taxes 23,311,587        22,287,783        21,918,484         22,246,360         
          Special assessment taxes
          Sales tax 12,832,417 12,183,267 12,969,119 14,996,932
          Other taxes 2,180,846 3,201,219 3,798,515 4,295,675
      Motor vehicle tax, unrestricted 160,242 141,221 250,974
      Investment income, unrestricted 4,266,601 758,016 536,047 865,719
     Other general revenues 461,137 1,106,163 1,079,419 1,389,349

Total Governmental Activities 43,212,830 39,677,669 40,552,558 43,794,035

Change in Net Position
Governmental Activities (1,670,199)$      5,086,694$       236,858$           24,789,394$       

Source: City of Dublin Administrative Services Department 

CITY OF DUBLIN
CHANGES IN NET POSITION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal Year

190

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 428

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

(20,513,956)$    (29,815,606)$  (27,710,715)$   (26,683,462)$    (37,011,327)$    (27,228,761)$   

23,590,102        25,286,308     29,437,951       33,598,601       36,964,785       40,628,040      
1,359,212 1,416,721 1,472,933

15,359,340 17,833,314 1,264,204 22,070,547 21,186,333 21,134,636
5,054,257 5,427,627 19,211,823 6,606,016 6,834,545 7,366,201

6,159,654
(399,590) 853,147 2,937,999 (710,595) (558,269)

4,938,165 316,785 1,022,209 3,644,670 3,371,819 3,335,600

48,542,274 49,717,181 57,095,841 70,217,045 69,063,608 73,379,141

28,028,318$      19,901,575$   29,385,126$     43,533,583$    32,052,281$    46,150,380$    

Fiscal Year

191

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 429

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2009 2010 2011* 2012
General Fund
     Reserved 5,343,610$     5,922,446$     
     Unreserved, designated for:
            Advance to TVTD W. BART station contribution 1,000,000
            Affordable Housing 1,000,000 1,000,000
            Authorized expenditures 34,474,209 3,960
            Capital improvments 11,049,175 7,394,088
            Cash Flow & Operation Stability 8,860,000
            Catastrophic Loss & Business Recovery 8,420,000
            Capital Improvements Projects Carryover 203,507
            Compensated Absences 791,582 802,311
            Economic Uncertainty 5,868,847 5,868,847
            Emergency Communication System 210,000 1,000,000
            Fire Retiree Medical 750,000 4,500,000
            Innovation & New Opportunities 13,000,000
            Investment Market Value Adjustment 2,334,061 1,516,569
            Operation Carryover 301,874 171,100
            Service Continuity Obligation

     Unreserved, undesigned

            Non-Spendable 4,096,768$     3,433,886$       
            Restricted
            Committed 27,893,755 24,176,650
            Assigned 17,407,053 22,080,677
            Unassigned 14,745,685 15,072,535
Total General Fund 62,123,358$  59,662,828$  64,143,261$  64,763,748$    

All Other Governmental Funds
     Reserved 34,570,414$   25,004,384$   
     Unreserved, Reported In:
          Special Revenue Funds
          Capital Projects Funds
      Undesignated (1,841,336) (3,168,929)

      Non-spendable
      Restricted 21,453,867$   38,073,638$     
      Committed
      Assigned
      Unassigned (1,735,988)     (1,358,914)

Total All Other Governmental Funds 32,729,078$  21,835,455$  19,717,879$  36,714,724$    

Total Governmental Funds 94,852,436$  81,498,283$  83,861,140$  101,478,472$  

* GASB 54 implemented in fiscal year 10/11

Source: City of Dublin Administrative Services Department 

CITY OF DUBLIN
FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal Year

192

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 430

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

2,836,130$       2,465,678$       1,475,691$       729,883$          198,878$          7,391$              
500,000 500,000 500,000 579,000 1,762,000 1938000

36,020,171 34,124,267 38,531,179 38,928,755 36,213,714 43,740,492
23,912,896 29,259,333 35,875,264 39,078,695 50,126,807 57,267,840
14,047,932 13,228,484 21,324,360 29,867,693 34,114,263 39,158,943
77,317,129$     79,577,762$     97,706,494$     109,184,026$  122,415,662$  142,112,666$   

650
53,646,702 61,710,448 75,646,848 84,453,929 82,686,743 105,476,681

21,743

(1,098,607) (923,409) (930,131) 13,138,509 11,808,233 (1,998,366)

52,548,095$     60,787,039$     74,738,460$     97,592,438$    94,494,976$    103,478,965$   

129,865,224$   140,364,801$   172,444,954$   206,776,464$  216,910,638$  245,591,631$   

Fiscal Year

193

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 431

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2009 2010 2011 2012
Revenues
     Property taxes 23,306,302$      22,286,209$  22,067,074$  22,398,847$  
     Taxes other than property 15,436,466 15,783,099 17,210,947 19,761,015
     Intergovernmental 2,393,153 7,951,237 3,946,271 3,962,572
     Licenses and permits 1,623,029 2,260,364 2,752,748 4,501,736
     Charges for services 7,759,628 7,100,403 8,743,460 10,331,501
     Investment income 5,597,303 1,475,308 952,819 1,068,138
     Use of property 989,081 1,491,413 978,642 659,857
     Fines and forfeitures 318,737 312,778 303,595 284,993
     Developer fees 1,875,841 4,387,339 9,390,001 15,965,329
     Special assessments 826,717 868,348 904,739 944,455
     Other revenues 3,312,774 1,778,477 4,135,091 4,509,762

Total Revenues 63,439,031 65,694,975 71,385,387 84,388,205

Expenditures
     Current:
          General Government 6,047,115 8,957,744 7,935,407 7,001,850
          Police
          Fire
          Public works
          Park and community service
          Economic development
          Public safety 23,951,223 24,241,160 24,546,456 26,298,962
          Highways and streets 3,168,513 2,985,311 3,030,540 2,768,068
          Health and welfare 1,888,631 3,653,297 12,775,536 4,422,468
          Culture and leisure services 7,621,663 7,267,805 7,223,808 8,248,229
          Community development 7,364,651 5,300,211 5,609,603 7,362,732
     Capital outlay:
          General 4,221,956 742,754 599,965 6,641,674
          Health and welfare
          Community improvements 68,236 82,333 328,418 213,777
          Culture and leisure 996,669
          Parks 9,409,692 10,706,350 3,809,723
          Streets 13,742,919 13,762,167 4,513,072 2,959,555
      Debt service:
           Principal

Total Expenditures 77,484,599 77,699,132 70,372,528 66,913,984

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (14,045,568) (12,004,157) 1,012,859 17,474,221

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
     Proceeds from Debt
     Transfers In 26,232 25,777,410 9,163,360 10,898,009
     Transfers Out (26,232) (25,777,410) (9,163,360) (10,754,898)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 143,111

Net Change In Fund Balances ($14,045,568) ($12,004,157) $1,012,859 $17,617,332

Debt Service as a percentage 
   of non-capital expenditures 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Source: City of Dublin Administrative Services Department 

CITY OF DUBLIN
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal Year

194

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 432

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

23,742,336$  25,448,254$  29,437,951$  33,598,601$  36,964,784$  40,628,040$  
20,915,025 23,769,133 25,371,476 28,676,662 28,020,877 27,089,866

4,534,748 2,574,159 3,245,822 3,303,521 9,352,861 12,415,367
5,224,932 5,944,985 6,025,685 6,139,420 7,770,259 7,706,579

11,979,079 12,326,848 13,737,934 13,846,381 14,185,768 17,859,770
(185,467) 1,101,634 1,071,936 3,689,940 168,792 666,808
580,507 1,591,784 2,352,810 6,751,864 1,539,669 1,669,841
326,027 323,601 320,629 290,871 260,220 275,665

19,545,692 15,757,068 18,578,172 37,240,622 19,454,100 17,096,267
980,775 1,025,239 1,264,201 1,359,214 1,416,721 1,472,932

9,134,201 2,712,998 3,473,012 1,323,855 1,724,880 7,344,731

96,777,855 92,575,703 104,879,628 136,220,951 120,858,931 134,225,866

7,600,102 8,411,507 10,663,140 20,110,958 12,421,915 13,355,989
15,697,432 17,886,990 17,183,853 19,355,889
11,930,245 12,265,614 13,442,239 13,431,891

8,481,686 8,616,323 13,433,983 10,718,547
9,731,003 10,791,185 8,934,718 13,585,706

808,272 604,777 891,602 664,909
26,643,549 27,381,497

3,096,498 3,042,476
4,149,599 4,379,634
8,919,816 9,349,729
8,586,129 9,102,734 6,059,180 11,348,674 11,652,735 6,700,773

8,866,096 13,316,472 1,241,494 666,478 1,922,766 2,380,766

81,234 21,497 68,190 117,104 3,854 76,795
2,324,586 9,451,657 4,742,328 23,469,847 26,113,810

10,606,254
4,946,527 2,403,926 3,568,142 3,652,808 10,516,675 12,832,455

1,345,484

75,214,136 86,861,129 72,991,112 109,530,758 116,518,150 105,055,458

21,563,719 5,714,574 31,888,516 26,690,193 4,340,781 29,170,408

5,450,042
16,338,838 25,192,268 9,625,456 27,912,037 38,313,026 24,363,489
(9,515,805) (20,385,523) (9,455,561) (29,903,351) (37,969,675) (24,852,904)

6,823,033 4,806,745 169,895 (1,991,314) 5,793,393 (489,415)

$28,386,752 $10,521,319 $32,058,411 $24,698,879 $10,134,174 $28,680,993

0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.7%

Fiscal Year

195

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 433

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Fiscal City-Wide
Year Real Property Net Taxable Average

Ended Residential Commercial Industrial Unsecured/ Less: Assessed Total Direct
June 30 Property Property Property Other Property Exemptions Value Tax Rate

2009 6,203,330,781 1,241,301,664 198,082,746 1,032,449,487 (36,478,516) 8,638,686,162 0.2385%
2010 5,868,488,395 1,326,481,267 212,939,326 983,426,713 (49,873,361) 8,341,462,340 0.2386%
2011 5,967,980,343 1,285,382,821 209,573,141 843,686,092 (115,875,189) 8,190,747,208 0.2386%
2012 6,114,540,497 1,263,207,583 246,434,460 859,683,607 (120,225,737) 8,363,640,410 0.2386%
2013 6,378,930,469 1,330,147,064 245,481,519 948,525,966 (112,296,063) 8,790,788,955 0.2380%
2014 7,135,260,308 1,336,760,537 246,334,563 1,035,990,618 (172,869,596) 9,581,476,430 0.2373%
2015 8,431,051,125 1,391,578,857 274,410,187 1,138,571,747 (185,639,690) 11,049,972,226 0.2367%
2016 9,662,162,719 1,481,865,501 277,588,684 1,261,568,728 (152,705,687) 12,530,479,945 0.2365%
2017 10,563,641,612 1,572,348,815 276,986,936 1,412,347,150 (151,208,054) 13,674,116,459 0.2363%
2018 11,483,621,200 1,634,851,757 279,900,741 1,494,613,752 (91,891,868) 14,801,095,582 0.2363%

116,410,913 5,205,377

SourceHDL Coren & Cone and Alameda County Assessor Combined Tax Rolls, 2008/09 through 2017/18

Note: Actual property value data not available in California.

(1) California cities do not set their own direct tax rate. The state constitution establishes the rate at 1% and allocates
       a portion of that amount by an annual calculation, to all the taxing entities within a tax rate area.

(2) The City-wide Direct Tax Rate is an average, the actual tax rate for each property varies according to its tax rate
 area. This average tax rate is net of State Shifts of local property tax revenue to Education and net of Admin fees.

CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA

Assessed Value of Taxable Property
Last Ten Fiscal Years

196

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 434

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

197

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 435

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City Direct Rates
Castro Valley Chabot-Las Positas Dublin East Bay

Fiscal Basic Total Bay Area Unified Community Unified Regional
Year Levy Direct Rapid Transit School Bonds College Boards Bonds 1A & B Park

2008-09 1.00000 0.23850 0.00900 0.09690 0.01830 0.07320 0.01000

2009-10 1.00000 0.23860 0.00570 0.10230 0.01950 0.08160 0.01080

2010-11 1.00000 0.23860 0.00310 0.10040 0.02110 0.10110 0.00840

2011-12 1.00000 0.23860 0.00410 0.09890  0.02140 0.09700 0.00710

2012-13 1.00000 0.23796 0.00430 0.09240  0.02190 0.09930 0.00510

2013-14 1.00000 0.23730 0.00750 0.08510  0.02140 0.11470 0.00780

2014-15 1.00000 0.23669 0.00450 0.08520 0.02170 0.10770 0.00850

2015-16 1.00000 0.23650 0.00260 0.00000 0.01980 0.07670 0.00670

2016-17 1.00000 0.00236 0.00800 0.00000 0.02460 0.09720 0.00320

2017-18 1.00000 0.00236 0.00700 0.00000 0.04430 0.14520 0.00570

Source: HDL Coren & Cone and Alameda County Assessor Combined Tax Rolls, 2008/09 through 2017/18

(1) Overlapping rates are those of local and county governments that apply to property owners within the City. 
      Not all overlapping rates apply to all city property owners. These are voter approved levies in addition to
      the 1% State levy.
(2) The City's share of the 1% Levy is based on the City's share of the general fund tax rate area with the largest 
      net taxable value within the City.

Overlapping Rates (1)

CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA

Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates
Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Rate per $100 of assessed value)

198

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 436

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Notes, Capital
Year Lease and Total Total Percentage Debt 

Ended Mortgage Governmental Primary of Personal Per
June 30 Payable Activities Government Income Capita

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013 $6,755,824 $6,755,824 $6,755,824 $156
2014 6,128,806             6,128,806             6,128,806             N/A N/A
2015 5,749,811             5,749,811             5,749,811             N/A N/A
2016 5,346,352             5,346,352             5,346,352             N/A N/A
2017 10,367,285           10,367,285           10,367,285           N/A N/A
2018 8,565,801             8,565,801             8,565,801             N/A N/A

Governmental Activities

202

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 437

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Flood Zone 7 Livermore Valley County Wide Total City's Share 
State Water Joint Unified Go Bond Direct & Overlapping of 1% Levy per

Bonds School Board Tax Rate Proposition 13

0.01690 0.06160 0.00000 1.28590 0.2818

0.02030 0.06740 0.00000 1.30760 0.2818

0.02500 0.06350 0.00000 1.32260 0.2818

0.03070 0.06270 0.00000 1.32190 0.2818

0.02280 0.06070 0.00000 1.30650 0.2818

0.02570 0.05960 0.00000 1.32180 0.2818

0.02500 0.04970 0.00000 1.30230 0.2817

0.03430 0.00000 0.00000 1.14010 0.2818

0.03330 0.00000 0.00000 1.16630 0.2818

0.03320 0.00000 0.01120 1.24660 0.2818

199

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 438

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA

Principal Property Tax Payers
Current year and Nine Years Ago

2017-18 2008-09
Percentage Percentage

of Total City of Total City
Taxable Taxable Taxable Taxable
Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed

Taxpayer Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

Avalon Dublin Station II LP $ 165,763,129 1 1.14%

4800 Tassajara Road Apts Invest LLC 119,942,652 2 0.83%

Trust NOIP Dublin LP 115,908,450 3 0.80%

Dublin Station Owner LLC 113,915,401 4 0.78%

Ross Dress for Less LLC 103,919,142 5 0.71%

Essex Dublin Owner LP 103,497,529 6 0.71%

Toll California VIII LP 101,490,000 7 0.70%

Bere Island Properties I LLC Et. Al. 92,536,582 8 0.64%

Tishman Speyer Archstone-Smith 88,912,343 9 0.61%

BIT Holding Sixty-Three Inc 79,303,165 10 0.55%

Shops at Waterford LLC $ 128,109,805 1 1.48%

Dublin Corporate Center 121,000,000 2 1.40%

ISTAR CTL Dublin LLC 103,000,000 3 1.19%

SR Structrued Lot Options I LLC 100,980,000 4 1.17%

Chang S. Lin 96,231,053 5 1.11%

Bere Island Properties I 81,814,714 6 0.95%

Tishman Speyer Archstone-Smith 76,083,512 7 0.88%

BIT Holding Sixty-Three Inc 69,978,451 8 0.81%

Sorrento Dublin Ranch I LP 62,400,157 9 0.72%

Kaiser Foundation Hospitals 61,700,228 10 0.71%

     Subtotal $ 1,085,188,393 7.47% $ 901,297,920 10.42%

 

Source: HDL Coren & Cone and Alameda County Assessor Combined Tax Rolls

200

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 439

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA

Property Tax Levies and Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal
Year Current Percent Delinquent Total

Ended Total Tax of Levy Tax Tax Percent  
June 30 Tax Levy Collections Collected Collections Collections of Levy

2009 24,341,226 23,229,916 95.43% 778,896 24,008,812 98.63%

2010 23,503,738 22,162,010 94.29% 804,530 22,966,540 97.71%

2011 23,079,068 22,159,873 96.02% 533,248 22,693,121 98.33%

2012 23,566,230 22,761,802 96.59% 432,891 23,194,693 98.42%

2013 24,769,806 23,997,036 96.88% 527,988 24,525,024 99.01%

2014 27,001,559 26,200,578 97.03% 432,070 26,632,648 98.63%

2015 31,129,982 30,434,412 97.77% 412,643 30,847,054 99.09%

2016 35,304,627 34,734,843 98.39% 357,472 35,092,315 99.40%

2017 38,529,558 38,100,547 98.89% 335,955 38,436,502 99.76%

2018 41,708,007 41,594,518 99.73% 362,487 41,957,005 100.60%

Source: Alameda County Assessor Office 

201

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 440

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Total Property Tax Assessed Value of Taxable Property

Outstanding Percentage Estimated 

Debt Applicable to Share of

6/30/2018 City of Dublin (1 Overlapping Debt

OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT:

Alameda County 240,000,000$     5.461% 13,106,400$            

Bay Area Rapid Transit District 837,820,000       2.128% 17,828,810              

Chabot-Las Positas Community College District 693,595,000       12.645% 87,705,088              

Dublin Joint Unified School District 437,094,766       99.974% 436,981,121            

East Bay Regional Park District 187,800,000       3.261% 6,124,158                

City of Dublin -                          100.00% -                               

City of Dublin Community Facilities District No. 2015-1 I.A. No. 1 32,740,000         100.00% 32,740,000              

California Statewide Communities Development Authority 1915 Act Bonds 916,320              100.00% 916,320                   

TOTAL DIRECT & OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT 595,401,897$          

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING OTHER DEBT

Alameda County General Fund Obligations 905,132,500       5.461% 49,429,286              

Alameda County Pension Obligations 8,937,324           5.461% 488,067                   

Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District Certificates of Participation 13,795,000         0.200% 27,590                     

49,944,943$            

TOTAL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND DEBT 645,346,840$          

COMBINED TOTAL DEBT (2)
645,346,840$          

RATIOS TO ASSESSED VALUATION:

Direct Debt…………………………………………………………...0.00%

Total Direct and Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt………4.02%

Combined Total Debt……………………………………..………...4.36%

Source:  California Municipal Statistics, Inc.

Notes:
(1)   The percentage of overlapping debt applicable to the City is estimated using taxable assessed property value.  Applicable percentages were 

       estimated by determining the portion of the overlapping district's assessed value that is within the boundaries of the city divided by the district's

       total taxable assessed value.
(2)   Excludes tax and revenue anticipation notes, enterprise revenue and mortgage revenue and non-bonded capital lease obligations.

CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA
Direct and Overlapping Debt

June 30, 2018

203

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 441

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-2012

Debt limit 325,318,675$  314,675,089$  311,498,340$  318,144,981$  

Total net debt applicable to limit -                       -                       -                       -                       

Legal debt margin 325,318,675$ 314,675,089$ 311,498,340$ 318,144,981$ 

Total net debt applicable to the limit
  as a percentage of debt limit 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

(1)  Source:  City of Dublin Administrative Services Department

(3) The government code provision was enacted when assessed valuation was based upon 25% of market 
value. Effective with the 1981-82 fiscal year, each parcel in now assessed at 100% of market value (as of the 
most recent change in ownership parcel) in ownership for that parcel.) The computations shown above
reflect a conversion of assessed valuation data for each fiscal year from the current full valuation perspective 
to the 25% level that was in effect at the time that the legal debt margin was enacted by the State of California 
for local governments located within the state.

Fiscal Year

(2)  The legal debt margin for the City of Dublin, California, is calculated using a debt limit of 15 percent of the 
assessed value of property within the City limits. (Gov Code of State of California)

CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA

Legal Debt Margin Information
Last Ten Fiscal Years

204

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 442

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2017-18

Assessed value (net) - June 30, 2018 (1) $ 14,801,095,582

Debt limit:  15% of assessed value 2,220,164,337

Less total bonded debt, general obligation -                       

Legal debt margin (2) $ 2,220,164,337

Conversion Percentage for Calculation of Debt Limit (3) 25%

$ 555,041,084

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

333,865,688$  361,622,926$  416,774,836$  469,892,998$  512,779,367$  555,041,084$  

-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

333,865,688$  361,622,926$  416,774,836$  469,892,998$ 512,779,367$ 555,041,084$  

0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Fiscal Year

205

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 443

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Per Capita Rank in Size 
Fiscal City Personal Personal Unemployment of
Year Population (1) Income, in thousands (1) Income  (1)       Rate (2) California Cities (1)

2008 46,869 1,904,687 43,723 3.7% 180

2009 47,953 2,034,463    42,426         6.5% 179

2010 45,672 1,700,094    34,823         6.9% 179

2011 46,785 1,677,944    35,865         6.3% 182

2012 49,890 1,819,688    36,474         4.2% 175

2013 53,462 2,321,908    43,431         3.5% 181

2014 54,695 2,333,289    42,660         3.6% 185

2015 57,349 2,562,296    44,679         2.9% 156

2016 59,686 2,836,816    47,529         2.7% 153

2017 60,939 3,101,125    50,889         2.8% 153

Sources: (1) US Census Buraeu, most recent estimates July 1, 2017
(2) State of California, Employment Development Department March 2017 Benchmark

CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA

Demographic  And Economic Statistics
Last Ten Calendar Years

(Dollars in Thousands)

206

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 444

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Fiscal Year Total Number of Commercial Residential
 Ended Building Permits Construction Value Construction Value
30-Jun Issued (1) (1) (1) Bank Deposits (2)

2009 1101 23,968,805                  63,242,418                  1,094,869,000             

2010 1345 17,407,699                124,930,163              1,051,570,000            

2011 1471 40,005,124                  165,324,045                1,281,183,000             

2012 2110 28,775,536                  344,927,791                N/A

2013 2425 21,139,964                  386,984,935                N/A

2014 2443 57,812,261                  322,511,777                N/A

2015 2068 60,793,275                  295,988,465                N/A

2016 2812 102,148,173 323,747,409                N/A

2017 2806 177,500,725 308,916,668                N/A

2018 2803 54,086,352 383,817,023                N/A

Source: 1) City of Dublin Community Development Department
2) Findley Reports, Inc Bank Deposits represents the amount of cash deposits held by financial 
institutions within the city annually, Jan thru Dec.

Property Value, Construction, and Bank Deposits
Last Ten Fiscal Years

CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA

207

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 445

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

Estimated Estimated
Number of Number of

Employer Employees Rank Employees Rank

United States Government
& Federal Correction Institute 2,100 1 2,100 1

Dublin Unified School District 975 2 1,007 2

Ross Stores Headquarters 800 4 950 3

County of Alameda 860 3 870 4

Zeiss Meditec 481 5 465 5

City of Dublin 377 7 433 6

Callidus Cloud 400 6 410 7

TriNet N/A 343 8

Target Stores 350 8 325 9

De Silva Gates Construction 300 9 300 10

Safeway 280 10 - -

     Subtotal 6,923 7,203

Total City Day Population

Source: City of Dublin Economic Development Division

20182017

CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA

Principal Employers
Current Year and Prior Year

208

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 446

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



This page intentionally left blank

209

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 447

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Function
General government

City Manager 6.50 6.00 6.00 6.50 6.50
Administrative Services 12.00 11.50 11.50 11.50 11.50
Other Services 3.52 3.18 3.32 3.57 3.09

Public Safety
Police 61.00 61.00 59.00 59.00 59.00
Fire 40.78 39.77 39.74 39.64 39.64
Disaster Preparedness 0.50 0.50 0.46 0.46 0.59

Transportation
Public Works 8.50 6.45 5.45 5.45 5.45
Streets Maintenance 9.93 9.18 9.85 9.85 10.08

Health and welfare
Environmental 2.50 2.50 3.00 2.59

Housing 2.90 3.20 3.00 2.25 2.25
Waste Management 1.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 1.08

Culture and leisure services
Parks Community Services 16.00 16.60 15.60 15.55 16.25
Park Maintenance 9.92 9.65 8.94 9.36 10.10
Parks/ Facilities Management 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.25 2.25
Library Services 0.43 0.39 0.42 0.42 0.37
Heritage & Cultural Arts 2.49 2.47 3.59 3.26 3.70

Community Development
Planning & Building 27.10 19.05 19.25 20.95 22.45
Economic Development 1.50 1.50 1.50 2.50 2.50
Engineering 12.35 9.00 8.00 9.00 9.00

Total 218.75 204.27 200.45 204.84 208.39

Source:  City of Dublin Administrative Services Department

Note: Include Full Time, Part Time, Temporary, and Contract Employees

Full-Time Equivalent City and Contract Government Employees by Function

CITY OF DUBLIN CALIFORNIA

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Adopted for Fiscal Year Ended June 30

210

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 448

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

6.50 6.34 6.34 7.34 7.34
11.75 11.75 11.75 11.75 11.75

3.45 3.95 4.20 4.93 4.54

60.00 59.00 61.00 61.00 61.00
39.64 39.64 39.91 39.99 39.99

0.59 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33

5.48 5.88 5.45 6.45 6.45
10.32 11.60 14.10 16.25 17.31

2.59 1.50 1.50 3.00 3.00

2.50 2.50 2.56 1.75 1.75
1.08 1.83 1.83 0.33 0.33

15.50 16.81 16.10 17.80 17.80
11.65 13.07 15.55 15.68 17.45

3.45 4.30 4.96 4.74 3.92
0.37 0.38 0.38 0.42 0.42
5.92 4.40 3.50 4.30 4.30

23.45 24.45 24.64 26.39 25.91
3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50
9.00 8.00 8.00 10.75 10.75

216.74 219.23 225.60 236.70 237.84

Adopted for Fiscal Year Ended June 30

211

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 449

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Function/Program 2009 2010 2011 2012

Police:
Calls for Service 38,983        38,125        39,474        38,580        
Citations Issued 7,086          10,101        9,023          9,229          
Arrests 1,620          1,556          1,624          1,542          

Fire:
Emergency calls 1,969          1,999          2,244          2,323          
Inspections 1,952          3,576          2,833          3,308          
Building Plan Reviews and Consultations 511             474             498             1,319          

Public Works:
Bike Path Maintenance (hours) 775             697             603             625             
Street Sign Maintenance (number of signs) 74               325             258             313             
Curb Painting (linear feet) 2,395          6,607          5,464          6,523          
Replace Street Asphalt (square feet) 29,000        30,000        57,000        26,000        
Street Sweeping (curb miles) 6,341          5,083          5,294          5,519          

Parks and Community Services:
Museum Visitors 2,040          3,530          3,680          4,415          
Afterschool Recreation (participants/day) 167             176             240             27               
Preschool Classes Participants 402             690             628             610             
Youth Basketball League Participants 591             772             710             729             
Senior Center Average Daily Attendance 190             198             206             217             

Community Development:
Planning Applications 64               62               66               62               
Building Permits 1,101          1,345          1,471          2,110          
Building Inspections 12,302        8,933          11,308        15,961        

Source: City of Dublin

CITY OF DUBLIN CALIFORNIA

Operating Indicators by Function/Program

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year

212

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 450

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

34,966        34,567        32,496        35,005        38,688        38,568        
8,699          8,530          7,175          7,087          7,164          7,051          
1,419          1,934          1,091          1,225          1,315          1,653          

2,688          2,859          2,667          2,734          2,848          3,247          
3,538          3,664          3,948          4,304          4,141          4,034          
1,492          1,561          1,072          1,633          1,654          1,195          

668             749             416             799             695             742             
205             426             368             510             359             1,838          

6,400          5,808          32,512        2,922          3,846          3,216          
37,000        18,112        15,800        31,000        73,436        75,087        

5,901          5,931          5,953          5,993          6,026          8,033          

8,612          8,256          5,272          3,591          3,525          3,422          
228             322             364             363             367             405             
571             430             327             335             158             131             
812             911             994             1,074          1,156          1,035          
211             220             233             236             274             279             

77               59               56               52               58               48               
2,425          2,443          2,068          2,812          2,806          2,803          

26,045        22,345        20,197        20,784        25,186        25,574        

Fiscal Year

213

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 451

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Function/Program
Public safety:

Police stations 1                1                1                1                1                
Fire stations 3                3                3                3                3                

Public works:
Street Lights 4,479         4,526         3,780         4,281         4,354         
Miles of Streets 103            105            113            115            116            
Miles of curbs 218            222            223            237            242            
Traffic Signals 81              85              85              89              91              
City Street Trees 6,499       7,054       7,418       7,268         7,408       
City Landscape (acres) 45              57              57              65              67              

Parks and recreation:
Number of Community Facilities 7                7                7                7                7                
Number of City Parks 16              16              18              18              18              
Acres of City Parks 201            201            209            209            209            
Acres of Open Space 125            125            125            125            125            

Source: City of Dublin
*The Street Lights count for FY2011 is the same as reported in FY2010. Comparable data is not 
available at the time the report is prepared.

CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA

Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year

214

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 452

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

1                1                1                1                1                
3                3                3                3                3                

4,513         4,520         4,530         4,540         4,631         
120            120            120            127            128            
248            248            248            254            256            

93              93              94              95              97              
7,477         7,521         8,556         8,526       8,776       

69              70              74              74              103            

7                6                6                7                7                
20              20              20              18              20              

220            220            220            277            282            
125            125            125            125            125            

Fiscal Year

215

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 453

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Business Name Business Category
Alcosta Shell Service Stations
Bed Bath & Beyond Home Furnishings
Best Buy Electronics/Appliances Stores
Carl Zeiss Ophthalmic Systems Health/Medical
Dick's Sporting Goods Sporting Goods/Bike Store
Dublin Auto Group Motor Vehicle Dealer
Dublin Honda Motor Vehicle Dealer
Dublin Hyundai Motor Vehicle Dealer
Dublin Mazda Motor Vehicle Dealer
Dublin Nissan Motor Vehicle Dealer
Dublin Toyota Motor Vehicle Dealer
Dublin Volkswagen Motor Vehicle Dealer
Fallon Gateway Chevron Service Station
Graybar Electric Electrical Equipment
Lowes Lumber/Building Materials
Nordstrom Rack Family Apparel
Pace Supply Plumbing/Electrical Supplies
Safeway Grocery/Liquor Store
Safeway Gas Service Stations
Shell Service Dublin Service Station
Target Discount Department Store
Tesla Motors Motor Vehicle Dealer
WHCI Plumbing Supply Plumbing/Electrical Supplies
Whole Foods Market Grocery/Liquor Store
Winn Kia Motor Vehicle Dealer

Source: City of Dublin Economic Development Division

CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA

Top 25 Sales Tax Producers
2017-18

216

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 454

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 General
Date of Incorporation February 1, 1982
Form of Government Council/ Manager
Total Population  (Estimated per the US Census Bureau, July 1, 2017) 60,939
Number of Registered Voters 27,277
Employees, City, and Contract (Full Time Equivalent) 237.84
Area (Square Miles) 14.91

Parks and Recreation
Parks 20                         
Acres in Parks 282                       
Acres in Open Space 125                       

Public Education
Elementary Schools 7
Middle Schools 2
High School 1
Continuation High School 1
Education Center 1
School Enrollment 11,294

Police Protection
Number of Stations 1
Police Personnel (Full Time Equivalent) 61

Fire Protection
Number of Stations 3
Fire Personnel (Full Time Equivalent) 39.99

Community Facilities
Dublin Civic Center 1
Dublin Senior Center 1
Dublin Heritage Center 1
Dublin Public Library 1
Shannon Community Center 1
Emerald Glen Activity Center 1
The Wave (Aquatics Facility) 1

Source: City of Dublin

CITY OF DUBLIN, CALIFORNIA

Miscellaneous Statistical Data
June 30, 2018

217

4.10.b

Packet Pg. 455

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 C

A
F

R
 2

01
8 

 (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

 

 

 
 

City of 
Dublin 

 

Dublin, California 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Memorandum on Internal Control 
And Required Communications 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 

4.10.c

Packet Pg. 456

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 M

O
IC

 2
01

8 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

 

 

 

 

4.10.c

Packet Pg. 457

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 M

O
IC

 2
01

8 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Memorandum on Internal Control and Required Communications 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 

Table of Contents 
 

 
 

 

Page 
 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Actual Audit of Financial 
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ....................................... 1 
 
Schedule of Material Weaknesses and Significant Deficiencies ............................................................ 3 
 
Schedule of Other Matters .............................................................................................................................. 4 
 
Required Communications ............................................................................................................................. 5 
 

 

 

 

 

4.10.c

Packet Pg. 458

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 M

O
IC

 2
01

8 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 
 
 
 
 

 

4.10.c

Packet Pg. 459

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 M

O
IC

 2
01

8 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN  
AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH  

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members  
  of the City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Dublin, 
California (City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements and have issued our report 
thereon dated December 11, 2018. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  

1

4.10.c

Packet Pg. 460

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 M

O
IC

 2
01

8 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
of the City of Dublin 

Dublin, California 
Page 2 
 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express 
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that 
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
Badawi and Associates 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018 

 

2

4.10.c

Packet Pg. 461

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 M

O
IC

 2
01

8 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



CITY OF DUBLIN 
MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

 
SCHEDULE OF MATERIAL WEAKNESSES AND SIGNFICANT DEFICIENCES 

 

 

 
During our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material 
weaknesses. 
 
 
 
 

3

4.10.c

Packet Pg. 462

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 M

O
IC

 2
01

8 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



CITY OF DUBLIN 
MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

 
SCHEDULE OF OTHER MATTERS 

 

 

 
NEW GASB PRONOUNCEMENTS OR PRONOUNCEMENTS NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 
The following comment represents new pronouncements taking effect in the next two years. We 
have cited them here to keep you abreast of developments: 
 
Effective in fiscal year 18-19 
 
GASB Statement No. 83 – Certain Asset Retirement Obligations 
 

This Statement addresses accounting and financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations 
(AROs). An ARO is a legally enforceable liability associated with the retirement of a tangible capital 
asset. A government that has legal obligations to perform future asset retirement activities related to its 
tangible capital assets should recognize a liability based on the guidance in this Statement. 
 
GASB Statement No. 88 – Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, Including Direct Borrowings and Direct 
Placements 
 

The primary objective of this Statement is to improve the information that is disclosed in notes to 
government financial statements related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct placements. It 
also clarifies which liabilities governments should include when disclosing information related to debt. 
 
 
Effective in fiscal year 19-20 
 
GASB Statement No. 84 – Fiduciary Activities 
 

The objective of this Statement is to improve guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary 
activities for accounting and financial reporting purposes and how those activities should be reported.  
This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments.  
 
The focus of the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets of the 
fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria 
are included to identify fiduciary component units and postemployment benefit arrangements that are 
fiduciary activities. 
 
GASB Statement No. 90 – Majority Equity Interest – an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14 and No. 61 
 

The primary objectives of this Statement are to improve the consistency and comparability of reporting 
a government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization and to improve the relevance 
of financial statement information for certain component units. It defines a majority equity interest and 
specifies that a majority equity interest in a legally separate organization should be reported as an 
investment if a government’s holding of the equity interest meets the definition of an investment.  
 
 

4

4.10.c

Packet Pg. 463

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 M

O
IC

 2
01

8 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

December 11, 2018 

 

To The Honorable Mayor and Members  
   of the City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Dublin, California (City) for the year ended June 
30, 2018. Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our 
responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, as 
well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit.  

Our Responsibilities under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards and Government Auditing 
Standards 

As stated in our engagement letter dated March 19, 2018, our responsibility, as described by 
professional standards, is to express opinions about whether the financial statements prepared by 
management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or 
management of your responsibilities. 

As part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the City. Such considerations were solely for 
the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such 
internal control. 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements were free of material 
misstatement, we also performed tests of the City’s compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grants. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 
was not an objective of our audit. 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements; therefore, our audit involves judgment about the number of transactions to be 
examined and the areas to be tested. 

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of the city and its environment, including internal 
control, sufficient to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and to design 
the nature, timing, and extent of further audit procedures. Material misstatements may result from (1) 
errors, (2) fraudulent financial reporting, (3) misappropriation of assets, or (4) violations of laws or 
governmental regulations that are attributable to the entity or to acts by management or employees 
acting on behalf of the entity. 

We performed the audit according to the timing previously communicated to you on the engagement 
letter. 

 

5

4.10.c

Packet Pg. 464

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 M

O
IC

 2
01

8 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



To The Honorable Mayor and Members  
   of the City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 2 
 

 

Significant Audit Findings 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements described in 
Note 1 to the financial statements, the City changed accounting policies related to financial reporting by 
adopting the following new pronouncements: 

 GASB No. 75, Account and Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Plans Other than Pensions 

 GASB No. 81, Irrevocable Split – Interest Agreements 

 GASB No. 85, Omnibus 2017 

 GASB No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues 

We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions 
about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance 
to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the City’s financial statements 
were: 

 Depreciable lives and estimated residual value of property and equipment 
 Investments valuations 
 Allowance for uncollectible accounts 
 Accumulated depreciation 
 Pension plans (actuarial assumptions) 
 Net Other Post-employment Benefits (OPEB) plan (actuarial assumptions) 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosure(s) affecting the financial statements were: 

 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 Cash and Investments 
 Long Term Debt 
 Capital Assets 
 Employee Retirement Plans 
 Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) Plan 
 Commitments and Contingencies 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

  

6

4.10.c

Packet Pg. 465

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 M

O
IC

 2
01

8 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



To The Honorable Mayor and Members  
   of the City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 3 
 

 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing 
our audit. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during 
the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. Management has recorded all proposed adjustments, except adjustments relating to the 
accounting for payroll expense cutoff that their effects are immaterial, both individually and in the 
aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during 
the course of our audit. 

Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letters dated December 11, 2018. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation 
involves application of an accounting principle to the City’s financial statements or a determination of 
the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards 
require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant 
facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City’s auditors. However, 
these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses 
were not a condition to our retention. 

Other Matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI) that 
supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management 
regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency 
with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 

  

7

4.10.c

Packet Pg. 466

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 M

O
IC

 2
01

8 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



To The Honorable Mayor and Members  
   of the City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 4 
 

 

We were engaged to report on the combining and individual fund financial statements, and budgetary 
comparison schedules, which accompany the financial statements but are not RSI. With respect to this 
supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, 
content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it 
has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to 
our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to 
the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves.   

We were not engaged to report on the introductory section and statistical section, which accompany 
the financial statements but are not RSI. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on it. 

Restriction on Use 

This information is intended solely for the use of City Council and management of City and is not 
intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 

Very truly yours, 

 

Badawi & Associates, 
Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018 

8

4.10.c

Packet Pg. 467

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 M

O
IC

 2
01

8 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

 

 
 
 
 

City of Dublin 
 

Measure B Funds 
 

Dublin, California 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Financial Statements and 
Independent Auditor’s Reports 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 

 
 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 468

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

 

 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 469

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure B Funds 
Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
Table of Contents 
 

 

 

  Page 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report ................................................................................................................................. 1 
 
Financial Statements: 
 
 Balance Sheets ........................................................................................................................................................ 5 
 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
  Changes in Fund Balances ............................................................................................................................. 6 
 
 Notes to Financial Statements ............................................................................................................................. 7 
 
Supplementary Information: 

 
Budgets and Budgetary Accounting ................................................................................................................... 14 
 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual: 

Measure B – ACTC Streets and Roads Special Revenue Fund ................................................................. 15 
 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual: 

Measure B – ACTC Bikes and Pedestrians Special Revenue Fund .......................................................... 16 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other 
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with  

Government Auditing Standards ........................................................................................................................ 17 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Measure B Compliance ............................................................................... .19 

 
 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 470

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



4.10.d

Packet Pg. 471

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 

 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Measure B Funds (Measure B Funds) of 
the City of Dublin, California (City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018 and the related notes to 
the financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 472

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

2 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 2 
 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Measure B Funds of the City as of June 30, 2018, and the changes in financial 
position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Measure B Funds and do not purport 
to, and do not, present fairly the financial positions of the City as of June 30, 2018, and the changes in 
its financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Measure B Funds’ financial statements. The budgetary comparison 
information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial 
statements. 
 
The budgetary comparison information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to 
the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the budgetary 
comparison information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as 
a whole. 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 473

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

3 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 3 
 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 11, 
2018, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering City’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
Badawi & Associates 
Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 474

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

4 

This page intentionally left blank 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 475

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin
Alameda County Transportation Commission- Measure B Funds
Balance Sheets

ACTC ACTC

Streets and Bikes and 

Roads Pedestrians Total

ASSETS:

Cash and investments 419,453$                         535,454$                      954,907$                      

Direct local distribution proram receivables 88,108                          30,880                          118,988                        

       Total assets 507,561$                      566,334$                      1,073,895$                   

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities -$                              456$                             456$                             

      Total liabilities -                                456                               456                               

Fund Balances:

Restricted 507,561                        565,878                        1,073,439                     

   Total fund balances 507,561                        565,878                        1,073,439                     

507,561$                      566,334$                      1,073,895$                   

June 30, 2018

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 

      Total liabilities and fund balances

5

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 476

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin
Alameda County Transportation Commission- Measure B Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

ACTC ACTC

Streets and Bikes and 

Roads Pedestrians Total

REVENUES:

Measure B revenue 558,327$                         195,681$                         754,008$                      

Interest Income 8,775                               6,794                               15,569                          

Total revenues 567,102                        202,475                        769,577                        

EXPENDITURES:

Bikes and Pedestrians -                                    22,941                          22,941                          

Streets and Roads 515,460                        -                                    515,460                        

Total expenditures 515,460                        22,941                          538,401                        

 

EXPENDITURES 51,642                          179,534                        231,176                        

FUND BALANCES:

Beginning of year 455,919                        386,344                        842,263                        

End of year 507,561$                      565,878$                      1,073,439$                   

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

For the year ended June 30, 2018

REVENUES OVER (UNDER)

6

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 477

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure B Funds 
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

7 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Reporting Entity  
 

All transactions of the Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure B Funds (Measure B 
Funds) of the City of Dublin, California (City), are included as a separate special revenue fund in the 
basic financial statements of the City.  Measure B Funds are used to account for the City’s share of 
revenues earned and expenditures incurred under the City’s local streets and roads, and bike and 
pedestrian programs.  The accompanying financial statements are for Measure B Funds only and are 
not intended to fairly present the financial position or results of operations of the City. 

 
B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 
 

The accompanying financial statements are prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
Revenues are generally recorded when measurable and available, and expenditures are recorded when 
the related liabilities are incurred. 
 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement 
focus. All governmental funds are accounted for using a current financial resources measurement focus, 
wherein only current assets and current liabilities generally are included on the balance sheet. 
Operating statements of governmental funds present increases (revenues and other financing sources) 
and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net current assets. 

 
C. Fund Accounting 
 

The operations of the Measure B Funds are accounted for in separate special revenue funds. The funds 
are separate accounting entities with a set of self-balancing accounts which comprise their assets, 
liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenses. 

 
D.  Use of Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 478

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure B Funds 
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

8 

2. MEASURE B FUNDS 
 
Under Measure B, approved by the voters of Alameda County in 1986 (ACTA Old Measure B) and in 2000, 
(ACTC Measure B), the City receives a portion of the proceeds of an additional one-half cent sales tax to be 
used for transportation-related expenditures.  This measure was adopted with the intention that the funds 
generated by the additional sales tax will not fund expenditures previously paid for by property taxes but, 
rather, would be used for additional projects and programs. 
 
Major projects funded by Measure B were as follows: 
 

Streets and Roads Program – To improve, repair, and overlay city streets. 
 

Bike and Pedestrian Program – To provide sidewalk and American Disability Act (ADA) improvements 
and to implement the bikeway network. 
 

 
3. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Measure B funds are pooled with the City’s cash and investments in order to generate optimum interest income.   
 
The City pools its available cash for investment purposes.  The City’s cash and cash equivalents are 
considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with original maturity of 
three months or less from date of acquisition.  Cash and cash equivalents are combined with investments 
and displayed as Cash and Investments.  
 
Measure B Funds had the following cash and investments at June 30, 2018: 

Cash  and Investments $              954,907 

A. Investments  
 

Under the provisions of the City’s investment policy, and in accordance with California Government Code, 
the following investments are authorized: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 479

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure B Funds 
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

9 

3. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 
 
A.  Investments, Continued 

 
 
 

Authorized Investment Type
Maximum 
Maturity

Minimum Credit 
Quality

Maximum 
Percentage of 

Portfolio

Maximum 
Investment In 

One Issuer

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 years A-1 30% 20%
Bankers' Acceptance 180 days A-1 40% 20% of Portfolio
U.S. Treasury Bills and Notes 5 years N/A No Limit No Limit
U.S. Government Agency Securities 5 years N/A 25% for callable 35%
California Asset Management Program N/A N/A No Limit No Limit
Commercial Paper 270 days A-1 25% 20% of Portfolio
Time Certificates of Deposit 1 year N/A 10% No Limit
State Local Agency Investment Fund N/A N/A No Limit No Limit
Asset-Backed Securities N/A AA 20% 5%
Medium_Term Notes 5 years A 30% 5%
Money Market Funds N/A AAA 20% No Limit
Municipal Securities 5 years A No Limit 5%
Supranationals 5 years AA 30% 10%

 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 480

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure B Funds 
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

10 

3. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 
 

A. Investments, Continued 
 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and 
for External Investment Pools, investments were stated at fair value using the aggregate method in all 
funds and component units. The City’s investments are carried at fair market value as required by 
generally accepted accounting principles. The City accounts for all changes in fair value that occurred 
during the year and are reflected in the fund balance for the fiscal year. These investment value changes 
are unrealized since the City’s policy is to generally hold and buy investments until maturity dates. 
  

B. Risk Disclosures 
 

Interest Risk – Interest rate risk is the fluctuation in fair value of investments due to changes in interest 
rates. The City’s exposure to losses caused by rising interest rates is minimized by limiting the average 
maturity of the City’s investment not to exceed five years.   
 

Credit Risk – Credit risk is the risk of loss of value of a security or investment due to downgrade of its 
rating due to a change in the ability of the issuer to fulfill its debt obligation. With the exception of U.S. 
Treasury securities and authorized pools, no more than 50% of the City’s total investment portfolio will 
be invested in a single security type or with a single financial institution to reduce the City’s exposure to 
credit risks. 
 

Custodial Credit Risk – The custodial credit risk for an investment is the risk that in the event of the failure of 
the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that 
are in the possession of an outside party.  None of the City’s investments were subject to custodial credit 
risk. 
 

C. Local Agency Investment Fund 
 

The City is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by 
California Government Code Section 16429 under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of 
California.  The City’s investments with LAIF at June 30, 2018, include a portion of the pool funds 
invested in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities. These investments include the following: 
 
Structured Notes – are debt securities (other than asset-backed securities) whose cash flow 
characteristics (coupon rate, redemption amount, or stated maturity) depend upon one or more 
indices and/or have embedded forwards or options. 
 
Asset-Backed Securities – the bulk of which are mortgage-backed securities, entitle their purchasers 
to receive a share of the cash flows from a pool of assets such as principal and interest repayments 
from a pool of mortgages (such as Collateralized Mortgage Obligations) or credit card receivables. 
 
As of June 30, 2018, the City invested in LAIF, which had invested 2.67% of the pool investment 
funds in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities as compared to 2.89% in the previous year. 
The LAIF fair value factor of 0.998126869 was used to calculate the fair value of the investments in 
LAIF. 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 481

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure B Funds 
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

11 

 
4. DIRECT LOCAL DISTRIBUTION PROGRAM RECEIVABLES 
 

The receivables represent the Measure B sales tax revenues for the fiscal year received from the 
Alameda County Transportation Commission after June 30, 2018.  

 
 
5. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
The City participates in several grant programs.  These programs are subject to further examination by 
the grantors and the amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies 
cannot be determined at this time.  The City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
 

 
 
 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 482

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

12 

This page intentionally left blank

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 483

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

13 

 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 484

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure B Funds 
Supplementary Information 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

14 

1.    BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING 
 

 The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the basic financial 
statements: 
 
 Prior to June 30 the City Manager submits to the City Council a proposed operating budget for 

the fiscal year commencing the following July 1. The operating budget includes proposed 
expenditures and the means of financing them. 
 

 The public is given an opportunity to comment on the budget at a noticed City Council meeting. 
Prior to July 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution. 

 
 During the fiscal year, the City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between 

line items, provided that the transfer is within the same fund, regardless of the specific 
department activity. This include the authority to transfer from the General Fund budgeted 
contingency amounts that are approved by the City Council during the budget adoption. The 
City Manager is authorized to increase revenue and expenditure budget for various 
departmental functions, when the net budget impact is zero. 
 

 The City Manager is authorized to increase the appropriations for the following fiscal year in an 
amount not to exceed the amount of funds encumbered or designated by the City Manager as 
needed for expenses that did not occur prior to the year-end, but are expected to be expended in 
the next year consistent with the original purpose. 

 
 As part of the annual Budget adoption the City Council authorizes the carry-over unexpended 

capital project appropriations, for those projects where work and expenditures will continue in 
the subsequent year. 
 

 Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year for 
the general fund, special revenue funds and capital projects funds. 
 

 Budgets for the general, special revenue and capital projects funds are adopted on a basis 
consistent with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. 

 
 

 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 485

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin
Supplementary Information, Continued
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Measure B - ACTC Streets and Roads
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Measure B revenue 442,000$            442,000$            558,327$            116,327$            

Interest Income -                          -                      8,775                  8,775                  

Total revenues 442,000              442,000              567,102              125,102              

EXPENDITURES:

Streets and Parks 445,000              863,770      515,460              348,310              

Total expenditures 445,000              863,770              515,460              348,310              

Net change in fund balance (3,000)$               (421,770)$           51,642                473,412$            

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 455,919              

End of year 507,561$            

Budgeted Amounts

15

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 486

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin
Supplementary Information, Continued
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Measure B - ACTC Bikes and Pedestrians
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Measure B revenue 170,000$            170,000$            195,681$            25,681$              

Interest Income -                          -                          6,794                  6,794                  

Total revenues 170,000              170,000              202,475              32,475                

EXPENDITURES:

Bikes and Pedestrians 285,391              536,071              22,941                513,130              

Total expenditures 285,391              536,071              22,941                513,130              

Net change in fund balance (115,391)$           (366,071)$           179,534              545,605$            

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 386,344              

End of year 565,878$            

Budgeted Amounts

16

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 487

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN  
AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH  

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Measure B 
Funds (Measure B Funds) of the City of Dublin, California (City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated 
December 11, 2018. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 488

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

18 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 2 
 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Measure B Funds’ financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express 
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that 
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
Badawi & Associates 
Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 489

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 

 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON MEASURE B COMPLIANCE 

 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
 

Compliance  
 

We have audited the City of Dublin’s (City) compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
described in the agreement between the City and Alameda County Transportation Commission applicable 
to the City’s Measure B 2000 Funds (Measure B Funds) for the year ended June 30, 2018.  
 

Management’s Responsibility 
 

Compliance with the requirements referred to above is the responsibility of the City’s management. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the City’s compliance based on our audit.  
 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Audit Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the agreement between the City and Alameda County 
Transportation Commission. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above 
that could have a material effect on the Measure B Funds occurred. An audit also includes examining, on a 
test basis, evidence about the City’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.  We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.  Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance 
with those requirements. 
 

Opinion 
 

In our opinion the City complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above 
that are applicable to the Measure B Funds for the year ended June 30, 2018.  

Other Matter 
 

Under Measure B, approved by the voters of Alameda County in 2000, the City has received under 
Alameda County Transportation Improvement Authority Measure B a total of 12 months of revenue from 
July 2017 through June 2018. The Local Street and Roads program has received $558,327 and the Bike and 
Pedestrian program has received $195,681. This financial statement reflects twelve months of revenue for 
the Paratransit, Local Streets and Roads, and the Bike and Pedestrian programs. 
 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 490

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 2 

20 

 
 

Internal Control Over Compliance 
 

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our audit, we 
considered the City’s internal control over compliance to determine the auditing procedures for the purpose 
of expressing our opinion on compliance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control over compliance. 
 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, noncompliance on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a compliance requirement will not be prevented, or detected 
and corrected, on a timely basis. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the agreement between the City and 
Alameda County Transportation Commission. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
Badawi & Associates 
Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018 

4.10.d

Packet Pg. 491

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

 

 
 
 
 

City of Dublin 
 

 

Measure F Alameda 
County Vehicle 

Registration Fee Fund 
 

Dublin, California 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Financial Statements and 
Independent Auditor’s Reports 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2018 

 
 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 492

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

 

 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 493

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee Fund 
Financial Statements  
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
Table of Contents 
 

 

 

  Page 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report ................................................................................................................................. 1 
 
Financial Statements: 
 
 Balance Sheet .......................................................................................................................................................... 3 
 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
  Changes in Fund Balance .............................................................................................................................. 4 
 
 Notes to Financial Statements ............................................................................................................................. 5 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other 
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with  
 Government Auditing Standards ....................................................................................................................... 11 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Measure F Compliance ................................................................................ 13 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 494

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



4.10.e

Packet Pg. 495

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 

 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
 

Report on the Financial Statements 

 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Measure F Alameda County Vehicle 
Registration Fee Fund (VRF Fund) of the City of Dublin, California (City), as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2018 and the related notes to the financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 496

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

2 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 2 
 
 
Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the VRF Fund of the City as of June 30, 2018, and the changes in financial position 
for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the VRF Fund and do not purport to, and 
do not, present fairly the financial positions of the City as of June 30, 2018, and the changes in its 
financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 11, 
2018, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering City’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
Badawi & Associates 
Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 497

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin
Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee Fund
Balance Sheet

Total

ASSETS:

Cash and investments 301,461$              

Direct local distribution program receivables 48,890                  

Other receivables 3,536                    

       Total assets 353,887$              

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES:

Other accrued liabilities 63,270$                

      Total liabilities 63,270                  

Fund Balance:

Restricted 290,617                

   Total fund balance 290,617                

353,887$              

June 30, 2018

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

      Total liabilities and fund balance

 3

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 498

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin
Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee Fund
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Total

REVENUES:

Measure F revenues 282,389$              

Use of money and property 3,958                    

Total revenues 286,347                

EXPENDITURES:

Contractual services 203,246                
 

Total expenditures 203,246                

 

EXPENDITURES 83,101                  

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 207,516                

End of year 290,617$              

290,617              

For the year ended June 30, 2018

REVENUES OVER

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

 4

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 499

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee Fund 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

5 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Reporting Entity  
 

All transactions of the Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fees are reported in a special 
revenue fund (VRF Fund) of the City of Dublin, California (City). The special revenue fund is included 
as part of the State Construction and Maintenance fund in the basic financial statements of the City.  
The Fund is used to account for the City’s revenues earned and expenditures incurred under the City’s 
various street maintenance and construction projects.  The accompanying financial statements are for 
the VRF Fund only and are not intended to fairly present the financial position of the City. 

 
B. Basis of Accounting 
 

The accompanying financial statements are prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
Revenues are generally recorded when measurable and available, and expenditures are recorded when 
the related liabilities are incurred. 
 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement 
focus. All governmental funds are accounted for using a current financial resources measurement focus, 
wherein only current assets and current liabilities generally are included on the balance sheet. 
Operating statements of governmental funds present increases (revenues and other financing sources) 
and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net current assets. 

 
C. Fund Accounting 
 

The operations of the VRF Fund are accounted for as part of the State Construction and Maintenance 
Fund. Funds are separate accounting entities with a set of self-balancing accounts which comprise their 
assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures. 
 

D.  Use of Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

  

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 500

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee Fund 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

6 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 
 
E. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments 

 
The City pools its available cash for investment purposes.  The City’s cash and cash equivalents are 
considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with original maturity of 
three months or less from date of acquisition.  Cash and cash equivalents are combined with 
investments and displayed as Cash and Investments.   
 
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Disclosures (Amendment of GASB 
No. 3), certain disclosure requirements for Deposits and Investment Risks were made in the following 
areas: 

 Interest Rate Risk 

 Credit Risk 
 Overall 
 Custodial Credit Risk 
 Concentrations of Credit Risk 

 
In addition, other disclosures are specified including use of certain methods to present deposits and 
investments, highly sensitive investments, credit quality at year-end and other disclosures. 

 
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and 
for External Investment Pools, highly liquid market investments with maturities of one year or less at time 
of purchase are stated at amortized cost.     
 
The City participates in an investment pool managed by the State of California titled Local Agency 
Investment Fund (LAIF) which has invested a portion of the pooled funds in Structured Notes and 
Asset-Backed Securities.  LAIF’s investments are subject to credit risk with the full faith and credit of the 
State of California collateralizing these investments.  In addition, these Structured Notes and Asset-
Backed Securities are subject to market risk as to change in interest rates. 
 

F. Revenues and Receivables 
 

During the course of normal operations, the fund carries various receivable balances for 
intergovernmental revenue and interest.  Revenues are recorded when received in cash, except revenues 
subject to accrual (generally 60 days after year-end) are recognized when due.  The primary revenue 
sources, which have been treated as susceptible to accrual by the fund, are Measure F vehicle 
registration fees. 
 
 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 501

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee Fund 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2018  
 
 

7 

2. MEASURE F ALAMEDA COUNTY VEHICLE REGISTRATION FEES 
 
The Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee (VRF) Program was approved by the voters in 
November 2010, with 63 percent of the vote. The fee will generate about $10.7 million per year by a $10 per 
year vehicle registration fee. The collection of the $10 per year vehicle registration fee started in the first 
week of May 2011. 

The goal of the VRF program is to sustain the County’s transportation network and reduce traffic 
congestion and vehicle related pollution. The program includes four categories of projects: 

 Local Road Improvement and Repair Program (60 percent) 

 Transit for Congestion Relief (25 percent) 

 Local Transportation Technology (10 percent) 

 Pedestrian and Bicyclist Access and Safety Program (5 percent) 

 

3. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
The VRF Fund’s cash and investments are pooled with the City’s cash and investments in order to generate 
optimum interest income.   
 
The City pools its available cash for investment purposes.  The City’s cash and cash equivalents are 
considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with original maturity of 
three months or less from date of acquisition.  Cash and cash equivalents are combined with investments 
and displayed as Cash and Investments.  
 
VRF Fund had the following cash and investments at June 30, 2018: 

Cash  and Investments $                 301,461 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 502

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee Fund 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2018  
 
 

8 

3.    CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 

A. Investments  
 

The City's Investment Policy and the California Government Code allow the City to invest in the 
following, provided the credit ratings of the issuers are acceptable to the City; and approved 
percentages and maturities are not exceeded. The table below also identifies certain provisions of 
the California Government Code, or the City's Investment Policy where the City's Investment Policy 
is more restrictive. 
 

Authorized Investment Type
Maximum 
Maturity

Minimum Credit 
Quality

Maximum 
Percentage of 

Portfolio

Maximum 
Investment In 

One Issuer

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 years A-1 30% 20%
Bankers' Acceptance 180 days A-1 40% 20% of Portfolio
U.S. Treasury Bills and Notes 5 years N/A No Limit No Limit
U.S. Government Agency Securities 5 years N/A 25% for callable 35%
California Asset Management Program N/A N/A No Limit No Limit
Commercial Paper 270 days A-1 25% 20% of Portfolio
Time Certificates of Deposit 1 year N/A 10% No Limit
State Local Agency Investment Fund N/A N/A No Limit No Limit
Asset-Backed Securities N/A AA 20% 5%
Medium_Term Notes 5 years A 30% 5%
Money Market Funds N/A AAA 20% No Limit
Municipal Securities 5 years A No Limit 5%
Supranationals 5 years AA 30% 10%
 

 
 

 
 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for 
External Investment Pools, investments were stated at fair value using the aggregate method in all funds and 
component units. The City’s investments are carried at fair market value as required by generally accepted 
accounting principles. The City accounts for all changes in fair value that occurred during the year and are 
reflected in the fund balance for the fiscal year. These investment value changes are unrealized since the 
City’s policy is to hold and buy investments until maturity dates. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 503

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee Fund 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2018  
 
 

9 

3.   CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 
  

B. Risk Disclosures 
 

Interest Risk – Interest rate risk is the fluctuation in fair value of investment due to changes in interest 
rates. The City’s exposure to losses caused by rising interest rates is minimized by limiting the average 
maturity of the City’s investment not to exceed five years.   
 

Credit Risk – Credit risk is the risk of loss of value of a security or investment due to downgrade of its 
rating due to a change in the ability of the issuer to fulfill its debt obligation. With the exception of U.S. 
Treasury securities and authorized pools, no more than 50% of the City’s total investment portfolio will 
be invested in a single security type or with a single financial institution to reduce the City’s exposure to 
credit risks. 
 

Custodial Credit Risk – The custodial credit risk for an investment is the risk that in the event of the failure of 
the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that 
are in the possession of an outside party.  None of the City’s investments were subject to custodial credit 
risk. 

 
 

C. Local Agency Investment Fund 
 

The City is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by 
California Government Code Section 16429 under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of 
California.  The City’s investments with LAIF at June 30, 2018, include a portion of the pool funds 
invested in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities.  These investments include the following: 
 
Structured Notes – are debt securities (other than asset-backed securities) whose cash flow 
characteristics (coupon rate, redemption amount, or stated maturity) depend upon one or more 
indices and/or have embedded forwards or options. 
 
Asset-Backed Securities – the bulk of which are mortgage-backed securities, entitle their purchasers 
to receive a share of the cash flows from a pool of assets such as principal and interest repayments 
from a pool of mortgages (such as Collateralized Mortgage Obligations) or credit card receivables. 
 
As of June 30, 2018, the City had invested in LAIF, which had invested 2.67% of the pool investment 
funds in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities as compared to 2.89% in the previous year. 
The LAIF fair value factor of 0.998126869 was used to calculate the fair value of the investments in 
LAIF. 

 
 
4. DIRECT LOCAL DISTRIBUTION PROGRAM RECEIVABLES 
 
The receivables represent the Measure F VRF revenues for the fiscal year received from the Alameda 
County Transportation Commission after June 30, 2018.  

 
 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 504

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee Fund 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2018  
 
 

10 

5. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
The City participates in several grant programs.  These programs are subject to any further examination by 
the grantors and the amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies 
cannot be determined at this time.  The City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 505

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 

 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
 GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Measure F 
Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee Fund (VRF Fund) of the City of Dublin, California (City), as 
of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have 
issued our report thereon dated December 11, 2018. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 506

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

12 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 2 
 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the VRF Fund’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express 
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that 
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

Badawi and Associates 
Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018 
 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 507

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 

 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON MEASURE F COMPLIANCE 

 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
 
 
Compliance  
 
We have audited the City of Dublin’s (City) compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
described in the agreement between the City and Alameda County Transportation Commission applicable 
to the City’s Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee Fund (VRF Fund) for the year ended June 
30, 2018.  
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants 
applicable to the VRF Fund. 

 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on City’s compliance based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States; and the agreement between the City and Alameda County 
Transportation Commission applicable to Measure F Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee Fund. 
Those standards and the agreement require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that 
could have a direct and material effect on the VRF Fund. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence about the City’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for VRF Fund. 
However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance. 

 

Opinion on Measure F Funds 

In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
related to the agreement between the City and Alameda County Transportation Commission applicable to 
the VRF Fund for the year ended June 30, 2018. 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 508

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 2 
 

14 

 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 

Management of City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our 
audit of compliance, we considered the City’s internal control over compliance to determine the auditing 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
compliance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of City’s internal control over 
compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program 
on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material 
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over 
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the agreement 
between the City and Alameda County Transportation Commission applicable to the VRF Fund. 
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Badawi and Associates 
Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018 
 

4.10.e

Packet Pg. 509

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 F
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

 

 
 
 
 

City of Dublin 
 

Measure BB Funds 
 

Dublin, California 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Financial Statements and 
Independent Auditor’s Reports 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2018 

 
 
 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 510

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



4.10.f

Packet Pg. 511

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure BB Funds 
Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
Table of Contents 
 

 

 

  Page 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report ................................................................................................................................. 1 
 
Financial Statements: 
 
 Balance Sheets ........................................................................................................................................................ 5 
 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
  Changes in Fund Balances ............................................................................................................................. 6 
 
 Notes to Financial Statements ............................................................................................................................. 7 
 
Supplementary Information: 

 
Budgets and Budgetary Accounting ................................................................................................................... 14 
 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual: 

Measure BB – ACTC Streets and Roads Special Revenue Fund .............................................................. 15 
 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual: 

Measure BB – ACTC Bikes and Pedestrians Special Revenue Fund ....................................................... 16 
 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other 
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with  

Government Auditing Standards ........................................................................................................................ 17 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Measure BB Compliance .............................................................................  19 

 
 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 512

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



4.10.f

Packet Pg. 513

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 

 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Measure BB Funds (Measure BB Funds) 
of the City of Dublin, California (City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018 and the related notes 
to the financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 514

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

2 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 2 
 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Measure BB Funds of the City as of June 30, 2018, and the changes in financial 
position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Measure BB Funds and do not purport 
to, and do not, present fairly the financial positions of the City as of June 30, 2018, and the changes in its 
financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Measure BB Funds’ financial statements. The budgetary comparison information is 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. 
 
The budgetary comparison information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the budgetary comparison 
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 515

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

3 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 3 
 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 11, 
2018, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering City’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 

 
Badawi & Associates 
Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 516

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

4 

This page intentionally left blank 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 517

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Alameda County Transportation Commission- Measure BB Funds
Balance Sheets

ACTC ACTC

Streets and Bikes and 

Roads Pedestrians Total

ASSETS:

Cash and investments 281,368$              106,979$              388,347$              

Direct local distribution program receivables 79,149                  25,221                  104,370                

       Total assets 360,517                132,200                492,717                

FUND BALANCES:

Fund Balances:

Restricted 360,517                132,200                492,717                

      Total fund balances 360,517$              132,200$              492,717$              

June 30, 2018

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

5

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 518

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Alameda County Transportation Commission- Measure BB Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

ACTC ACTC

Streets and Bikes and 

Roads Pedestrians Total

REVENUES:

Measure BB revenue 498,207$              158,756$              656,963$              

Use of money and property 3,555                    2,196                    5,751                    

Total revenues 501,762                160,952                662,714                

EXPENDITURES:

Streets and Roads 790,000                -                           790,000                

Bikes and Pedestrians -                           135,105                135,105                
 

Total expenditures 790,000                135,105                925,105                

 

EXPENDITURES (288,238)              25,847                  (262,391)              

FUND BALANCES:

Beginning of year 648,755                106,353                755,108                

End of year 360,517$              132,200$              492,717$              

For the year ended June 30, 2018

REVENUES OVER (UNDER)

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

6

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 519

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure BB Funds 
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

7 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Reporting Entity  
 

All transactions of the Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure BB Funds (Measure BB 
Funds) of the City of Dublin, California (City), are included as a separate special revenue fund in the 
basic financial statements of the City.  Measure BB Funds are used to account for the City’s share of 
revenues earned and expenditures incurred under the City’s paratransit, local streets and roads, and 
bike and pedestrian programs.  The accompanying financial statements are for Measure BB Funds only 
and are not intended to fairly present the financial position or results of operations of the City. 

 
B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 
 

The accompanying financial statements are prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
Revenues are generally recorded when measurable and available, and expenditures are recorded when 
the related liabilities are incurred. 
 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement 
focus. All governmental funds are accounted for using a current financial resources measurement focus, 
wherein only current assets and current liabilities generally are included on the balance sheet. 
Operating statements of governmental funds present increases (revenues and other financing sources) 
and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net current assets. 

 
C. Fund Accounting 
 

The operations of the Measure BB Funds are accounted for in separate special revenue funds. The funds 
are separate accounting entities with a set of self-balancing accounts which comprise their assets, 
liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenses. 

 
D.  Use of Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 520

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure BB Funds 
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

8 

2. MEASURE BB FUNDS 
 
Under Measure BB, approved by the voters of Alameda County in 2014, the City receives a portion of the 
proceeds of an additional one-half cent sales tax to be used for transportation-related expenditures.  This 
measure was adopted with the intention that the funds generated by the additional sales tax will not fund 
expenditures previously paid for by property taxes but, rather, would be used for additional projects and 
programs. 
 
Major projects funded by Measure BB were as follows: 
 

Streets and Roads Program – To improve, repair, and overlay city streets. 
 

Bike and Pedestrian Program – To provide sidewalk and American Disability Act (ADA) improvements 
and to implement the bikeway network. 

 
3. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Measure BB funds are pooled with the City’s cash and investments in order to generate optimum interest 
income.   
 
The City pools its available cash for investment purposes.  The City’s cash and cash equivalents are 
considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with original maturity of 
three months or less from date of acquisition.  Cash and cash equivalents are combined with investments 
and displayed as Cash and Investments.  
 
Measure BB Funds had the following cash and investments at June 30, 2018: 
 

                                      Cash  and Investments $       388,348 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 521

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure BB Funds 
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

9 

3. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 

A. Investments  
 
The City's Investment Policy and the California Government Code allow the City to invest in the 
following, provided the credit ratings of the issuers are acceptable to the City; and approved 
percentages and maturities are not exceeded. The table below also identifies certain provisions of 
the California Government Code, or the City's Investment Policy where the City's Investment Policy 
is more restrictive. 
 

Authorized Investment Type
Maximum 
Maturity

Minimum Credit 
Quality

Maximum 
Percentage of 

Portfolio

Maximum 
Investment In 

One Issuer

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 years A-1 30% 20%
Bankers' Acceptance 180 days A-1 40% 20% of Portfolio
U.S. Treasury Bills and Notes 5 years N/A No Limit No Limit
U.S. Government Agency Securities 5 years N/A 25% for callable 35%
California Asset Management Program N/A N/A No Limit No Limit
Commercial Paper 270 days A-1 25% 20% of Portfolio
Time Certificates of Deposit 1 year N/A 10% No Limit
State Local Agency Investment Fund N/A N/A No Limit No Limit
Asset-Backed Securities N/A AA 20% 5%
Medium_Term Notes 5 years A 30% 5%
Money Market Funds N/A AAA 20% No Limit
Municipal Securities 5 years A No Limit 5%
Supranationals 5 years AA 30% 10%
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 522

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure BB Funds 
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

10 

3. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 
 

A. Investments, Continued 
 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and 
for External Investment Pools, investments were stated at fair value using the aggregate method in all 
funds and component units. The City’s investments are carried at fair market value as required by 
generally accepted accounting principles. The City accounts for all changes in fair value that occurred 
during the year and are reflected in the fund balance for the fiscal year. These investment value changes 
are unrealized since the City’s policy is to generally hold and buy investments until maturity dates. 
  

B. Risk Disclosures 
 

Interest Risk – Interest rate risk is the fluctuation in fair value of investments due to changes in interest 
rates. The City’s exposure to losses caused by rising interest rates is minimized by limiting the average 
maturity of the City’s investment not to exceed five years.   
 

Credit Risk – Credit risk is the risk of loss of value of a security or investment due to downgrade of its 
rating due to a change in the ability of the issuer to fulfill its debt obligation. With the exception of U.S. 
Treasury securities and authorized pools, no more than 50% of the City’s total investment portfolio will 
be invested in a single security type or with a single financial institution to reduce the City’s exposure to 
credit risks. 
 

Custodial Credit Risk – The custodial credit risk for an investment is the risk that in the event of the failure of 
the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that 
are in the possession of an outside party.  None of the City’s investments were subject to custodial credit 
risk. 
 

C. Local Agency Investment Fund 
 

The City is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by 
California Government Code Section 16429 under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of 
California.  The City’s investments with LAIF at June 30, 2018, include a portion of the pool funds 
invested in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities.  These investments include the following: 
 
Structured Notes – are debt securities (other than asset-backed securities) whose cash flow 
characteristics (coupon rate, redemption amount, or stated maturity) depend upon one or more 
indices and/or have embedded forwards or options. 
 
Asset-Backed Securities – the bulk of which are mortgage-backed securities, entitle their purchasers 
to receive a share of the cash flows from a pool of assets such as principal and interest repayments 
from a pool of mortgages (such as Collateralized Mortgage Obligations) or credit card receivables. 
 
As of June 30, 2018, the City had invested in LAIF, which had invested 2.67% of the pool investment 
funds in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities as compared to 2.89% in the previous year. 
The LAIF fair value factor of 0.998126869 was used to calculate the fair value of the investments in 
LAIF. 

 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 523

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure BB Funds 
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

11 

4. DIRECT LOCAL DISTRIBUTION FROGRAM RECEIVABLES 
 
The receivables represent the Measure BB sales tax revenues for the fiscal year received from the Alameda 
County Transportation Commission after June 30, 2018.  
 
 
5.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
The City participates in several grant programs.  These programs are subject to further examination by the 
grantors and the amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies    
cannot be determined at this time.  The City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
 
 

 
 
 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 524

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

12 

This page intentionally left blank.  

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 525

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

13 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 526

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin 
Alameda County Transportation Commission – Measure BB Funds 
Supplementary Information 
For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 
 

14  

1.    BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING 
 

 The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the basic financial 
statements: 
 
 Prior to June 30 the City Manager submits to the City Council a proposed operating budget for 

the fiscal year commencing the following July 1. The operating budget includes proposed 
expenditures and the means of financing them. 
 

 The public is given an opportunity to comment on the budget at a noticed City Council meeting. 
Prior to July 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution. 

 
 During the fiscal year, the City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between 

line items, provided that the transfer is within the same fund, regardless of the specific 
department activity. This include the authority to transfer from the General Fund budgeted 
contingency amounts that are approved by the City Council during the budget adoption. The 
City Manager is authorized to increase revenue and expenditure budget for various 
departmental functions, when the net budget impact is zero. 
 

 The City Manager is authorized to increase the appropriations for the following fiscal year in an 
amount not to exceed the amount of funds encumbered or designated by the City Manager as 
needed for expenses that did not occur prior to the year-end, but are expected to be expended in 
the next year consistent with the original purpose. 

 
 As part of the annual Budget adoption the City Council authorizes the carry-over unexpended 

capital project appropriations, for those projects where work and expenditures will continue in 
the subsequent year. 
 

 Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year for 
the general fund, special revenue funds and capital projects funds. 
 

 Budgets for the general, special revenue and capital projects funds are adopted on a basis 
consistent with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. 

 
 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 527

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Supplementary Information, Continued
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Measure BB - ACTC Streets and Roads
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Measure BB revenue 400,200$           400,200$           498,207$           98,007$             

Use of money and property -                        -                        3,555                 3,555                 

Total revenues 400,200             400,200             501,762             101,562             

EXPENDITURES:

Current:

Streets and Roads 400,000             1,023,600          790,000             233,600             

Total expenditures 400,000             1,023,600          790,000             233,600             

Net change in fund balance 200$                  (623,400)$          (288,238)            335,162$           

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 648,755             

End of year 360,517$           

Budgeted Amounts

 15

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 528

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



City of Dublin
Supplementary Information, Continued
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Measure BB - ACTC Bikes and Pedestrians
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Variance with

Final Budget

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Measure BB revenue 140,000$           140,000$           158,756$           18,756$             

Use of money and property 624                    624                    2,196                 1,572                 

Total revenues 140,624             140,624             160,952             20,328               

EXPENDITURES:

Current:

Bikes and Pedestrians 117,780             145,780             135,105             10,675               

Total expenditures 117,780             145,780             135,105             10,675               

Net change in fund balance 22,844$             (5,156)$              25,847               31,003$             

FUND BALANCE:

Beginning of year 106,353             

End of year 132,200$           

Budgeted Amounts

16

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 529

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN  
AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH  

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Measure BB Funds 
(Measure BB Funds) of the City of Dublin, California (City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 11, 
2018. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 
control over financial reporting in relation to Measure BB Funds (internal control) to determine the audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal 
control 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and 
correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of 
the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 530

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

18 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 2 
 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Measure BB Funds’ financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express 
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that 
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
Badawi & Associates 
Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018 
 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 531

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 
 

 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON MEASURE BB COMPLIANCE 

 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
 

Compliance  
 

We have audited the City of Dublin’s (City) compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
described in the agreement between the City and Alameda County Transportation Commission 
applicable to the City’s Measure BB Funds (Measure BB Funds) for the year ended June 30, 2018.  
 

Management’s Responsibility 
 

Management of the City is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grants applicable to its Measure BB Funds. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on City’s compliance based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the agreement between the City and 
Alameda County Transportation Commission applicable to Measure BB. Those standards and the 
agreement require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct 
and material effect on the Measure BB Funds. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
about the City’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for Measure BB 
Funds. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance. 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
related to the agreement between the City and Alameda County Transportation Commission 
applicable to Measure BB for the year ended June 30, 2018. 

Other Matter 
 

Under Measure BB, approved by the voters of Alameda County in 2014, the City has received a total 
of 12 months of revenue from July 2017 through June 2018. The Local Street and Roads program has 
received $498,207, and the Bike and Pedestrian program has received $158,756.  

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 532

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 2 
 

20 

 

Internal Control Over Compliance 
 

Management of City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our 
audit of compliance, we considered the City’s internal control over compliance to determine the auditing 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of City’s internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program 
on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material 
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected 
and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may 
exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of agreement 
between the City and Alameda County Transportation Commission applicable to Measure BB. Accordingly, 
this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Badawi & Associates 

Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018 

4.10.f

Packet Pg. 533

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 F

Y
 2

01
8 

M
ea

su
re

 B
B

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 A
n

n
u

al
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
C

A
F

R
) 

an
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 2
01

7-
18

)



 

 

 
 
 

City of 
Dublin 

 

Dublin, California 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Independent Accountants’ Report on  
Agreed-Upon Procedures Applied to 
Appropriations Limit Schedule 
 
For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 
 
 
 

4.10.g

Packet Pg. 534

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 7

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

p
p

ro
p

ri
at

io
n

s 
L

im
it

 F
Y

 2
01

9 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



4.10.g

Packet Pg. 535

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 7

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

p
p

ro
p

ri
at

io
n

s 
L

im
it

 F
Y

 2
01

9 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 

 

 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON LIMITED PROCEDURES  
REVIEW OF APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT UNDER ARTICLE XIIIB  

OF THE CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
 
We have performed the procedures enumerated below to the accompanying Appropriations Limit Schedule 
of the City of Dublin (City) for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.  These procedures, which were agreed to 
by the City and the League of California Cities (as presented in the publication entitled Agreed-upon 
Procedures Applied to the Appropriations Limitation Prescribed by Article XIII-B of the California Constitution), 
were performed solely to assist you in meeting the requirements of Section 1.5 of Article XIII-B of the 
California Constitution.  The City management is responsible for the Appropriations Limit Schedule.  This 
agreed-upon procedures engagement was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established 
by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  The sufficiency of these procedures is solely the 
responsibility of those parties specified in this report.  Consequently, we make no representation regarding 
the sufficiency of the procedures described below either for the purpose for which this report has been 
requested or any other purpose. 

 
The procedures performed and our findings are described below: 

 
1. We obtained the completed worksheets used by the City to calculate its appropriations limit for the 

fiscal year ending June 30, 2019, and determined that the limit and annual calculation factors were 
adopted by resolution of City Council.  We also determined that the population and inflation 
options were selected by a recorded vote of City Council. 
 
Findings:  No exceptions were noted as a result of our procedures. 
 

2. For the accompanying Appropriations Limit Schedule, we added the prior year’s limit to the total 
adjustments, and agreed the resulting amount to the current year’s limit. 
 
Findings:  No exceptions were noted as a result of our procedures. 
 

3. We agreed the current year information presented in the accompanying Appropriations Limit 
Schedule to corresponding information in worksheets used by the City. 
 
Findings:  No exceptions were noted as a result of our procedures. 
 

4. We agreed the prior year appropriations limit presented in the accompanying Appropriations Limit 
Schedule to the prior year appropriations limit adopted by the City Council during the prior year. 
 
Findings:  No exceptions were noted as a result of our procedures.

4.10.g

Packet Pg. 536

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 7

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

p
p

ro
p

ri
at

io
n

s 
L

im
it

 F
Y

 2
01

9 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



 

2 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council 
 of the City of Dublin 
Dublin, California 
Page 2 
 
 
We were not engaged to and did not conduct an examination, the objective of which would be the 
expression of an opinion on the accompanying Appropriation Limit Schedule.  Accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion.  Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have come to our 
attention that would have been reported to you.  No procedures have been performed with respect to the 
determination of the appropriation limit for the base year, as defined by Article XIII-B of the California 
Constitution. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the City Council and management of the City 
and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.  
 

 
Badawi and Associates 
Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 
December 11, 2018 

4.10.g

Packet Pg. 537

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 7

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

p
p

ro
p

ri
at

io
n

s 
L

im
it

 F
Y

 2
01

9 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin
Appropriations Limit Schedule

Amount Source

A. Appropriations limit for the year ended June 30, 2018 314,611,477$           Prior year resolution

B. Calculation Factors:
1. Population increase % 1.0466                      State Department of Finance
2. Inflation increase % 1.0381                      County of Alameda
3. Total adjustment factor % 1.0865                      B1*B2

C. Annual Adjustment Increase 27,213,893               [(B3-1)A)]

D. Other Adjustments -                            

E. Total Adjustments 27,213,893               (C+D)

F. Appropriations limit for the year ending June 30, 2019 341,825,370$           (A+E)

For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019

3

4.10.g

Packet Pg. 538

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 7

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

p
p

ro
p

ri
at

io
n

s 
L

im
it

 F
Y

 2
01

9 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



City of Dublin 
Notes to Appropriations Limit Schedule 
For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 
 
 

4 

1. PURPOSE OF LIMITED PROCEDURES REVIEW 
 
Under Article XIIIB of the California Constitution (the Gann Spending Limitation Initiative), California 
governmental agencies are restricted as to the amount of annual appropriations from proceeds of taxes.  
Effective for years beginning on or after July 1, 1990, under Section 1.5 of Article XIIIB, the annual 
calculation of the appropriations limit is subject to a limited procedures review in connection with the 
annual audit. 
 
 
2. METHOD OF CALCULATION 
 
Under Section 10.5 of Article XIIIB, for fiscal years beginning on or after July 1990, the appropriations limit 
is required to be calculated based on the limit for the fiscal year 1986-1987, adjusted for the inflation and 
population factors discussed in Notes 3 and 4 below. 
 
 
3. INFLATION FACTORS 
 
A California governmental agency may adjust its appropriations limit by either the annual percentage 
change in the 4th quarter per capita personal income (which percentage is supplied by the State Department 
of Finance), or the percentage change in the local assessment roll from the preceding year due to the change 
of local nonresidential construction.  The factor adopted by the City of Dublin for the fiscal year 2017-2019 
represents the percentage change in the local assessment roll from the preceding year due to the change of 
local nonresidential construction. 
 
 
4. POPULATION FACTORS 
 
A California governmental agency may adjust its appropriations limit by either the annual percentage 
change of the jurisdiction’s own population, or the annual percentage change in population in the County 
where the jurisdiction is located.  The factor adopted by the City of Dublin for fiscal year 2017-2019 
represents the annual percentage change in population for the City. 
 
 
5. OTHER ADJUSTMENTS 
 
A California government agency may be required to adjust its appropriations limit when certain events 
occur, such as the transfer of responsibility for municipal services, to, or from, another government agency 
or private entity. There were no adjustments made for fiscal year ending June 30, 2019. 
 

4.10.g

Packet Pg. 539

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 7

. C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin
 A

p
p

ro
p

ri
at

io
n

s 
L

im
it

 F
Y

 2
01

9 
 (

C
o

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 A

n
n

u
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 (

C
A

F
R

) 
an

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
F

Y
 2

01
7-

18
)



Page 1 of 2 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: Christopher L. Foss, City Manager 

SUBJECT: Date/Time of Assembly Bill (AB) 1234 Ethics Training for City Officials 
Prepared by:  Caroline P. Soto, City Clerk/Records Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

Under Assembly Bill (AB) 1234, “local agency officials” must receive ethics training at 
least once every two years if the City provides compensation, salary, stipend or 
reimbursement for actual and necessary expenses to a member of a legislative body.  
The City will offer a mandatory Ethics Training session to all required City officials.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve January 31, 2019 as the date for AB 1234 Ethics Training session for City 
officials or provide Staff with alternate direction. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

None. 

DESCRIPTION: 

Under Assembly Bill (AB) 1234 passed in 2005 and now California Government Code 
53235, “local agency officials” must receive ethics training at least once every two years 
if the City provides compensation, salary, stipend or reimbursement for actual and 
necessary expenses to a member of a legislative body.  AB 1234 defines “local agency 
official” as: 1) any member of a local legislative body or elected official; and 2) any 
employee designated by a local legislative body to receive the training.  As such, all 
members of the City Council, Planning Commission, Parks & Community Services 
Commission, Heritage & Cultural Arts Commission, Human Services Commission and 
Senior Center Advisory Committee are mandated to receive ethics training.  
Additionally, City Staff determined by the City Council to receive mandatory ethics 
training include the City Manager, City Attorney, City Treasurer and those designated 
under the City’s Conflict of Interest Code (DMC 2.24.020), excluding consultants.   

Ethics training for the City’s elected and appointed officials was last offered on 
January 31, 2017.  Therefore, this training must be completed by late January to meet 
the two-year time period set by AB 1234.  Newly elected and appointed officials and 

4.11

Packet Pg. 540



Page 2 of 2 

newly designated City Staff must complete training within one year of election, 
appointment, or employment.  Therefore, the City will offer this mandatory Ethics 
Training session to all required City officials on Thursday, January 31, 2019, at 6:00 
p.m. in the City’s Council Chamber.  The City’s contract law firm of Meyers Nave will 
conduct the training. 

Those local agency officials unable to attend the scheduled two-hour training session 
may access ethics training online and receive a certificate upon successful completion 
of the course, and within the specified time period set by AB 1234. 

STRATEGIC PLANNING INITIATIVE: 

None. 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

None required. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

None. 

4.11

Packet Pg. 541



 

Page 1 of 2 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Certification of November 6, 2018 Election Results 
Prepared by:  Caroline P. Soto, City Clerk/Records Manager 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City has received and will certify the November 6, 2018 election results for the 
Office of Mayor and two City Councilmembers from the Alameda County Registrar of 
Voters. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt the Resolution Reciting the Facts of the General Municipal Election held on 

November 6, 2018, Declaring the Results Thereof, and Such Other Matters as are 

provided by Law. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

 

None. 
 
DESCRIPTION: 

 

The City has received the Certification of Election results from Tim Dupuis, the Alameda 
County Registrar of Voters. 
 
Dublin’s voter turnout was 67.38%.  Of 28,341 registered voters, a total of 19,095 
ballots were cast in the City of Dublin.    
 
The November 6, 2018 election results were as follows:  
 
MAYOR (one elected) 
David G. Haubert 10,029 Votes 
Arun Goel 7,080 Votes 
 

8.1

Packet Pg. 542



 

Page 2 of 2 

COUNCILMEMBER (two elected) 
Jean Josey 9,181 Votes 
Shawn Kumagai 5,944 Votes 
Bobby Khullar 5,719 Votes 
Jing Firmeza 5,272 Votes 
Shawn Costello 2,394 Votes 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING INITIATIVE: 

 

None. 

 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

 

None. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution Reciting the Facts of the General Municipal Election held on November 6, 

2018, Declaring the Results Thereof, and Such Other Matters as are provided by Law 

2. Exhibit A to Resolution, Alameda County Registrar of Voters Certified Results of 

November 6, 2018 Election 

 

8.1

Packet Pg. 543



Reso No. XX-18, Adopted 12-18-18, Item No. X.X Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. XX – 18 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF DUBLIN 

* * * * * * * * 
RECITING THE FACTS OF THE GENERAL MUNICIPAL ELECTION  

HELD ON NOVEMBER 6, 2018, DECLARING THE RESULTS THEREOF, 
AND SUCH OTHER MATTERS AS ARE PROVIDED BY LAW 

 
 WHEREAS, a consolidated general municipal election was held and conducted in the 
City of Dublin, County of Alameda, State of California, on Tuesday, November 6, 2018 as 
required by law; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council requested that the Alameda County Board of Supervisors 
order the consolidation of said election; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Alameda County Registrar of Voters has canvassed the returns of said 
election and has certified the results, attached and made a part hereof as Exhibit A. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Dublin does hereby resolve as 
follows: 
 
 Section 1. That there were 23 voting precincts established in the City of Dublin for the 
purpose of holding said consolidated general municipal election. 
 
 Section 2: That said consolidated municipal election was held for the purpose of 
electing the following City of Dublin officers:   
 
   One (1) Mayor of the City of Dublin to serve for a term of (2) years. 
 

Two (2) Members of the Dublin City Council to serve for terms of four (4) years. 
 
Section 3: That the whole number of votes cast in the City of Dublin was 19,095. 
 
Section 4: That the names of persons voted for at said election for Mayor and City 
Councilmembers of the City of Dublin are as follows: 
 

Mayor 
 

David G. Haubert 
Arun Goel 

 
Councilmember 

 
Shawn Costello 

Jean Josey 
Jing Firmeza 

Shawn Kumagai 
Bobby Khullar 

 

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 544

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 R

ec
it

in
g

 t
h

e 
F

ac
ts

 o
f 

th
e 

G
en

er
al

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 E
le

ct
io

n
 h

el
d

 o
n

 N
o

ve
m

b
er

 6
, 2

01
8,

 D
ec

la
ri

n
g

 t
h

e 
R

es
u

lt
s 

T
h

er
eo

f,
 a

n
d



Reso No. XX-18, Adopted 12-18-18, Item No. X.X Page 2 of 2 

 
Section 5: That the number of votes cast at each precinct and the total number of 
votes cast for each person named above are listed in Exhibit A (attached). 
 
Section 6: The City Council does declare and determine that: 
 
David G. Haubert was elected Mayor of the City of Dublin for the full term of two (2) 
years; and  

 
Jean Josey and Shawn Kumagai were elected as Members of the Dublin City Council for 
full terms of four (4) years each. 
 
Section 7: That the City Clerk shall enter into the records of the City Council of said 
City, in accordance with Elections Code Section 10264, a statement of the results of said 
election, showing: 
 
(a) The whole number of votes cast in the City. 
(b) The names of the persons voted for. 
(c) For what office each person was voted for. 
(d) The number of votes given at each precinct to each person. 
(e) The total number of votes given in the City to each person. 
(f) The measures to be voted on and the votes cast for and against.  

 
 PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of December, 2018, by the 
following vote: 
 
 AYES:  
   
 NOES:  
 
 ABSENT:  
 
 ABSTAIN:  
 
 _________________________________
  Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ 
  City Clerk 

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 545

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 R

ec
it

in
g

 t
h

e 
F

ac
ts

 o
f 

th
e 

G
en

er
al

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 E
le

ct
io

n
 h

el
d

 o
n

 N
o

ve
m

b
er

 6
, 2

01
8,

 D
ec

la
ri

n
g

 t
h

e 
R

es
u

lt
s 

T
h

er
eo

f,
 a

n
d



8.1.b

Packet Pg. 546

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. E
xh

ib
it

 A
 t

o
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

, A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 R
eg

is
tr

ar
 o

f 
V

o
te

rs
 C

er
ti

fi
ed

 R
es

u
lt

s 
o

f 
N

o
ve

m
b

er
 6

, 2
01

8 
E

le
ct

io
n

  (
C

er
ti

fy
 E

le
ct

io
n

)



8.1.b

Packet Pg. 547

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. E
xh

ib
it

 A
 t

o
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

, A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 R
eg

is
tr

ar
 o

f 
V

o
te

rs
 C

er
ti

fi
ed

 R
es

u
lt

s 
o

f 
N

o
ve

m
b

er
 6

, 2
01

8 
E

le
ct

io
n

  (
C

er
ti

fy
 E

le
ct

io
n

)



8.1.b

Packet Pg. 548

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. E
xh

ib
it

 A
 t

o
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

, A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 R
eg

is
tr

ar
 o

f 
V

o
te

rs
 C

er
ti

fi
ed

 R
es

u
lt

s 
o

f 
N

o
ve

m
b

er
 6

, 2
01

8 
E

le
ct

io
n

  (
C

er
ti

fy
 E

le
ct

io
n

)



8.1.b

Packet Pg. 549

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. E
xh

ib
it

 A
 t

o
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

, A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 R
eg

is
tr

ar
 o

f 
V

o
te

rs
 C

er
ti

fi
ed

 R
es

u
lt

s 
o

f 
N

o
ve

m
b

er
 6

, 2
01

8 
E

le
ct

io
n

  (
C

er
ti

fy
 E

le
ct

io
n

)



8.1.b

Packet Pg. 550

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

. E
xh

ib
it

 A
 t

o
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

, A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 R
eg

is
tr

ar
 o

f 
V

o
te

rs
 C

er
ti

fi
ed

 R
es

u
lt

s 
o

f 
N

o
ve

m
b

er
 6

, 2
01

8 
E

le
ct

io
n

  (
C

er
ti

fy
 E

le
ct

io
n

)



 

Page 1 of 1 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Presentation of Plaques to Outgoing Councilmember Janine Thalblum and 
Former Councilmember Abe Gupta 
Prepared by:  Caroline P. Soto, City Clerk/Records Manager 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City will present plaques to outgoing Councilmember Janine Thalblum and former 

Councilmember Abe Gupta, in appreciation of their dedicated service to the City. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Present the plaques and receive comments from outgoing Councilmember Thalblum 

and former Councilmember Gupta. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

 

None. 

 

DESCRIPTION: 

 

The City will present plaques to outgoing Councilmembers Janine Thalblum and former 

Councilmember Abe Gupta, in appreciation of their dedicated service to the City. 

 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

 

None required. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

None. 

 

8.2

Packet Pg. 551



 

Page 1 of 1 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Administration of Oath of Office to Newly Elected Mayor and City 
Councilmembers 
Prepared by:  Caroline P. Soto, City Clerk/Records Manager 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The Oath of Office will be administered to the re-elected Mayor and newly elected City 

Councilmembers. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Administer the Oath of Office to the re-elected Mayor and newly elected City 

Councilmembers. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

 

None. 

 

DESCRIPTION: 

 

The Oath of Office will be administered to re-elected Mayor David G. Haubert, and 

newly elected Councilmembers Jean Josey and Shawn Kumagai. 

 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

 

None required. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

None. 

 

8.3

Packet Pg. 552



 

Page 1 of 2 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Selection of Vice Mayor 
Prepared by:  Caroline P. Soto, City Clerk/Records Manager 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City Council’s policy is to select, in December of each year, a member of the City 

Council to serve as Vice Mayor for a period of one year.  In the absence of the Mayor, 

the Vice Mayor would become Mayor Pro Tempore and would assume the temporary 

responsibilities of the Mayor. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Determine who shall serve as Vice Mayor for a one-year period. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

 

None. 
 
DESCRIPTION: 

 

Since 1996, the City Council's policy has been to select, in December of each year, a 

member of the City Council to serve as Vice Mayor for a period of one year 

(Attachment 1).  In the absence of the Mayor, the Vice Mayor would become Mayor Pro 

Tempore and would assume the temporary responsibilities of the Mayor. 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE  

 

N/A 

 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

 

Noticing not required. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

8.4

Packet Pg. 553



 

Page 2 of 2 

1. Resolution No. 5-96 Establishing Rules for the Selection of Vice Mayor and 

Repealing Resolution No. 5-87 

 

8.4

Packet Pg. 554



8.4.a

Packet Pg. 555

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

. R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 N

o
. 5

-9
6 

E
st

ab
lis

h
in

g
 R

u
le

s 
fo

r 
th

e 
S

el
ec

ti
o

n
 o

f 
V

ic
e 

M
ay

o
r 

an
d

 R
ep

ea
lin

g
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 5
-8

7 
 (

V
ic

e 
M

ay
o

r



 

Page 1 of 2 

 

  
 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY COUNCIL 

  
 

 

DATE: December 18, 2018 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM: 
 
Christopher L. Foss, City Manager   

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
Designate Two Councilmembers to Dublin Pride Week Committee 
Prepared by:  Rebecca Parnes, Environmental Technician 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The City Council will consider appointing two of its members to the 2019 Dublin Pride 

Week Committee. The Dublin Pride Week Committee plans and prepares the annual 

spring event, which seeks to engage individuals and groups in action based activities to 

help improve the community. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Appoint two City Councilmembers to the Dublin Pride Week Committee for 2019.  

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

 

None. 

 

DESCRIPTION: 

 

Dublin Pride Week is an annual event that seeks to promote a positive image for the 

City of Dublin. The primary objective for Dublin Pride Week is to seek ways to engage 

individuals and groups in action-based activities to help improve the community and the 

environment. At the forefront of this effort is the Dublin Pride Week Committee. The 

Committee is made up of Councilmembers, City Staff and various community members 

and organizations.  The Committee will meet monthly from January to May to plan and 

prepare the event. Councilmember participation is a key component of this committee 

and the ultimate success of Dublin Pride Week activities. Dublin Pride Week will begin 

the last Saturday in April (April 27) and will continue through the first Saturday in May 

(May 4). 

 

Traditionally, two City Councilmembers have been appointed to serve on the Dublin 

Pride Week Committee. In 2018, Mayor David Haubert and Vice Mayor Melissa 

Hernandez served as the City Council’s representatives. Staff requests that the City 

Council select two Councilmembers to this committee for 2019.  

8.5

Packet Pg. 556



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVE: 

 

None. 

 

NOTICING REQUIREMENTS/PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

 

None. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

None. 

 

8.5

Packet Pg. 557


	Agenda
	Agenda Packet
	3.1 · Dublin High School Cross Country Team Recognition
	3.1.a · 1. DHS Cross Country Team Recognition

	3.2 · 17-18 SAC Annual Presentation
	3.3 · Employee Introduction
	4.1 · Draft Minutes of the December 4, 2018 Regular Meeting
	4.1.a · 1. Draft Minutes of the December 4, 2018 Regular City Council Meeting

	4.2 · YAC Mini Grants 2018
	4.2.a · 1. Resolution Approving Funding Recommendations for Fiscal Year 2018-2019 Youth Mini Grant Program
	4.2.b · 2. Youth Advisory Committee Mini Grant Criteria Rating Sheet

	4.3 · Consideration of Recreation Management Software Services
	4.3.a · 1. Resolution Approving Agreement with Active Network, LLC
	4.3.b · 2.  Exhibit A to the Resolution - Agreement with Active Network
	4.3.c · 3.  Budget Change Form

	4.4 · AB 1600 Report
	4.4.a · 1. Annual Report of Developer Impact Fee Funds for the Year Ended June 30, 2018
	4.4.b · 2. Resolution Making Findings Regarding Unexpended Traffic Impact Fees for Fiscal Year 2017-18
	4.4.c · 3. Budget Change Form

	4.5 · Solid Waste Ordinance Update
	4.5.a · 1.  Ordinance 13-12
	4.5.b · 2.  Waste Handling Standards for Commercial and Multi-Family Properties
	4.5.c · 3.  Waste Enclosure Requirements Checklist
	4.5.d · 4.  Ordinance of the City of Dublin Amending Chapter 7.98 of the Dublin Municipal Code Relating to the Solid Waste and Recycling Enclosure Standards

	4.6 · Payment Issuance Report for November 2018
	4.6.a · 1. Payment Issuance Report for November 2018

	4.7 · Authorization to Purchase Mobile Data Terminal (MDT) Computers from NWN Corporation
	4.7.a · 1.  Resolution Authorizing Staff to Purchase Four Mobile Data Terminal (MDT) Computers from NWN Corporation
	4.7.b · 2.  Budget Change Form
	4.7.c · 3.  State of California Contract with NWN Corporation
	4.7.d · 4.  Approved Quote from NWN Corporation

	4.8 · Zoning Ordinance Amendments  (PLPA-2018-00030)
	4.8.a · 1.  Zoning Ordinance Amendments in Underline Strikethrough Format
	4.8.b · 2.  Ordinance Approving Amendments to the Zoning Ordinance
	4.8.c · 3.  Draft Planning Commission Meeting Minutes dated November 13, 2018
	4.8.d · 4.  Planning Commission Resolution 18-27 Recommending Approval

	4.9 · Updated Facility Packet Layouts
	4.9.a · 1.  Facility Rental Packet
	4.9.b · 2.  Tennis Courts Rental Packet
	4.9.c · 3.  Sports Fields/Stager Community Gymnasium Rental Packet

	4.10 · Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) and Annual Audit for FY 2017-18
	4.10.a · 1. Summary - Key Information Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for FY 2017-18
	4.10.b · 2. City of Dublin CAFR 2018
	4.10.c · 3. City of Dublin MOIC 2018
	4.10.d · 4. City of Dublin FY 2018 Measure B Report
	4.10.e · 5. City of Dublin FY 2018 Measure F Report
	4.10.f · 6. City of Dublin FY 2018 Measure BB Report
	4.10.g · 7. City of Dublin Appropriations Limit FY 2019

	4.11 · Ethics Training
	8.1 · Certify Election
	8.1.a · 1. Resolution Reciting the Facts of the General Municipal Election held on November 6, 2018, Declaring the Results Thereof, and Such Other Matters as are provided by Law
	8.1.b · 2. Exhibit A to Resolution, Alameda County Registrar of Voters Certified Results of November 6, 2018 Election

	8.2 · Outgoing/Former Councilmembers
	8.3 · Administration of Oath
	8.4 · Vice Mayor Selection
	8.4.a · 1. Resolution No. 5-96 Establishing Rules for the Selection of Vice Mayor and Repealing Resolution No. 5-87

	8.5 · Designate Two Councilmembers to Dublin Pride Week Committee




